

# Decision Support Unit (DSU)

Élan's work in Access to Finance and Agricultural non-perennials in the DRC

Sector Study

Joseph Holden

July 2023

# **About Oxford Policy Management**

# Our vision is for fair public policy that benefits both people and the planet. Our purpose is to improve lives through sustainable policy change in low- and middle-income countries.

Through our global network of offices, we work in partnership with national stakeholders and decision makers to research, design, implement and evaluate impactful public policy. We work in all areas of economic and social policy and governance, including health, finance, education, climate change and public sector management. We have cross-cutting expertise in our dedicated teams of monitoring and evaluation, political economy analysis, statistics, and research methods specialists. We draw on our local and international sector experts to provide the very best evidence-based support.

Oxford Policy Management Limited Registered in England: 3122495

Level 3, Clarendon House 52 Cornmarket Street Oxford, OX1 3HJ United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0) 1865 207 300 Fax: +44 (0) 1865 207 301 Email: admin@opml.co.uk Website: www.opml.co.uk Twitter: @OPMglobal Facebook: @OPMglobal YouTube: @OPMglobal LinkedIn: @OPMglobal

# Acknowledgements

Joseph Holden was the lead evaluator and author of this report and undertook in-country stakeholder interviews and consultations. Arlette Nyembo co-led the in-country key stakeholder interviews and consultations. The study was also supported by inputs from Sadia Ahmed, Charles Mesa and Kakel Mbumb. The study was quality assured by Hamish Colquhoun (DSU Team Leader) and Donna Loveridge (Evaluation Lead).

The evaluation team would like to thank all organisations and individuals who provided information and assistance, especially during the team's mission to Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). This includes key informant interviews that took place in October and November 2022 in Kinshasa, Haut-Katanga and Lualaba provinces, as well as remotely for South Kivu.

We thank the staff of the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) for their support and assistance and, particularly, ex-staff of Élan, who provided important insights and reflections on the programme experience and intervention effectiveness.

# Disclaimer

This report has been prepared by the e-Pact consortium for the named client, for services specified in the Terms of Reference and contract of engagement. The information contained in this report shall not be disclosed to any other party, or used or disclosed in whole or in part without agreement from the e-Pact consortium. For reports that are formally put into the public domain, any use of the information in this report should include a citation that acknowledges the e-Pact consortium as the author of the report.

This confidentiality clause applies to all pages and information included in this report.

This material has been funded by UK aid from the UK government; however, the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies.

# About the Decision Support Unit (DSU)

The DSU is a FCDO-financed project implemented by Oxford Policy Management (OPM) in the DRC. It is designed as a support function to FCDO's overall management of its Private Sector Development (PSD) programme. The DSU provides evidence and analysis aimed ultimately at improving the programme's overall impact of increasing incomes for the poor in the DRC. In addition, the DSU provides an external learning role targeting improved implementation practices of the broader development community working in the field of economic development.

# **Executive Summary**

The UK government made a substantive investment in seeking to catalyse the economy of the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) through its £100 million Private Sector Development (PSD) programme. Over half of this was through the Élan DRC project.<sup>1</sup> Élan was a £53 million market development project implemented by Adam Smith International (ASI) from 2014 to 2021. There was a first phase, known as 'Élan 1.0', from January 2014 to July 2019, and a second phase, 'Élan 1.2', from August 2019 to July 2021. The second phase saw some geographical re-targeting, stopping work in the southern region of Katanga for example. It also had half the annual budget of the first phase, and faced the challenges of the Coronavirus-19 pandemic (henceforth 'Covid').

The main purpose of this report on Élan's agriculture non-perennial (AgNP) and access to finance (A2F) sectors is to examine the extent to which market system changes were achieved and sustained in both sectors, and whether this led to wider impacts beyond the businesses and organisations with which Élan undertook partnerships. The study is based on an in-depth document review together with key informant interviews in the capital city Kinshasa, and in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces in the southern region of DRC, and interviews undertaken remotely, including with Élan intervention partners operating in Zambia, Kenya, and in the Kivu provinces of eastern DRC. In total 56 people were spoken to across 42 institutions between October and December 2022. The main challenges to this research have included availability of certain stakeholders, particularly some of the partners in the A2F sector including some of the mobile money operators in the market.

# Background: Development of the Élan portfolio

**Élan was an ambitious project with a "complexity-based business case"** developed as a pilot under DFID's 'An Initial Application of Complex Systems Tools to Aid Delivery' programme. DFID believed the best way to 'respond to complexity' would be via a multi-faceted and flexible programming approach. The Business Case included a 'problematique' on key constraints firms in DRC faced and the issues driving them, which included multiple market, government, and coordination failures linked to access to finance, market development, the business environment, and corruption. DFID wrote that "feedback loops [generate] vicious circles or traps", where, "fundamentally, these traps stem from two sources: the nascent stage of the private sector itself; and the predatory nature of the state".<sup>2</sup> Élan and its sister project, Essor, were mainly expected to tackle private sector and regulatory challenges respectively. Élan would do so by following a Making Markets Work for the Poor (M4P) approach, also known as a market systems development (MSD) approach, providing a holistic view of market systems including their rules and supporting functions, and the 'core' of transactions with a focus on demand and supply-side constraints in the key markets or sectors of interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There were two other sub-programmes (which are often called, as with Élan, as "projects") of the PSD programme: **Essor**, a £35 million flexible facility aiming to improve the DRC's business enabling environment, implemented by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), which ran from January 2015 to January 2022; and the **Decision Support Unit (DSU)**, implemented by Oxford Policy Management (OPM), which produced annual reviews, evaluations, learning and adaptation activities. The DSU began implementation in August 2016 and will complete in August 2023. This study is a deliverable of the DSU project. <sup>2</sup> DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case

Élan undertook extensive market scoping in its inception phase in 2013, including the identification and selection of sectors based on factors such as their potential growth, impact on poor beneficiaries, impact on women, and risks faced.<sup>3</sup> Élan's focus sectors evolved based on early implementation experiences, and by the third year, the mature portfolio included interventions in: agriculture perennials (AgP – cash crops such as coffee), renewable energy, river transport (RT), agriculture non-perennials (AgNP – mainly staple crops such as maize and rice), and access to finance (A2F).<sup>4</sup> Under Élan 1.0, A2F was split between a branchless banking (BB) and small and medium enterprise (SME) A2F sectors, which were then combined under Élan 1.2. The RT sector work ceased at the end of Élan 1.0, while the cross-border trade (CBT) sector was added.

Élan's interventions were mainly partnerships with private sector actors via grants or technical assistance, generally cost sharing a particular investment around the development or expansion of a product or service. Sector strategies were organised by 'market system changes' (MSCs), simple qualitative statements of the changes that Élan sought to bring about, and Élan conceptualised systemic change using the Adopt-Adapt-Export Respond (AAER) framework, which sets out how innovations spread from an initial intervention and partner to achieve broader changes in a market system.<sup>5</sup>

A more limited number of interventions related to governance and advocacy around regulatory changes. Where the project sought to bring about regulatory changes, it did so by supporting business associations with their advocacy work. In part this was because Élan's sister project, Essor, was designed to work more directly with government on business environment reform. The PSD programme design envisaged closer collaboration between Élan and Essor. However, the two projects largely worked independently on separate issues with little interconnection. There were some exceptions, including in work in the A2F sector on leasing and insurance.

The two sectors of focus for this study, AgNP and A2F, were the main contributors for the main quantitative impact targets of Élan – the number of beneficiaries, and net additional income change (NAIC) for these beneficiaries. Out of a total of 1.03 million estimated beneficiaries by the end of Élan, the AgNP and A2F sectors would contribute close to two-thirds, with 30 percent or just over 300,000 beneficiaries each. As shown in Figure 1, for AgNP, direct beneficiaries from interventions predominated, and were split across both the Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2 phases of the project. A2F beneficiaries were mainly indirect, principally stemming from just one intervention during Élan 1.0.<sup>6</sup> Élan estimated AgNP led to £18.3 million of net attributable income change (NAIC),<sup>7</sup> 39 percent of the overall NAIC Élan claimed. A2F generated an estimated £9 million of NAIC, 19 percent of the total.<sup>8</sup> This gives an indication of scale, although verification exercises undertaken by the DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b) have found some issues with estimates.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>8</sup> Élan (2019d) PWIG; and Élan (2021g) Results Tracker.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> ASI (2013c) DRC Market Development Component: Scoping report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sector studies have also been completed by the DSU for work of Élan in the Renewable Energy (RE) sector (see DSU, 2021), and the perennial agriculture (AgP) sector (see DSU, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Nippard et al. (2014) "Adopt-Adapt-Expand-Respond"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indirect impact was NAIC over and above the direct impacts of the interventions. In practice, Élan mainly estimated this as sustainable impact beyond the period of project support but via the same partner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The main quantitative impact indicator, as expressed in the logframe, impact 3 was: "Cumulative aggregate additional NAIC among poor producers/farmers, entrepreneurs and business people".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The purpose of this study is not to verify NAIC. Although it does explore the impact of interventions and this includes how NAIC was estimated.

**Target beneficiaries were those defined as "poor", although a formal definition was not applied until the Élan 1.2 phase** when the World Bank's USD 3.20 purchasing power parity (PPP) poverty line was used. Élan's most detailed study on its beneficiaries in 2018 found 66-74 percent of estimated beneficiaries to live under the World Bank's international poverty line of USD 1.90 PPP; with 81-88 percent under the USD 3.20 PPP poverty line.<sup>10</sup>



Figure 1: Élan estimated beneficiaries split by sector, 2013-2021

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

In total, around half of Élan's expenditure was spent on the two sectors of focus for this study, AgNP and A2F. Including the proportion of Élan's central costs, the AgNP sector costs comprised £16.5 million (30.7 percent of Élan's total); and A2F sector costs came to £11 million (20.5 percent of the total).

# Findings on the Agriculture non-perennials (AgNP) sector

The agricultural sector provides a central pillar to the development of the DRC, is vital for food security, to transform productivity, build jobs and livelihoods, and form a basis for mitigation and adaptation to climate change. Élan believed there was massive potential for Congolese agriculture compared to its poor historical performance. Low productivity in agriculture was the major cause of rural poverty, and tackling constraints could allow Élan to have significant impact for its targeted beneficiary group. As per Élan's (2021i) Programme Closure Report (PCR), "the DRC has over 80 million hectares of agricultural land and almost half of Africa's fresh water reserves, yet, in spite of this incredible potential, the agricultural sector is defined by stagnation and food insecurity. Yields in the DRC lag well behind regional benchmarks; for example, average maize yields in the DRC are estimated at 0.77 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to 2.00 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Kenya."<sup>11</sup>

The south of Congo provides the most amenable land for such a transformation, given that most of the northern half of the country is covered by the Congo rainforest, of which preservation is crucial not just for the Congolese people but for the world's population as a whole. Geographically therefore, most AgNP interventions were undertaken

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report". The USD 3.20 line is used for lower-middle income countries.
 <sup>11</sup> Averages for West and Central Africa put maize yields at 1.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, compared to 2.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Eastern and Southern Africa, and 7.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in West and Central Asia, Source: Erenstein et al. (2022).

in the southern region centred on Lubumbashi in Haut-Katanga province and neighbouring Lualaba province, as well as in the more densely populated eastern region with a focus on Ituri, North Kivu and South Kivu provinces.<sup>12</sup>

Based on its analysis of constraints and opportunities, Élan targeted the market system changes in the AgNP sector set out in Table 1 with changes between the first and second phases of the project.

Table 1:	Élan Market System Chan	ges (MSCs) in AgNP	across the two phases
		J (	

MSCs Élan 1.0 (2015-2018)	MSCs Élan 1.2 (2019-2021)
MSC 2.1: Inputs suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to SHFs	MSC AGNP1 - Input suppliers provide quality inputs and value-adding services to smallholder farmers
MSC 2.2: Agribusinesses and mines provide access to pre-financed inputs and services to SHFs	
MSC 2.3: Agribusinesses provide access to secured markets to SHFs	MSC AGNP2 - Smallholder farmers, processors and traders have increased access to markets
MSC 2.4: Agribusinesses access finance	This MSC was removed as it crossed with Access to Finance work
MSC 2.5: Agribusinesses develop industry-wide awareness and advocate for a more favourable tax regime	MSC AGNP3 - Industry stakeholders organize and advocate for an improved business environment

Source: Élan (2016d) "2016 Annual Report". Élan (2021i) "Programme Closure Report".

In its work on inputs, Élan principally focused on improving the seed that smallholder farmers (SHFs) as a beneficiary group would use. For Élan's seed interventions there were two main types of partner: i) local firms producing open-pollinated variety (OPV) seed, for maize and rice; and ii) only in maize, international companies such as Seed Co from South Africa and NASECO from Uganda, who already produced 'elite' hybrid seeds and imported into DRC. Élan would support local firms with production, as well as with marketing and distribution. International companies would be supported just with marketing and distribution, although there was ambition for Seed Co and NASECO to ultimately produce hybrid seed in the DRC.<sup>13</sup> These interventions were framed under the Market System Change (MSC) 2.1. In total 17 out of 26 interventions were on inputs, the majority focussing on SHF use of improved seed.

Mining companies and larger farms were used by Élan to develop AgNP interventions such as outgrower schemes (OGS) and contract farming models. Mining provided an opening for Élan interventions, given that mining companies had legal responsibilities to develop 500 hectare (ha) of land each. The mining sector obligation was catalysed to implement and improve OGS. The south of DRC also includes a handful of very large farms, another entry point for Élan as they provided a large market for improved seed, for contract

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For a map of provinces, see Figure 40 in Annex G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> As the main paper will set out, hybrid seeds are dominant in more developed agricultural economies, however need to be bought every season as on-farm breeding leads to yield losses of 50 percent by the third-generation of seed offspring. OPV seed varieties are a 'by-product' of the hybrid production process, and have yields around 20-25 percent less than hybrids (Masuka et al., 2017). However, OPV are cheaper and yields decline less if bred on-farm, so they can be preferred in many sub-Saharan African countries where SHFs have low purchasing power. Traditional or farm-saved seeds are produced on the farm but yield less than OPVs or hybrids. The full potential yield gains from improved seeds require inputs such as fertiliser to be used.

farming models, and for the collateral management agreement (CMA) model used within the A2F sector (see below). Élan's AgNP interventions included five OGS, four involving larger farmers and one involving a mining company (SEK), which were framed under MSC 2.2 and 2.3. The AgNP sector also included some sector-wide advocacy work with seed associations (COPROSEM), and developing seed sector strategies for the southern and eastern regions (with The African Seed Access Index, TASAI).

The study has looked into these interventions and MSCs in some depth in order to assess findings against the Evaluation Questions (EQs). The findings for the AgNP sector are summarised in Table 2.

Question	Assessment		
Relevance			
A2: To what extent was Élan and the interventions it supported appropriately designed to meet the needs of stakeholders and target beneficiaries?	<ul> <li>Élan's focus on AgNP was relevant because of its prominence in the economy and the number of poor people involved. Estimates from Élan showed a vast majority (98 percent) of AgNP beneficiaries to live below USD 1.90 PPP per day.</li> <li>The approach evolved, with an increasing focus on seed. Seed sector analysis was strong with detailed diagnosis underpinning interventions, and highly relevant to yields, productivity and incomes</li> </ul>		
A3: To what extent did the intervention logic and assumptions of the Élan project (and its interventions) hold during implementation?	<ul> <li>of the smallholder farmer (SHF) beneficiary group.</li> <li>The approach to support international seed companies to grow sales of hybrid maize seed, and local firms to establish open-pollinated variety (OPV) seed production was logical. SHFs have very limited purchasing power so seeds were more affordable than fertilisers.</li> <li>OGS and contract farming models were less systemic, relying on a higher degree of subsidy to finance inputs and provide services to SHF beneficiaries.</li> <li>A more limited focus on sector policy meant many sector constraints were not addressed.</li> </ul>		
Effectiveness			
B2: To what extent has Élan led to improvements in market systems?	<ul> <li>Limited improvements were made to DRC's seed sector. Smallholder farmers' access to quality hybrid seeds has improved and more so than access to quality locally-produced OPV seeds, but imported hybrid seeds remain less affordable to poor and low- income farmers.</li> <li>An agreement with INERA on liberalisation of the production of foundation seed was an important systemic step by Élan.</li> <li>Local seed companies supported saw increases in production and sales with support from Élan, but remain small. They face issues such as unpaid invoices from provincial government and no longer access the finance from banks Élan facilitated.</li> <li>Some OGS and contract farming schemes were effective during the period of project support, but were short-lived. There were issues including buyers not upholding agreements with farmers, and the schemes lacked profitability.</li> <li>Advocacy in the sector supported by Élan has not been sufficient to overcome sector constraints such as certification (SENASEM), varietal development (INERA), and funding (MINAGRI), costly and cumbersome import processes, and the proliferation of fake and illegal seeds.</li> </ul>		
Impact			

 Table 2:
 Findings on Evaluation Questions (EQs), for the AgNP sector

Question	Assessment
D1: What improvements in income delivered to target beneficiaries, contribution to poverty reduction, and any additional or unplanned impact can be attributed to Élan?	Better quality inputs, in most cases seeds, were expected to increase yields and in turn expected to increase revenue. The extent of improved yields, and consequently, increased revenue was expected to outweigh any additional costs associated with higher quality inputs faced by farmers. Overall, Élan reported that 323,060 SHFs benefited from its interventions in the AgNP sector (of whom 28 percent were women), increasing net income by £16 million with an average benefit of £50 per
B3/D2: What factors have influenced the results and impact achieved?	<ul> <li>beneficiary. Based on the poverty profile of beneficiaries, this was a notable improvement. However, reported incomes may not have been sustained (See Question E1).</li> <li>A variety of factors have affected the level of impact, including:</li> <li>Better yields from hybrid seeds compared to OPV seeds.</li> <li>The quality of OPV seed produced by local seed companies.</li> <li>The profitability of business models introduced or supported.</li> <li>The proportion of sales to SHFs versus sales to government, NGOs and mining companies, is not clear, but overall, less seeds were sold to SHFs.</li> <li>Seed system constraints create information asymmetry where farmers can be unclear on the quality of seeds purchased. Branding is an incomplete solution as proper certification is non-existent, trust networks are therefore key with agro-dealers playing a central role. These factors limit impact.</li> </ul>
Sustainability	
E1: To what extent have the results of Élan in terms of market systems change been sustained?	<ul> <li>A small proportion of Élan's partners have continued with the new practices that they began with project support. Only the hybrid seed interventions with Seed Co and NASECO could be considered significant enough to signal changes at the market system level.</li> <li>The following issues affect sustainability:</li> <li>The advocacy body COPROSEM (provincial seed council) for the Southern region has not met since Élan ended and progress on the seed sector strategy and seed law remain slow. Constraints in seed certification (SENASEM), varietal turnover and improvement (INERA), regulation and funding (MINAGRI) all still remain, restricting growth in the sector.</li> <li>For the international seed companies', Seed Co and NASECO, hybrid seed sales continue to grow despite the challenges. Sales growth is linked to provincial government subsidies in the southern region, but sales to SHFs appear to be growing in the eastern region. Both companies signal they may produce in the DRC in coming years which would be a major positive step for the agricultural sector as a whole.</li> <li>Local (DRC) seed companies are surviving but remain small. The quality of the OPV seed produced is questionable given the quality control agency (SENASEM) is under-funded and under-capacitated. While local seed companies would like to move into production of hybrid seed, the feasibility of this is likely limited at least in the short or medium term.</li> <li>The OGS and contract farming models were not sustainable. In one case a mining company was sold and new owners did not continue the input-subsidy initiative.</li> <li>The contract farming model was also outside of large farms' main commercial business, while constraints and costs meant there were insufficient incentives for them to continue.</li> </ul>

# Findings on the, Access to Finance (A2F) sector

Élan's focus on the A2F sector started from trying to address very low financial inclusion in the DRC. Financial inclusion according to a FinScope survey in 2014 was among the lowest in the world, with just 32 percent of the sample having access to formal financial services, and 54 percent classified as financially excluded.<sup>14</sup> The majority of the access that existed was based on payments and remittances, mainly using money transfer operators (MTOs), with which mobile money would directly compete. Access to insurance and credit were very low, with 99 percent and 91 percent of adults respectively completely excluded from use of these services. Only 10 percent had formal savings account access. Formal employment, higher income and urban status were found to be highly correlated with greater financial inclusion across all service types.<sup>15</sup>

Access to credit, particularly for MSMEs, and for farmers and agricultural sector businesses was very limited. As of 2014, there were 18 licensed banks holding 95 percent of the total assets in the financial system, and the IMF found that "credit has been increasing fast but remains scarce, expensive, short-term, and highly concentrated."<sup>16</sup> The DRC had just 34 deposit accounts for every 1,000 adults, with only neighbouring Republic of Congo and South Sudan having less. In 2012, the DRC also had among the lowest value of deposits with- and outstanding loans from commercial banks as a proportion of GDP, at 9 percent and 4.7 percent respectively. In comparison, Zambia had 19.2 percent of outstanding deposits, and 12.8 percent of outstanding loans from commercial banks as a proportion of GDP.<sup>17</sup>

Based on its analysis of constraints and opportunities, Élan targeted the following market system changes in the A2F sector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016b) Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2016 – 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> IMF (2014) DRC Financial System Stability Assessment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey. In 2012 only Sierra Leone, Central African Republic (CAR) and Chad had lower deposits with commercial banks as share of GDP than DRC. Only Sierra Leone, Guinea and Afghanistan had lower loans from commercial banks as share of GDP.

Élan 1.0 MSCs 2017	Élan 1.2 MSCs 2020
MSC3.1: MNOs and Financial institutions develop financial education programs and other tools to increase confidence in mobile money and other digital financial services	MSC AF1 - FSPs offer education, products and services appropriate to low- income female and male consumers and entrepreneurs, including those with disabilities
MSC3.2: MNOs and financial institutions offer appropriate products/services to poor consumers and entrepreneurs	MSC AF2 - Financial services
MSC3.3: MNOs and financial institutions improve agents' quality of service and expand agents network to serve poor consumers and ensure supply chain digitalisation	improve the sector's business environment.
MSC4.1: Financial institutions market adapted and innovative financial products	MSC AF3 - Strengthened and increased capacities of investment intermediaries
MSC4.2: Consulting companies provide technical assistance in business management to SME owners.	help to attract investment in female- and male-owned SMEs in the DRC

### Table 3: Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in A2F

Source: Élan (2017d) Annual Report. Élan (2021i) "Programme Closure Report".

At the time that Élan commenced, the mobile banking sub-sector was fast growing and early market engagement with Vodacom provided the basis for collaboration on a 'bottom of pyramid' consumer strategy. While the banking sector reached 6 percent of the adult population in 2014, in contrast 55 percent of the population had mobile network coverage and 23 percent were using mobile phones. Experience from Kenya had shown the potential of mobile banking for increasing financial inclusion.<sup>18</sup> Early sector studies found that customer awareness on the functions of mobile money as well as trust with the new services were low. This led to a central Élan A2F intervention around mobile money customer awareness bringing together the three mobile money players that had begun operating in the DRC in 2012: Vodacom, Airtel and Tigo.

The microfinance sector was small, with total loans of USD 95 million, but with a promising market leader in FINCA, the largest microfinance institution (MFI) who were also becoming more innovative in agent banking solutions through its 'FINCA Express' model. Several partnerships were undertaken, which included support in expanding this agent network, particularly in rural areas of the south, with alignment to AgNP intervention locations (in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces). FINCA were also supported by Élan in mobile banking innovations, in particular with an intervention promoting collaboration between FINCA and Vodacom to release a small, unsecured loan product ('Lona o Defa').

An early study funded by Élan on SME finance found only one, relatively smaller player, ProCredit Bank, to be targeting those on low income and small or very small businesses.<sup>19</sup> Work in the AgNP and River Transport sector led to interventions with ProCredit (which through acquisition later became Equity Bank Congo and then Equity BCDC), including a guarantee fund to support SME lending. Élan would link SMEs to the bank and also provide technical assistance, while the guarantee fund would keep interest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> ASI (2013c) DRC Market Development Component: Scoping report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014) "Consumer financial needs & behaviour assessment in DRC".

rates down and reduce collateral requirements. Equity BCDC credit Élan with supporting to expand their agricultural lending team as a result of this early work.

A second, more innovative initiative in SME Finance was on collateral management agreements (CMAs). The CMA model extended the type of collateral that could be used. The CMA interventions supported by Élan would involve stocks of maize, stored in a warehouse and verified by a third party then allowing credit for working capital to be released. A first CMA with Bank of Africa (BOA) in Goma was based on SHFs storing maize, but with small volumes, the scheme failed. A second CMA with a large farm and maize processor, GoCongo in Lubumbashi, was more successful, facilitating over USD 1.2 million in working capital loans from Equity BCDC over three seasons.

A final strand of work was on coordination and regulatory issues, particularly through supporting sector advocacy. This included work with the Digital Credit and Savings Working Group (DCSWG), an advocacy group set up to improve the 'digital ecosystem' for financial services, to promote a wider range of services and support regulatory change in this regard. Interventions to support the financial sector with payment 'aggregators', MaxiCash and Infoset, also supported the digital payments market. A significant achievement for the project was improving interoperability among mobile money providers (the ability to send payments from an account with one provider to an account with another provider), with agreements facilitated by Élan.

# Summary findings: evaluation questions

The study has looked in depth at the A2F sector and its portfolio interventions. Findings against the Evaluation Questions (EQs) for the study are summarised in Table 4.

Question	Assessment		
Relevance			
A2: To what extent was Élan and the	Élan's selection of the sector and sub-sectors of mobile money and SME finance were relevant to the needs of the poor in DRC. Élan's analysis of opportunities in A2F were supported by good evidence. The design of specific interventions, and selection of partners, were in some cases less appropriate to achieve the objectives of the project. For instance:		
interventions it supported appropriately designed to meet the needs of stakeholders and target beneficiaries? A3: To what extent did the intervention logic and assumptions of the Élan project (and its interventions) hold during implementation?	<ul> <li>Although the poor were the target group, the initial growth stage of mobile money benefitted urban and better-off people first, in part because of demand for transfer services, existing financial inclusion rates, mobile network coverage and relatively high liquidity of urban agent networks.</li> <li>Élan aimed to reach rural areas through tie-ups with a large and innovative MFI, which may have been a model with less chance of systemic change and replication due to it being an effective subsidy for rural expansion.</li> <li>SME lending was developed in a less strategic and more ad hoc manner than the mobile money interventions. Élan partnered with one bank and supported a high-rate of subsidy (credit guarantee) that may have provided short-term impact. Banks remain risk averse with respect to the agricultural and MSME sectors of the DRC economy, with high interest rates and collateral requirements.</li> </ul>		
Effectiveness			

### Table 4: Findings on Evaluation Questions (EQs), for the A2F sector

Question	Assessment
Question B2: To what extent has Élan led to improvements in market systems?	<ul> <li>Assessment</li> <li>Élan's portfolio produced mixed results in terms of market system changes, particularly changes that benefit poor and marginalised groups and MSMEs.</li> <li>The most significant progress in system change was via interoperability of the digital payment system including between competing mobile money providers. Élan helped to catalyse bilateral interoperability and also supported some innovative partnerships for digital payment solutions (MaxiCash / Infoset) undertaken during the Covid period of Élan 1.2. Élan reported that mobile money operators have changed their marketing approaches due to Élan's support on awareness campaigns.</li> <li>Élan claimed large NAIC / beneficiary estimates from the mobile money campaign. However, overall, Élan's contribution to fast rates of growth in mobile money usage since 2013 is unclear, which in all likelihood would have happened anyway.</li> <li>Some interventions provided system change, but not necessarily in a way to benefit the poor. For example, the CMA with GoCongo, Comexas and Equity Bank was successful and provided proof of the concept, but did not benefit poor SHFs as transaction costs for them to store maize and access finance were found to be too high.</li> <li>Some business models introduced by Élan have not been profitable e.g. while loans facilitated with Equity Bank were a limited success, support could not overcome the causes of high costs of finance and collateral requirements. The Lona o Defa small loans product (a collaboration with FINCA and Vodacom) has increased numbers of users but faces issues including high default rates, and is not yet profitable.</li> <li>For a number of interventions, effectiveness is unclear, particularly due to weak impact evaluation methods used by Élan. This includes support to FINCA to promote their agent network. While FINCA has increased its geographic network and lending, it is unclear whether rural poor people have benefited from this growth as intended.</li> <li>Other contextual factors influe</li></ul>
Impact	
D1: What improvements in income delivered to target beneficiaries, contribution to poverty reduction, and any additional or unplanned impact can be attributed to Élan? B3/D2: What factors have influenced the	<ul> <li>Overall, Élan reported that 306,408 poor people benefited from its interventions in the A2F sector (of which 31 percent were women), increasing net income by £9.1 million or an average benefit of £30 per beneficiary.</li> <li>Élan concluded that the mobile money campaign generated a large majority of A2F beneficiaries, whose income increased indirectly and after Élan's support concluded. Benefit was based on cost savings for customers compared to them making remittances via money transfer operators (MTOs), however the strength of evidence was limited.</li> <li>Factors affecting the breadth and depth of impact included:</li> <li>The appropriateness of the intervention designs, and their underlying assumptions, about how poor and disadvantaged</li> </ul>
results and impact achieved?	<ul> <li>Élan's efforts were hampered by major systemic constraints such as the high rate of dollarization, which limits lending and creates complexities for payment systems.</li> </ul>

Question	Assessment
	• Some interventions were systemic but did not have quantitative impact measured, including interoperability among mobile money providers. This was mainly due to their timing and a lack of clarity on impact pathways.
Sustainability	
E1: To what extent have the results of Élan in terms of market systems change been sustained?	<ul> <li>There is some evidence of sustainable practice changes among Elan's partners, but the extent to which interventions overcame system constraints, or been replicated appears limited. For the interventions that have been sustained it is mostly the non-poor who are likely to be benefiting.</li> <li>There is increasing innovation in the digital finance space including tie-ups with MFIs and MNOs (FINCA and Vodacom), and other MFIs such as SMICO following this route. Élan made a credible contribution to towards growth in this space.</li> <li>Progress on interoperability continues to be made but issues remain including costs of interoperable transfer, 'know your customer' protocols, and costs of the National Switch including the role of the Central Bank (BCC).</li> <li>Equity BCDC has continued to expand its agricultural lending portfolio, and is now the second biggest bank in DRC. It has a target of 30 percent of lending to go to agriculture in coming years (a target for all countries in which they operate, not just the DRC). They credit Élan with kick-starting the growth of their agricultural lending team in DRC.</li> <li>Overall, mobile money access has continued to expand in the DRC and now reaches one-fifth of the adult population with an active account. This is a rapid rate of increase, although Élan's contribution to this is likely relatively limited.</li> <li>It is possible that some interventions that have not continued may trigger further innovation. For instance, the CMA was successful for a number of seasons until recently being discontinued due to high costs of verification. It could potentially be reinstated with minimal facilitation. Equity BCDC also say they have developed a similar product aimed at smaller firms, although the product is not yet on the market, suggesting that the experience could trigger further innovation.</li> <li>Facilitation of the digital finance working group (DCSWG) was handed over to the Fonds pour linclusion financière en RDC (Fund for Inclusive Finance in DRC, FPM) bu</li></ul>

## **Overall learning points and recommendations**

Élan's sector work in AgNP and A2F provided some important successes. This includes the continued presence and growth of regional hybrid seeds producers (NASECO and Seed Co), the CMA model, and improvements to bilateral interoperability and support to innovative service providers in the digital finance market. The work provides a good legacy and the UK's investment in the two sectors is testament to the hard work of the Élan team and partners, who operated in a very difficult context.<sup>20</sup> It also provides a foundation that can be built upon, not least as the markets remain fragile and many systemic constraints remain, particularly the more binding constraints in the DRC of infrastructure, logistics, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Though this study does not make a value for money or cost benefit analysis assessment of Élan.

governance. Lessons can be drawn from the experience that feed into some recommendations. These include:

### Lesson 1: Programme structures and designs need to support the objectives

An important overall lesson has been on the relative balance between private sector engagement and a focus on policy-related issues including laws and regulations, as well as 'supporting functions' and capacity of public sector bodies (for example, SENASEM, who are responsible for enforcement of the quality of seeds). In theory, the PSD programme provided a twin approach to dealing with private and public sector-driven constraints. A lack of coordination between Élan and Essor to develop and implement 'twin approaches' in constraints in particular sectors weakened the overall PSD programme and undermined its complexity-aware principles. Élan and Essor largely worked independently on separate parts of the market systems, with a few exceptions.

Over time, Élan gradually increased their focus on the regulatory side of both the AgNP and A2F sectors, in an effort to address binding constraints in each market. It mostly did not work with government directly but through business associations or working groups. For instance, it worked with TASAI and developing seed sector strategies with the seed councils (COPROSEM) in Haut Katanga and the Kivu provinces, including attempting to promote advocacy to promote passing of the draft seed law. In A2F, the bilateral interoperability work came late in the first phase of Élan 1.0, while in the second phase the Digital Credit and Savings Working Group (DCSWG) was a forum to interface with the BCC and promote sector advocacy. Similar initiatives were promoted in the humanitarian contexts of eastern DRC for 'markets in crisis' and payments in particular during the Covid pandemic. Such approaches would have had more time to be effective if they had begun nearer to the start of the project.

# Lesson 2: Increased focus on policy related constraints is necessary to change market systems

The policy and regulatory initiatives of Élan had some small successes but have not been effectively sustained. Since Élan ended in 2021, the COPROSEM body (in Lubumbashi) has not met and sector coordination remains weak, while the DCSWG have also not held meetings, although FPM, to whom Élan passed on the working group, say they intend to reinvigorate the platform.

The DRC does not have a seed system that can produce modern hybrid seed, and barriers to trade mean the prices of hybrid seed on the market are higher than in regional / neighbouring countries. Élan only interacted with the major systemic constraints on the margin. The national research institution (INERA) and the national seed certification body (SENASEM), remain chronically under-funded and lack sufficient capacity to develop new varieties, produce breeder and foundation seeds, or to certify seeds. This is also true of other institutions such as in agricultural statistics (under MINAGRI), a dormant national maize research centre (CRM), and in agriculture funding more broadly.<sup>21</sup> The result is that most seed that is identified as certified is actually not quality seed, or may not be,<sup>22</sup> and fake seeds, counterfeits and illegal imported seeds are ubiquitous in the market. It is then very

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> As relayed to us in interview with the Ministry of Agriculture provincial office in Lubumbashi.
 <sup>22</sup> In late 2022, we visited the SENASEM laboratory in Lubumbashi which clearly had not been fully operational for many years. There was only one sample on site for example.

challenging for professional seed companies to compete, and the poor quality of seed in the market further weakens farmer demand for improved seed, creating a vicious cycle of underinvestment in seed production and distribution.<sup>23</sup>

### Lesson 3: A focus on achieving impact at beneficiary-level within project lifetimes may deter projects from work and learning on critical system-level constraints

The entry points for Élan were more frequently private sector companies. A strong rationale was that policy reform was uncertain, government unpredictable, and reform can take many years to achieve.<sup>24</sup> The private sector's capacity to innovate, achieve scale and change market systems was therefore more likely to lead to system change, particularly for the period of time in which Elan had to implement. While this was a rational theory of change (ToC) for the Élan project, the approach was often found to not provide a coherent framework to market systems change, particularly as Élan continued to work with 'second movers', with very limited examples of replication occurring without some form of subsidy from the project ('expand' or 'response' within the AAER framework).

Élan faced trade-offs in how to prioritise its resources and where and how to adapt its strategies. While there were some good examples, there were cases where the NAIC targets may have distorted decision-making, while also lowering the focus on good quality evidence and learning. This report found extensive issues with NAIC estimates, as had previous DSU reports.<sup>25</sup> This included in weak methodologies used and a lack of external studies commissioned, resulting in questionable claims for NAIC. While it is possible this was driven by logframe targets, the bigger concern is that opportunities for learning were curtailed. For example, which seeds were most appropriate for the SHF beneficiary group? What were the relative advantages and disadvantages of OPV and hybrid seed? How effective were models to roll out rural agent networks to promote A2F and financial inclusion? Good quality data on such questions would have helped Élan to learn, and be better prepared to tackle the many challenges in promoting system change.

## Future programming

The findings and learning points specified provide several possible routes for future programming. Some ideas are provided in Table 5 below, and while these are provided as recommendations they are also, more importantly, areas for discussion and further thought and development. The nine years of Élan provide a wide and rich set of learning and experiences. The recommendations below are provided for each sector, for market systems and complexity programming, and for learning and monitoring and results measurement (MRM).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> A situation akin to that set out in Akerlof (1970) "The Market for Lemons: Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The draft seed law, was initially written more than 15 years ago and although revised to align with the provisions of the COMESA and SADC harmonised seed trade regulations, was submitted to Parliament in 2018 and is still awaiting deliberation. It has not been passed for (apparently petty) political reasons rather than technical challenges or constraints. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report. <sup>25</sup> In particular, DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b).

## Table 5: Study recommendations for FCDO

Recommendation	Related learning points
AgNP	
<ul> <li>R1: The DRC seed system remains nascent and progress that has been made is fragile. Where possible, the production and distribution of hybrid seed in the DRC should remain a central pillar for future programming as seed quality remains a binding constraint for farmers to improve yields.</li> <li>R2: The focus in agriculture should include larger farmers if transformation is the objective. Such farmers are already achieving high yields in the DRC and a greater area of land under their management is likely essential for transformation in the sector's productivity.</li> <li>R3: Constraints in the seed system are heavily related to under-funding of key institutions such as INERA and SENASEM. Programming should seek to address these constraints and the market failures they lead to (for example, information asymmetries on seed quality).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Interventions related to importing quality hybrid seed were more successful than those producing and selling locally grown OPV seed, principally because international companies had higher capabilities than local businesses.</li> <li>Provincial governments are major buyers of seed, something that may disincentivise SHFs from purchasing quality seed themselves.</li> <li>There are challenges to marketing of OPV seeds due to their intellectual property being limited. Hybrid seeds are easier to brand and package effectively while maintaining consistent products. However, both require good quality assurance.</li> </ul>
A2F	
<ul> <li>R4: Equity BCDC's ambitions presents a major opportunity to grow agricultural lending in the DRC with large lending targets in place for coming years. Future programming in A2F should consider how to support the Bank in achieving growth objectives while also seeking to ensure that smaller and poorer farmers and MSMEs can also benefit (including overcoming the collateral requirements they face), while the protection of the environment also remains strong.</li> <li>R5: The digital finance eco-system continues to provide the most dynamic growth sector in the finance industry that interfaces with ordinary and poorer consumers. Many opportunities remain and can be catalysed, particularly in digitising more of the everyday payments consumers make.</li> <li>R6: Innovation in financial services remains the most likely route to improve financial inclusion, including for relatively untapped sectors such as MSME lending and micro-insurance. Future focus on these areas will require strong expertise to support profitable and impactful opportunities.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Élan's efforts to promote SME and agriculture lending had limited success but pilot interventions did stimulate some innovation in the sector (particularly the credit guarantee model, micro-loans via mobile phone, and the CMA model).</li> <li>Agricultural sector firms, farms and MSMEs continue to face high costs of capital and high collateral requirements, compared to their ability to pay and their stock of assets. Continued innovation in products and systems (to credit scoring, types of collateral etc.) are required to address these groups.</li> <li>Financial inclusion remains low in the DRC, particularly for savings, insurance and lending. Many everyday payments are still not possible to make by digital means.</li> </ul>
Market systems and complexity	
<b>R7:</b> There should be greater reflection on the PSD programme experience in terms of the balance between business environment reform and market development. The diagnosis that both are important still holds, but effective system change requires close and coordinated working to achieve across the public and private sectors.	<ul> <li>Élan focused mainly on working with businesses and avoided interactions with government and may have missed opportunities to address critical constraints required for market systems changes.</li> <li>A combined PSD approach of focussing on both government and the private</li> </ul>

Recommendation	Related learning points
<b>R8:</b> There will be complex interplay between the Congolese agriculture sector and the threats from climate change over coming years. This provides a strong case for maintaining a focus on many of the Élan project's goals and the complexity-driven approach it used. Future programming should carefully seek to balance support for resilience to the changing climate (including improved and 'climate- resilient' seeds), and support to climate change mitigation (including avoidance/reduction of deforestation).	<ul> <li>sector remains highly relevant in the DRC, but requires closer coordination between the two for success.</li> <li>Agriculture is critical for climate change adaptation, but also poses threats in terms of emissions due to linkages with deforestation in the DRC.</li> </ul>
Learning and MRM	
<ul> <li>R9: Good quality and timely analysis related to market systems changes is imperative to help strategy development and adaptation. Donors should moderate their demands for beneficiary impact data to the context of the programme, its objectives and realistic timeframes so to create positive incentives for implementers.</li> <li>R10: Development projects operating in market systems should seek and maintain high standards in the quality of impact evaluation and learning. In agriculture, a strong understanding of measuring yields including via counterfactual studies is vital for effective learning and adaptive programming</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Élan's management systems and practices systematically over-estimated the number of beneficiaries and level of increased income, most likely because of incentives the logframe provided.</li> <li>Élan's evaluations, although many in number, were not high quality, and often did not use rigorous methods or external third-party providers to avoid over-optimism bias in estimates generated.</li> </ul>

# **Table of contents**

Acknowl	edger	nents	i
Executiv	ve Sun	nmary	ii
List of ta	bles, t	figures, and boxes	xviii
List of al	bbrevi	ations	xxii
1	Introd	luction	1
	1.1	Evaluation questions	2
	1.2	Methodology	3
2	Back	ground	9
	2.1	General background to the DRC and Élan's portfolio	9
	2.2	Élan's AgNP strategy	13
	2.3	Élan's A2F strategy	21
3	Agric	ulture non-perennials (AgNP)	
	3.1	Relevance of Élan's AgNP work	
	3.2	Effectiveness of Élan's AgNP work	
	3.3	Impact of Élan's AgNP work	60
	3.4	Sustainability of Élan's AgNP work	72
4	Acces	ss to Finance	80
	4.1	Relevance of Élan's A2F work	80
	4.2	Effectiveness of Élan's A2F work	
	4.3	Impact of Élan's A2F work	
	4.4	Sustainability of Élan's A2F work	
5	Futur	e programming	113
	5.1	What are the implications for FCDO's future programming in Agric A2F in the DRC?	ulture and113
Annex A		References	
Annex B	5	Interviewees	
Annex C	;	List of AgNP interventions	
Annex D	)	List of A2F interventions	
Annex E	-	Select intervention summaries	
Annex F		Additional analysis	
Annex G	6	Other useful figures	

# List of tables, figures, and boxes

Table 1:	Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in AgNP across the two phases	v
Table 2:	Findings on Evaluation Questions (EQs), for the AgNP sector	vi
Table 3:	Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in A2F	ix
Table 4:	Findings on Evaluation Questions (EQs), for the A2F sector	x
Table 5:	Study recommendations for FCDO	.xv
Table 6:	Élan 1.0 interventions by sector	11
Table 7:	Élan 1.2 interventions by sector	12
Table 8:	Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in AgNP across the two phases	13
Table 9:	Formal and informal seed system characteristics	15
Table 10:	Élan 1.0 and 1.2, AgNP interventions by type	18
Table 11:	Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in A2F	22
Table 12:	Money transfer fee comparison across providers, MTOs and mobile money (2013-2015)	y 27
Table 13:	Élan 1.0 and 1.2, A2F interventions by type	31
Table 14:	Poverty Lines (2012) and estimated proportion of Élan beneficiaries (2018	) 34
Table 15:	Assessment of assumptions underpinning Élan's AgNP sector	43
Table 16:	Prices of maize seeds, comparison by region and humanitarian vs. commercial rates in eastern DRC	49
Table 17:	Élan's assessment of systemic change using AAER framework	50
Table 18:	AgNP number of beneficiaries and NAIC (£) by intervention type	61
Table 19:	AgNP interventions with the largest number of beneficiaries listed in order	63
Table 20:	AgNP interventions ordered by NAIC per beneficiary (£)	65
Table 21:	Progress against the Seed Sector strategy for the Southern Region	75
Table 22:	Assessment of assumptions underpinning Élan's A2F sector	87
Table 23:	Élan's assessment of systemic change using AAER framework	94
Table 24:	A2F interventions with the largest number of beneficiaries listed in order. 1	01
Table 25:	Study recommendations for FCDO 1	17
Table 26:	Seed sales (in tonnes) by Seed Co1	47
Table 27:	Seed Co reported impact and DSU reliability assessment 1	48
Table 28:	NASECO maize seed production estimates, production (tonnes), and revenue (USD thousands)1	51
Table 29:	NASECO reported impact and DSU reliability assessment1	52
Table 30:	Mimosa seed production data in land use (hectares) and production (tonne 1	es) ∣54

Table 31:	Mimosa reported impact and DSU reliability assessment 155
Table 32:	Bon Berger seed production in land use (hectares) and production (tonnes)
Table 33:	Bon Berger reported impact and DSU reliability assessment
Table 34:	FINCA intervention reported impact and DSU reliability assessment 162
Table 35:	Mobile money campaign intervention impact and DSU reliability assessment
Table 36:	CMA interventions impact and DSU reliability assessment
Table 37:	Factors that drive maize varietal replacement in east and southern Africa 177
Table 38:	Overall estimates of NAIC in Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2 by sector ( $\pounds$ millions). 185
Table 39:	Proportion of crop area for maize covered under different seed classes, across 13 sampled countries during the 2013/14 main season
Table 40:	Estimated poverty headcounts by intervention in Élan's 2018 survey 194
Table 41:	Number of registered mobile money accounts per 1,000 adults, DRC and selected countries: 2012-2021
Figure 1:	Élan estimated beneficiaries split by sector, 2013-2021iv
Figure 2:	Élan estimated spend split by sector, 2013-2021 (GBP millions) 10
Figure 3:	Initial theory of change (ToC) for seeds sector, from 201317
Figure 4:	Élan 1.0 geographic focus (2015/16)20
Figure 5:	Distribution and density of commercial banks (2012), DRC and selected countries
Figure 6:	Financial inclusion in the DRC and in regional comparison (2012-2014) 25
Figure 7:	Mobile money sector theory of change (ToC)
Figure 8:	Élan's initial systems map for the mobile-banking market
Figure 9:	A2F SMEs theory of change (ToC)
Figure 10:	TASAI benchmarked data on certified seed production in total (metric tonnes MT), and kilograms (kg) of certified maize seed per person (2016 estimates)
Figure 11:	Will-Skill framework to assess AgNP partners
Figure 12:	Illustration of the enabling environment for seed70
Figure 13:	Transport infrastructure in the DRC72
Figure 14:	Estimated sales of maize seed (t) for Élan's main seed partners, 2013-2022.
Figure 15:	Reasons for sending money (for "most often" transfers)
Figure 16:	Network coverage and dominance in different major cities (mobile phone). 85
Figure 17:	The evolution of the financial inclusion environment in the DRC
Figure 18:	Responsibilities of CMA parties

Figure 19:	Outstanding loans from commercial banks (percentage of GDP). DRC and selected other regional countries: 2012, 2016 and 2021	04
Figure 20:	Outstanding SME loans from commercial banks (percentage of GDP). DRO and selected other regional countries: 2015, 2018 and 2021	C 05
Figure 21:	Number of deposit accounts with commercial banks per 1,000 adults. DRC and selected other regional countries: 2012, 2015, 2018 and 2021	; 06
Figure 22:	FINCA revenue, net income, loan and savings portfolios (USD million): 201 2021	15- 06
Figure 23:	Growth in active mobile money accounts, per 1,000 adults. DRC and selected other regional countries: 2012-2021	11
Figure 24:	Phases of seed growing1	53
Figure 25:	Long-term growth of FINCA's operation – clients (thousands), agents and branches	59
Figure 26:	FINCA revenue, net income, loan and savings portfolios (USD million): 201 2021	15- 61
Figure 27:	Responsibilities of CMA parties1	66
Figure 28:	ASI's overall ranking of sectors during inception phase market scoping 1	69
Figure 29:	Initial theory of change (ToC) for rice sector, from 2013 1	70
Figure 30:	Food security in the DRC, October 2022 1	71
Figure 31:	Agriculture value added per worker (2005 USD) and cereal yield (kg per ha 2000 and 2013: DRC and comparator countries	a), 72
Figure 32:	Climate zones in the DRC1	75
Figure 33:	Rates of dollarization in SSA: 2001 and 2012 (foreign currency loans as percentage of total loans)1	81
Figure 34:	DRC, loans by currency (USD billions) 1	81
Figure 35:	Private Credit Bureau coverage in DRC and selected other country groups	 84
Figure 36:	The 'problematique': Constraints to private sector development in DRC 1	85
Figure 37:	AgNP Results Chain for Élan 1.2, revised version in November 2020 1	86
Figure 38:	A2F Results Chain for Élan 1.2, revised version in November 2020 1	87
Figure 39:	Market overview of DRC banking market in 2012 (top 11 banks by assets).	 88
Figure 40:	New and old provinces in the DRC (pre-2005, post-2005)1	89
Figure 41:	The five economic poles of the DRC1	90
Figure 42:	Population density in the DRC1	90
Figure 43:	Location of economic activity in the DRC1	91
Figure 44:	Risk of seasons of drought in SSA (probability of failed season, %) 1	92
Figure 45:	Projected Temperature and Precipitation Changes in DRC and other SSA Countries for 2030-50 (Reference Period 1986-2005)	92

Figure 46:	Contribution of indicators to the multidimensional poverty index (MPI) for national level, urban areas and rural areas
Figure 47:	Average daily revenue of Élan beneficiaries by sector, in USD purchasing power parity (PPP) based on 2018 survey data
Figure 48:	Adults with a mobile money account (percentage): 2014-2021 195
Figure 49:	Target markets segmented for financial inclusion 196
Figure 50:	Mobile network coverage estimates in the DRC (2016) 197
Figure 51:	Density of financial services by province, compared to population (2014) 197
Box 1:	Types of market system changes8
Box 2:	The difference between farm-saved, OPV and hybrid varieties of seeds 15
Box 3:	Dollarization of the DRC economy
Box 4:	The role of fertiliser in productivity
Box 5:	Élan's local maize seed interventions54
Box 6:	Advantages of growing hybrid maize seeds from international evidence 66
Box 7:	Impact assessment of the most successful rice intervention, Ets Munga 69
Box 8:	Benefits of mobile money
Box 9:	Interoperability explained
Box 10:	What are Collateral management agreements (CMAs)?

# List of abbreviations

A2F	Access to finance
AAER	Adopt Adapt Expand Respond, systems change framework
AgP	Agriculture perennials sector
AgNP	Agriculture non-perennials sector
AML / CFT	Anti-money laundering / Combating the Financing of Terrorism
AR	Annual Review
ASI	Adam Smith International
APSK	Association of Seed Producers of Katanga (Association des Producteurs de Semences du Katanga)
ATM	Automated teller machine
BB	Branchless banking
BCC	Banque Centrale du Congo (Central Bank of the DRC)
BCDC	Banque Commerciale du Congo – which subsequently merged with Equity Bank Congo to become Equity BCDC
BDS	Business development services
BOA	Bank of Africa
BOP	Bottom of pyramid
CAGR	Compound annual growth rate
CAPAM	Comité d'Acheteurs des Produits Agricoles de Moba
CAR	Central African Republic
CBA	Cost-benefit analysis
СВТ	Cross-Border Trade sector
CDF	Congolese Franc
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CGAP	Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
CIMMYT	International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center
CMA	Collateral Management Agreement

COMESA	Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa
COPROSEM	Provincial Seed Council (Conseil Provincial Semencier)
CRM	Maize Research Center (Centre de Recherche du Maïs)
CSR	Corporate social responsibility
DFID	Department for International Development
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
DCSWG	Digital Credit and Savings Working Group
DSU	Decision Support Unit (for the FCDO DRC PSD Programme)
EAC	East African Community
EAGC	Eastern Africa Grain Council
ESA	Eastern and southern Africa
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FCDO	Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office
FDI	Foreign direct investment
FEWSNET	Famine Early Warning Systems Network
FGD	Focus group discussion
FPM	Fonds pour l'inclusion financière en RDC (Fund for Inclusive Finance in DRC)
FSP	Financial service provider
FSSR	Financial Sector Stability Review
GCB	Global Corruption Barometer
GBP	British Pound
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GNI	Gross National Income
GSMA	Global System for Mobile Communications Association
ha	Hectare
HDI	Human Development Index
HNI	Human Network International
ID	Identification

IDP	Internally displaced person
IFC	International Finance Corporation
IITA	International Institute for Tropical Agriculture
INERA	Institut National pour l'Etude et la Recherche Agronomique - National Institute for Agricultural Research and Studies
IP	Intellectual property
kg	Kilogram
km	Kilometre
KPI	Key performance indicator
KYC	Know your customer
M&E	Monitoring and evaluation
M4P	Making Markets Work for the Poor
MFI	Micro-finance institution
MINAGRI	Ministry of Agriculture
MM	Mobile money
MNO	Mobile network operator
MOU	Memorandum of understanding
MPI	Multidimensional poverty index
MRM	Monitoring and results measurement
MSC	Market System Change
MSD	Market systems development approach
MTE	Mid-term evaluation
МТО	Money transfer operator
NAIC	Net Attributable Income Change
NARS	National agricultural research system
NERICA	New Rice for Africa (rice variety)
NGO	Non-governmental organisation
NPK	Nitrogen, Phosphorous, Potassium (fertiliser)
NPL	Non-performing loan

OAF	One Acre Fund
OGS	Outgrower scheme
OHADA	Organisation for the Harmonisation of Business Law in Africa (Organisation pour l'harmonisation en Afrique du droit des affaires)
OPHI	Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative
OPM	Oxford Policy Management
PA	Partnership Agreement
PCR	Programme Closure Report (or Project Closure Report)
PPO	Product Placement Officer
PPP	Purchasing power parity
PSD	Private Sector Development
PWIG	(Élan's) Project Wide Implementation Guide
RE	Renewable Energy sector
RT	River Transport sector
SACCO	Savings and Credit Cooperative Organisation
SADC	Southern African Development Community
SEK	Société d'Exploitation de Kipoi
SENASEM	National Seed Service (Service National des Semences)
SHF	Smallholder farmer
SME	Small and Medium Enterprise
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
t	Metric Tonne
t ha-1	Metric Tonne per hectare
TASAI	The African Seeds Access Index
TFM	Tenke Fungurume Mining
ТМВ	Trust Merchant Bank
ТоС	Theory of Change
UNAGRICO	Union Nationale des Agriculteurs Congolais
UNILU	University of Lubumbashi

- UPOV International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants
- USAID United States Agency for International Development
- USD United States Dollars
- USSD Unstructured Supplementary Service Data
- WFP World Food Programme
- ZMK Zambian Kwacha

# **1** Introduction

This report provides an evaluation of Élan's work in the Access to Finance (A2F) and Agriculture Non-Perennials (AgNP) sectors, in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) between 2014 and 2021. The Élan project was part of the UK's Private Sector Development (PSD) Programme. The PSD programme began its implementation phase in 2014 and consists of three projects:

- Élan, a £50 million market development project, implemented by Adam Smith International (ASI). The project began its implementation phase in January 2014, following a two-year scoping and design phase. The project's first phase had a completion date of December 2018, extended to July 2019, and became known as Élan 1.0. A second phase of the project was referred to as Élan 1.2, and began in August 2019. The project ended in July 2021.
- **Essor**, a £35 million flexible facility, aiming to improve the DRC's business enabling environment, which was implemented by PwC. It began implementation in January 2015 with an original completion date of January 2020. After an extension, it then completed in January 2022.
- The Decision Support Unit (DSU), which has supported the other projects and FCDO with annual reviews, evaluations, learning and adaptation activities, intended to improve implementation and increase impact. The DSU is implemented by Oxford Policy Management (OPM). It began in August 2016 and will complete in August 2023. (This study is a deliverable of the DSU).

Élan aimed to facilitate the growth of more inclusive markets in targeted sectors, taking a market system approach.<sup>26</sup> This study focuses on two of the main sectors in which the Élan project worked, A2F and AgNP. The purpose of the study is to examine the extent to which market system changes were achieved and sustained through an in-depth review of both sectors. This has been based on interviews in the DRC and extensive document review and analysis.

The study traces the pathways between Élan's activities and the market system changes achieved. The aim has been to determine evidence of plausible contribution to change. The focus is on contribution, in recognition of the complexity of market systems, the challenges in the DRC context, and the many other factors affecting system change beyond Élan's work. The underlying factors constraining development are complex, as are the pathways to making markets more inclusive to the poor.

The **structure of this report** follows the sequence of the evaluation questions in line with the other sector studies done to date,<sup>27</sup> as follows:

- The Introduction (this **Section 1**) introduces the study including the evaluation questions, with a brief summary of the methodology and its limitations.
- Section 2 outlines a brief introduction to the Élan project, the development of the sector approach and the allocation of resources to the AgNP and A2F sectors. It goes on to Élan's theory of change (ToC) for both sectors, including the evolution between Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2. It briefly explores the status of each sector at the time interventions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Originally, this was based on the Making Markets Work for the Poor (M4P) methodology(s). DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The Renewable Energy (RE) sector (DSU, 2021), and perennial agriculture (AgP) sector (DSU, 2019).

commenced, particularly the basis of the project's understanding and sector analysis that underpinned each ToC.

- Section 3 is the central chapter on Élan's work in the AgNP sector, this includes on the relevance of design in meeting the key constraints in the market and needs of target beneficiaries (Section 3.1); the effectiveness of interventions and extent to which systemic change was achieved (Section 3.2); the impact that can be estimated achieved (Section 3.3); and the sustainability of changes brought about (Section 3.4).
- Section 4 is the central chapter on Élan's work in the A2F sector. This presents findings on relevance (Section 4.1), effectiveness (Section 4.2), impact (Section 4.3) and sustainability (Section 4.4), following the same structure as for AgNP.
- Lastly, Section 5 aims to provide some conclusions and lessons from the Élan experience for both sectors, highlighting the most successful changes brought about, and some of the challenges and shortfalls in the work. The goal is to try to inform elements of FCDO's future programming, either building on the successes of Élan or learning lessons from the work in the agriculture and finance sectors over the 2013-2021 period.
- Annex A and Annex B set out references and interviewees respectively. Annex C and Annex D set out a full list of interventions for the AgNP and A2F sectors respectively. Annex E sets out a more in-depth look at a selection of the most important partnerships Élan undertook. Annex F sets out some additional analysis and Annex G sets out additional data, tables and figures, which at times will be useful for the more interested reader but are considered too detailed for the main body of the report.

# 1.1 Evaluation questions

The DSU have followed a consistent approach to the evaluation of Élan since beginning work on the PSD programme in 2016. This included in an extensive mid-term evaluation (MTE) in 2017.<sup>28</sup> A final programme evaluation design paper set out the approach and selection for Sector Studies, including selection of AgNP and A2F.<sup>29</sup> These studies will feed into the final PSD programme evaluation, planned for 2023.

The evaluation questions covered in this study are as follows:

#### **Relevance:**

- A2: To what extent was Élan and the interventions it supported appropriately designed to meet the needs of stakeholders and target beneficiaries?
- A3: To what extent did the intervention logic and assumptions of the Élan project (and its interventions) hold during implementation?

#### **Effectiveness:**

- B2: To what extent has Élan led to improvements in market systems?
- B3: What factors have influenced the results achieved?

#### Impact:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> AgNP was selected for the "largest (equal) proportion of direct cost budget and largest cumulative NAIC by sector". A2F was selected for "significant market system change expected by Élan". Renewable Energy was also selected and the report completed as DSU (2021).

- D1: What improvements in income delivered to target beneficiaries, contribution to poverty reduction, and any additional or unplanned impact can be attributed to Élan?
- D2: What factors influenced the impact?

#### Sustainability:

• E1: To what extent have the results of Élan in terms of market systems change been sustained?

In addition to this, a core question was added as:

**Future FCDO programming:** What are the implications for FCDO's future programming that may include the AgNP and A2F sectors in the DRC?

### Combining the AgNP and A2F sectors into one report

Research on the two sectors has been carried out in tandem and it has been found to be beneficial to combine the findings in a single report. While the original intention was for one report for each sector, a significant degree of cross-over has been found. A large part of the A2F sector grew out of partnerships that had begun in the AgNP sector in the southern region and provinces of Haut Katanga and Lualaba. This was particularly the case in the work aiming to promote lending to small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Some of the most important contributions made in A2F have big implications for the AgNP sector and future potential. The report follows the same structure for both sectors.

## 1.2 Methodology

The study aims to assess the extent to which the performance of market systems in each sector has been changed due to Élan's interventions. The study was conducted in three phases: i) data collection and field preparation, ii) field data collection, and iii) reporting. The next Section 1.2.1, provides a brief overview of this process, Section 1.2.2 provides a summary of some of the limitations of the approach, and Section 1.2.3 provides some notes on the concepts of system change that underpin the research.

### 1.2.1 Phases of the research process

The initial work for this study included an extensive document collation and review process. This involved re-establishing the Élan database of files from three separate mass downloads. There was a lot of duplication in files, but ultimately a large bank of information could be found and organised. This included documentation specific to interventions including Partnership Agreements, monitoring reports, and intervention-specific evaluations mainly undertaken by the Élan monitoring and evaluation (M&E) team; documentation that provided an overview of sector work including data on costs and progress on logical framework indicators, quarterly and annual reports, programme completion reviews (PCRs), and Élan's external learning studies on sector work; and documentation from third party sources, including academic papers that provide theoretical and empirical underpinning to intervention design and analysis.

### Phase 1 – Data collection and field preparation

The initial document review informed the fieldwork phase to ensure the most efficient use of limited fieldwork time. In more detail, the review included:

- 1. Review of sector level documentation: The review looked to identify all relevant interventions, and particularly those located in the provinces of Haut Katanga and Lualaba, and in Kinshasa, where fieldwork would take place.<sup>30</sup> Interventions were prioritised where had been claims of specific achievement of market changes as per Élan's AAER framework, and this included some businesses that may have replicated elements of Élan's interventions even if they did not have a direct partnership with the project.<sup>31</sup> The review also used the DSU's mid-term evaluation (MTE) of Élan during late 2017, which included detailed analysis of sector interventions at that time.<sup>32</sup> A wide-ranging review of other research and market reports was also undertaken to develop an understanding of the current state of each market, including key technical points such as on hybrid and open-pollinated variety (OPV) seeds in the AgNP sector, and on interoperability in the A2F sector.
- 2. Preliminary analysis: Data gathered through the document review was collated according to the evaluation sub-questions and the MSC framework. The process of collating data helped to identify areas of specific interest to further explore with interviewees during fieldwork, and to develop interview-specific background and semi-structured questionnaires, to be set out for each separate stakeholder. Findings from the document review included on the following:
  - o identification of assumptions that led to the design of interventions;
  - o understanding of the relevance of the sector and how interventions were designed to achieve changes and meet the needs of market actors and target beneficiaries; and
  - o identification of external factors, including contextual changes, that could have affected the interventions and achievement of market system changes and endbeneficiary outcomes.
- 3. **Preliminary ex-Élan staff and consultant interviews** were undertaken, including with Élan's sector leads for AgNP and A2F, as well as the overall leadership of the project. These interviews were used to gain sector overviews, understand the most significant MSCs from the ex-staff members' perspectives, and to gain recommendations for subsequent interviewees.
- 4. **Final selection of interventions** with a list of stakeholders for interview. Previous contact lists were used including from the MTE and previous Annual Reviews (ARs), and extensive searching was done ensure the right individuals were found for each institution. This finally included 35 institutions in AgNP and 21 in A2F, of which a sub-set were finally interviewed (see Annex B).

### Phase 2 – Field data collection

Fieldwork was primarily undertaken between October and December 2022, with in-person DRC visits in late October and early November, and remote interviews undertaken in the rest of the period.

1. **Identification of stakeholders for interviews**. Once the long-list of institutions was in place, every means available was used to contact selected stakeholders. This included

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The Kivu provinces in the east of DRC were important with some AgNP and A2F interventions, however it was not considered practical or safe to travel there, while resource constraints also meant that fieldwork was only feasible in one area outside of Kinshasa. The southern ex-Katanga region had many more interventions and therefore was the better geographical selection for this particular study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> In particular, those identified in PCRs. Élan (2018c) was the most useful source in this regard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes

emails where possible, but also phone and in-person follow-up, with extensive preparation done in the Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces in particular.

- 2. Sector and intervention key informant interview guides were prepared and refined when in the field. These allowed for semi-structured interviews, to cover the interventions with Élan but also the state of the institution and the sector more broadly.
- 3. **Field trip arrangements** were made including travel and interview schedules. When in Lubumbashi, a trip to Lualaba province was undertaken with overnight stay in Likasi. This allowed some farmers to be spoken to, as well as important stakeholders in a non-urban setting including agro-dealers and some of Élan's remote partners.
- 4. **Primary data collection** was carried out using primarily key informant semi-structured qualitative interviews. In total 56 people were spoken to across 42 institutions (see Annex B). Written notes were taken during interviews, and typed up there and then where possible. Interviews were recorded on three occasions in order to help with the write-up, recordings were deleted once this was completed, and permission from the interviewees was sought first.

### Phase 3 – Reporting

The final phase of drafting and analysis for this final report was undertaken in the November 2022 to January 2023 period. This has involved a combination of synthesis of the document review and data analysis, and the primary data that was collected in the Phase 2 of fieldwork. The period has involved:

- 1. **More detailed document review for the two sectors** including review of relevant documentation for interventions covered in most detail in this report including partnership agreements, quarterly progress and closure reports, monitoring data and impact study reports, and a wide range of other documentation (see Annex A for the full list of the documents cited, though more were consulted).
- 2. **Data analysis** has been undertaken for a range of sections in the report. This included collation of intervention specific information, for example reviewing the annual reports and results of the micro-finance institution (MFI) partner FINCA, collating mobile money usage rates from a range of sources, and analysis of evaluation data from Élan for a sub-set of interventions.
- 3. **Structuring findings around the study evaluation questions** has been the final stage. The evaluation design following the relevance, effectiveness, impact, sustainability framework, has at times required some repetition, but this has been kept to a minimum where possible with cross-references used. A great deal of relevant information has been gathered, but where it has been deemed to be too detailed for the main report, it has been put into the report's annexes.

### 1.2.2 Study limitations

Several limitations were envisaged prior to fieldwork, and during the study process some risks materialised. The main risks related to the availability of key informants. In general, it was easier to secure interviews in the field with stakeholders from the AgNP sector in Lubumbashi and surroundings, than for the A2F interviews that were mainly in Kinshasa. In particular, it was difficult to get interviews with mobile network operators (MNOs) who provide mobile money services. An interview was finally secured with Vodacom, remotely after the DRC trip was complete, but it was not possible to talk to Airtel or Orange. While Vodacom publish good data on DRC market performance in their annual reports, this is less the case for the other two main MNOs. Mobile money performance has therefore been

pieced together from a variety of sources but there is not a single source of accurate information on sector performance, making this is a challenging process.

The main additional limitations faced relate to the breadth and depth of evidence that could be collected, and the impact on some triangulation and analysis. Key limitations include:

- The limited geographic coverage of the fieldwork reduced the ability to draw insights related to differences across geographic locations. Greater coverage of North Kivu and South Kivu would have been useful to look at the differences in the seed system there compared to the Lubumbashi region. It is known that humanitarian actors play a greater role in the former, but it was not possible to probe this in much detail.
- Interviews could only be obtained with a small sample of direct beneficiaries, namely some farmers in Lualaba province. If resources were less of a constraint it would have been useful to have more discussions with more beneficiaries on agricultural yields, input use and behaviour changes, as well as on financial inclusion, the use of mobile money and challenges with the existing agent network. Secondary data has been used to fill some of the gaps, but there is also a relative dearth of this in the DRC, for example there has not been a comprehensive household survey measuring poverty across the country since 2012.
- Businesses where Élan had claimed some replication were much harder to track down and interview than those they had worked with directly. This limited the ability to verify replication claims. In part this was due to often only having specific contact details on the Élan partner contacts. But is also because there is a lot of goodwill towards Élan from individuals that had worked on interventions they supported.<sup>33</sup>
- While it was possible to piece together and rebuild an extensive amount of documentation, the main aggregation documents used to monitor impact, namely the Programme Wide Intervention Guide (PWIG), did not provide a clear set of references for where numbers were derived from. This made it difficult to understand where claims on beneficiary numbers and on the net attributable income change (NAIC) indicator were derived from. These came from a mixture of internal studies, some externally commissioned impact studies, and self-reported information from partners; however, it was not always possible to match the source data used.

### **1.2.3** Market systems change conceptual framework

Élan's sector strategies were organised around Market System Changes (MSCs), simple qualitative statements of the changes the project sought to bring about. The MSCs were used mainly as a way to organise each sector's portfolio of interventions, rather than providing an objective benchmark as to how to measure change. Élan more formerly conceptualised its systemic change using the Adopt-Adapt-Export Respond (AAER) framework, which aims to describe how innovation spreads from an initial intervention (Adopt) to achieve broader change in a market system (Adapt), particularly through replication (Expand), but also through regulatory response (Respond).<sup>34</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> While this is not addressed in the evaluation questions in the main report, it should be noted that a lot of partners spoke very highly of the Élan team.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See Nippard et al. (2014) "Adopt-Adapt-Expand-Respond: a framework for managing and measuring systemic change processes"

The DSU had various criticisms of the MSC approach over the course of the project.<sup>35</sup> This included the degree of Élan involvement in partnerships at the Adapt or Expand phase, leading to a category of 'Assisted Expand' being used for interventions that were still facilitated by an Élan partnership (either through technical support or some form of grant subsidy).<sup>36</sup> At its heart the discussion was linked to the degree of effective subsidy that an innovation, product or service would receive, and at what point it could be said to be sustainable.

As Élan has now completed it is simpler to assess whether sustainable system change has taken place, including whether Élan's old partners are continuing, expanding or adapting innovations, products and services that the project supported, and whether there is evidence of any replication, further adaptation or responses in the market, including in policy and regulatory change.

As set out in Box 1, different approaches have been used to model and assess market system change. Within the Making Markets Work for the Poor (M4P) context, which was the starting approach for the Élan project, the AAER framework is common. However, other approaches can also be used. Loveridge (2022) synthesised approaches and categorised the types of changes that a market systems approach might lead to. Some of these can be seen as the goals of a programme – changing Practices and Policy; while others are the means to such change, e.g. Resource flows, Relationships and Connections; and then there are the deeper changes in people and institutions that underpin such changes, e.g. in Power Dynamics and Mental Models.

Due to the large amount of material to review across the AgNP and A2F sectors, this report has simplified the approach to assessing market system change (MSC). It does so by integrating the approach with the EQs, starting with mapping the Relevance of the MSCs the project sought to achieve, the characteristics of the target group, and assumptions underpinning the theory of change (ToC). Assessments for each sector's Effectiveness then look at the Policy and Practice changes; the Impact of the changes Élan brought about for the target groups of beneficiaries; and finally, the Sustainability of changes made.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> For example, in the 2016 AR, "at present the programme still lacks a full definition of terms such as sector, sub-sector or market system. The terms 'market system constraint' and 'market system change' are used to describe any constraints or changes identified in a market system." Source: DFID/DSU (2016) Élan Annual Review 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> For example, in Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change.

#### Box 1: Types of market system changes

While there are several definitions of market systems change, they all seek to articulate how markets perform or behave. For a Making Markets Work for the Poor (M4P) programme, results are considered in terms of how poor and marginalised people and communities participate and benefit from markets. Market system change and systemic change are often used synonymously. The latter captures the notion that changes in the system need to be significant so that many more marginalised people are benefiting more from market activities. There are therefore elements of breadth, depth, and timing in any assessment.

Loveridge (2022) provides a synthesis of approaches to assessing market systems change and sets out the following typology of changes:

**i) Policies**: government, institutional and organisational rules, regulations, and priorities that guide the entity's own and others' actions.

**ii) Practices**: activities of institutions, coalitions, networks, and other entities targeted to improving social and environmental progress. Also, within the entity, the procedures, guidelines, or informal shared habits that comprise their work.

**iii) Resource flows**: How money, people, knowledge, information, and other assets such as infrastructure are allocated and distributed.

iv) Relationships and connections: quality of connections and communication occurring among actors in the system, especially among those with differing histories and viewpoints.

**v) Power dynamics**: The distribution of decision-making power, authority, and both formal and informal influence among individuals and organisations.

vi) Mental models: deeply held beliefs and assumptions and taken-for-granted ways of operating that influence how we think, what we do, and how we talk.
# 2 Background

This chapter sets out some sectoral context for the Élan project, the approach to sector selection, and the design of sector approaches and theories of change (TOCs) for the AgNP and A2F sectors. This includes the broad context and policy environment, the analysis Élan undertook, the constraints identified and the strategies followed.

## 2.1 General background to the DRC and Élan's portfolio

The DRC has the fourth largest populace in Africa and the largest of francophone African, and has the fourth highest poverty rate on the planet on the World Bank's main extreme poverty measure.<sup>37</sup> The population of the DRC was estimated to be 92.4 million in 2021, which is a rapid growth from an estimated 71.4 million in 2013 when Élan was in its inception phase. The proportion in extreme poverty is estimated at 70 percent, double the 35 percent average for the sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) region.<sup>38</sup> GDP per capita in 2021 was estimated at USD 584, less than half the average for Least Developed Countries (USD 1,177) and one-third the SSA average (USD 1,646).<sup>39</sup>

Just over half the population is estimated to be rural where poverty rates are higher than in urban areas, particularly on measures of the multidimensional poverty index (MPI). While the rural population saw a decline from 65 percent of the total in the year 2000 to 54 percent in 2021, implying significant rural-urban migration, still 50 million people live rurally in the DRC.<sup>40</sup> The vast majority of the rural and urban workforce participate in the informal economy. The rural population depends heavily on the agricultural sector, yet the lack of infrastructure, low levels of technology adoption, and the lack of investment mean productivity is low.<sup>41</sup> An estimate used by Élan at its outset in 2013 had 60 percent of the urban population living in poverty, compared to 65 percent of the rural population, although on measures of the MPI those in rural areas appear to be much more disadvantaged than this gap suggests (see Section 3.1.1).<sup>42</sup>

**The PSD programme aimed to address an array of binding constraints and the 'low level equilibrium' of the DRC economy.** When applying a growth diagnostic framework, Ulloa et al. (2009) found growth to be constrained by government failures; lack of access to finance; poor infrastructure particularly in electricity; as well as conflict and insecurity. These constraints are interlinked, for example in the southern Katanga region, access to finance was found to be extremely limited in agriculture and a binding constraint to private investment and raising productivity (with the possible exception of large foreign firms that can self-finance). At the same time, corruption had become "a perverse market solution to an economy with distortive taxation and regulations" as well as being "symptomatic of the poverty and the low wages in the public sector".<sup>43</sup> Constraints were interconnected, with low

<sup>39</sup> World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator NY.GDP.PCAP.CD

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator SI.POV.DDAY (excludes Uzbekistan due to a data anomaly).
 <sup>38</sup> Extreme poverty is defined as living below the International Poverty Line of USD 2.15 per day at purchasing power parity (PPP) 2017 prices; and was recently updated by the World Bank from USD 1.90 per day in September 2022 (see World Bank, 2022a), updating from 2011 to 2017 prices. The DRC poverty rate at the old measure was 77 percent. However, both figures are based only on 2012 data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016) "Growth and Poverty in the DRC"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> DRC Enquêtes 1-2-3 data collection 2012, as reported in Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Ulloa et al. (2009) DRC, Study of Binding Constraints

growth leading to low government revenues, and little incentive for positive reform to the regulatory environment. This 'low level equilibrium' in development provided a strong rationale for the holistic PSD programme DFID designed.

**The combination of multiple market and state failures meant Élan faced complex challenges in designing its portfolio.** The Business Case for the PSD Programme set out the constraints firms face, and the issues driving them in a 'problematique' (see Figure 36 in Annex G). This included the market, government, and coordination failures outlined with links to access to finance, market development, the business environment, and corruption; "feedback loops generating vicious circles, or traps". Where, "fundamentally, these traps stem from two sources: the nascent stage of the private sector itself; and the predatory nature of the state".<sup>44</sup>

## 2.1.1 Élan's sectoral split

Élan undertook extensive market scoping in the Inception phase in 2013, and also evolved its portfolio of work over time. It primarily worked via 'sectors', and while there was change in the first years of the project, the mature portfolio for Élan 1.0 was structured by: Agriculture perennials (AgP - cash crops such as coffee), Renewable Energy (RE), River Transport (RT), Agriculture non-perennials (AgNP – maize and rice mainly), and Access to Finance (A2F). The sectors remained the same in Élan 1.2, with the exception of the removal of the RT sector, and an added focus on a Cross-border Trade (CBT) sector. Within sectors, partnerships were designed with Partnership Agreements setting out scopes of work, primarily with private sector actors. Modalities included grants or technical assistance, which were in general cost sharing a particular investment around the expansion or innovation of a product or service. The overall estimated cost of the Élan project was £53.6 million.<sup>45</sup>



#### Figure 2: Élan estimated spend split by sector, 2013-2021 (GBP millions)<sup>46</sup>

Source: Élan 1.0 estimates based on Élan (2018b). Élan 1.2 on Élan (2020a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> This includes the proportion of Élan's fees, core and programme development costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Costs from the Core budget (£17.2 million) and Programme Development budget (£3.3 million) are distributed between the sectors according to proportionate spend. The total Élan spend of £53.6 million comes from Adam Smith International's (ASI) contractual values listed on Devtracker, for Activity IDs: GB-1-203161-103, GB-1-203161-110 and GB-1-203161-112. The total contractual value for Élan 1.0 was £45.6 million, with £8 million for Élan 1.2.

**Around half of Élan total spend was in the two sectors that this study focuses on** (see Figure 2). It is estimated AgNP expenditure made up 31 percent of the total, the highest of any sector, and A2F made up 21 percent, the third highest by sector.

## 2.1.2 Élan 1.0 (2014-2018)

Élan developed a broad portfolio across its range of sectors. Between 2014 and 2018, Élan entered 170 partnerships across six sectors, sat within 86 interventions (see Table 6).<sup>47</sup> Of the total interventions in the final Élan 1.0 portfolio, around 80 percent were started in the 2014-2016 period, with 2016 the peak year.<sup>48</sup> The DSU found at the stage of the Élan midterm evaluation (MTE), "in a difficult and risky environment, Élan was correct in casting a wide net and starting a large number of pilots to find out what can work, but breadth should not be achieved at the cost of depth of analysis". At that stage, the DSU recommended that Élan rationalise the portfolio to allow resources to focus on the challenging issues of expansion and replication, and to increase the likelihood that the systemic change and the intended impact results would be realised.<sup>49</sup>

Sectors	provinces	Sector scope (nu	mber)
1. Agriculture perennial	North Kivu, Equatour, Ituri	MSCs	5
(AgP)	North Rive, Equateer, item	Interventions	14
2. Agriculture Non-	Katanga, Lualaba, Tanganyika, North and	MSCs	5
perennial (AgNP)	South Kivu, Sud Ubangi, Equateur, Mongala, Kinshasa	Interventions	33
2 Divor Transport	Faustour	MSCs	3
3. River Transport	Equated	Interventions	4
4. Access to Finance –	North Kivu, Equatour, Katanga	MSCs	2
SMEs	North Rivu, Equateur, Ratanya	Interventions	6
5. Access to Finance –	Kinshasa, Katanga, Equateur, Kongo	MSCs	3
Branchless banking (BB)	Central, Sud Ubangi	Interventions	9
6. Renewable Energy	Kinshasa, Equateur, North and South Kivu,	MSCs	4
(RE)	Sud Ubangi, Katanga	Interventions	19

#### Table 6: Élan 1.0 interventions by sector

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG

Élan's search for scale and results led to expansion and at times working with the same (more capable) partners for multiple interventions. In 2017, the DSU found that "lessons from the preceding years of implementation have formed a platform for Élan's articulation of its strategy for reaching scale in affecting sustainable systemic change". This strategy was based on diversifying the project's investment through 1) achieving scale through 'big' actors; 2) working with first movers; 3) supporting second movers; 4) strengthening support functions in markets; and 5) reforming the rules regulating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> DFID/DSU (2018a) Élan Annual Review 2018

<sup>48</sup> Élan (2019d) PWIG

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes

markets.<sup>50</sup> In practice this meant several partners had more than one intervention, and some carried through from Élan 1.0 into Élan 1.2.

## 2.1.3 Élan 1.2 (2019-2021)

**Geographical re-targeting by DFID led to shifts for the second phase.** In Élan 1.2, 27 new partnerships were formed across the refined sectors. This included that the previous split of A2F SMEs and A2F branchless banking (BB) were consolidated as a combined A2F sector. Élan 1.2 saw geographical realignment, based on DFID's new country strategy and provincial footprint. This meant that Élan was no longer mandated to work in the south / Katanga region, and interventions would be focused in the provinces of North Kivu, South Kivu, Kasai Centrale, and Kasai.<sup>51</sup> This had implications for Élan's AgNP work in particular, as it had been so focussed in the south, particularly in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces; work that was discontinued for Élan 1.2.

The early 2020 declaration of the Coronavirus-19 pandemic (henceforth 'Covid'), and associated global economic slowdown, led to significant re-design. Élan was asked by FCDO to design interventions that would address some of the ongoing and future effects of the pandemic and a £2 million 'Covid-19 facility' was formed, taking up a quarter of the second phase allocation. This provided a radical shift for the project, and limited the degree of systemic change ambition of sectors for Élan 1.2, with less interventions overall as shown in Table 7. As a result of the reorganisation of the portfolio linked to the Covid pandemic, a number of the planned interventions were closed early.

Sectors and sub-sectors	provinces	Sector scope	
1 Agriculture perophial (AgD)	North Kivu, South Kivu	MSCs	3
n. Agriculture pereininai (Agr)		Interventions	7
2. Agriculture Non-perennial	North Kivu, South Kivu, Kasai,	MSCs	3
(AgNP)	Kasai Central	Interventions	7
	North Kivu, South Kivu	MSCs	3
5. Cross-border trade (CDT)		Interventions	3
A Access to Einance (A2E)	Kinshasa, North Kivu, South Kivu	MSCs	3
4. Access to Finance (AZF)		Interventions	4
	North Kivu, South Kivu, Kasai, Kasai Central	MSCs	3
5. Reliewable Ellergy (RE)		Interventions	6

#### Table 7: Élan 1.2 interventions by sector

Source: Élan (2021g)

**The DSU found in 2020 that Élan successfully and quickly adjusted its operations to Covid.** This included use of remote working practices, and the design and launch of new interventions aimed to address economic effects of the pandemic.<sup>52</sup> Covid interventions made up 31 percent of the 2020 portfolio and used at least 40 percent of the 2020 project budget to implement.<sup>53</sup> However, non-Covid interventions also faced a more challenging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> DFID/DSU (2017) Élan Annual Review 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> FCDO/DSU (2020a) Élan Annual Review 2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Ibid. FCDO/DSU (2020a) Élan Annual Review 2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> It was agreed with FCDO that they were not required to contribute to the outcome and impact targets.

context. DRC's GDP growth fell from 4.4 percent in 2019 to 1.7 percent in 2020, with a decline in GDP when extractives are excluded from the figures.<sup>54</sup>

# 2.2 Élan's AgNP strategy

The targeting of the AgNP sector was initially focused on the rice sub-sector, and on seeds, before combining to a broader strategy of inputs and extension services, including a larger focus on maize. While the sector was defined as 'Inputs', fertiliser and pesticide were not a focus. Instead it was seeds that would become central to the AgNP sector work for both Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2. A number of other interventions were piloted; notably, outgrower schemes (OGS) with larger farmers and contract farming with mining companies. A collateral management agreement (CMA) intervention was also initially included in the AgNP sector, and was later integrated as the core of the Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) Access to Finance (A2F) sector (see Section 2.3.2). By late 2015, five constraints were identified for AGNP that were tied to the Market System Changes the project would aim to bring about:<sup>55</sup>

- Inadequate access to inputs and services by smallholder farmers (SHFs);
- SHFs have limited access to markets;
- Both SHFs and agro-businesses have limited access to finance;
- Lack of innovative marketing and distribution techniques; and
- Tax regime not adequate.

The constraints were linked to the five Market System Changes (MSCs) for the AgNP sector specified for the Élan 1.0 period by 2016. These were consolidated to three MSCs for the Élan 1.2 second phase (see Table 8). There was a significant cross-over between AgNP and A2F through the MSC 2.4 for agribusiness to access finance and ultimately all work in this area was considered as part of the A2F sector.

#### Table 8: Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in AgNP across the two phases

MSCs Élan 1.0 (2015-2018)	MSCs Élan 1.2 (2019-2021)
MSC 2.1: Inputs suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to SHFs	MSC AGNP1 - Input suppliers provide quality inputs and value-adding services to smallholder farmers
MSC 2.2: Agribusinesses and mines provide access to pre-financed inputs and services to SHFs	
MSC 2.3: Agribusinesses provide access to secured markets to SHFs	MSC AGNP2 - Smallholder farmers, processors and traders have increased access to markets
MSC 2.4: Agribusinesses access finance	This MSC removed due to A2F crossover
MSC 2.5: Agribusinesses develop industry- wide awareness and advocate for a more favourable tax regime	MSC AGNP3 - Industry stakeholders organize and advocate for an improved business environment

Source: Élan (2016d) "2016 Annual Report". Élan (2021i) "Programme Closure Report".

© Oxford Policy Management

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> IMF (2022a) Article iv Country Report – for 2021 growth rate and non-extractives growth rate for 2020. GDP Growth for 2019 and 2020 - World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG
 <sup>55</sup> Élan (2015a) 2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan

## 2.2.1 State of the sector: Agricultural non-perennials (AgNP)

At the heart of Élan's approach to the AgNP sector was a clear articulation of the massive potential of Congolese agriculture compared to its very poor historical performance. Low productivity in agriculture was the major cause of rural poverty, and therefore tackling constraints in the sector could allow Élan to have significant impact for its targeted beneficiary group. As per Élan's (2021i) Programme Closure Report (PCR), "the DRC has over 80 million hectares of agricultural land and almost half of Africa's fresh water reserves, yet, in spite of this incredible potential, the agricultural sector is defined by stagnation and food insecurity. Yields in the DRC lag well behind regional benchmarks; for example, average maize yields in the DRC are estimated at 0.77 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to 2.00 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Kenya."<sup>56</sup>

**Improved seeds became the major focus of the AgNP sector portfolio.** This was referred to in both Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2 PCRs, as: "the cornerstone of Élan's agricultural strategy, seed sales to smallholder farmers". The use of improved seeds would increase yields and therefore generate net attributable income change (NAIC) for smallholder farmer (SHF) beneficiaries and Élan would claim its most significant market systems changes in this area for the AgNP sector. Élan claimed that the sector had taken off with their support, that companies were more profitable, and that continued growth and investment in the sector could be expected in coming years as a result.<sup>57</sup>

As per the initial analysis of Élan, supply of seed to SHFs in the DRC was dominated by informal channels, meaning there was a need for commercialisation of the seed market system. This is true of many SSA countries, where many resource-poor farmers obtain seeds through informal systems, using seeds that they have produced themselves (farm-saved seeds) or obtaining seeds through gift, barter or cash from neighbours, families or local markets. The proportion of farmers using farm-saved seeds is higher in the DRC than elsewhere in SSA due to weak organisation of the formal market system in both the private and public sectors.<sup>58</sup> Given that Congolese SHFs in the past two decades have emerged, or continue to be affected by intense conflict and social distress, this can be viewed as a rational strategy, i.e. to prioritise survival rather than investing in commercialisation.<sup>59</sup> SHFs thus prioritise seed that is tolerant to local conditions, and this may imply risk aversion in terms of trying new seeds. However, in practice, resource constraints may play an equally important role in impeding formalisation. Table 9 presents the basic characteristics of formal and informal seed systems, highlighting what a departure it is to head to a more formal system.<sup>60</sup> Box 2 provides a description of OPV, hybrid and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> The 0.77 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) figure is used in a number of Élan's summary documents, although not clearly sourced. Yields are low in the DRC but it is not always clear if the figure relates to maize, or a weighted average of staples. There is a low amount of reliable data on production or yield and this was confirmed in interview for this study with the Ministry of Agriculture. However, averages for West and Central Africa put maize yields at 1.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, the lowest in comparable data of global regions. This compares to yields of 2.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Eastern and Southern Africa, 3.3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in South Asia, 7.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Europe, 7.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in West and Central Asia, and 10.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in North America. Source: Erenstein et al. (2022). Various studies undertaken internally by Élan during the project period found low baseline yields although they were variable (see Section 3.3.2 for more detail).
<sup>57</sup> The PCR also claimed "and the business environment should improve through their involvement in public-private dialogue. INERA, the government of the DRC, and development agencies have all responded constructively in their engagements with seed providers." Élan (2018d) PCR. The term "cornerstone" for the seeds work was also referred to in the Élan 1.2 PCR (Élan, 2021i).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6
 <sup>59</sup> Misiko (2010) "Indigenous seed institutions in fragile communities"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Other countries in the region such as Kenya, Zambia and Zimbabwe have much stronger formal systems and a history of supporting farmers that has been dormant for many years in the DRC, and this presented a major challenge for Élan to stimulate some transformation.

farm-saved seeds and the key differences between them. OPV and hybrid seeds would be the targets for Élan's interventions.

#### Box 2: The difference between farm-saved, OPV and hybrid varieties of seeds

There are three main seed types referred to throughout this report:

**Hybrid varieties:** Also known as 'elite' seeds, hybrid varieties are produced by specialised companies or research institutions. Conventional hybrids are produced through crossing genetically diverse inbred lines, with progeny said to exhibit 'hybrid rigour'. They are specifically bred to maximise yield and for other characteristics such as disease- and/or pest-resistance and/or reduced vulnerability to drought. Hybrids are dominant in more developed agricultural economies, and in the United States for example, maize hybrids tend to be phased out and replaced by the private sector every three to four years (Rutsaert et al., 2021). Hybrid seeds lose much of their genetic gains if reproduced (i.e. bred on the farm), with yield losses of 50 percent by the third-generation of seed offspring (Masuka et al., 2017). Many hybrid maize seeds have been developed and continue to be improved for the SSA region by institutions such as the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) among others.

**Improved Open-pollinated variety (OPV) varieties:** Improved OPV seed varieties are developed by companies or research institutions, although to a lesser extent than hybrid seeds. OPVs are a 'by-product' of the hybrid parental line development process, and have lower yields, around 20-25 percent lower than hybrids (Masuka et al., 2017). They have one main advantage over hybrids in that they do not lose genetic gains so quickly having had less inbreeding. This means farmers can re-use seeds for two or three seasons with only marginal reduction in yields, which may make them more attractive for more resource-constrained farmers such as SHFs prevalent in much of the SSA region.

**Farm-saved seeds ('traditional OPVs'):** Also known as 'landraces', traditional seeds are produced from open pollinated crops on the farm. Farmers may produce their own or access the seed through informal channels or markets. Informal farmer-saved seed may still have been 'improved', in as much as having many generations of development and gradual improvement with adaptation to the local environment. Farm-saved seeds can be maintained by communities with complex social arrangements (Misiko, 2010, sets this out for the Yangambi rice-farming area in central DRC). However, the absence of controlled breeding means farm-saved seeds have few genetic advantages compared to hybrids or OPVs produced by research institutions or private companies, and generally will have significantly lower yields. Maintaining OPVs without yield loss depends on the degree of isolation from pollen contamination by seed admixture with other varieties, conditions that are often difficult for SHFs to control (Masuka et al., 2017).

Characteristic	Formal system	Informal (popular or farmer) system
Goals	Distribute high quality seed of modern, high yielding varieties	Obtain seed to sustain the farm every season
Quality of seed	Variable, but usually high	Variable, but can be high for many crops
Public sector	Source seed, research and certification	Not necessarily involved
Private sector	Multiplication and distribution by registered enterprises	All activities. Distribution by farmers, registered or unregistered traders and vendors. May be role for co-operatives.
Seed type	Formal, certified seed, often hybrid	Common or farm-saved seed, occasionally open pollinated varieties (OPV)

#### Table 9: Formal and informal seed system characteristics

Source: Adapted from Bentley et al. (2011)

## 2.2.2 Élan 1.0 theory of change for AgNP

In line with the PSD programme's overall goal to increase incomes of poor men and women, Élan's work in AgNP focused on smallholder farmers (SHFs). In the seed subsector, Élan sought three main system changes to reach this group:

- 1. improved availability of sustainable sources of appropriate foundation seeds (including via regulatory changes in ability to produce seeds);
- 2. distribution and marketing of improved seeds by private seed businesses (supply-side changes); and
- 3. increased confidence and willingness of smallholders to invest in improved seeds (demand side changes)

Together, these changes were expected to increase SHF's use of improved seed varieties, which would increase production (through greater yield and decreased crop loss), which would in turn contribute to increased incomes.

After early evolution in the agricultural portfolio, in early 2016 seeds, other inputs, rice, and maize, were all integrated into one sector to be called AgNP.<sup>61</sup> In 2013 when the project was being designed, Élan treated Agriculture as a 'broad sector', and 'subsectors' were considered with potential for future interventions. Initially only rice and beans were selected (more detail is provided in Evolution of the AgNP sector portfolio in Annex F). Maize was not initially selected, mainly because it scored lower in Élan's selection methodology on 'pro-poor income potential', competitiveness, and growth rates compared to the other sectors analysed such as rice. By November 2013, a seeds sector was added for the 2014 Business Plan and beans was removed. By January 2015 and the Year 2 Business Plan, the seed sector had become 'agricultural inputs and services', and Maize was also added as a sector.

Élan undertook early analysis of the seeds market providing a strong empirical underpinning for its work in the sector. This included that: "high quality seed is the foundation for robust agricultural production. Based on international experiences, depending on the crop, seeds alone can increase yields by 5-20 percent and when coupled with other productivity enhancing inputs they can boost yields up to 45 percent. These figures are even higher for the DRC given the pervasive use of degenerated old seed varieties by smallholder farmers."<sup>62</sup> Analysis highlighted challenges including a public-sector monopoly and decades of mismanagement; as well as distortion by donor and government programmes in give-aways involving low quality or fraudulent seeds. Access to improved seed was therefore limited and consumer confidence low. Élan's theory of change (ToC) (Figure 3) hypothesised improved seed varieties could lead to increased yields and therefore increase incomes of poor SHFs through its market system changes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Élan (2016c) Q1 2016 report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"



#### Figure 3: Initial theory of change (ToC) for seeds sector, from 2013

Source: ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

The seed sector was later extended to include other inputs and extension services, including as the use of outgrower scheme (OGS) interventions. Extension services were explored further via the other pillar of what would become the AgNP sector, the Rice sector. This would be via OGS, a key entry point for interventions in rice, as well as for the multiplication of rice seeds. OGS would aim to provide a broader range of support to SHFs, with extension services and other inputs such as fertiliser, pesticide, or mechanised services. The rice sector ToC also included work on a 'conducive legislative and/or regulatory framework' and 'tax reform advocacy and dialogue', with a view to achieving more holistic market system change.<sup>63</sup>

#### Élan 1.0 interventions, overview

The combined AgNP sector work on seeds, rice and maize, and other inputs and extension services meant Élan's initial focus was broad; but over time, seeds became the dominant focus of work. By the end of the first phase in 2018, maize had more frequently been a focus than rice, and seeds interventions constituted more than half of the 33 interventions, with OGS representing 15 percent of interventions (see Table 10). The work on seeds can be split between interventions focussing on local production of open pollinated variety (OPV) seeds, and regional companies (from South Africa, Zambia or Uganda) selling hybrid seeds.<sup>64</sup> Outside of the seed sector, interventions were less

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> More detail is provided in Evolution of the AgNP sector portfolio in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> See Box 2 in Section 2.2.1 for summary definitions of hybrid and OPV seed.

concentrated, including in advocacy; information and media campaigns to educate farmers; weights and measures; and on broader inputs (in addition to seeds). A similar split carried on into Élan 1.2 but with fewer interventions. In practice this also meant that by far the greatest share of the AgNP sector work was focussed on the first of the five MSCs - MSC2.1: Inputs suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to SHFs.

Intervention type	Functions	Élan 1.0	Élan 1.2
Local seeds interventions	Seed multiplication and distribution	15	1
Regional seeds interventions	Seed marketing and distribution	4	1
OGS / contract farming	Inputs provision and extension	5	-
Advocacy / business environment	Advocacy / changes to weights and measures	3	1
Info provision / education	Consumer education	2	2
Inputs distribution	Logistics and supply	2	1
Demo plots	Marketing of seed	1	-
Warehouse	Support to onion value chain	1	-
Covid food data analysis	Research on food product prices and supply in markets in Kinshasa	-	1

	<u> </u>			
l able 10:	Elan 1.0 and	1.2. AGNP	interventions	by type

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2020d).

#### Seeds sector work

The initial entry point for the seed sector was the National Agricultural Research Institute (INERA), who had a monopoly on producing foundation seeds in the DRC. The first business plan identified some clear strategies that would form the basis of the local seeds work for the whole project period. This included focussing on linkages with INERA to ensure that locally adapted seed varieties could be made available, combined with partnerships on breeder and foundation seeds with commercial seed multiplication to be developed.<sup>65</sup>

The move to liberalise foundation seed production came alongside support to the very nascent local seed production sector. This work came to form the first and most important local seed intervention which combined work with INERA and an initial 'long list' of 20 local seed companies that was whittled to those with the best capacity to expand in maize seed production for OPV, particularly in the Haut Katanga province. This led to the longest running partnerships of the Élan project with Mimosa and Bon Berger. The work in the south was replicated in some other regions but never to the same scale (in Equateur and Mongala), with some work on horticulture seeds as well (two interventions in the west). Some work on rice in the east was carried out, with Ets Munga forming the most important partnership.

**Regional seed producers were also supported, and as they already had mastered production of hybrid seeds, the focus was on marketing and distribution.** The initial analysis identified the potential of foreign partners, and these partnerships came to include Seed Co from 2015 (from South Africa), Zamseed in 2016 (from Zambia), and then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan", Seed Sector Annex 2.6

NASECO (from Uganda) and Kamano seeds in 2017 (also from Zambia), mainly focussing the sale and distribution of maize hybrid seed.

#### Outgrower schemes (OGS), contract farming and work with mining companies

**OGS were developed based on leveraging larger players to provide and finance inputs and extension services to SHFs.** The idea for OGS came out of the initial rice sector,<sup>66</sup> with plans to start a pilot with SOCAM, a large rice farmer in Equateur province. This pilot fell through,<sup>67</sup> but Élan continued to seek opportunities to pilot the model. Élan advertised calls for proposals in rice and maize, with early pilots in 2014 with Mbeko Shamba in maize, and in 2015 an OGS with Regina Mundi in maize, and an OGS with RTMK in rice.<sup>68</sup> The model was later used with Mulagricom in rice. Beyond this, for a variety of reasons, OGS did not become the main intervention type for AgNP (see Section 3.2.2). Figure 4 sets out the geographical focus of Élan 1.0 interventions.<sup>69</sup>

The initial seeds sector analysis also highlighted the potential of working with mining companies, based on the legal requirement that these companies had to cultivate 500 hectares (ha) of food crop annually, either themselves or through local farmers. This legal requirement could be leveraged alongside the corporate social responsibility (CSR) goals of the companies to support the local seed industry. The opportunity was taken with a partnership with the mining company SEK. SEK would commit to pre-financing inputs to farmers in the communities around the mine, and an inputs supplier, Seed Co, would provide inputs as well as training and extension services to the smallholder farmers. Subsequently there were other miners working tangentially with interventions, including with the seed producer Bon Berger.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> More detail is provided in Evolution of the AgNP sector portfolio in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Élan (2014a) Q3 2014 report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> A model Élan had tested in the AgP sector (AP03, AP07, AP08, AP09) particularly for coffee production.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Interventions included under MSC 2.4 on finance would be absorbed into the A2F sector and are discussed in Section 2.3.2.



#### Figure 4: Élan 1.0 geographic focus (2015/16)

Source: Élan (2016d) 2016 Annual Report

#### **Regulatory interventions**

Élan also set out plans to work on the regulatory environment and support functions for the agriculture sector. This included "groundwork for a more conducive legislative and regulatory framework for private sector participation in seeds will be completed" within the initial seed sector plan; and "evidence on the impact of the current tax regime will be generated and disseminated, forming the basis for informed advocacy to achieve a more enabling environment" in the rice sector.<sup>70</sup> Élan's analysis of the seed sector in early 2014 noted the need for a simple and clear seed law, to include minimum quality standards for seeds, and rules for certification.<sup>71</sup> It was expected that a law would facilitate new variety registration, and outline clear and simple import procedures, while the law protecting intellectual property (IP) for new varieties should be implemented.

Although, the seed law was seen as a major constraint in the sector, Élan did not support advocacy efforts until later in the project. Élan chose to work on regulatory changes via supporting others rather than working with the government directly. Some of the work on advocacy was not captured under an 'intervention' heading.

## 2.2.3 Élan 1.2 theory of change for AgNP

Élan updated its ToC for the implementation of Élan 1.2 (2019-2021) in response to learning from Élan 1.0 (see Figure 37 in Annex G). Élan also revised its MSC objectives and removed the MSCs that had framed the OGS interventions. Some more focus was placed on media campaigns to promote good practices, which was mainly via an intervention with Viamo to provide messages on good agricultural practices via mobile phone technology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Élan (2014b) notes a delay to this rice work and tax in the RT sector had taken precedence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

Advocacy was also emphasised and continued some of the work that occurred late in the Élan 1.0 period (2017-2018), particularly through work with the African Seeds Access Index (TASAI), as well as local seed associations / provincial seed councils in Kivu and Katanga (COPROSEM) to advocate for the national seed law.<sup>72</sup> The number of interventions in Élan 1.2 was far fewer than in the first phase, reflecting the lower budget but also the Covid challenges as discussed in Section 2.1.

One of the main changes for Élan 1.2, was the reduced geographical focus, which meant ending work in the south in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces, while continuing in North Kivu, South Kivu and Kasai Central provinces. Former Élan staff noted this was regrettable, particularly because of the greater systemic change potential in the southern region in terms of agricultural transformation. However, with lower budgets, it is not clear whether it would have been possible to sustain the project across such a large geographical area. Seeds interventions became focussed on the eastern region with two main interventions, continuing partnerships started during Élan 1.0, namely NASECO for maize seed, and Ets Munga for rice seed.

**Covid had a big impact on AgNP sector work as for all sectors,** and there was one intervention added focussing on food security in light of Covid. As noted in the Élan 1.2 PCR, "the Covid-19 Crisis has had a significant impact on the food supply chain. Following the primary impact of travel restrictions and border closures, the price of imported goods increased, certain goods became scared, credit institutions reduced their tolerance for risk, and the Congolese Franc devaluated against the USD. This led to reduced purchasing power for the people of Congo and food price fluctuations. The intervention focused on providing information on the availability of food and stock in different key markets in Kinshasa's food supply chain."<sup>73</sup> Despite this research, it is not clear this led to any tangible changes to the AgNP portfolio, though this is likely as the project had so little time left.

# 2.3 Élan's A2F strategy

Élan began its work in access to finance (A2F) at the start of the project, and identified mobile money (MM) or 'mobile-banking' as an area with high potential to increase financial inclusion in the DRC and improve the livelihoods of poor beneficiaries. Mobile banking placed third among potential sectors on Élan's sector ranking methodology in 2013 and was classified as a sector to "proceed" with. This was due to particularly high scores on 'growth potential' and 'competitiveness' (the highest among 27 sectors assessed) and good scores on other indicators including pro-poor potential, where "from the poor's perspective, cost savings result not only from lower banking fees but also from the convenience and time saved through eliminating the need for them to travel and wait for transactions at the closest bank branch."<sup>74</sup> Low density of the existing branch network and fast growth of mobile phone ownership, combined with the rapid progress of mobile money elsewhere in SSA, particularly in countries such as Kenya, made MM an obvious focus for a project such as Élan.<sup>75</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Work on COPROSEM never appeared to be given an intervention code, suggesting it had limited focus.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Élan (2021i) "ÉLAN RDC Programme Closure Report"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Although experiences had varied in growth of mobile money; in Kenya and Tanzania, Safaricom had launched the mobile money service M-Pesa in both but saw different trajectories. Within the first 14 months of launch in Kenya, there were 2.7 million users and 3,000 agents. In Tanzania, there were only 280,000 users and 930 agents. This has been linked to market, branch and agent structure and liquidity of the network, population density and other demand-side and regulatory factors. See Davies (2017).

Work in MM was combined with interventions on agent banking to form the 'A2F branchless banking (BB)' sector.<sup>76</sup> A second A2F sector emerged from Élan's early work in agriculture, which became known as Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) Finance.<sup>77</sup> Élan 1.0 had three MSCs for the A2F BB sector by 2016 (MSC 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3) and two MSCs for the A2F SME sector (MSC 4.1 and 4.2). These were consolidated and reshaped under one A2F sector with three MSCs for Élan 1.2 (see Table 11).

#### Table 11: Élan Market System Changes (MSCs) in A2F

Élan 1.0: MSC 2016	Élan 1.0: MSC 2017	Élan 1.2: MSC 2020	
MSC3.1: Increased confidence in mobile money	MSC3.1: MNOs and Financial institutions develop financial education programs and other tools to increase confidence in mobile money and other digital financial services	MSC AF1 - FSPs offer education, products and services appropriate to low- income female and male consumers and entrepreneurs, including those with disabilities	
MSC3.2: MNOs and financial institutions offer appropriate products/services to poor consumers and entrepreneurs	No change	MSC AF2 - Financial services	
MSC3.3: MNOs and financial institutions improve agents' quality of service and expand agents network to serve poor consumers	MSC3.3: MNOs and financial institutions improve agents' quality of service and expand agents network to serve poor consumers and ensure supply chain digitalisation	stakeholders collaborate and advocate to improve the sector business environment.	
MSC4.1: Financial institutions market adapted and innovative financial products		MSC AF3 - Strengthened and increased capacities of	
MSC4.2: Consulting companies provide technical assistance in business management to SME owners.	No change	to attract investment in female- and male-owned SMEs in the DRC	

Source: Élan (2016d, 2017d) Annual Reports. Élan (2021i) "Programme Closure Report".

#### 2.3.1 Status of the sector, Access to Finance (A2F)

#### Financial inclusion at the start of the Élan project

The Élan project began in a context where financial inclusion in the DRC was low, in absolute and relative terms. This included very low density of the branch network in terms of the number of branches in proportion to the population and in their geographical density (see Figure 5). The DRC had just 34 deposit accounts for every 1,000 adults, enough for 3.4 percent market penetration, with only neighbouring Republic of Congo and South Sudan having less. In 2012, the DRC also had among the lowest value of deposits with- and outstanding loans from commercial banks as a proportion of GDP, at 9 percent and 4.7 percent respectively. In comparison, Rwanda had 15.8 percent, Zambia had 19.2 percent,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> The work was organised under the 'branchless banking' heading from the Élan (2016h) Q2 2016 report.
<sup>77</sup> And also was known as 'A2F - SME Finance'. There was a significant cross-over between AgNP and A2F through the MSC 2.4 for agribusiness to access finance, which was consolidated under the A2F SME sector. The cross-over is the main reason that our study combines both sectors into one report.

and Kenya had 28.4 percent of outstanding deposits with commercial banks as a proportion of GDP. Outstanding loans from commercial banks as a proportion of GDP were 12.7, 12.8 and 24.4 percent in Zambia, Rwanda and Kenya respectively; far higher than in the DRC.<sup>78</sup>





Number of bank branches per 100,000 adults

Number of bank branches per 1,000 km<sup>2</sup>

Source: Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014), drawing on IMF data.

**The DRC financial system was (and is) both small and fragile, linked to a high rate of dollarization.** As comparative indicators show and as the IMF put it in their 2014 Financial System Stability Assessment report: "the Congolese financial system is shallow and underdeveloped".<sup>79</sup> Banks dominated the sector with the 18 licensed banks at that time holding 95 percent of the total assets in the financial system, and the IMF also found that "credit has been increasing fast but remains scarce, expensive, short-term, and highly concentrated." <sup>80</sup> The DRC is also highly dollarized, which limits financial system growth, particularly in terms of the risks of lending to MSMEs, as set out in Box 3, as well as constraining the effectiveness of the government's monetary policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey. In 2012 only Sierra Leone, Central African Republic (CAR) and Chad had lower deposits with commercial banks as share of GDP than DRC. Only Sierra Leone, Guinea and Afghanistan had lower loans from commercial banks as share of GDP.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> IMF (2014): "The total financial system assets account for USD 3.8 billion, of which total bank assets are estimated at USD 3.6 billion (some 13 percent of GDP). Banking sector deposits are estimated at USD 2.6 billion (some 9 percent of GDP), also about 95 percent of the total financial system".
 <sup>80</sup> Ibid. IMF (2014) DRC Financial System Stability Assessment

#### Box 3: Dollarization of the DRC economy

The DRC economy has been highly dollarized, more than almost any other country; an extreme circumstance for a country with the 16<sup>th</sup> highest population on the planet. Dollarization is caused by the relative willingness of residents to hold foreign currency (usually, the global reserve currency, the US Dollar, USD), relative to domestic currency, the Congolese Franc (CDF) in this case. Concerns about loss in value of financial assets lead residents to hold a large proportion (or all) their assets in foreign currency. This is caused by perceptions of inflation and/or exchange rate depreciation reducing the real value of financial assets. If residents (households/banks) expect these to occur they may choose to hedge this risk. Concerns about political instability, conflict, and associated potential collapse of the financial system and exchange rate regime with possibility of debt default, all increase likelihood of dollarization. It has also been found that economies with relatively high entrepreneurial activity are more prone to high rates of dollarization (Mwase and Kumah, 2015).

In the DRC, as of 2014, about 90 percent of banking sector deposits and lending were in USD. High dollarization contributed to a weak monetary policy transmission mechanism and increased systemic exposure to liquidity shocks, given that banks' minimum regulatory requirements are defined in domestic currency and the BCC has only a limited capacity to provide liquidity in USD. While strongly advocated by the International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2014, 2022a, 2022c), DRC authorities' plans to promote de-dollarization have needed to be careful to trigger a flight of USD deposits and that USD buffers are adequate (IMF, 2014). This is a major constraint on the growth of the financial system, in particular constraining risk-taking of financial institutions (see Section 4.2.1).

**Very few financial institutions specialised in services to the poor or to MSMEs.** An early study carried out by Élan aimed to give an overview of the financial sector including on its "fragmented" banking sector. Of the top 11 banks, making up 92 percent of assets, 95 percent of deposits and 89 percent of loans and advances (as shown in Figure 39 in Annex G), the study found only one relatively smaller player, ProCredit Bank, to be targeting those on low income and small or very small businesses. The microfinance sector was even smaller, with total loans valued at USD 95 million, equivalent to USD 2.6 for every adult. This compared to the microfinance sector providing USD 36 of loans per adult in Ghana, and USD 180 in Kenya. FINCA was identified as by far the largest microfinance institution (MFI), particularly in terms of number of borrowers (over 84,000 compared to under 25,000 for the second largest player, Mecreco).<sup>81</sup>

**The financial sector was found to be highly concentrated in Kinshasa**, with 40 percent of assets held, 30 percent of the country's bank branches, and 91 percent of accounts at MFIs or cooperatives in the capital city.<sup>82</sup> There was also concentration in other economic zones such as the Lubumbashi area. However, access to formal financial services for large areas, particularly those known as 'deep rural', was low or non-existent.

The most detailed consumer research on financial inclusion from the FinScope Survey in 2014, found just 32 percent of a sample population had access to formal financial services, and 54 percent were classified as financially excluded.<sup>83</sup> Thus placed "the DRC at the bottom of the financial inclusion spectrum compared to regional peers" (as shown in Figure 6).<sup>84</sup> The survey sample was taken from economically active areas, covering around half of the population, and excluding much of the rural population,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> The average loan size for FINCA was USD 272 and they had 14 branches (which was the second largest network after Mecreco, which had 42 branches). Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014) "Consumer financial needs & behaviour assessment in DRC".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Unfortunately, the 2014 FinScope survey remains the most recent comprehensive financial inclusion survey undertaken in the DRC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016b) Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2016 – 2021

implying even the low levels of financial inclusion are likely to have been over-estimated. It was estimated that of 40 million adults in the DRC at the time, 14.8 million used any type of financial service, 7 million used at least one formal financial service, while only 1.1 million adults used more than one type of financial service.<sup>85</sup>





Source: CENFRI et al. (2016b), from FinScope surveys.

Farmers, MSMEs and the informally employed were found to have lower access rates. when segmenting for different sub-groups within the FinScope 2014 survey,<sup>86</sup> compared to the formally employed. The most excluded group was dependents (as shown in Figure 49 in Annex G). Other FinScope findings included:

- Access to insurance and credit were very low, with 99 percent and 91 percent respectively completely excluded.
- Payments or remittances was the most likely formal service that people accessed, an estimated 25 percent had formal access (mainly from money transfer operators -MTOs; see below).
- Farmers had lower mobile phone ownership than other groups, 43 percent compared to 63 percent for the informally employed; with less access to MM.
- When including informal access, savings was the most common service. Though only 10 percent had formal savings account access, 17 percent accessed savings from informal channels, and 29 percent from family and friends.
- Formal employment, higher income and urban status were highly correlated with greater financial inclusion across all service types.<sup>87</sup>

Consumer barriers to access financial services in the FinScope 2014 survey were found to include proximity, with the low geographical density of services meaning most

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Ibid. CENFRI et al. (2016b) Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2016 – 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> The DRC survey was "based on population in "economically active" areas"; this varies for other country FinScope surveys, meaning the figures are not all directly comparable. CENFRI et al. (2016b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

would need to travel over 60 minutes to the nearest bank or ATM.<sup>88</sup> A further challenge was on financial literacy, with a majority finding financial services to be too complex (69 percent), while issues with trust were also found, particularly for insurance claims. Only 37 percent of FinScope respondents indicated that they trust banks, and 20 percent trusted Savings and Credit Cooperative Organisations (SACCOs) or MFIs.<sup>89</sup>

#### Access to mobile money at the start of the Élan project

**The mobile money sector was fledgling but fast growing at the time Élan began its work**. Mobile money was introduced in the DRC in February 2012 with the Airtel Money product soon to be followed by Tigo Cash in March 2012 and Vodacom's M-Pesa in July 2012. Orange launched their own product in 2014, and in 2016, Orange acquired Tigo, meaning three providers would predominate in the market.<sup>90</sup>

According to GSMA data, there were 16.2 million mobile phone customers as of December 2012; there were 2.8 million registered mobile money users, and 372,000 'active customers' of mobile money, defined as those using services within the previous 90 days.<sup>91</sup> By the 2014 FinScope, mobile money usage was estimated at 920,000 (2.3 percent of adults). Of these users, around half (450,000) also had financial access via a bank account. This meant that for 470,000 people at that time, "mobile money is playing a role in extending formal account services".<sup>92</sup> According to the DRC Central Bank (BCC), by the end of 2014 there were 10.1 million mobile money accounts, with 1.9 million active, and USD 34 million of transactions were going through them.<sup>93</sup>

The largest provider of formal payments at the time of FinScope 2014 survey were money transfer operators (MTOs), a regulated sector of agents with a network across the country, outside of the bank branch network. They operated across an estimated 389 branches and served 24 percent of adults at the time, with 67 percent of remittance receivers indicating they received remittances via MTOs.<sup>94</sup> MTOs were viewed as an effective cash distribution channel and were trusted for money transfers, with 70 percent of remittance receivers identifying MTOs as the provider they would most trust to receive their money.<sup>95</sup> However, MTOs provided limited options to enable savings or other financial services.<sup>96</sup>

# Mobile money would have to compete with MTOs, with the advantage that the time taken using local transfer offices could be reduced. Focus groups had found concerns

<sup>92</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016d) Making Access Possible, Diagnostic Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> An estimated 73 percent of people did not know where the closest ATM is and 65 percent did not know where the closest bank branch. CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Ibid. CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Vodacom with M-Pesa, Airtel with Airtel Money, and Orange with Orange Money. Another provider, Africell, offered services (as Afrimoney) but on a much smaller scale in terms of market share.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> GSMA – Enabling Mobile Money Policies in the RDC – March 2014, reported in CENFRI et al. (2016c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> BCC (2014) "Rapport sur la Supervision des Intermédiaires Financiers 2013/2014".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016d) Making Access Possible, Diagnostic Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> According to the 2014 FinScope survey, the largest portion of remittances was sent through money transfer operators (MTOs). With 23 percent receiving remittances directly in cash from family and friends. In contrast, just 4 percent of receivers received remittances via a bank and 2 percent via a mobile phone transfer. Ibid. CENFRI et al. (2016d) Making Access Possible, Diagnostic Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Soficom was the largest MTO, and had expanded in the early 2000s when companies started using their services to handle payroll, receive payments from distributors or trade partners, pay taxes to local administration or manage suppliers' payments outside Kinshasa. In response to this demand, the company established points of service in each key city of DRC. They subsequently expanded, and Soficom illustrates the potential for MTOs to expand their financial services offerings in a growing DRC economy. Ibid. CENFRI et al. (2016d) Making Access Possible, Diagnostic Report

on the security of receiving money via MTOs, including the fear of being robbed after leaving the transfer office.<sup>97</sup> Mobile money providers were competitive with MTOs on transfer fees for collective remittance costs (transfer and withdrawal), with both more competitive than banks for lower value transfers (see Table 12). However, mobile money would also have the potential to reduce travel and associated total transactional costs.

 Table 12:
 Money transfer fee comparison across providers, MTOs and mobile money (2013-2015)

Service type	Cost to transfer USD 100	Cost to withdraw USD 100	Cost as a percentage of transfer
Banks	USD 15-USD 30		15-30%
MTOs	USD 1-	-USD 5	1-5%
M-Pesa	USD 0.4	USD 1.25	1.65%
Tigo Cash	USD 0.5	USD 1	1.5%
Orange Money	USD 0.55	USD 1.7	2.35%
Airtel Money	0	USD 1.21	1.21%

Source: CENFRI et al. (2016d) for MM providers; and GSMA (2013) for MTO and bank costs.

## 2.3.2 Élan 1.0 theory of change for A2F

#### Theory of change for mobile money / branchless banking

The theory of change (ToC) for the A2F mobile banking sector was based on addressing the constraint of a lack of user awareness and knowledge of mobile money. Élan hypothesised that greater familiarity with mobile money services gained from improved mobile network operator (MNO) marketing and consumer education would promote user trust. This would drive greater usage, and more mobile money transactions would generate time and cost savings, and increase income-generating activities; altogether increasing the income of the poor.<sup>98</sup> This analysis would provide the basis for the mobile money A2F ToC set out in Figure 7. This had been strengthened by the perceived opportunity for early intervention, as the project team had discussions with Vodacom during 2013, and there was "positive engagement" around a 'bottom of pyramid' (BOP) consumer strategy: "Vodacom's regional sales manager of M-Pesa has expressed interest and willingness in collaborating with [Élan] to develop a BOP consumer oriented strategy. There is also potential for [Élan] to look at synergies with the retail sector to identify retail agents who can also serve as mobile money agents."<sup>99</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> GSMA (2013) "Mobile Money in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Market insights".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Ibid. ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report





Source: ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

#### Expanding agent networks was the other area of what would become the A2F

**branchless banking (BB) sector**. By the time of Élan's January 2015 business plan, agents would become a bigger focus and this would include the collaborations with the MFI, FINCA. According to this plan, "Élan will also provide technical assistance to support the development of new and innovative strategies for expanding agent networks and ensuring that these appropriately [serve] poor consumers".<sup>100</sup> This led to a pilot with Orange and Umoja, and a small pilot with Tigo. Later, in 2016, the agent concept would be expanded to the larger partnerships with FINCA, which had much higher budgets than any other A2F interventions.

Élan's early sector diagnosis highlighted a number of other sector constraints that were not incorporated into interventions on the ToC. As shown in the initial systems map for mobile banking market in Figure 8, using the Making markets work for the poor (M4P) 'doughnut' diagram, other constraints included "logistical difficulties and cost of management agent network", and "inconsistent mobile network and coverage and poor roads", and neither of these would become central to the work of the A2F sector. While the diagram also includes mention of the BCC regulatory framework, this did not initially lead to direct work on any regulatory aspects of the financial system. However, much later in the project, in 2018, Élan would facilitate important discussions on bilateral interoperability for the MNO mobile money providers (see Section 4.2.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Élan (2015a) 2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan



#### Figure 8: Élan's initial systems map for the mobile-banking market

Source: ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis report

#### Theory of change for SME finance

Some of the Élan project's early work in the Transport and AgNP sectors, particularly interventions involving ProCredit Bank, evolved into the SME finance sector workstream.<sup>101</sup> The SME finance work would look at the capacity and willingness of SMEs themselves, as well as capacity of business development services (BDS) providers, as shown in the sector ToC in Figure 9. This would aim to ensure SMEs would have better understanding of the requirements of the financial sector and ultimately allow SMEs to access more finance, and invest and grow as a result, ultimately leading to increased income for the poor. On the supply-side, linkages with financial service providers would be made, with "pilot projects with bankable partners", increasing appetite for lending to SMEs, and new products and services being provided to target that market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> ProCredit Bank was purchased by the Kenyan bank Equity Bank in 2015, but was only rebranded as Equity Bank Congo (EBC) in 2018. Subsequently, in December 2020, Equity Bank Congo (EBC) purchased Banque Commerciale du Congo (BCDC) to form a new bank Equity BCDC.



Figure 9: A2F SMEs theory of change (ToC)

Source: Élan (2015a) 2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan

The SME finance work included support to innovative new products such as Collateral Management Agreements (CMAs). Élan would promote "Appropriate financial products" to SMEs which later became the MSC 4.1 of "innovative new products". To support the introduction of new products, information and training would be offered to financial service providers and to the concerned SMEs. The products in question would seek to overcome the absence of available collateral or insufficient collateral value, a significant issue facing growth-oriented SMEs. This included the creation of a credit line for coffee exporters backed by coffee stock,<sup>102</sup> and by the middle of 2015, it included support to maize processors with a CMA intervention with Bank of Africa (BOA). BOA opened a line of credit for a total amount of USD 10,000 to Maizeking and SMC, guaranteed by 48 metric tonnes of clean and dried maize stored in COMEXAS' warehouse in Goma.<sup>103</sup>

**Other support to SME finance was facilitated through guarantee funds.** Partnership agreements (PAs) between Élan and ProCredit Bank began by looking at loans to whaleboat operators on the River Congo,<sup>104</sup> the first in July 2015, to put in place a loan product. This was followed by a broader agreement for a guarantee fund mechanism from February 2016 to August 2017. Élan would broker relationships between ProCredit and SMEs to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Élan (2014b) Q2 2014 report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> BOA provided a credit line to a cocoa exporter, BTC, with an innovative product (loan against consignment letter from a well-known transporter). BTC faced problems in finding international buyers for its export container after its client pulled out, forcing it to request a rescheduling of its credit line from BOA. (Élan 2015a, 2015e, 2015g, 2016d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Whaleboat, or baleinière in French, is a long narrow rowing boat, formerly used in whaling.

"demonstrate the strategic opportunities involved in investing in pro-poor market sectors".<sup>105</sup> This subsidised lending and allowed Élan to facilitate A2F for some of its intervention partners, including seed producers, outgrower schemes, agro-dealers and to continue the work with the river transport sector.<sup>106</sup>

#### Insurance and leasing

Élan also had work and ambitions in both insurance and leasing although not developed into fully fledged interventions despite a lot of development (see Section 4.2.1). Various leasing products were explored but did not reach the market.

#### Élan 1.0 interventions

By the end of the first phase, Élan 1.0, the most frequent intervention type had been in agent banking, including two interventions with FINCA, one with Orange, one with Tigo, and two smaller interventions with Mulimayi Mwema and Oxus. This was followed by the credit guarantees, which focussed on the river transport sector but also included significant cross-over with the AgNP sector, dominated by the partnership with ProCredit Bank. The mobile money campaign was supplemented by an information campaign with HNI / Viamo. As shown in Table 13, there was then a shift for Élan 1.2, particularly to respond to Covid.

Intervention type	Functions	Élan 1.0	Élan 1.2
Agent banking	Increasing agent networks, focus on rural areas, including for MM providers	6	-
Credit guarantees and matching SME and banks	Increase lending to SMEs, lower collateral requirement, support SMEs to meet requirements.	3	-
Information / Marketing campaign	Increasing confidence in use of financial services (particularly mobile money)	2	-
Collateral management agreements (CMAs)	Access to working capital, leveraging stock in warehouse	2	-
Promotion of improved digital payment systems	Interoperability / innovative payment systems	1	1
Habitat for Humanity	Promote housing finance	1	-
Investment advisory	Investment promotion services	-	1
Mobile money loan product		-	1
Cash transfers in humanitarian contexts		-	1
Covid interventions		-	6

#### Table 13: Élan 1.0 and 1.2, A2F interventions by type

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2020d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Élan (2015a) 2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> In AgNP - Mimosa, Bon Berger, and Mulagricom, all benefited from the partnership with ProCredit.

## 2.3.3 Élan 1.2 theory of change for A2F

There was a shift in the A2F work in the Élan 1.2 period from 2019 and the scope of work was reduced. As shown in Figure 38 in Annex G, this was even as the previously separate A2F BB and A2F SME sectors were combined into one A2F sector. The focus became more around 'digital finance', in terms of development of products and services, including a mobile loan product as the main example; development of a 'digital ecosystem', particularly through a Digital Savings and Credit Working Group (DSCWG); and a new focus on investment promotion for new foreign direct investment (FDI), apparently via a single intervention with an investment advisory provider. The project had wanted to continue some agent banking initiatives, with two partnerships with the MFIs, FINCA and SMICO, however both were delayed due to Covid safeguards and were ultimately cancelled.

## Élan 1.2 interventions

Élan 1.2's interventions built on the first phase but undertook fewer activities than planned due to the onset of the Covid pandemic in early 2020. Some planned interventions did not proceed while Covid-specific interventions were implemented, making up the largest category as shown in Table 13 above. Most did not contribute to Élan's market systems change objectives and are not covered by this study.

**Covid interventions were less tangential to systemic challenges faced by the financial sector, with a couple of exceptions in digital payments.** The Covid interventions that were put under the A2F heading, included 'digital payment awareness', crisis response, a cash guarantee scheme, a 'Covid household survey' and business survey. The most innovative of the schemes that connected to the project's longer term goals was with the digital payment providers Maxicash and Infoset, which would provide an interim solution to interoperable payments (also known as 'aggregators'), to be available through Unstructured Supplementary Service Data (USSD). This also led to discussions with the Central Bank at a time when the National Switch was close to launching, and bilateral interoperability for MNOs was also beginning.<sup>107</sup>

**Changes to the geographical focus of Élan in the second phase of Élan 1.2 hindered support to the more successful of the SME finance interventions.** This was the reduced geographical focus away from the south, while remaining on the eastern and central regions, particularly the provinces of North Kivu, South Kivu and Kasai Central. This had the consequence of removing the agricultural focus from the southern interventions, and meant that work on the CMA in Haut Katanga with GoCongo, Equity BCDC and COMEXAS would not be continued, as well as the support provided to AgNP interventions that had included financing elements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Élan (2021n) 2020 Annual Report, 2021 Business Plan - "Because they are able to aggregate payments across operators, our partners Infoset and Maxicash are perceived as potential threats to individual financial service providers' (FSPs) market share. They have been faster than banks and mobile money operators on interoperability."

# 3 Agriculture non-perennials (AgNP)

## 3.1 Relevance of Élan's AgNP work

#### **Evaluation questions:**

- A2: To what extent was Élan and the interventions it supported appropriately designed to meet the needs of stakeholders and target beneficiaries?
- A3: To what extent did the intervention logic and assumptions of the Élan project (and its interventions) hold during implementation?

#### Sub-questions:

- How important (market actors including target beneficiary) were the MSCs that Élan chose to address to stakeholders?
- How appropriate were the interventions to target the constraints?

## Key findings:

- Élan's focus on AGNP was relevant because of its prominence in the economy and the number of poor people involved. Estimates from Élan showed a vast majority of AgNP beneficiaries to live below USD 1.90 PPP per day (98 percent).
- The approach evolved, with an increasing focus on seed. Seed sector analysis was strong with detailed diagnosis underpinning interventions, and highly relevant to yields, productivity and incomes of the smallholder farmer (SHF) beneficiary group.
- The approach to support international seed companies to grow sales of hybrid maize seed, and local firms to establish open-pollinated variety (OPV) seed production was logical. SHFs have very limited purchasing power so seeds were more affordable than fertilisers.
- OGS and contract farming models were less systemic, relying on a higher degree of subsidy to finance inputs and provide services to SHF beneficiaries.
- A more limited focus on sector policy meant many sector constraints were not addressed.

Élan was designed to address systemic constraints in market systems in order to benefit poor people in the DRC. This section describes the target beneficiary group who comprise both poor consumers and producers. In the agriculture sector, beneficiaries were predominantly smallholder farmers (SHFs) who both produce and consume so there is an important cross-over as discussed below.

## 3.1.1 Needs of target beneficiaries

**In 2012, surveys estimated 77 percent of the DRC's population were living under the poverty line** as defined by USD 1.90 per person per day at purchasing power parity (PPP).<sup>108</sup> The proportion was revised to 70 percent using the World Bank's new threshold of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Unfortunately, more recent poverty estimates from nationally representative surveys are not available.

USD 2.15 PPP; but this is still double the average for the SSA region.<sup>109</sup> Élan 1.0 did not initially use a specified poverty line to describe its target beneficiaries, although its poverty profiling study in 2018 analysed beneficiaries according to USD 1.90 and USD 3.20 per person per day lines, and found beneficiary proportions roughly at par with the 2012 survey (see Table 14).<sup>110</sup> For the second phase, Élan 1.2, USD 3.20 PPP was used as the point of reference, with 81-88 percent of beneficiaries found under that line.

Poverty Line	Criteria	% of population below (2012)	Number below line (millions, 2021)	% of Élan beneficiaries below (2018)
National poverty line		63.9%	59	
International poverty line	USD 1.90 (2011 PPP) per person per day	76.6%	71	66-74%
Lower Middle Income	USD 3.20 (2011 PPP) per person per day	91%	84	81-88%
Upper Middle Income	USD 5.50 (2011 PPP) per person per day	97.7%	90	

 Table 14: Poverty Lines (2012) and estimated proportion of Élan beneficiaries (2018)

Source: World Bank (2019) - Poverty and equity brief. Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report".

The estimates imply upwards of 59 million people to be living in poverty in the DRC as of 2021 with a greater proportion in rural areas. On the DRC's national poverty line, 60 percent of the urban population is estimated to be poor, compared to 65 percent of the rural population.<sup>111</sup> The rural-urban divide is starker when using a multidimensional poverty index (MPI), where the rural poor suffer worse outcomes on years of schooling, child mortality, water and sanitation access, nutrition, and access to electricity among others.<sup>112</sup> In Élan's 2018 beneficiary analysis, the sectors with more rural focus were found to have much poorer beneficiaries. Based on Élan's poverty profiling 'estimated income' methodology, AgNP beneficiaries had just USD 0.59 per person per day at PPP.<sup>113</sup> This placed them at just one-fifth of the estimated national average income in 2018, and implied the vast majority of the smallholder farmer (SHF) beneficiary group were highly likely to be living in extreme poverty.<sup>114</sup> Across Élan's 2018 survey, most AgNP interventions surveyed had upwards of 95 percent of beneficiaries under the USD 1.90 poverty line, and 99 or 100 percent under the USD 3.20 poverty line, significantly higher than the A2F sector (see Section 4.1.1).<sup>115</sup>

#### Élan's analysis of the needs of the SHF beneficiary group

Élan's analysis began from the diagnosis of low yields and the high potential of improved seeds. Non-perennial crops such as maize and rice are central for food security, poverty reduction and nutrition. As early analysis from Élan on the seed sector put it: "with over 70 percent of the Congolese workforce engaged in agriculture, which is the sector with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> World Bank (2022c) WDI data SI.POV.DDAY. See World Bank (2022a) for updated methodology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> DRC Enquêtes 1-2-3 data collection 2012, as reported in Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> See Figure 46 in Annex G. OPHI (2013) "DR Congo OPHI Country Briefing 2013"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> See Figure 47 in Annex G. Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> National average from World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> See Table 40 in Annex G. Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report"

the highest potential for alleviating poverty, seeds could be transformational for the poor."<sup>116</sup> This presented a case that productivity and well-functioning value chains start with the seed that farmers plant. Agriculture accounted for 20 percent of GDP in 2019 but was estimated to employ over 60 percent of Congolese adults,<sup>117</sup> and was considered by Élan to be the sector with the highest potential for alleviating poverty. A vibrant seed system with improved seeds accessible to farmers could increase production and income through higher yields. Élan stated, for example, that better performing rice varieties yield around 6-8 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) versus a pre-existing average of around 2.2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in the Ruzizi Plain in South Kivu.<sup>118</sup>

**Seed production in the DRC is lower than almost any country.** TASAI (2018a) estimated total production of certified seed at just 0.02 kg per person in the DRC in 2016, lower than comparable countries apart from Madagascar. This is based on total seed production of just under 2,000 t; just 5 percent of that produced in Kenya or Zambia.





Source: TASAI (2018a). World Bank (2022c) WDI data for population estimates.

Early in the project, analysis on the seed sector by Élan found SHFs in the DRC cultivate small plots of land (less than 1 hectare) with limited technical and financial capacity. SHFs are often not aware of the benefits of using good quality seeds, and do not use chemical fertilisers or pesticides. The market at Élan's outset did not sustain a reliable supply of good seeds, particularly for those in more remote areas. Extension services from the Ministry of Agriculture were mostly non-existent and not helping farmers with information or training on the use of 'elite' hybrid seeds, or even on available varieties suitable for use in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan". It should be noted that more advanced agricultural economies are dominated by hybrid seeds, while many improved open-pollinated varieties (OPVs) are also prevalent in SSA. A summary of the difference between these types of seed is provided in Box 2 in Section 2.2.1 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> International Trade Administration (2022). Agriculture as share of GDP in 2019 figure from BCC (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Although such large yields would not be possible without the use of other inputs such as fertiliser. ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

the various provinces of DRC.<sup>119</sup> This had linkages to food security, with around 26.4 million people are projected to be acutely food insecure as of early 2023 with 3.4 million children estimated to be acutely malnourished.<sup>120</sup> While this is linked to variable rainfall, insecurity and prevalence of internally displaced people (IDPs), food insecurity is underpinned by low productivity in agriculture.<sup>121</sup>

**Given most SHFs in the DRC are poor, quality inputs can be difficult to afford, a major challenge to improving access.** As set out in Box 4, while seeds are an important driver of productivity, fertiliser can be equally important. According to former Élan staff in interview for this study, the relatively higher cost of fertiliser was one reason seeds were placed at the heart of the AgNP sector work. In 2018, it is estimated that a full package of inputs and costs for land preparation for maize, including the seed cost, would be around USD 1,000 per ha., and costs have since increased.<sup>122</sup> SHFs in the DRC do not have purchasing power for such an investment, and access to finance for most SHFs is non-existent (see Section 4.1.2). As a result, outgrower schemes (OGS) and contract farming that leveraged others' resources were seen as the only routes to get SHFs to use sufficient quantities of inputs and achieve the higher yield potentials available, in large part explaining the evolution of Élan's AgNP portfolio.

#### Box 4: The role of fertiliser in productivity

Seeds are a key driver of productivity, but are only one input to improve farmer crop yields. Agricultural practices such as tillage, correct spacing, weeding, pest management etc., are all important. Depending on the soil conditions, fertilisers are perhaps the most critical factor for transforming and achieving maximum potential yields. It has been estimated that up to 150 kg of Nitrogen (N) fertiliser application per hectare (kg/ha) has a linear impact in increasing yields, and the highest yields come from N-rates of 200-250 kg/ha. This is also true of phosphorous and potassium (the P and K respectively in NPK fertiliser), and micro-nutrients such as magnesium and zinc also have impact on yields, with small quantities needed depending on soil composition (Yara, 2022).

Devkota et al. (2016) in Nepal find that with sound agronomy and high rates of fertiliser (180:60:60 kg NPK per ha), maize grain yields in field experiments exceeded 8 t ha<sup>-e</sup> with hybrid seeds and 6 t ha<sup>-1</sup> with OPV seeds. Setimela et al. (2017, 2018) find that yields in 'low-yielding environments' in SSA characterised by farmers using low fertiliser application, yields are 3-6 t ha<sup>-1</sup> less than under optimal agronomic management conditions. Average application of fertiliser in SSA is found to be just 5 to 10 kg per ha, far below the rates that are used in more advanced agricultural economies (ibid.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014. In contrast, a small number of large commercial farming companies used elite hybrid seeds, together with fertilisers and plant protection products, as well as having access to mechanisation.

<sup>120</sup> WFP (2023) DRC summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See Food security in the DRC in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> This estimate also roughly tallied with that from analysis on DRC agriculture for USAID by O'Donnell et al. (2015): "To farm 1.0 ha optimally, a farmer requires 25 kg of hybrid-maize seed (USD 125), 300 kg of urea (USD 300) and 300 kg of NPK (USD 300), totalling USD 725. The rest of the inputs consist mostly of family labor". This is higher today given increases in fertiliser prices, even doubling, as a result of the War in Ukraine; see Baffes and Koh (2022).

## 3.1.2 Needs of businesses

#### Seed sub-sector

Élan identified that there was a small group of farmers engaged in seed multiplication of OPV seeds in Haut Katanga, who would form the core partners for the local seed company interventions. These were referred to as '20 small producers or so farming 10 hectares or so', who would predominate in Élan's interventions in the local seed sector.<sup>123</sup> Local organisation existed with the 20 farmers under the Katanga Seed Producers Association (APSK). There was also a provincial seed council (COPROSEM), formed in 2005, which provided a potential vehicle for advocacy on seed policy. The producers had low production capacity but demonstrated there could be a market for OPV seeds. For Élan, these farmers had potential to become formalised and establish as local seed companies, particularly if they developed their marketing and sales capacity.<sup>124</sup> Needs of the companies identified included for access to bank credit, as very limited access to finance was available.

A market for elite hybrid seeds was also being developed by foreign seed companies entering the DRC market (Zamseed, Seed Co, and Pannar were identified). The largest of these companies, Seed Co, had entered the DRC market in 2012. The imported hybrid seeds from these companies were sold to more advanced, large-scale farmers with the technical and financial means to benefit, while some medium-sized farmers were also purchasing these seeds. Élan identified needs of these companies including improvement to the policy environment, and growing demand from farmers for hybrid seeds. The latter would require farmers to use more fertilisers and plant protection products in order to see the full yield benefits of hybrids. Seed companies would need to build their distribution network with adequate logistics (storage and transportation), and to transact with professional agro-input dealers. Élan also identified the need for seed imports to be facilitated, with administrative and customs rules clearly defined and applied; as well as for foreign seed companies to be allowed to buy or lease land with long term contracts, in order to set up seed production facilities, breeding facilities and marketing activities.<sup>125</sup>

#### **Maize sector**

Low use and low quality of inputs, and a lack of access to agronomic knowledge and best practices were key reasons set out for low performance of the maize sector, exacerbated by effects of climate change.<sup>126</sup> Further, an estimated 80 percent of Katanga's local production is undertaken by female farmers, and as farming is generally not mechanised, this is a large physical burden to the other many challenges poor women face.<sup>127</sup> Three particular types of farmers were identified in the maize sector:<sup>128</sup>

- Small growers, with less than 1 ha, with yields of less than 1 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, using farm-saved seeds;
- medium-size growers, with 2 to 10 ha, and yields of 1.2 to 2 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, using certified OPV seeds produced in Katanga; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Ibid. Elan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Ibid. Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Although the DRC is less affected than many countries in SSA, particularly as it has lower temperature increase projections (see Figure 44 and Figure 45 in Annex G).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Letellier et al. (2020) "Addressing food insecurity in the DRC"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

 large mechanised farms, often larger than 150 ha, sometimes over 1,000 ha, with yields of 6 to 7 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, who would only use hybrid seeds.

**Geographically, maize seed supply was mainly restricted to the Lubumbashi region, because of poor logistics elsewhere**, though there was more limited analysis of supply in the eastern provinces. Élan chose to work with some of the larger farmers in the southern region who could then support close-by SHFs. This included Mbeko Shamba, a milling company and seed producing company with a 5,000 ha farm; and for the CMA intervention (that would move to the A2F sector in terms of its classification), Go Congo, who now have a maize farm of over 3,000 ha, and process flour and also produce biscuits (see Section 4.2.2).

#### **Rice sector**

Rice was central to the initial analysis of Élan but did not end up becoming such a big part of the AgNP portfolio as maize (as set out in Section 3.2.2). The focus was on the eastern region, in particular the 80,000 ha in the DRC portion of the Ruzizi Plain, a valley shared between Rwanda, Burundi and the DRC. Rice consumption in South Kivu province was estimated at over 30,000 tonnes per year, of which one-third was made up by local production.<sup>129</sup> The production of rice in the eastern DRC was estimated to involve up to 45,000 smallholder rice producers cultivating 12,000 tonnes of paddy on between 4,000 to 6,000 ha. According to the statistics available, the average household plot size was estimated to range from 0.35 to 0.40ha, and the average yields in the region were found to be at 2.2 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, implying farmers producing 800 to 900 kg of rice per year. Élan's analysis estimated that households would consume 10-30 percent and sell the rest. Producers could be categorised into three groups: (1) smallholder farmers affiliated with farmer associations, (2) individual smallholder farmers, and (3) one single vertically integrated company with production and processing facilities. Rice cultivation was dominated by SHF producers who were affiliated with associations.<sup>130</sup> Ultimately this preponderance of SHF producers may have limited the number of partners for Élan to work with in the rice sector.

#### **Mining companies**

Élan also targeted mining companies as under the Mining for Agriculture initiative, these companies were obliged by provincial government (in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces) to support 500 ha of land each agricultural season.<sup>131</sup> It has been estimated that mining companies represent about 16 percent of the seed purchases in the province (from 2018 data),<sup>132</sup> with imported maize hybrids making up most of the seed they purchase. In general, mining companies would provide input credit to farmers along with a technological package, the cost of which would be recovered in kind when the crop is harvested. In Lualaba province, in 2018, USAID found that five of six mining companies participated in the Mining for Agriculture initiative.<sup>133</sup> There was though apparently little enforcement on the quality of implementation of the initiative, and this would mainly rely on the CSR objectives of each mining company. This was viewed as a potential entry point by Élan and led to the SEK-Seed Co intervention.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Rice remains a large import for the DRC worth USD 94 million in 2021, according to UN Comtrade data.
 <sup>130</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> The Mining for Agriculture initiative derived from a decree by the Governor of the former Katanga province.
 <sup>132</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> These were TFM, MMG, BAZANO, BOSSMINING, RUASHI MINING – USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

## 3.1.3 Appropriateness of interventions to meet needs

Élan's interventions aimed to address the elements of the AgNP system that constrained farmers and SHFs in particular from achieving higher yields. Given the relative affordability of improved seeds compared to other inputs, and their centrality as a starting point to the modernisation, formalisation and commercialisation of agriculture, seeds were a very well argued and logical starting point for intervention. The focus on seeds also demonstrated a good degree of adaptation by the Élan team, as set out, in terms of the evolution of analysis on rice, maize and inputs, and ultimately combining them. This was because seeds were a binding constraint on SHF yields. Seeds ended up forming over half the interventions that élan implemented in the AgNP sector.

Élan also subsidised the development of OGS and contract farming, particularly in **2014-2016**, but found challenges to sustainability with these models. While the schemes generated demand for seed, they were less likely to lead to systemic change in the market because of the subsidy involved and requirement for SHFs to live in proximity to the large farms or mines. As of Élan's 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP the limitations of the OGS pilots had become clear: "the NAIC per SHF of OGS is high but there are clear limitations in terms of OGS outreach. OGS is not a sustainable long-term strategy to provide inputs to smallholder farmers but it is currently very relevant to the DRC context."<sup>134</sup> The lack of sustainability was borne out in practice (see Section 3.4).

#### Capacity of and needs of smallholders

At Élan's outset, a large majority of SHFs (over 90 percent) were assumed to not be using improved seed, and this group would likely only provide a market for OPV seeds at best, due to the lower price of OPV compared to hybrid seeds.<sup>135</sup> OPV seeds also have an advantage in that once the crop is harvested, additional seed can be saved on the farm, and for two to three seasons there is minimal yield loss (see Box 2 in Section 2.2.1).<sup>136</sup> Given low purchasing power of SHFs, OPV seeds could therefore be more appropriate. However, it is not clear Élan ever produced a cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for SHFs on seed choice to greater evidence this assumption. This would have required accurate data on the yield difference between OPVs and hybrid seeds, particularly for the low input use (in fertiliser etc.) that would likely be the norm for most SHFs in DRC.

The approach of promoting local OPV seeds was validated by international

**experience to some extent**.<sup>137</sup> Maize is the most important cereal and widely cultivated staple in SSA with a central role in regional food security. The relative prevalence of hybrid seeds vis-à-vis OPV and local seeds varies considerably across countries (as shown in Table 39 in Annex G). Available data suggests the DRC has a low proportion of both OPV

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Élan (2017a) 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Locally produced certified seeds of OPV maize varieties were sold at 2 USD/kg. Imported hybrid maize seeds in comparison were more expensive and sold at a price of 5 USD/kg.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> With a "seed rate" of 25 kg per ha for maize, this implies a different cost per hectare of maize cultivation for the two types of seed – USD 50 for OPV seeds, which could last for two or three seasons, as opposed to USD 125 for hybrid seeds, which could only be used for one season.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Smale et al. (2011) note that while hybrids typically have higher achievable yield under recommended crop management, OPVs may be more suitable in the socio-economic context of SSA's smallholder agriculture. Pixley and Banziger (2001) note that in low-yield farming systems (below 1.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) and where hybrid seed and fertiliser prices are high relative to the price of grain, the highest return to investment may come from the use of improved OPV seed, due to it being cheaper and more recyclable than hybrids. They found that the improved OPVs are particularly advantageous if the money saved by using OPV instead of hybrid seed is used to purchase additional inputs such as fertiliser, herbicide or hiring additional labour.

and hybrid seed being used (Section 3.3.3). According to Westengen et al. (2014), while in developed countries 98-100 percent of the maize area is planted with hybrid seeds, most maize area in SSA is planted with local varieties, farm saved seeds of improved OPVs. Abate et al. (2017) looked at 13 African countries in the 2013/2014 main crop season and found nearly 500 maize cultivars grown in total, with approximately 32 percent hybrid, 23 percent improved OPVs, and 46 percent local varieties.<sup>138</sup>

Farmers in the DRC, as across SSA countries, are among the poorest in the world, with limited cash income or asset wealth, a key reason why government subsidy programmes have been put in place.<sup>139</sup> Provincial government schemes have aimed to increase the access and use of improved farm inputs, including the 'Village Agricole' scheme operational in the Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces. From the demand side, lack of purchasing power is the main reason behind low (and sometimes declining) quantity demanded of improved maize seed.

Élan identified a lack of trust and knowledge of improved seeds among SHFs as a need to be addressed. Smallholders could often be reluctant to pay for improved seeds, choosing to use lower-yielding home-saved seeds instead. Even where farmers had access to improved seeds, they may lack the skills and knowledge to store them in adequate conditions and fully take advantage during cultivation.<sup>140</sup> This led Élan to specify that consumer education, information and feedback mechanisms between potential users and market actors in the seed system would be needed to generate demand for quality seeds from SHFs.<sup>141</sup>

## Access to products

Élan estimated that only 10 percent of a potential market for 5,000 tonnes of improved maize seeds in the southern region of Katanga was being met at the outset of the **project.** See sales were estimated to be closer to 500 tonnes, with 250 tonnes of imported (mainly hybrid) seeds and 250 tonnes of locally produced OPV seeds. The remaining potential market was estimated to be covered by farm-saved seeds.<sup>142</sup> Both the supply of-and demand for seed were found to be challenges to address.

While both imported hybrids and local OPV seed were available on the market, fundamental characteristics made these markets very different. When hybrid varieties are acquired by a private company from sources such as public or international research institutions, the receiving company demands an exclusive use right for a period determined by the biological longevity of the variety. For OPVs, such rights are usually not given as the seed can be reproduced with the same level of genetic purity and used by the farmers. Market shares of OPVs cannot be easily maintained.<sup>143</sup> This potentially limited the size of the local firms producing OPVs and their ability to expand.

<sup>141</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6
 <sup>142</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> The overall weighted average age of the cultivars was 15 years, with hybrids and OPVs being 13 and 18 years, respectively. This suggests a low turnover rate of improved varieties.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Kassie et al. (2013) "Political and economic features of the maize seed industry in southern Africa".
 <sup>140</sup> International evidence shows other potential routes to improve customer demand. For example, in Shiferaw et al. (2008), collective action in Tanzania, defined as membership of a crop production group, was found to significantly reduce the likelihood of facing capital constraints in purchasing improved seeds. Such membership also increased the probability of improved seed adoption particularly for larger farms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Kassie et al. (2013) "Political and economic features of the maize seed industry in southern Africa".

#### Foundation seed

**Élan correctly identified the importance of foundation seeds at the project's outset**,<sup>144</sup> and that liberalisation of the seed sector as in other countries could increase private engagement in the production and marketing of foundation seed (via the Katanga OPV intervention). Over the long term, a more liberalised seed sector was expected to relieve pressure on public institutions while ensuring that adequate volumes of foundation seeds are available for the multiplication and commercial seed sale to farmers. The research institution INERA had the mandate to produce foundation seeds, with very few other producers, for example the University of Lubumbashi (UNILU) was one, and also identified as a potential partner. INERA, in practice, had an effective monopoly on the production of breeder and foundation seeds despite its inability to fulfil this mandate. Changing this was a priority for Élan and a successful early step in systemic change.<sup>145</sup> Even where INERA has developed new varieties, or produced foundation seeds, these are often only available to producers within a 50km radius of INERA's nine research stations or centres, and INERA released seed varieties of maize, beans, groundnut and soybean were found to be simply not available by a USAID project in eastern Congo.<sup>146</sup>

In the DRC, as elsewhere, the lack of foundation seed is due to the national agricultural research system (NARS) being understaffed and underfunded.<sup>147</sup> Insufficient germplasm and basic seed is developed and thus small and local companies, which depend heavily on the NARS, are forced to have a shallow business profile. To address this would require strategic investment in the public NARS to support indigenous seed companies. Other potential major sources of foundation seed, such as international research institutions and seed companies, also did not produce and/or avail sufficient foundation seed to local companies. Seed companies in the DRC therefore faced a challenging environment in which to achieve any significant quantities of supply.

#### Regulation of the seed sector

Élan's early seed sector analysis also outlined that in the absence of an approved seed law, there would be no framework to delineate the roles between the public and private sector in the seed system. The seed law had been stalled at the National Assembly for over a year by early 2014. The lack of legislative clarity, alongside weak understanding of the business case and models for private investment in the seed sector, hampered private sector involvement and innovation in the seed value chain.<sup>148</sup> The national seed certification body, SENASEM, was known to be under-funded and lacking in capacity to adequately certify seed. In order to relieve this, Élan would seek to 'provide evidence for the benefits of policy, legal and regulatory reform and implementation' to the government in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> As per ASI (2013a): "The formal seed system encompasses three stages: breeder, foundation and certified seeds. In order to produce commercial quantities of seed, seed needs to undergo a series of multiplication steps which advances it along these stages. Insufficient breeder and foundation seeds at earlier stages will constrain volumes in later stages.... Breeder seed is produced from nucleus seed under the supervision of a qualified plant breeder (e.g. typically from a research institute or university). The genetic purity of breeder seed crop should be at 100 percent. Foundation seed is the progeny of breeder seed and has a slightly lower genetic purity. Finally, certified seed is the progeny of foundation seed."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> See Box 5 in Section 3.2.2. ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> USAID (2010) "Seed System Security Assessment: Northern Katanga"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Angola and Malawi are cited as examples in Kassie et al. (2013) "Political and economic features"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6

order to advocate for an improved regulatory environment. This would mainly be via provincial seed councils (COPROSEM) in Katanga and Kivu.

The weakness of SENASEM also played a role in low consumer confidence and trust in improved seeds, affecting the demand and willingness of farmers to pay. Corruption in seed certification meant some seeds were stamped as certified even when they did not meet the appropriate standards.<sup>149</sup> To address low consumer confidence and trust, Élan's approach was to support the private sector with marketing, distribution, demonstration plots and other strategies to stimulate demand (for both regional and local seed interventions), rather than to support SENASEM directly. This meant that the constraints in certification would not be directly addressed by Élan interventions (see Enforcement of the quality of seed in DRC in Annex F).

#### Subsidised seeds distributed by NGOs and humanitarian agencies

Another key potential distortion in the seed sector is purchases by government and NGOs.<sup>150</sup> Issues include distributing seeds to farmers at the wrong time of year, where farmers who received seed late would not be able to plant at the optimal time, and this could seriously hamper productivity. Farmers could also be reluctant to purchase seed that was in the commercial market because they hoped to receive free or subsidised seed. Consequently, commercial retail sales of seed may then be reduced or seed be purchased at a non-optimal time if farmers realised that they would not be beneficiaries of subsidised handouts.

Élan's early analysis included on the questionable quality of 'certified' seeds distributed by humanitarian agencies, which had given seeds a bad image among farmers. Many of the seeds distributed by development programmes were of poor quality, with some seeds even having lost their ability to germinate.<sup>151</sup> At the same time, free hand-outs of seeds, as part of humanitarian aid, had built expectations among farmers that government and donors should continue subsidising the provision of seeds. This was a particular issue in the more humanitarian context of eastern DRC, and would be an area for intervention.

#### Other important practices

The supply chain for seeds including storage of seed along the supply chain are also important but were less an emphasis of Élan's AgNP sector work. If seeds are stored under poor conditions where there is heat, moisture or insects, they become grain, or vegetative mass and are no longer seeds.<sup>152</sup> Strengthening extension services would also therefore be important to ensure good storage of seed along the supply chain.<sup>153</sup> Storage of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> CBT RD Congo (2010) "Etude Preparatoire du PIC 2010-2013"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> As set out in Kassie et al. (2013) "Political and economic features of the maize seed industry".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> CBT RD Congo (2010) "Etude Preparatoire du PIC 2010-2013"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6. Furthermore, Barriga and Fiala (2018) look at the issue of low quality seed in Uganda, in particular whether sellers are purposefully faking or adulterating inputs, or whether there are poor storage processes along the supply chain. They did so by testing seeds along the maize supply chain for purity, germination and genetic similarity. They found no evidence that the quality of seeds deteriorates along the supply chain, but did find a drop in the quality after seed left breeders. They note their results were consistent with mishandling and poor storage of seeds, possibly related to temperature control once the seeds left the breeders. They cautioned on too much focus on certification to reduce the possibility of adulteration, but rather to focus on improving handling of inputs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

seeds was integrated into some Élan interventions with local seed companies but was not a major focus, particularly along the value chain to farmers.

## 3.1.4 Extent to which assumptions held in AgNP sector

Assumptions underpinning Élan's AgNP sector work partially held true, particularly around the poverty of beneficiaries in the sector, although many constraints were challenging to address by working with the private sector. There were several key assumptions for how Élan could affect market systems and generate what they called Market System Changes (MSCs). These were largely founded in the theory of market systems programmes and M4P, although as noted would also require the MSCs to be clearly defined and well-founded. Table 15 outlines brief findings on five assumptions, following the MTE approach. This includes a summary of the assessment in 2018 from the MTE as well as an assessment made for this study.<sup>154</sup> This largely draws on findings in subsequent sections on Results (Section 3.2), Impact (Section 3.3) and Sustainability (Section 3.4).

Assumptions	Assessment of MTE (2018)	Assessment now (2022)
1. The binding constraints to increasing economic activity that perpetuate poverty can be addressed by MSCs.	MSCs could be addressed apart from MSC2.5 on regulatory environment. Private partnerships can generate system change but engagement with government needed. AgNP vulnerable sector given it is a low priority of government.	Risks of government intervention were realised. Insufficient attention to weak regulation meant market failures are still rife in the seeds sector. Mining OGS and contract farming initiatives lacked sustainability.
2. Pro-poor MSCs can be brought about through partnership interventions with (private) partners.		There were some good cases of pro-poor MSCs, changing the seed system, particularly for NASECO in the Kivu area with a strong SHF focus.
3. There is a cascade of effects from MSCs that ultimately benefit poor and women producers and/or consumers.	More positive for OPV seeds than input-intensive hybrids, the latter may be inappropriate for low-income SHFs in Katanga, possibly better in Kivu. Mixed results in OGS schemes. Little focus on poor as consumers and food security in general.	Benefits of many AgNP interventions in terms of income change (NAIC) likely overestimated in many cases. Some of the impact on poor may have been indirect via government subsidy schemes.
4. The benefits of Élan pilot interventions will be sustainable.	Seed supplier interventions more sustainable, particularly in OPVs	Regional seed company interventions more sustainable than local companies. Mining companies relying on CSR much less sustainable.
5. Adoption of new practices by pilot partners will be sufficient to achieve expansion and response	Input-intensive investments not necessarily feasible for SHFs, possibly better in Kivu than in Katanga. Local OPV seed	Barriers to local production of quality hybrid seeds remain high. Local OPV production hampered by supply and

#### Table 15: Assessment of assumptions underpinning Élan's AgNP sector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) MTE and MTE Technical Annexes.

Assumptions	Assessment of MTE (2018)	Assessment now (2022)
including beyond the period of project implementation.	suppliers seem viable. Lack of spontaneous replication or expansion.	demand-side factors, most acutely by weak regulation. Pilots insufficient to reach sustainable system change.

# 3.2 Effectiveness of Élan's AgNP work

#### **Evaluation question:**

- B2: To what extent has Élan led to improvements in market systems?
- B3: What factors have influenced the results achieved?

#### Sub-questions:

- How, and how much, have targeted constraints and MSCs changed during the period of Élan's support?
- How, and how much, have Élan's interventions changed policies and practices, leading to benefits for market actors including poor and marginalised target groups?

#### Key findings:

- Limited improvements were made to DRC's seed sector. Smallholder farmers' access to quality hybrid seeds has improved and more so than access to quality locally-produced OPV seeds, but imported hybrid seeds remain less affordable to poor and low-income farmers.
- An agreement with INERA on liberalisation of the production of foundation seed was an important systemic step by Élan.
- Local seed companies supported saw increases in production and sales with support from Élan, but remain small. They face issues such as unpaid invoices from provincial government and no longer access the finance that Élan facilitated.
- Some OGS and contract farming schemes were effective during the period of project support, but were short-lived. There were issues including buyers not upholding agreements with farmers and lacked profitability.
- Advocacy in the sector supported by Élan has not been sufficient to overcome sector constraints such as certification (SENASEM), varietal development (INERA), and funding (MINAGRI), costly and cumbersome import processes, and the proliferation of fake and illegal seeds.

This section presents findings on effectiveness in policy (Section 3.2.1) and practices (Section 3.2.2). Overall, this review agrees with the relative positioning of Élan's final self-assessments that there were some successes in sustaining some progress in the production of seed, however the agricultural sector including the market for seeds saw little progress in terms of policy, and the sector remains very nascent.

#### Élan's self-assessment

Élan's self-assessment on its effectiveness in the AgNP sector in June 2021 scored its own contribution to system change as highest in 'Practices of market actors and business models', and in 'norms and informal rules', both classified as making
**'Progress'.**<sup>155</sup> They particularly highlighted progress on the seed sector and reach to SHFs. This was followed by a (lower) 'Strengthening' score for 'investment of market actors', for 'relationships and connections between market actors', and for 'participation of poor and marginalised people in the market'.<sup>156</sup> Here they highlighted work in sector advocacy with COPROSEM. Less progress was acknowledged in the area of 'policies and formal rules', classified as still 'Beginning'.<sup>157</sup> Élan's claims to effectiveness were backed up by its own studies and internally commissioned evaluations as part of its project M&E structures, as well as final assessments of its work in the sector through the 'Sector Study',<sup>158</sup> 'Legacy Sessions',<sup>159</sup> and other learning briefs produced.<sup>160</sup>

In the final review, nearly all of the claims for systemic change made by Élan were in the seeds sector, and it was clear that a strong case for system change was no longer made for the intervention area of OGS and contract farming.

# 3.2.1 Policy in Agriculture

In the context of the AgNP sector, relevant policy-related systems change principally involves the government of the DRC's regulatory approach to the seeds sector given its centrality to the intervention portfolio. This section looks at the overall policy environment and the work that Élan undertook to try to improve it.

**Overall, progress was slow in policy-related areas of the AgNP sector**. Élan took time before making policy a focus, and only really started via partnership with TASAI in 2016/2017, while the majority of the portfolio remained working with private sector market actors. There was one MSC identified within Élan 1.0 on regulation and one in Élan 1.2, the latter with a greater focus on advocacy.<sup>161</sup> There is little evidence the work in taxation had any successes, even as advocacy became a bigger focus over time. However, while the constraints in the sector's regulatory environment were identified at the outset in 2013/2014, many remained by the end of the Élan project period and today. Élan identified the risks in this area in 2013, including in delays for the government to pass the Seed Law. The risk was real, as the law had still not passed by late 2022.<sup>162</sup>

**The year 2020 also brought new challenges in the political economy context**. While the political situation remained relatively stable for most of the year under a power sharing agreement, a power struggle erupted in late 2020 when the President Felix Tshisekedi declared he would seek a new coalition including those opposed to the former President Joseph Kabila. An implication of this was delay to policy decisions.<sup>163</sup> This may have slowed down progress on the Seed Law, a key policy area for AgNP sector. However, the Covid downturn may have also stimulated some rare innovation in the policy environment,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Both scoring 7.5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Both scoring 5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Both scoring 2.5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Élan (2021h) Legacy sessions, AgNP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Élan (2021a) "A Quarter-Billion Dollar Industry? The DRC Seed Sector". Élan (2021b) "A,B, Seeds: The Fundamentals Of Seed Sector Development in the DRC". Élan (2021d) "Seed Legislation in the DRC: Why it is Needed Now". Élan (2021e) "Seed investment in the DRC". Élan (2021f) Sector Overview: Grain and Horticulture.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> For Élan 1.0 this was MSC2.5: Agribusinesses develop industry-wide awareness and advocate for a more favourable tax regime. The MSC for Élan 1.2 was MSC AGNP3 – Industry stakeholders organise and advocate for an improved business environment.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan" Seed Sector Annex 2.6
 <sup>163</sup> FCDO/DSU (2020a) Élan Annual Review 2020

particularly on digital payments, with progress on the National Switch, and potentially also to approval of bilateral interoperability in mobile money, a key policy-related achievement in the A2F sector (see Section 4.2.1).

# **Overall seed policy environment**

The absence of a seed law in the DRC was identified as a constraint at the start of Élan, as well as the lack of a law for the protection of new varieties of plants. This meant there were no clear definitions of seeds (as opposed to commercial grain) or minimum quality standards for seeds. Article 16 of the Agriculture law, enacted in 2011, stipulated that agricultural land could be leased to Congo nationals or DRC companies only, which could be a limitation for foreign seed companies to set up and produce in the country. There were also no clear stipulations on varietal protection, which was another barrier to investment as intellectual property (IP) could not be sufficiently protected.<sup>164</sup>

**Impetus from DRC's membership of regional bodies has not been a sufficient push to pass the draft seed law**.<sup>165</sup> The DRC is a member of both the Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) and the Southern African Development Community (SADC), and the government had taken steps to draft a domestic legal framework aligned with the harmonised seed trade regulations established by these organisations.<sup>166</sup> The law could harmonise rules and technical standards related to seeds, including in control and certification and trade, however this is yet to materialise.

Élan's analysis also found issues with the draft seed law, for example in insufficient recognition of the provincial level. A priority for Élan was that seed companies should be able to accomplish formalities at the level of the province, rather than at the national level. The process for approval of seeds would need to be sped up to increase the number of elite varieties available to farmers, and Élan believed that seed varieties already accepted in the official catalogue of a neighbouring country with similar agro-climatic conditions (Zambia, Uganda, South Africa) should be considered officially as accepted in the official catalogue of DRC.<sup>167</sup> Élan's analysis was that the draft law would be more restrictive as it would request that imported varieties would first need to be tested by public DRC institutions before they can be included into the official catalogue of varieties.<sup>168</sup>

Élan's main work on seed policy mainly began in 2016/2017 and carried on into Élan

**1.2**. Élan wanted to bring in an impartial and authoritative actor to generate good data on the seed policy environment and to drive coordination and seed industry development. The African Seed Access Index (TASAI) monitors 20 indicators that are essential to seed industry development at a national level, and Élan helped to fund the first study on the DRC with data collected on the market in 2016.<sup>169</sup> The index publishes a scorecard on the vibrancy of the formal seed sector in many African countries and, as such, is a useful tool for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Ibid. Elan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Analysis for ÚSAID also found issues, as in the draft: "SENASEM must sample and certify the quality of final packaged seed. However, the draft seed regulations also require sampling by SENASEM between harvest and conditioning. This type of sampling should only be done at the request of the seed conditioner, which should have access to their own seed testing facilities according to regulations. This requirement creates undue interference by SENASEM in an area that should be the sole responsibility of the seed company." USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014. <sup>169</sup> TASAI is a collaborative initiative between Market Matters, Inc. and Cornell University.

policy makers, development agencies, seed companies and farmers.<sup>170</sup> The TASAI Seed Index report clarified a number of areas where the DRC was lagging regional comparator countries, particularly in low scores for seed inspection and related efforts to stamp out fake seed (see below). On the seed inspection score only Senegal scored lower, with ESA countries all scoring higher than DRC. On the fake seed measure, DRC ranked the lowest of the 13 countries assessed by the TASAI. It also ranked lowest on the 'quality of the national seed traders' association'.

### Advocacy work

**Following the TASAI report, Élan partnered again with them to develop a seed sector strategy**. The work built on TASAI's research and aimed to develop and validate a framework to guide sector stakeholder activities. It took six months to assemble stakeholders and build momentum for framework dialogue, and this led to a 13-point strategy document that was validated with private, public and humanitarian stakeholders at workshops in Kinshasa, Lubumbashi, Goma and Bukavu (see Table 21 in Section 3.4 for a summary of the strategy). Efforts would include formalisation of the provincial seed councils (COPROSEM) in Goma and Lubumbashi, improving coordination between COPROSEM and humanitarian actors in eastern DRC, developing rural agro-dealer networks, and strengthening of extension services for smallholder farmers.<sup>171</sup>

**COPROSEM** had already existed for some time, but were only "minimally active".<sup>172</sup> It is not clear that this has necessarily changed, despite the brief period when Élan made it more active – the COPROSEM body in Haut Katanga has now not met for two years.<sup>173</sup> However, Élan made claims that it was more successful in North and South Kivu, and may have led to improvements in coordination of humanitarian actors in seed purchases (see below). Efforts to use COPROSEM to push for the draft Seed Law to be passed appear to have not had any traction (see below). USAID (2019) observed: "with only limited coordination among seed sector stakeholders at the national and provincial levels, stakeholders have been unable to mount a concerted lobbying effort that can generate the political will for reform."<sup>174</sup>

# Enforcement of the quality of seeds

**Production of certified seed in the DRC is regulated and should be accredited by National Seed Service (Service National des Semences – SENASEM), but it is underresourced.** While SENASEM's mandate includes the inspection of production sites prior to planting and additional inspections throughout the growing cycle, it lacks the powers and resources to properly regulate the seed sector.<sup>175</sup> The resulting informality of the sector is one of the underlying causes of many of the challenges experienced such as the presence of fake seed, unfair competition, and the corruption that is apparently endemic in emergency seed supply.<sup>176</sup> SENASEM seed inspectors are not sufficiently resourced to perform their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> TASAI (2018a) "TASAI Appendix 1", Sep 2018 version

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Élan (2021b) "A,B, Seeds: The Fundamentals Of Seed Sector Development in the DRC".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> AgNP sector interviews conducted for this study in October and November 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> UŠAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> In most cases, SENASEM staff have no means of transportation to access seed fields and many fields are not inspected or certified, with the result that most seed that is identified as certified is actually not quality seed. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

functions.<sup>177</sup> Fake seed has therefore become a significant problem affecting the seed industry in the DRC, and was mentioned in several interviews undertaken for this study, and according to TASAI (2018a), in 2016, seed producers in DRC reported a total of 185 cases of fake seed, higher than other country in their index. For more analysis on this issue see Enforcement of the quality of seed in DRC in Annex F.

#### Seed variety release

Varietal release for new seed varieties in DRC has been very slow, limiting the speed of innovation in the sector. In terms of the release of varieties in the last three years (as of 2016), TASAI estimated that six varieties of maize had been released in DRC, far lower than other countries in the region such as Zambia (36) or Tanzania (44).<sup>178</sup> New releases were also less likely to be commercialised in volumes that would replace older varieties in the market, and may therefore not be sufficient to develop farmer confidence in improved seeds.<sup>179</sup>

**Élan supported an update of the national seed catalogue** with the help of TASAI.<sup>180</sup> The last available version of the national catalogue was not up-to-date, produced in circa 2012.<sup>181</sup> The update saw 30 new varieties added and 20 varieties removed.<sup>182</sup> Stakeholders in Lubumbashi spoken to for this study were not aware of a catalogue update. However, NASECO added their flagship Bazooka maize seed to the catalogue, which may be important to facilitate their growth in the eastern DRC (see Section 3.2.2). For more on this issue see Seed variety release in the DRC in Annex F.

# Donor role in seed sector and progress in humanitarian seed supply

**The seed market is driven by frequent tenders for the purchase of emergency relief seed**, and, in particular, much of the seed produced in eastern DRC stems from development-oriented donor projects and NGOs that support seed contract growers. The presence of donor funding and weak regulation of seed quality has, according to USAID (2019), resulted in a seed market flooded with seed speculators and poor-quality products masquerading as certified seed. In this environment, seed companies producing high-quality seed for sale to farmers have struggled to establish a long-term presence.<sup>183</sup>

Élan aimed to address the questionable quality of 'certified' seeds distributed by humanitarian agents, which had given seeds a bad image among farmers.<sup>184</sup> This was initially an indirect strategy for Élan, by promoting and demonstrating a local private sector could produce quality seeds, the poor practices of NGOs could be shown to be ineffective. However, Élan took on a more active role following its work with TASAI. TASAI (2017) found that NGOs and other agents who purchase low-quality seed for the relief market were a key source of fake seed. Because prices in the relief market tend to be lower than in regular markets, traders have an incentive to buy grain either locally or from the neighbouring countries and sell it as seed. In addition, respondents mentioned that seed producers who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> TASAI (2017) "TASAI Country Report – Democratic Republic of the Congo"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> TASAI (2018a) "TASAI Appendix 1", Sep 2018 version

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Élan (2021d) "Seed legislation in the DRC", July 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Article 29 of the 2011 Agriculture law stipulates that there is a national catalogue of seed varieties, which is a dynamic document that needs to be updated regularly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial". Catalogue available: MINAGRI (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> CBT RD Congo (2010) "Etude Preparatoire du PIC 2010-2013"

do not have sufficient capacity to produce quality-certified seed often resort to selling grain as seed.<sup>185</sup> According to data collected by TASAI as reported by Élan, average prices offered by NGOs in the DRC for seed in 2016 ranged from USD 0.60 to USD 0.90 per kg of OPV maize seed, compared to market prices of USD 1.50 per kg (see Table 16).<sup>186</sup> While interventions may be well-intentioned, this seed distribution may have stifled investment. In 2016, actors of the Food Security Cluster distributed an estimated 920 tonnes of seed to smallholder farmer communities in eastern DRC.<sup>187</sup>

Table 16:	Prices of maize seeds, comparison by region and humanitarian vs.
	commercial rates in eastern DRC

Region	OPV maize (USD per kg)	Hybrid maize (USD per kg)
East DRC – Commercial rate	1.50	1.70
East DRC – Humanitarian rate	0.90	No data
South DRC	2.50	4.00
North DRC	0.85	N.a.

Source: Élan (2021) A.B Seeds report, May 2021

Élan found that humanitarian actors intervene in ways that do not adequately consider private sector dynamics and stifle the development of a private seed industry in the country.<sup>188</sup> According to Élan's (2021i) PCR: "Élan collaborated with Mercy Corp's FARM programme to strengthen the seed industry" to help tackle this issue, where improving seed sector coordination was one of the key stepping stones for a more efficient seed sector. Together with Mercy Corps, Élan was able to gain formal recognition of COPROSEM, which was "granted legal status", in North Kivu by the provincial government.<sup>189</sup> Work in early 2019 aimed to facilitate COPROSEM bringing actors together to tackle the challenges created by humanitarian seed purchases, better mapping of producers, understanding market prices and strengthening quality control.<sup>190</sup> Unfortunately, this was one of the areas of progress that was difficult to verify due to the relatively minimal number of respondents spoken to from the Kivu region (see Section 1.2.2 on study limitations). However, one interview found that while Mercy Corps' Food Security Project had tried to replicate the approach of Élan to work with seed multipliers, and purchased seed from them. However, they decided to abandon the idea as they found it built dependency for the seed multipliers. They instead work mainly through agro-dealers to access seed, and only work now with seed multipliers via capacity building.

#### **Policy progress**

Despite efforts in drafting the seed law and in advocacy around seed legislation, this situation had not changed by the end of the project period. At the outset, Elan noted that regulations relevant to the seed sector were being introduced by simple "arretes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> TASAI (2017) "TASAI Country Report – Democratic Republic of the Congo"

<sup>186</sup> Élan (2021b) "A,B, Seeds"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Ibid. Elan (2021b) "A,B, Seeds"
<sup>188</sup> Ibid. Elan (2021b) "A,B, Seeds"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Sperling et al. (2008) note that the key for improving seed aid is a better understanding of how local seed markets function, as these provide a core of seed security in normal and stress periods. They recommend for example vouchers for seed purchase, rather than outright seed distribution.

ministeriels" and decrees, which are not as strong as a law and are apparently not adequately enforceable.<sup>191</sup> Very little progress has been made in this area.

The lack of progress on the seed law severely limited Élan's progress in reducing the number and severity of constraints facing the sector. For example, the DRC is not a signatory of the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV) Treaty,<sup>192</sup> and without seed legislation this may make the country a risky place to do business in the seed sector. According to Élan there was growing urgency in government to address this and has also been pushed by the World Bank and the FAO.<sup>193</sup> The outcome of the TASAI intervention was a proposal of a revised Seed Law tabled in the National Assembly of the DRC in 2017. Between 2018 and the end of 2020, TASAI and Élan RDC put more focus on improving the proposition of the seed legislation. Meetings were organised with the Ministry of Agriculture, and a decree-law was identified as the most viable next step.<sup>194</sup>

# 3.2.2 Practices

The main goal of the AgNP sector interventions was to improve the inputs that farmers use, and the majority of interventions were put under MSC 2.1 – Inputs suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to SHFs. The production of seeds was the principal entry point. This was combined with OGS interventions (which generally were grouped under MSC 2.2 – Agribusinesses and mines provide access to pre-financed inputs and services to SHFs); and in some cases, the models were combined, also including access to finance (MSC 2.4) for seed companies. Interventions in Table 17 are listed with the level of AAER (Adopt-Adapt-Expand-Respond) Élan claimed in the 2018 PCR.

Intervention partner	Adopt	Adapt	Expand	Respond
<b>Bon Berger</b> ; MSC 2.1, 2.2, 2.4	√ Local seeds	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
<b>Mimosa</b> ; MSC 2.1, 2.4	✓ Local seeds	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
CAPAM; MSC 2.3	√ Weights	$\checkmark$		

#### Table 17: Élan's assessment of systemic change using AAER framework

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> As with many other SSA countries, see: APBREBES (2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Élan (2021e) "Seed investment in the DRC"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Élan (2021d) "Seed legislation in the DRC", July 2021- "Clearly, the conclusion for a decree as an option did not meet the complete adherence of the group advocating for a seed law. Considering the classification of laws in the DRC, the Supreme Law is the constitution. The next tier of legislation is that of laws passed by the National Assembly, followed by the Ordinance-Law issued by the President of the Republic. At national government level, issued legislations are Decree-Laws. Legally speaking they all carry the same weight regarding their functionality. However, the level of ease with which each one can be amended is considered as the key to a sustainable regulatory instrument. Decree-Laws can be replaced as cabinets change which concerns the groups advocating for a seed law. From Élan's perspective, the perception of stability of the legal instrument should be very solid and beyond any suspicion or doubt. A seed law passed by the National Assembly would provide stronger guarantees for a stable and sustainable regulatory framework, however progress through a decree would still be a welcomed advancement."

Intervention partner	Adopt	Adapt	Expand	Respond
The African Seed Access Index (TASAI); MSC 2.5	√ Data / advocacy			
EAGC; MSC 2.3, 2.5	√ Linkages			
FADIP; MSC 2.1	√ Local seeds (rice)			
Maydive; MSC 2.1	$\checkmark$ Local seeds	$\checkmark$		
Mbeko Shamba; MSC 2.1, 2.2	√ OGS	$\checkmark$		
N'senga Lutanga; MSC 2.1	✓ Local seeds			
Safari International; MSC 2.1	$\checkmark$ Local seeds	$\checkmark$		
Agriforce; MSC 2.1, 2.2		$\checkmark$	√ Local seeds (vegetables)	
Regina Mundi; MSC 2.2		√ OGS		
<b>ANP</b> ; MSC 2.1			$\checkmark$ Local seeds	
Ceprosem; MSC 2.1			√ Local seeds (vegetables)	
<b>ESOU</b> ; MSC 2.1			$\checkmark$ Local seeds	
Ets Munga; MSC 2.1			√ Local seeds (rice)	
Gargvu; MSC 2.1			$\checkmark$ Local seeds	
Kamano Seed; MSC 2.1			√ Regional seeds	
Mulagricom; MSC 2.2			√ OGS, rice	
Mulimaji Mwema; MSC 2.1			✓ Agro-dealer extension	
NASECO; MSC 2.1			√ Regional seeds	
Prosavide; MSC 2.1			$\checkmark$ Local seeds	
<b>RTMK</b> ; MSC 2.2			√ OGS, rice	
Seed Co; MSC 2.1			√ Regional seeds	

Intervention partner	Adopt	Adapt	Expand	Respond
<b>SEK</b> ; MSC 2.2			✓ Contract farm	
INERA; MSC 2.1				√ Foundation seed / regulation
UNILU; MSC 2.1				√ Foundation seed
Ministry of Agriculture; MSC 2.1				√ Purchased seed

Source: Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

Élan's seed sector work can be classified as combining:

- a) support to the nascent (or dormant) local production of OPV seeds, through local companies while also engaging public support institutions such as INERA; and
- b) support to international/regional companies to enter, sustain and expand in the DRC market, in sales and distribution of hybrid seeds.

# The needs of the two seed partner types were different, as reflected in the interventions designed. As shown in Table 17, local companies (Bon Berger, Mimosa, Safari International, Maydive) tended to be classified by Élan as 'Adopt', with continued support leading to 'Adapt' and 'Expand'. The companies had to master production of certified OPV seed, and were then supported with marketing to sell increased volume of this seed. Support to international companies tended to be classified by Élan as 'Expand' (Kamano Seed, Seed Co, NASECO), as these companies already had mastery of production, with challenges around marketing and distribution, particularly tackling the constraints of the DRC market that perhaps were less pronounced in their home markets or other regional countries (for example, in Zimbabwe, South Africa, or Uganda).



#### Figure 11: Will-Skill framework to assess AgNP partners

Source: Élan (2016d) 2016 Annual Report

#### Capacity of Élan's private sector partners in AgNP was found to be highly variable.

Élan used a tool known as the 'Will-Skill' framework, to assess the capacity of partners. This framework provides a crude but useful assessment on the keenness of a firm to innovate/adapt/promote a particular product or service ('Will'), and the firm's underlying capacity to achieve the changes required ('Skill'). Figure 11 shows this assessment for AgNP partners as of early 2017.<sup>195</sup> According to Élan, the private sector landscape in the AgNP sector was characterised by "the weakness of partners, many of whom suffered from either limited willingness to adopt the proposed changes or a lack of skills to drive the changes or both. This, coupled with the limited lifespan of the project, necessitated a more directly hands-on approach to increase the confidence level of the stakeholders to embark on the proposed changes."<sup>196</sup> As shown in Figure 11, local seed producers (Mimosa, Bon Berger, Ets Munga etc.) had lower ratings on 'skill' than the international companies (NASECO, Seed Co and Zamseed) or the financial institutions worked with (ProCredit Bank, Bank of Africa). In addition, the capacity of partners was assessed to be higher in the south / former Katanga region than in the Kivus, while the north / former Equateur region was found to have significantly lower capacity.

# Stimulating the market for local seed producers to multiply OPV seeds, Katanga

Élan began its OPV seeds work with a long list of existing multipliers of seed, the '20 small producers' that formed the Association of seed producers in Katanga (APSK) and then Élan narrowed these down to those with most potential, which became six – Bon

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> The framework can be used to select between potential partners, while the analysis here is more about classifying the partners that Élan already had set up interventions with.
 <sup>196</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

Berger, FADIP, Maydive, Mimosa, Safari International and Nsenga Lutanga.<sup>197</sup> The OPV seeds intervention began at a time of challenges for the partners involved, with two of the six found to have produced insufficient quality after the first season,<sup>198</sup> three also noted they had challenges with unpaid invoices from government. The work with Élan was co-financed where the farmers would grow seed on 2 ha with Élan financing 1 ha and the farm owner financing the other, mainly for maize seed production.<sup>199</sup> At the end of the first round of contracts, Élan continued to work with two out of the original six (Bon Berger and Mimosa) to "become seed companies" with a range of support provided (i.e. to formalise and grow their operations). The intervention was a limited success as set out in Box 5, with more detail set out in Annex E.

The early successes of the local seeds intervention were taken by Élan to provide a strong proof of concept. As a result, Élan continued with "replication of the Mimosa model" – both in the East region (with Agriforce and Ets Munga in South Kivu), in the Northern region (with Gargvu, ANP, and Prosavide) and in the West region (with Ceprosem, in vegetable seed; and ESOU). As shown above in Figure 11, capacity of the companies in the North and West was rated to be very low, although Élan estimated that all of the partners produced and sold additional seed as a result of the interventions. It has not been possible to look closely at how successful these interventions were, although the largest in terms of investment and estimated benefits was Ets Munga, and this is discussed below (see Section 3.3.2).

#### Box 5: Élan's local maize seed interventions

The starting pillar of the first local seeds intervention was the role of INERA, the research institute. This was via the Haut Katanga provincial branch of INERA is at Kipopo, around 15 kilometres (km) from Lubumbashi, a branch that also serves Lualaba province. The INERA centre is reliant on donor funding, receiving no operating budget from government, and it struggles without electricity or equipment even to maintain its collection of seed varieties.<sup>200</sup> The variety of OPV maize seed known as "Babungo" was the main focus of intervention. INERA provided breeder seeds of Babungo to the six OPV partners. Élan supported this for the 2014/2015 growing season with INERA to provide capacity building for the seed producers. In that season, about 9 tonnes of "quality foundation seed" was produced by the private sector. Élan then worked to secure an agreement with INERA to allow private sector entities to produce foundation seed, a role INERA had previously monopolised. Liberalisation of foundation seed production would be critical for the sector to increase quantity of OPV commercial seed production.

Mimosa and Bon Berger were the most successful from the original six partners. Mimosa took a lead in producing foundation seed and with Bon Berger dominated APSK seed production. Élan started new partnerships with the two for the 2015/2016 season. Interventions focussed on marketing including through demonstration plots, field visits, and new points of sale. Mimosa negotiated agreements with four agro-dealers along the main Lubumbashi–Kolwezi axis to stock its products. Élan also supported Mimosa to obtain a loan from ProCredit Bank (which became Equity Bank) to support expansion, with a warehouse facility to store seed. Mimosa repaid in full, and in interview for this study were very positive on the work of Élan, including on business development

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Nsenga Lutanga did not reach quality targets set and Élan exited the partnership. FADIP produced good quality rice seed but ended after the death of the owner. Source: Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7.
 <sup>198</sup> This included Nsenga Lutanga, as above. For Maydive – "Maydive produced groundnut foundation seed on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> This included Nsenga Lutanga, as above. For Maydive – "Maydive produced groundnut foundation seed on 1.5ha and marketed through the platform APSK. The commitment of each participant was tested and Maydive produced unsatisfactory results. The collaboration was therefore discontinued." - Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change. No reason was given for discontinuing with Safari in Élan documents, one person in interview suggested they might not have required further support.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> The other seed crops involved were beans D6K, groundnut MGV4 (Maydive took the lead on groundnut), rice NERICA7 (FADIP took lead), and soybean TGX6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

support (BDS) they received (short courses on management, accounting, production planning and commercialisation), which allowed them to formalise and grow their business.

The support saw Mimosa increase from 10 tonnes of seed before intervention to 60 tonnes for the 2016/2017 season, and Bon Berger from 9 tonnes pre-intervention to 47 tonnes in 2016/2017. However, the firms could not sell between a third and a half of their maize seed in that season despite the marketing efforts. Demand remained driven by NGOs, mining companies and government. Mimosa secured orders from the provincial government for seeds for the subsidised inputs initiative known as 'Village Agricole', but government did not pay invoices worth USD 30,000, a major challenge for the company.

Mimosa and Bon Berger saw upgrades to their processes, and Bon Berger implemented an OGS known as the One Acre Fund (OAF) model. This also involved ProCredit Bank and 400 SHFs to multiply maize seed production. Bon Berger could not continue with the credit facility once the subsidy and guarantee from Élan had ended, and now they work with just 45 farmers. The combined production of the APSK is 60 tonnes as of 2022, the majority (40-50 tonnes) from Mimosa, and most of the rest from Bon Berger. While the two have maintained some of the scale that Élan helped them achieve, overall OPV maize seed sales are possibly lower now than a decade ago. According to a number of interviews this is largely due to provincial governments 'distorting the market' with expansion of Village Agricole input purchases, reducing effective demand from SHFs.

The largest system change from the local seeds intervention is likely to still be the initial achievement of liberalising the production of foundation seed. Mimosa took a lead role in producing foundation seed, and this seed has been used to stimulate OPV production by another older (previously dormant) company in Lualaba province – SAGRICIM.<sup>201</sup> Despite this, commercial seed multipliers complained about the quality of the foundation seed which they use to breed commercial seed for sale to farmers.<sup>202</sup> For their part, in interview for this study, INERA were unhappy with the multipliers, they felt the original agreement had been for them to come back to INERA every three years, which had not happened.<sup>203</sup> INERA had struggled to sell foundation seed produced on 10 ha of land and had since reduced the amount they are producing. In interview, Mimosa also noted that they had subsequently looked to secure base seeds from another provider; ideally, they would like to procure seed from CIMMYT Zimbabwe.

**Overall it is not clear that the market for OPV seeds is significantly different from the start of Élan in 2014.** At that time, Élan estimated 250 tonnes of locally produced OPV seeds in the Katanga region.<sup>204</sup> Production in the south region in 2022 was 60 tonnes of OPV from APSK, which is predominantly from the two firms Élan supported most: Mimosa and Bon Berger.<sup>205</sup> Other than SAGRICIM and Mbeko Shamba it is not clear there are any other significant producers in the region. There is little evidence of growth in the market. USAID found in 2019: "of the initial 20 [APSK] members, only 10 are still active today due to a host of issues such as unpaid invoices from provincial and national government, competition from subsidised seeds from Zambia, low access to affordable credit, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> SAGRICIM is a parastatal, and in interview for this study noted they have very large ambitions including for production of hybrid seed. It is unclear how realistic these ambitions are without financing.
<sup>202</sup> DFID/DSU (2015) Élan Annual Review 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> The original Partnership Agreement between Élan and INERA did not mention anything beyond the initial 2014/2015 season.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> USAID estimated that 64.5 ha was used for maize seed in the 2017-2018 season, and 65.5 ha in the following 2018-2019 season in Haut-Katanga (and 20.5 ha and 37.3 ha for other seeds in those two seasons respectively). The production of maize seed was estimated at 158.6 tonnes in 2017-2018 season with Mimosa the largest producer with around one-third of production. This was down from the 2016-2017 season when 194.7 tonnes of maize seed was produced. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

dilapidated road and communication infrastructure."<sup>206</sup> However, the work of Élan was recognised in the same 2019 analysis whereby: "[APSK] members' natural market reaches into Lualaba province following the main mining road axis from Lubumbashi to Kolwezi through Likasi. Along this axis, there is an increasing presence of APSK member sale points. Recently some members began introducing demonstration fields along the main road network servicing the mining industry with the support of the Élan project. Points of sale were also set up, and stalls were established in weekly village markets."<sup>207</sup> Despite this, during the project period there were a large amount of unsold seeds,<sup>208</sup> and seed sales in the south region for OPV seeds has fallen from the Élan peaks, and both Mimosa and Bon Berger were unable to maintain their credit facilities with Equity Bank (Equity acquired ProCredit Bank which originally provided the loans).

In interviews, there were a broad range of views on the quality of locally produced OPV seeds. Mimosa appeared to have a good reputation. However, Mimosa's seed is distributed and sold as 'Babungo', the variety. As such, 'Babungo' seeds could come from Mimosa or downstream from another multiplication provider, including SAGRICIM in Lualaba, or other local farmers from APSK. There are instances of Babungo being reported as poor quality seed, and while this may be linked to provincial government of Lualaba purchases from SAGRICIM, for a farmer the seeds' provenance will not always be clear. The goal of improving the marketing of local seed may therefore have been hampered by the nature of OPV seeds as opposed to hybrid seeds, in that the intellectual property (IP) for OPV cannot be captured,<sup>209</sup> and branding may always therefore be difficult. In addition, with SENASEM not properly carrying out its role of testing and certification, there is effectively no genuine quality assurance for seed on the market. Farmers therefore still face major information asymmetry in the seed market, and this provides one large advantage to the hybrid seed from regional companies, which can be more easily branded and therefore trusted.

# Attracting international seed companies to expand distribution in the DRC

Élan also worked to promote use of hybrid seeds, aiming to support international seed companies operating in or entering the DRC market, and to try to incentivise their expansion. The largest in terms of volume of maize seed sales (by far) was the South African company Seed Co. They had entered the DRC market in 2012, and Élan partnered with Seed Co in 2015 via two interventions.<sup>210</sup> The first focussed on supporting them to expand outreach to SHFs. This was through contracts with input resellers, the use of field

<sup>209</sup> This is because of the easy reproducibility of OPV seeds, a property not shared with hybrid seed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Ibid. USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> As the USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report noted "Renewed marketing efforts under the UK Aid-funded Élan RDC project did not result in the expected sales of maize seed, and 45 percent of the maize seed certified in 2017 could not be sold."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> At the outset of the intervention, the CEO of Seed Co Zambia listed a number of barriers to the Élan team on the development of their seed business in the DRC: i) the absence of a seed law and an unregulated market with fake seeds in the market; ii) unclear and costly laws and regulations, especially "variable" customs costs and timelines (valid documents not always recognised by customs etc.), leading it to take one month to import seeds from Zambia; iii) poor infrastructure and the interlinked difficulty to reach clients; and, iv) unfair competition from government, the FAO and NGOs, who purchase seeds and give free of charge to growers, or re-sell them at discounted price on the market (Élan, 2015b). In interviews for this study with Seed Co, it was clear all of these four challenges still remain. Seed Co face challenges with fraud, with Seed Co bags being filled with farm-saved seeds and sold as original Seed Co hybrid seeds. They also now have the challenge of competing with their own seed that has been illegally imported, and sold for lower prices on the market and via agro-dealers (as illegal imports did not face custom costs). The new seed law could help to fight unfair practices and enforce quality standards, but has not yet been passed.

demonstration plots, and a network of commission-based field agents; aiming to expand points of sale and therefore sales volumes to SHFs. The second intervention was a partnership with Société d'Exploitation de Kipoi (SEK), a copper and cobalt mining company. As part of its CSR, SEK wanted to set up a contract farming model where it would prefinance inputs for farmers. Farmers would repay after harvest and Seed Co would supply inputs (seed, fertiliser, and other inputs), agronomic advice and monitor farmers to encourage repayment. More detail on the interventions is in Annex E.1.

As the start of the intervention, Seed Co planned to expand to 5,000 tonnes of seed sales within four years. Linked to the many challenges faced, sales have increased more gradually, from 260 tonnes of hybrid maize seed sales at the point of collaboration with Élan to around 1,000 tonnes today (2022). While sales have increased, this has largely been down to growth in input purchases from the provincial governments of Lualaba and Haut Katanga. The target beneficiary group of SHFs has not grown significantly as a market segment and demand this group remains limited, which is likely due to the relatively high price of hybrid seeds rather than awareness which may have increased. The contract farming model with SEK ended in early 2018, and while mining companies provide a steady market for seeds, there is little evidence they do so in a systemic way such as the intervention had intended. The SEK mine was sold and it is unclear the new Chinese owners continue with the CSR obligations or not. Seed Co are yet to reach the threshold (2,000 tonnes, or over 1,000 tonnes for three years in a row) that they believe they need to reach to set up a processing facility for hybrid seeds in the DRC. However, there is some optimism from Seed Co that this may be achievable in coming years if the increases in sales volumes continue.

Élan aimed to replicate its model of supporting regional companies to reach SHFs with hybrid seed with interventions with Kamano Seed and Zamseed. Both companies were also importing hybrid seed to sell on the DRC market in the Katanga region. The South African seed company, Pannar, was also competing in the same market but never became a direct partner of Élan. Unfortunately, all three companies no longer run offices in Lubumbashi, although Pannar still have some sales through their local partner Katanga Mboleo.<sup>211</sup> The difficulties these companies faced in generating sufficient demand highlight the relative success of Seed Co in becoming a market leader and growing seed sales over time.

**NASECO** provided a different business model to Seed Co, operating in the eastern provinces and with a more direct to SHFs sales strategy. The Ugandan-based seed producer, focussed on North Kivu, South Kivu and Ituri provinces. NASECO is an acclaimed regional seed company as set out in Annex E.2, particularly for maintaining high sales to SHFs in their home market of Uganda, in Burundi, and since their entry to the DRC in 2015. This in part may be linked to the cheaper selling price of their hybrid seeds – USD 2.20 per kg, compared to USD 5 per kg for Seed Co (for example) – and may also be linked to the characteristics of the eastern region, in particular the relative density of population and SHFs. The company developed the 'Bazooka' hybrid maize variety at its research facility in Uganda in collaboration with CIMMYT to better serve SHFs. The variety was selected for its ability to produce in a low-nitrogen environment and deliver a robust yield in different ecologies; suitability up to 1,900 meters; and tolerance to lethal maize necrosis and fall armyworm.<sup>212</sup> The Bazooka variety became listed in the DRC seed catalogue in 2019 and is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Ibid. USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

apparently valued by farmers for its 'double cob'. According to NASECO, yields even without fertiliser can be 4-5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, while with fertiliser can be 7-8 t ha<sup>-1</sup>.

Élan's interventions with NASECO focussed on supporting their marketing strategy and the use of demonstration plots to persuade SHFs on the merits of the Bazooka hybrid seed. NASECO employed Product Placement Officers (PPOs) to establish demonstration plots, promote seeds and train SHFs on good agriculture practices. The PPOs would identify agro-dealers and supply them with seeds to distribute. Over 400 agrodealers were trained in business and agriculture practices to sell seeds and advise farmers on agriculture practices, and the firm set up a close to 9,000 demonstration plots as part of the intervention.

**NASECO have seen good growth during and after the period of Élan support.** They increased volumes from 55.5 tonnes in 2017 to 125 tonnes in 2018. By 2019, according to USAID (2019), "NASECO is the most important hybrid maize seed company in eastern DRC, and it accounts for at least 75 percent of all hybrid seed sales in eastern DRC". Since then they have continued with compound annual growth rates of 10 percent, to reach 180 tonnes in 2022. They hope to continue expansion and have a target of 350 tonnes in 2023. Unlike other hybrid seed partners, it is claimed that the vast majority of these sales reach the target group of SHFs. However, Élan's impact assessments and interviews by DSU find that most SHFs buy quite small quantities, as low as 1-2 kg, which implies enough maize seed for application on up to 1/10<sup>th</sup> of a hectare. According to NASECO farmers can rent small amounts of land for profitable production of maize using the hybrid seeds.

**NASECO aim to produce in the DRC to reduce logistics costs.** This is via a warehouse and processing facility located in South Kivu, but it is not clear this has yet become operational or that they have produced hybrid seeds in the DRC.<sup>213</sup> NASECO focuses on hybrid maize production but has also produced and sold limited quantities of climbing bean and wheat seed. They credit Élan with helping them push in the DRC market to achieve the sales they have done.

# Large farmers, and producers and processors adopt and expand OGS and contract farming models

Élan's support to outgrower schemes (OGS) originated in the rice and maize sectors to catalyse the resources and expertise of larger farms to support SHFs in their production and resources from mining companies who had obligations under the Mining for Agriculture initiative.<sup>214</sup> The with pilots established with Mbeko Shamba (maize) in 2014,<sup>215</sup> Regina Mundi (maize) and RTMK (rice) in 2015,<sup>216</sup> and finally with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> NASECO basic seed production is based across Lake Albert in north-western Uganda.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Mining companies were obliged by the provincial government to support 500 ha of maize crop each agricultural season.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Mbeko Shamba was a promising partner for Élan, as a milling company and seed producing company with a 5,000 ha farm. Élan collaborated with them from September 2014 to September 2015 to improve SHFs' access to quality inputs and services, with a full package provided including technical assistance. Farmers received Pannar hybrid maize seeds, fertilisers (NPK and urea), herbicides and pulverising equipment. Land preparation was also mechanised. The OGS pre-existed Élan, but with the scheme, 55 SHFs would benefit on 50 ha of land provided, with Élan committing to pre-finance inputs, to be reimbursed at harvest. This was to be adapted in 2015 to be based on a loan from ProCredit Bank

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> The RTMK rice OGS was also based on Élan and the farm subsidising the pre-financing of inputs, combined with technical assistance. RTMK started an OGS scheme with SHFs that participated in the Élan pilot of the 2014/15 season with the aim of increasing its supply pool by increasing the output of the SHFs. Élan estimated that 969 SHFs benefited of the scheme and saw their revenues increase by 60 percent, with RTMK purchasing 2,400 tonnes of paddy rice from the participating farmers.

Mulagricom (rice).<sup>217</sup> The aim was also for OGS to be integrated with the seed interventions, including an intervention with Bon Berger and an NGO, the One Acre Fund (see Annex E.4) and Seed Co with mining company SEK (see above). Some schemes involved access to finance for inputs, others also offered technical assistance such as GAP training for farmers.

During Élan's support, some of the SHFs involved achieved higher yields than average and increased income. However, none of the outgrower schemes have met their expected levels of performance. Most are no longer operational and where businesses are still operating schemes (which may have existed before Élan's support) these are mostly small. A wide range of factors have affected the schemes:

- Bank interest rates at 30 percent were unaffordable to SHF (Mbeko Shamba).<sup>218</sup>
- Issues and disputes with land ownership and governance (Mbeko Shamba).<sup>219</sup>
- Insufficient yield increases meant schemes were not financially viable for the business, even if yields increased for farmers (Mbeko Shamba; Regina Mundi).<sup>220</sup>
- Political interference in the scheme (RTMK).<sup>221</sup>
- Businesses not upholding agreement with farmers, e.g. paying agreed price (RTMK).<sup>222</sup>
- Supply side logistics (Mulagricom).
- High price of renting machinery to mechanise harvests (Mulagricom).
- Poor quality of demonstration fields and yield targets not met (Regina Mundi).<sup>223</sup>
- Conflict with the community (SEK Seed Co).<sup>224</sup>

Élan's strategy to pursue the OGS and contract farming models had clear short term NAIC goals but had a weaker systemic case. The schemes could leverage resources, and farmers could see larger benefits with a bigger package of support (fertiliser, GAP etc.). However, it was not clear the schemes would be replicable, and the number of beneficiaries tended to be small. It perhaps shows the strong adaptive approach of Élan that the project realised these limitations. For example, as Élan's 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP put it: "the NAIC per SHF of OGS is high but there are clear limitations in terms of OGS outreach. OGS is not a sustainable long-term strategy to provide inputs to smallholder farmers."<sup>225</sup>

In interview, Mbeko Shamba noted that donors are still interested in these schemes, but often have unrealistic expectations in terms of beneficiary numbers. They also noted the challenges to SHFs of land titling as a fundamental constraint. This is something they would be willing to work on, for example transferring some of their land title to SHFs,

<sup>223</sup> Élan (2016b) Rapid monitoring report, Regina Mundi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> The Mulagricom rice OGS intervention in 2016 aimed for 15 ha, and would expand to 100 ha for the 2016/2017, although it is not clear if this second target was ever met and the scheme no longer operates. For its own production, Mulagricom has expanded, from 1 ha to 30-50 ha over the past five years, and this was helped by support from Élan including in packaging and some basic machinery for processing (for de-husking). Demand for the rice they produce is very high and the issues they have remain on the supply side including with logistics, as well as the high price of renting machinery to mechanise harvests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Élan (2015c) Final monitoring and measurement report Mbeko Shamba farm intervention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Élan (2016b) Rapid monitoring report, Regina Mundi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change. Earlier DSU analysis had found that this was because it was financed partially by a prominent opposition leader.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Élan (2016a) "Projet d'appui aux petits producteurs de riz de Kashobwe par RTMK" Evaluation report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Élan (2017a) 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP

however it is not something easily supported by the regulatory environment and traditional approach to land governance.

# 3.3 Impact of Élan's AgNP work

#### **Evaluation question:**

- D1: What improvements in income delivered to target beneficiaries, contribution to poverty reduction, and any additional or unplanned impact can be attributed to Élan?
- D2: What factors influenced the impact?

#### **Sub-questions:**

- To what extent did Élan's work result in material increased income for target beneficiaries?
- To what extent did Élan contribute to unplanned or additional impacts?

#### Key findings:

- Impact of seed interventions was based on SHF yields increasing to deliver impact in income (NAIC). However, yield impact measurement was of poor quality, limiting the ability to measure impact robustly.
- It is likely that the international seed interventions have delivered good impact for SHFs with higher potential yields from hybrid seeds compared to OPV seed, led by Seed Co in the southern region, and NASECO in the eastern region in particular.
- The quality of the OPV seed produced by local seed companies is not clear, and the destination of sales (between government, NGOs, mining companies, and SHFs) was not clearly logged, limiting impact assessment.
- Other large NAIC impact estimates for weights and measures (CAPAM) and information campaigns (Viamo) were unreliable and methodologically very weak.
- Seed system constraints create information asymmetry with farmers unclear on the quality of seeds purchased. Branding is an incomplete solution as proper certification is non-existent, trust networks are key with agro-dealers playing a central role.

The PSD programme design envisaged that Élan would increase poor people's income through changing market systems. Élan's definition of systems change included the businesses that it worked with adopting new practices, with adoption being defined as a business signing a partnership agreement with Élan. In the short-term Élan expected to create impact for poor people (either as consumers or producers) directly by intervening in the market via its net attributable income change (NAIC) indicators. Once new practices took hold and spread to other businesses or actors,<sup>226</sup> more impact could be created 'indirectly' of interventions. Élan's logframe defined impact as the NAIC measure, and while other changes may have occurred these largely were not monitored.

This section analyses impact in terms of progress against the two main logframe indicators: 1) the number of poor people "benefiting from" interventions (Section 3.3.1); and 2) the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Élan's market systems framework indirect impact would come via the phases of Adapt, Respond and Expand (following the initial 'Adopt' phase), with mechanisms being the replication of other actors ('copying' an innovation for example), or momentum in the sector leading to positive regulatory changes.

amount by which their income increased (Section 3.3.2). Overall, it is found there were shortfalls in Élan's impact estimates, with a relative absence of rigor.<sup>227</sup>

# 3.3.1 Number of poor people benefiting from the AgNP interventions

Élan's overall target was to increase the income of 1 million people, including 250,000 women, with cumulative income increases of £88 million by 2020.<sup>228</sup> The AgNP sector interventions would contribute an estimated 323,000 beneficiaries by the project end, one-third of whom were women. This represented 31 percent of the beneficiary total for Élan, and unlike other sectors such as A2F (see Section 4.3), would be more represented by direct as opposed to indirect impact. The AgNP sector would also contribute 39 percent of the total NAIC Élan claimed by its end, £18.3 million out of a total of £47.5 million for the whole project covering both phases up to 2021. Élan's estimated results for the sector can be broadly categorised into:

- a) areas with **lower beneficiary numbers but high NAIC per beneficiary**, OGS / contract farming being the main area of intervention for this category;
- areas with very high beneficiary numbers with lower NAIC per beneficiary, led by the intervention with CAPAM on weights and measures and Viamo on information provision; and
- c) the seeds interventions which were in the middle in terms of both beneficiary numbers and NAIC per beneficiary.

Table 18 sets out how the estimates were split by the type of intervention, while Table 19 lists the interventions with the highest numbers of beneficiaries (16 interventions accounting for 96 percent of AgNP beneficiaries in total).

Intervention type	Number of Beneficiaries	Share of beneficiaries	NAIC (£) total (millions)	Average NAIC per beneficiary (£)
Information provision / education	58,597	18.1%	0.74	13
Regional seeds	46,409	14.4%	4.46	96
Local seeds	84,572	26.2%	7.27	86
OGS / Contract farming	4,259	1.3%	1.28	300
Input distribution	13,912	4.3%	0.84	61
Advocacy / business environment	114,392	35.4%	3.65	32
Warehouse	920	0.3%	0.08	86
Total	323,060		18.32	57

#### Table 18: AgNP number of beneficiaries and NAIC (£) by intervention type

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> A finding in line with previous studies by the DSU including DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b).
 <sup>228</sup> FCDO/DSU (2022) PSD programme Annual Review 2022

# CAPAM on weights and measures, and Viamo on information provision

In terms of beneficiaries, the Viamo information provision campaign intervention (from Élan 1.2) and the CAPAM weights intervention, stand out with the highest numbers. This is partly because relatively little was claimed by Élan in terms of systemic changes for these interventions, yet they generate over half of the total beneficiaries from the AgNP sector.

**Claims on beneficiary numbers for the CAPAM and Viamo interventions appear weak.** CAPAM is a syndicate of buyers of commodities in Tanganyika province. Élan's intervention focussed on an awareness campaign to promote a new standardised weight measure, the 'Bumba'. For the Viamo intervention, farmers could make telephone calls to access agriculture-related content (pre-recorded voice messages, for example on how to tackle the pests). In both cases, evaluation studies were undertaken but with unclear and/or weak methodologies. For CAPAM, Élan's claims included that close to 55,000 tonnes of grain had been traded during the 2016 to 2018 period of intervention,<sup>229</sup> and the evaluation found farmers selling using the 'Bumba' to receive USD 1.54 more 'per bag' with USD 3.80 of NAIC per beneficiary.<sup>230</sup> Extrapolation was used for 2017 with new beneficiaries and a growing NAIC per beneficiary, to average £31 by the project end,<sup>231</sup> with no new evidence collected to verify these assumptions.<sup>232</sup> The Viamo study simply recorded numbers of calls made by type of call, and in interview, Viamo noted they do not measure how callers use information from their service. The extent of benefit to those calling is unclear and did not test the intervention logic from this to achieving NAIC.<sup>233</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Élan (2017c) "Standardisation des unités de mesure: Impact sur le revenu de producteurs"

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> The DSU's Annual Review in 2017 also noted a lack of evidence that the NAIC per beneficiary estimate was plausible. DFID/DSU (2017) Élan Annual Review 2017
 <sup>232</sup> The DSU's verification exercise (DSU, 2018c) said "DSU retains a concern about the intervention logic but is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> The DSU's verification exercise (DSU, 2018c) said "DSU retains a concern about the intervention logic but is unable to test this empirically". The evaluation Élan (2017c) report shows misunderstanding of basic statistics and resulting miscalculations, for example adding sub-groups shares for the prevalence of X, to get a percentage for a whole group prevalence of X, rather than using a weighted average of sub-groups.
<sup>233</sup> Élan (2020e) "Analytical report on the dissemination of agriculture information"

Intervention	Туре	Number of beneficiaries	Share of AgNP beneficiaries	% women	Total NAIC (£ millions)	NAIC per beneficiary (£)
NP05: CAPAM	Advocacy / bus environment	112,184	35%	42%	3.52	31
NP103: Viamo	Information provision	48,109	15%	6%	0.63	13
NP32, NP102: NASECO	Regional seeds	35,226	11%	45%	1.72	49
NP23: Team Work	Local seeds	34,354	11%	7%	0.12	3
NP24, NP101: Ets Munga	Local seeds	24,466	8%	46%	4.31	176
NP12, NP110: AgriForce	Input distribution	13,895	4%	36%	0.84	61
NP110: Radio	Information provision	10,488	3%	63%	0.10	10
NP01: Seed Co	Regional seeds	10,206	3%	36%	2.66	260
NP20: AGROPY, COPAPI, PROSAVIDE	Local seeds	7,394	2%	15%	0.32	44
NP02: APSK / Mimosa	Local seeds	6,749	2%	30%	1.42	211
NP28: Ceprosem	Local seeds	2,221	1%	40%	0.37	164
NP35: ACT	Advocacy / bus environment	2,208	1%	85%	0.13	59
NP19: ANP, GARGVU	Local seeds	1,864	1%	10%	0.04	21

Table 19:	<b>AgNP</b> interventions	with the largest number	of beneficiaries	listed in order
-----------	---------------------------	-------------------------	------------------	-----------------

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

# Seeds intervention impact for beneficiaries

The majority of the other interventions with the highest beneficiary numbers were in seeds.<sup>234</sup> The main route to calculating beneficiary numbers was to estimate the number of SHFs purchasing seeds, most or all of these SHFs were assumed to be beneficiaries with NAIC. Impact evaluations were used to estimate yields, though these appear to be of variable quality. In summary, for the main seeds interventions looked at more closely for this study, there is a mixture in terms of plausibility:

• For the Mimosa seeds intervention, 6,749 beneficiaries were estimated in total. While no clear split was provided between the other APSK companies involved, Mimosa was the largest member and made up most of the sales and beneficiary numbers. In 2017, 1,600 beneficiaries were estimated with USD 92 NAIC per beneficiary. Mimosa's sales that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Annexes to this report provide summaries of the main interventions, on market system changes and results achieved including impact estimates; see Annexes E.1, E.2, E.3, and E.4.

year were around 43 tonnes implying 27 kg of (maize) seed per beneficiary, enough for 1 ha of land. Estimates were based on an evaluation study which found maize **yields of 1.43 t ha**<sup>-1</sup> **for farmers using the 'Babungo' seed produced and sold by Mimosa, which compared to 0.96 t ha**<sup>-1</sup> **before using the seed**.<sup>235</sup> Beneficiary numbers were based on sales figures (see below in Section 3.3.2 on the 'Babungo' evaluation for Mimosa and Bon Berger). Mimosa generated indirect impact by selling foundation seed to the likes of SAGRICIM in Lualaba province who would go on to supply the Village Agricole programme there. SHFs who received the seed via such subsidy programmes were counted as beneficiaries.

- For the Bon Berger interventions, beneficiary numbers were estimated at 1,550. The OAF OGS model was estimated to lead to increases of yield from 0.67 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) to 3.25 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, generating a USD 98 net gain, a model which included use of inputs such as fertiliser. The local seeds distribution intervention had higher numbers of beneficiaries and NAIC per beneficiary than the OGS. It is unclear why NAIC per beneficiary for NP30 was higher than for Mimosa when it appeared to be based on the same study showing yields of 1.43 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for farmers who had been sold the 'Babungo' seed.
- For the Seed Co marketing intervention, 10,206 beneficiaries were estimated. Given the company's high volumes of seed sales this is possible, although it is unclear if sales to SHFs were accurately captured. Current (2022) estimates of sales to SHFs are 100 tonnes, which implies 10 kg per farmer if 10,000 SHFs were purchasing. This is plausible, but an additional consideration for Seeds Co and other international seeds partnerships is on the additionality of Élan in contributing to sales, and it appears 100 percent attribution was applied.
- For the NASECO interventions, 35,226 beneficiaries were estimated by Élan. In 2018 this included 25,000 beneficiaries, a year in which NASECO seed sales were 125 tonnes. Élan therefore was modelling up to 5 kg of maize seeds per farmer, and USD 50 of benefit in NAIC for each. While the numbers are high, given NASECO sell small volumes per farmer and that their yield claims are also high, this may be plausible (see Section 3.3.2).

Élan did not create a log of sales or yield estimates, making it difficult to understand all their estimates, including the NAIC estimates. Another relatively high impact intervention was with the horticulture seed provider Ceprosem, near Kinshasa. This provides a case study in how NAIC estimates were generated, as the intervention had a very high benefit-cost ratio of approximately 45:1. A close look at the calculations finds a number of issues including a poorly matched treatment and comparison group, and differences in surveys for the two groups used.<sup>236</sup>

**Overall, it appears that beneficiary numbers for AgNP were most likely over-estimated, and the rigour of estimates could at times be quite poor.** The two largest interventions by beneficiaries, Viamo and CAPAM, were problematic as set out, and some of the seed interventions also. While many SHFs may have purchased seeds as a result of the AgNP sector interventions, the sustainability (see Section 3.4) of sales may be limited, and the sector remains very nascent in both the supply and demand for seeds.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Élan (2017b) "Accès indirect à la variété améliorée de la semence Locale BABUNGO"
 <sup>236</sup> See Anomalies in NAIC calculations, example of Ceprosem (NP28) in Annex F).

# 3.3.2 Increased incomes as a result of AgNP interventions

Intertwined with the number of those benefiting, is the income change beneficiaries achieved as measured by NAIC. When multiplied, these two figures give the total NAIC estimate for each intervention. As shown in Table 38 in Annex G, AgNP was the sector with the highest NAIC across both phases of Élan. On average, the figures imply an average of £57 NAIC per beneficiary for AgNP, a sizeable claim given the (relative and absolute) poverty of the target beneficiaries (as set out in Section 3.1.1 above).

Compared to other sectors (particularly A2F, see Section 4.3), the AgNP estimated impact was based on a large range of interventions. Five interventions were estimated to have generated over £1 million of NAIC, and a further nine interventions from £250,000 to £700,000 of NAIC (see Annex C for the full list). Interventions involving OGS or contract farming had the highest NAIC per beneficiary figures as shown in Table 20. Slightly lower NAIC per beneficiary was estimated for seeds interventions, however, they generated the most total NAIC (64 percent) by virtue of larger beneficiary numbers than for OGS. The highest aggregate NAIC was estimated to be from Ets Munga, selling rice seeds in the eastern region (see below for more detail), with £4.3 million; then CAPAM with £3.5 million; Seed Co with £2.7 million; NASECO with £1.7 million; followed by the APSK/Mimosa intervention with £1.4 million. Cumulatively these five partnerships made up three-quarters of the total estimated NAIC for the AgNP sector.

The OGS interventions, were based on providing access to a fuller range of inputs than just seeds, also combining this with extension services, resulting in higher NAIC per beneficiary. Leveraging pre-financing from a large farm, mining company or financial institution, SHFs could pay back in kind at harvest time, and still make a return. This fuller package would lead to higher yields than if using improved seeds alone. In the majority of cases the interventions would involve hybrid seeds, which would be standard practice on large farms, and provide higher yield potential.<sup>237</sup> This was the case for the SEK intervention (for example, using Seed Co hybrid seeds; also for Mbeko Shamba who have their own hybrid seeds; and for the likes of Mulagricom, where Élan would introduce hybrid seeds (the NERICA variety in that case).

Intervention	Туре	Number of beneficiaries	% women	Total NAIC (£)	NAIC per beneficiary (£)
NP13: SEK – Seed Co	OGS / Contract farming	704	25%	662,863	942
NP03: Mbeko Shamba	OGS / Contract farming	243	42%	98,275	404
NP30: Bon Berger	Local seeds	1,550	43%	570,895	368
NP08: Mulagricom	OGS / Contract farming	202	40%	71,725	355
NP01: Seed Co	Regional seeds	10,206	36%	2,657,490	260
NP02: APSK / Mimosa	Local seeds	6,749	30%	1,420,772	211
NP24 / NP 101: Ets Munga	Local seeds	24,466	46%	4,314,201	176

#### Table 20: AgNP interventions ordered by NAIC per beneficiary (£)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Although Élan never clearly documented the yield differences between hybrids and OPVs

Intervention	Туре	Number of beneficiaries	% women	Total NAIC (£)	NAIC per beneficiary (£)
NP28: Ceprosem	Local seeds	2,221	40%	365,010	164
NP07: RTMK	OGS / Contract farming	2,667	56%	417,340	157
NP33: KAMANO Seed	Regional seeds	216	45%	31,124	144
NP11: Agrisem	Local seeds	185	22%	20,626	111
NP09: AFRP	Warehouse	920	70%	79,216	86
NP14: JOB SEED CO JSC	Local seeds	1,000	20%	74,037	74
NP31: Zamseed	Regional seeds	761	53%	54,194	71
NP34: Mulimayi Mwema (service agricole)	Input distribution	17	35%	1,185	70

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

# **Maize interventions**

International evidence points to higher yields of hybrid maize seeds, with greater poverty-reducing benefits than for OPV or local seeds (see Box 6). As noted, Élan took a mixed approach between hybrid seeds involving regional companies, and OPV local seeds interventions. The OPV focus was justified by their affordability, and also by the absence of a local hybrid seed sector. However, Élan did not appear to use its position to generate robust evidence on differences in yields. There was no systematic approach used across the project either in terms of methodology, selection of comparison groups (which were sometime used and sometimes not), or measurement of yield on the ground. There was no log of yields across the different interventions, and (apparently) no clear synthesis of findings in order to learn lessons on the relative yields and benefits of the work on hybrids and OPVs, including whether or not a wider package of inputs was used.

#### Box 6: Advantages of growing hybrid maize seeds from international evidence

Studies have found that maize growers who use hybrid seeds are strongly advantaged relative to those who do not. For example, Ali et al. (2020) find that hybrid maize adopters had higher grain yields leading to 2-3 percent lower poverty rates for adopters in Pakistan. Smale et al. (2015) in Zambia found that women interviewed in maize-growing households planting hybrid seed had more diverse diets. Mathenge et al. (2014) found in Kenya that the use of hybrid seed contributed to higher annual income, to raising the value of assets, and reduced the depth of poverty.

Investments in hybrid seeds can make sense therefore even for a SHF beneficiary group. Smale and Mason (2014) in a survey of farmers in Zambia, find that the use of maize hybrids is associated with higher values of household income, assets, farm and processing equipment, and livestock. Farmers adopting hybrids also face less deprivation compared to farmers in nearby villages. The study found that each kg of hybrid seed planted was associated with a 32,000 ZMK (USD 8) increase in total household income on average. This is more than the price of hybrid seed in the capital city, Lusaka, which ranged from 4,300 to 12,000 ZMK (USD 1-3) per kg during the study period. They found that each kg of hybrid seed planted by a smallholder maize-growing household is associated with an average increase of 29,000 ZMK (about 7 USD) in total asset values, and 3,000 ZMK (about 0.75 USD) in the value of farm and processing equipment. The severity of poverty was found to be 0.17 percentage points lower, on average, per kg of hybrid maize used.

Elan's various studies can be pieced together to provide some data and comparisons across the different interventions. The highest yields were seen in two of the OGS evaluations:

- The Mbeko Shamba intervention had estimated average yields for SHF beneficiaries of 4.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for maize.<sup>238</sup> Despite this the Mbeko Shamba intervention had issues including risks around disputes on land ownership.239
- The SEK contract farming intervention using Seed Co seeds, also found yields of 4.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, increasing from 1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> prior to the campaign. Higher yields were linked to the 'full package' of support provided to SHFs and NAIC was found to be £942 per beneficiary involved.<sup>240</sup> The SEK intervention closed with the sale of the mine in early 2018, and also had seen tensions with the community (see Annex E.1).

The hybrid seed distribution interventions saw slightly lower yields than the OGS, as would be expected (due to the absence of support with inputs). This included:

- The final assessment of Seed Co found the seed distribution intervention for hybrid seeds saw increased yields, at 2.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> on average compared to around 1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> beforehand. This was estimated to be worth USD 232 per SHF based on the additional maize produced less associated costs.<sup>241</sup>
- During Élan 1.0, NASECO's hybrid maize seeds were found to increase maize yields from 1.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 3.3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in North Kivu, and slightly less in South Kivu. Farmers on average planted on 0.13 ha of land, and an actual yield impact of 115 kg was found, valued at USD 50 in South Kivu, and 205 kg extra yield in North Kivu valued at USD 76.242
- The evaluation of the second, Elan 1.2 intervention, with NASECO, had a treatment group of 'adopters' and a comparison group of 'non-adopters'. This was the most ambitious evaluation Élan undertook with an external partner leading.<sup>243</sup> The study found yields of 4.0 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for users of NASECO's Bazooka seed, and 3.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for those using local seed.<sup>244</sup> It was found the vast majority of farmers (97-98 percent) across the two groups did not use chemical fertiliser, demonstrating either high yield and potentially very good soils in the localities evaluated, or overestimates of yields in fieldwork. There was also found to be a difference in agronomist support – with 70 percent of treatment group receiving this support compared to 5 percent of the comparison. It is not clear whether the treatment effect was mediated by this support, or just the impact of the improved seeds (see Annex E.2).245
- For the One Acre Fund (OAF) model used with Bon Berger (see Annex E.4), 'Babungo' OPV seeds were used (with Bon Berger sourcing foundation seed from Mimosa). An evaluation report estimated vields using these seeds at 3.25 t ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to a counterfactual yield of 0.67 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for farmers in the OAF model. This led to an

<sup>245</sup> A study on seeds in Tanzania using a 'double blind' methodology, found most of the impact of a seed intervention to be from the extension services and improved practices as opposed to genetic gain. Bulte et al. (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> Élan (2015c) Final monitoring and measurement report Mbeko Shamba farm intervention.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Élan (2015c) "Final monitoring and measurement report for the 2015 partnership".
 <sup>240</sup> Élan (2016f) "Projet pour l'amélioration des moyens de subsistance"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Élan (2017j) "Accès à la semence de qualité- SEEDCO"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Élan (2017k) "Mid-term evaluation of NASECO (NP32)"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Élan & IES (2021) "Impacts of improved rice and corn seeds adoption on smallholder households"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> This may suggest methodological issues. The report acknowledges challenges in sampling. Adopters were selected from agro-dealers, while agronomists were used to find non-adopters. There were 314 maize farmers in the total sample (219 for the treatment group, and 95 comparison group), and no matching method was used, the authors noting that the comparison group sample was too small for propensity score matching. The report has insufficient detail to fully assess the quality of the evaluation. Élan & IES (2021).

estimated USD 98 net gain following reimbursement, lower than yields seen for the hybrid seed interventions.<sup>246</sup>

The main evaluation for the local seeds distribution interventions in Lualaba and Haut Katanga provinces (Mimosa and Bon Berger) were based on surveys carried out in 2017. The study found maize yields of 1.43 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, which compared to 0.96 t ha<sup>-1</sup> before using the Babungo seed. As farmers were planting on average of 0.7 ha, this implied 0.34 t of additional maize per beneficiary, valued at USD 116.<sup>247</sup> The survey found a surprisingly high figure of 93 percent of farmers who adopted the Babungo seed used fertiliser, including 98 percent in Haut Katanga and 56 percent in the Lualaba. However, the study had covered SHFs using Babungo regardless of source and around half of users had received seed via the 'Village Agricole' provincial government subsidy programme, which would also likely provide fertiliser.<sup>248</sup>

#### **Rice interventions**

**Rice interventions made up three of those yielding the highest NAIC per beneficiary**. RTMK, the initial rice OGS, had NAIC per beneficiary of £157; Mulagricom had an estimated £355 per beneficiary; and the combined Ets Munga interventions averaged £176 per beneficiary. All figures were again based on yield impacts. The RTMK rice OGS intervention was based on Élan and the farm subsidising the pre-financing of inputs (NERICA 7 improved hybrid seeds; and the fertilisers NPK and Urea), combined with training and coaching to SHF associations for better use of farming techniques. The evaluation found yield to increase from 1.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 2.07 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, although was found to have methodological limitations in a previous study by the DSU.<sup>249</sup> According to Élan's evaluation issues leading to the discontinuation included that the price initially agreed with RTMK and the producers was not respected.<sup>250</sup> "Political interference" led to the scheme being stopped in September 2016.<sup>251</sup>

The intervention with Mulagricom in Lualaba province faced challenges and according to interviews for this study was largely discontinued. The intervention in 2016 aimed for OGS covering 15 ha, which would expand to 100 ha for the 2016/2017 season, although it is not clear if this second target was ever met and the scheme no longer operates. Yields for SHFs from the initial scheme were found to reach 2.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, although it is unclear how this was measured and the DSU previously found weak evidence for this intervention.<sup>252</sup>

The largest total NAIC estimate for the whole of Élan came from the combined estimates for the Élan 1.0 and 1.2 estimates for Ets Munga, though due to issues with the evaluation including in matching of treatment and comparison groups, this is likely an over-estimate. Estimates included £481,000 of NAIC during the first phase (all of which during 2018 according to the PWIG), and £3.8 million of NAIC for the second phase. The intervention was not looked at in the previous verification exercises on NAIC by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Élan (2017h) "Bon Berger One Acre Fund, Performance et impact"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Élan (2017b) "Accès indirect à la variété améliorée de la semence Locale BABUNGO"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Élan (2018e) "Accès à la semence de qualité- BABUNGO"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> DSU (2017) "Verification and Results Assessment: ÉLAN".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Élan (2016á) "Projet d'appui aux petits producteurs de riz de Kashobwe par RTMK" Evaluation report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change. Earlier DSU analysis had found that this was because it was financed partially by a prominent opposition leader.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Élan (2016g) ""Pilot monitoring report: Project to set up a system allowing access to agricultural inputs". This was also found in the previous DSU assessment where: "the robustness of the results is uncertain as there is no document about the selection of participants in the intervention as well as supporting evidence of the assumptions behind the intervention." The overall rating by the DSU in 2017 for NP08 was "Low" in terms of the confidence with results estimates. DSU (2017) "Verification and Results Assessment: ÉLAN".

DSU.<sup>253</sup> As set out in Box 7, the evaluation was likely flawed, the yields achieved implausible, and the very high impact measured likely over-estimated.

#### Box 7: Impact assessment of the most successful rice intervention, Ets Munga

The Ets Munga intervention aimed to produce improved seed on 20 ha of land in 2016-2017, doubling the land used in 2015, and then expand and consolidate its distribution network in the Ruzizi plains. By 2018, Élan claimed they had made 200 tonnes (t) of seed sales, with 8,000 SHFs benefiting (Élan, 2018c), and this increased to 279 t by 2020, with 10,000 expected to be purchasing (Élan, 2020k). The initial evaluation claimed that 91 out of 120 t had been financed by Élan, with the focus on the rice type 'TOXI 3154 known locally as "Munga Jenga Jamaa" (Élan, 2017l).

The evaluation of the first phase found **yields of the improved variety of 8.5 t ha**<sup>-1</sup>, **compared to 4.9 t ha**<sup>-1</sup> **for the local variety**, with average production increasing from 1.2 t to 2.1 t of paddy rice (as an average of 0.23 ha was farmed) (Élan, 2018i). Estimated attributable NAIC was USD 168 after deducting additional costs of using improved seeds. The Élan 1.2 evaluation found **7 t ha**<sup>-1</sup> **yields for adopters compared to 5 t ha**<sup>-1</sup> **for non-adopters**, and NAIC of USD 233 per adopter. The evaluation did not use any matching and there were differences between the two groups that might have driven some of the differences. For example, the treatment group were more likely to own land (29 percent against 8 percent for the comparison group). The treatment group of adopters also had a far higher prevalence of using phytosanitary products, and in addition, 64 percent of adopters used chemical fertiliser compared to just 11 percent of non-adopters (Élan, 2020b).

While the yields are not impossible, they seem high for both adopters and non-adopters. For example, in one simple sense check, the highest yields noted in the DRC updated seed catalogue, for any variety of rice listed, were 5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> under control conditions (MINAGRI, 2019). Available surveys from elsewhere in Africa also would suggest that the 8.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> estimate for Ets Munga is extremely high. Surveys have found for example the highest yields of NERICA varieties in Cameroon with very high fertiliser applications reach 5.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> (Djomo Sime et al., 2017). A maximum yield of 6 t ha<sup>-1</sup> was found in an extensive survey comparing yields of different rice varieties in varying regions of Ethiopia (Seyoum et al., 2011).

In summary, the very high NAIC of the Ets Munga interventions of £4.3 million in total (23 percent of AgNP NAIC) is likely to be an overestimate.

# 3.3.3 Factors influencing impact

The DRC is a challenging environment to develop markets and in the agriculture sector there were only marginal improvements over Élan's implementation period. In AgNP, Élan mainly focused on private sector partnerships, with less attention to the policy and regulatory environment. Lack of progress in these areas mean that legislation has still not been passed that would secure funding for sector enforcement and quality assurance of seeds by SENASEM, or catalyse research from INERA or CRM. The government's policy environment has not been favourable to the agriculture sector, and it is clearly not viewed as a priority. Legislation on seeds has been in limbo and the efforts of Élan did not appear to have much success in changing this (see Section 3.2.1).

The weak regulatory environment and low resourcing to enforcement institutions creates many challenges including illegal and counterfeit seeds, both of which place constraints on the ability of formal businesses to compete and be profitable in the market. On the demand-side these issues impinge on the ability of consumers to distinguish the quality of the products they are purchasing. As set out in USAID (2019) and illustrated in Figure 12, an enabling environment for the commercial seed sector requires regulatory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b)

procedures and institutions present including plant variety licensing and protection, and processes for seed certification and market inspection.<sup>254</sup> As in Section 3.4.1, most of these functions are ineffective or non-existent in the DRC, with little improvement.



#### Figure 12: Illustration of the enabling environment for seed

Source: Fintrac Inc., within USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

The implications of the weak enabling environment include that farmers are not able to easily identify quality seeds. This places emphasis on relationships of trust but create risks associated with information asymmetries, notably the market for lemons.<sup>255</sup> Regardless of the exact estimates of quantitative impact, a greater focus on other systemic issues influencing impact would therefore have been beneficial. This includes aspects of seed systems such as varietal turnover and fraud, on more accurate data, as well as implications of climate change, and logistics.

A number of respondents for this study noted the issue of fraudulent seeds. This had created challenges for seed companies, for agro-dealers and for farmers. While some Élan documents note the issue of fraud in the humanitarian seed sector, but the issue was also prevalent in the southern region. The issue was most pressing for Seed Co as the dominant market player, and for whom actors were most keen to fraudulently supply their seeds (rebagging grain or other seed in Seed Co bags).<sup>256</sup> This makes the regulation and proper checking of seed more important, and therefore the role of SENASEM. This was not successfully addressed by Élan interventions despite some efforts in the area of advocacy (see Section 3.4).

# In the medium to long-term, greater investment in agricultural data on yields, would be beneficial. In interview for this study, the MINAGRI set out that their statistics department

is extremely under-funded and under-capacitated, yield measurement is infrequent, poorly resourced and unlikely to produce accurate data. The absence of data is a major challenge in even diagnosing issues in the sector. It was also something that Élan could have done

<sup>255</sup> Akerlof (1970) "The Market for Lemons: Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> More analysis on these issues is provided in Enforcement of the quality of seed in DRC, Seed variety release in the DRC, and Varietal turnover of seed, in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> When looking at the issue of fraud in seeds in Kenya, Gharib et al. (2021) find that without training on purchasing seed, farmers did not discount compromised bags of seed; however, farmers who received training, were willing to pay 15 percent less for compromised bags. They concluded that education and outreach may be required for packaging innovations to increase investments in high-quality hybrid seed that can help enhance the productivity of smallholder farmers. This was not a direct part of Élan interventions, and there may have been other issues with the branding of the OPV seed produced and sold as 'Babungo', given that it could be produced by multiple providers. The seed may have therefore seen variation in quality that was not picked up in evaluation.

more about in terms of investment in their own studies, were not all of clearly good quality. In the context of climate change and the challenges it brings, investment in good data systems is perhaps more important than ever.

#### **Climate change and yields**

There was very little specific work by Élan on the impact of climate change on yields and the resulting implications for the seed system, including how different climatic zones in the DRC would be affected. While the DRC is not projected to be as badly affected as some other SSA countries in the short-term, particularly as it has lower temperature increase projections,<sup>257</sup> it is still already affected, as everywhere, as seen in recent assessments of food security.<sup>258</sup> Few farmers in the DRC have access to irrigation, so rainfall variability will remain a major risk for farmers every season, and likely be exacerbated by climate change (including by too much rainfall / inundation, which can lead to crop failures). Climate projections suggest that elevated temperatures, especially in the drought-prone areas of SSA, are highly likely to result in significant yield losses in tropical/subtropical maize. For more detail on this issue see Climate change and yields within Annex F.

#### Barriers in seed systems such as the speed of varietal turnover

**Maize hybrid seeds are being improved every single year, making varietal turnover key to maximising yields over time**. In an evaluation for farmer conditions conducted in Kenya and Rwanda, Worku et al. (2020) find that new stress-tolerant maize hybrids had much better grain-yield performance than the best commercial checks under SHF growing environments. They also found that recently developed hybrids out-performed the best performers from previous rigorous studies,<sup>259</sup> showing the progress in increasing genetic gain under diverse management environments of eastern Africa. Despite the need for turnover, this has been found to be slow in SSA. More detail on this can be found on this issue, see Varietal turnover of seed in Annex F.

#### Trade, transport and logistics

**Issues with borders and trade, as well as transport and logistics remain major constraints in the DRC, which Élan did not address.** According to AGRA et al. (2019), formal imports of seed in 2016 came to just over 3,700 tonnes for the whole of the DRC, which included 2,100 tonnes of maize seed, 1,180 tonnes of soybean seed, and 180 tonnes of rice seed. The total volume of imports exceeds stated sales by seed companies because some of the imports are by agro-dealers, government agencies and NGOs who distribute directly to farmers. The same source estimates just over 150 tonnes of informal imports, the majority of which is maize (140 tonnes). However, these statistics are likely underestimated as importers are reluctant to disclose the information. Informal imports come in from both Uganda and Rwanda in the eastern region, and by Zambia in the southern region.

**Seed Co in particular highlighted the issue of illegal imports** during interview, as well as challenges at the border they are facing. This included agencies responsible for quality control with no ability to undertake the role, and linked to this rent-seeking and serious delays. The issues at the border increase costs of importation that feed into the sale price of seed in DRC, while the issue of illegal imports means they also have to compete with seeds

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> See Figure 44 and Figure 45 in Annex G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> USAID / FEWSNET (2022a), which notes lower than average rainfall in the eastern region.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Setimela et al. (2017) "On-farm yield gains with stress tolerant maize in eastern and southern Africa".

that have not had to add on these costs. Agro-dealers may not have strong incentives to not sell illegal imports.

**Transport limitations make it difficult for companies to expand into new regions and farmers to access seed.**<sup>260</sup> Each economic centre in DRC operates largely independently, and competing in one area does not imply that a business will be able to compete elsewhere. There are also major gaps in infrastructure linking to what are sometimes called the 'deep rural' areas of DRC. Élan's early analysis found farmers located far away from Lubumbashi did not have the financial means to purchase certified seeds, due to the extra costs of transport.<sup>261</sup> Transport infrastructure in the DRC places enormous costs on intracountry and cross-border trade, with key economic centres such as Kinshasa and Lubumbashi not even connected by paved road networks as shown in Figure 13.

#### Figure 13: Transport infrastructure in the DRC



Source: World Bank (2018) "Democratic Republic of Congo Urbanization Review"

# 3.4 Sustainability of Élan's AgNP work

#### **Evaluation question:**

• E1: To what extent have the results of Élan in terms of market systems change been sustained?

#### Sub-questions:

• Does there continue to be investment in project supported models and building internal operational capacity for the models?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> See Figure 41 and Figure 43 in Annex G on the locations of economic activity and the distinct economic poles according to World Bank (2018) *"DRC Urbanization Review"*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

- To what extent have changes in policies and practices and impact achieved by Élan continued without Élan support, and been resilient to changes in the market system?
- What are the key factors helping or hindering their sustainability and resilience?

# Key findings:

- Attempts to improve advocacy created a seed sector strategy for the southern and eastern regions. At least in the southern region, progress on the 2018 Strategy remains poor and the advocacy body, COPROSEM, has not met for two years.
- Constraints on seed certification (SENASEM), varietal turnover and improvement (INERA), regulation and funding (MINAGRI), all remain. Issues with importing seeds at the border may have increased over time.
- The international seed companies, Seed Co and NASECO continue to grow despite the challenges, and the quantity of hybrid seed on the market has increased as a result. This is linked to provincial government subsidy in the southern region, but there appears to be a growing market of SHF purchases in the eastern region. Both companies could produce in the DRC in coming years.
- Local seed companies are surviving but remain small, and there are question-marks over the quality of the OPV seed they are producing. They would like to produce hybrid seed but the path to this outcome remains a long one.
- OGS and contract farming models have not been sustained. In some cases, this was because a mining company was sold, in others because large farms found too many constraints and costs in support SHFs through OGS, and this was also outside their core business of commercial farming.

At the outset of the PSD programme, the market systems design goal was for Élan to facilitate "large-scale and sustainable improvements in the market systems in which the poor participate".<sup>262</sup> This section sets out findings on the degree of sustainability the Élan results achieved, as set out in terms of changes in practices, policy and resource flows generated by interventions (Section 3.2), and in terms of the impact achieved for the intended beneficiaries (Section 3.3). Sustainability is looked at via the 'policy level' (Section 3.4.1), and at the 'firm level' (Section 3.4.2).

# 3.4.1 Sustainability at policy level

As set out in Davies (2017), in the context of economic governance, one can think of sustainability operating at two levels:

- **Reform-level sustainability** where reforms achieved during the lifetime of the programme stay in-place and continue to be implemented effectively.
- **System-level sustainability** where the underlying processes and functions which generated the reforms continue to operate.

In the case of the AgNP sector, Élan did not have major successes during the lifetime of the project in meaningful reforms to the policy or regulatory environment. There were two main claims, firstly, revisions of the Seed Law in 2018, but the Law has still not passed by the end of the project or today (see Section 3.2.1). Secondly, the Catalogue of seeds was updated and published online with support of TASAI, facilitated by Élan. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case

update saw 30 new varieties added while 20 others were removed.<sup>263</sup> Stakeholders in Lubumbashi spoken to for this study were not aware of a catalogue update. However, NASECO added their flagship Bazooka maize seed to the catalogue, which may be important to facilitate their growth in the eastern DRC.<sup>264</sup>

The means to achieve system-level sustainability in the seed sector was through support to the seed councils (COPROSEM) in both the southern and eastern regions. This included the development of seed sector strategies, with funding provided to TASAI for these to be completed.<sup>265</sup> Table 21 provides a brief assessment of progress against this 2018 strategy for the Southern Region.<sup>266</sup>

**Systemic constraints identified in the Seed Strategy still remain, and in some cases, have worsened**. The brief review of progress on COPROSEM provides a simple snapshot that the main systemic constraints identified by TASAI and built into the regional strategy. According to interviews for this study:

- Issues in importation of seeds, according to one of the international seed companies, have worsened over time with more DRC agencies involved and additional rent seeking taking place.
- The draft seed law was written more than 15 years ago and although revised to align with provisions of COMESA and SADC harmonised seed trade regulations and submitted again to Parliament in 2018, is still awaiting deliberation.<sup>267</sup>
- COPROSEM in the Southern region has not met in the past two years, so the advocacy body itself does not presently exist in practice, meaning there is very little leadership in the sector including to provide voice for sector advocacy.
- INERA is struggling, with no financing from the state, and expressed frustration in interview over the role of the local seed companies and their willingness to bypass them for foundation seed. This was their only source of revenue. They lack sufficient capacity to develop new varieties.
- SENASEM faces the same capacity constraints as previously identified. They certify some seed including from local companies supported by Élan (Mimosa and Bon Berger), but there is no sense that the service provides serious or scientifically-robust quality-assurance of seeds sold on the market.
- APSK appears weaker now than at the start of Élan, although it had been having issues even then. Most of the original companies are not active or only at a very small scale. Mimosa and Bon Berger are still the only significant actors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial". Catalogue available: MINAGRI (2019).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> See Annex E.2. 'Babungo' OPV from the local seeds intervention had been in the Catalogue's 2012 version.
 <sup>265</sup> TASAI (2018b, 2018c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Unfortunately, insufficient information was available to do a similar exercise for the eastern region TASAI strategy (TASAI, 2018c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> It has not been passed for (apparently petty) political reasons rather than technical challenges or constraints. Source: Interviews as well as the USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

# Table 21: Progress against the Seed Sector strategy for the Southern Region

Strategy within Seed Sector Strategy	Progress
Strategy 1: Review and Enact the DRC Seed Law	Still not passed.
Strategy 2: Strengthen Seed Production Systems Convert the Maize Research Center (CRM) into a seed company	Not happened.
Strategy 3: Strengthen local private seed companies Develop training modules on seed business management	Élan provided capacity assistance, not continued.
Strategy 4: Clarify and organize cross-border seed trade mechanisms Clearly define the import requirements of plant materials,	Still major issues on cross- border seed trade, some worsening according to Seed Co
	0000
Strategy 5: Strengthen COPROSEM COPROSEM is a provincial seed council established under the draft Seed Law. According to the draft law, the main tasks of COPROSEM are to guide seed policy and plan and implement seed activities at the provincial level. a. Formalize COPROSEM's organizational status by: b. Confirm COPROSEM as the main convener of the seed sector platform meetings for Haut-Katanga province,	COPROSEM has not met in the past two years in the Lubumbashi area.
<ul> <li>Strategy 6: Strengthen the National Seed Service (SENASEM)</li> <li>a. Availing more financial and logistical resources to SENASEM to perform its core functions of seed</li> <li>b. Developing a protocol for private seed inspection services that will spell out their requirements</li> </ul>	SENASEM very weak, under-resourced, providing only a token role of inspection, i.e. no scientific process of quality control.
<ul> <li>Strategy 7: Strengthen national and provincial breeding programs</li> <li>a. Link INERA, UNILU and local seed companies to various private and public producers of foundation seed.</li> <li>b. Increase the number and productivity of breeders in INERA and UNILU. INERA and UNILU should contact</li> <li>c. Facilitate UNILU to start producing hybrid maize seed.</li> </ul>	INERA doing less breeding following end of Élan. UNILU have a small role. Local companies would prefer to source internationally from CIMMYT.
Strategy 8: Strengthen urban and rural agro-dealer networks	Not clear.
<ul> <li>Strategy 9: Strengthen national and provincial seed associations</li> <li>a. Convene meeting of seed producers. The meeting would bring together all categories of seed producers</li> <li>b. Develop a plan of action for provincial seed associations including a list of the priority actions for APSK</li> </ul>	APSK much weaker now and no longer fully operational as an entity (only Mimosa and Bon Berger working).
Strategy 10: Streamline the variety registration and release process	Not clear.
Strategy 11: Strengthen agricultural extension services for farmers	No clear progress.
Strategy 12: Increasing access to finance for local seed companies and agro-dealers	Major challenges on A2F remain.

Source: TASAI (2018b) Seed Sector Strategy for the Southern Region of the DRC

A tension faced in the policy work of Élan was in the degree to which the role of government could be included. Élan attempted to work on the system more broadly including the legal framework for seed, and advocacy from local players, for example via COPROSEM, INERA and SENASEM. However, government officials themselves said agriculture is simply not a priority for the government of DRC, which leads to the major

funding challenges faced, including for other agencies under the MINAGRI, such as agricultural statistics, and the dormant national maize research centre (CRM).<sup>268</sup>

There are likely to no scientifically robust, quality control inspections of the seed offered for sale in the DRC market. SENASEM does not have the resources to provide seed inspection services at the scale required by law, and their staff have no means of transportation to access seed fields.<sup>269</sup> The result is that most seed that is identified as certified is actually not quality seed, or may not be.<sup>270</sup> This means that fake seeds, counterfeits and illegal imported seeds are ubiquitous in the market.<sup>271</sup> It is then very challenging for professional seed companies to compete, and the poor quality of seed in the market further weakens farmer demand for improved seed, creating a vicious cycle of underinvestment in seed production and distribution.<sup>272</sup>

Provincial governments provide intermittent (though irregular) subsidy and purchases of large volumes of seed in Haut-Katanga and Lualaba provinces, creating another challenge for a sustainable local seed sector. Seed subsidies are double-edged, as they both create a market for improved seed, but also distort the market and incentives for farmers, and may cause more issues where the quality control of the distributed seeds is weak.<sup>273</sup> For one ex-team member of Élan, the increasing role of provincial government in the market has undone the progress the project had made, by distorting the market and disincentivising investment.

# 3.4.2 Sustainability at firm level

There is evidence of good sustained and improving performance of the two largest seed producers (Seed Co and NASECO) including since Élan closed. Figure 14 summarises the findings on seed sales for the main intervention partners studied for this report (see Annex E), which are the four main maize seed partners in terms of the NAIC and beneficiary claims Élan made over the course of the project (see Section 3.3). All the firms saw increases in the main period of intervention, notably the 2016/2017 to 2018/2019 period, as most of the interventions were covered in Élan 1.0. NASECO also saw an extension into Élan 1.2 with interventions into 2020/2021, and also saw sales increase in those years.<sup>274</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> As relayed to us in interview with the Ministry of Agriculture provincial office in Lubumbashi.
 <sup>269</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> We visited the SENASEM laboratory in Lubumbashi which clearly had not been fully operational for many years. There was only one seed sample on site for example.
<sup>271</sup> The ubiquity of fake seeds is the reason given by several seed companies for choosing to suspend their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> The ubiquity of fake seeds is the reason given by several seed companies for choosing to suspend their commercial seed business activities in the DRC. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> A situation akin to that set out in Akerlof (1970) "The Market for Lemons"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> At least of one of Élan's partners had also not been paid by government for a large order, an additional challenge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Davies (2017) categories of sustainability can be extended in terms of the sustainability of innovations in practice changes of private sector actors, as well as behaviours of intended beneficiaries. One factor is whether the innovation, product or service that the programme works on continues and at what scale; and a more complex factor is whether other changes are generated with causal attribution to the programme activities. The longer any causal change the more difficult attribution is to assess.



Figure 14: Estimated sales of maize seed (t) for Élan's main seed partners, 2013-2022

Source: Mixture of Élan documentation, DSU interviews and USAID (2019), see Annex E for more detail.

#### Sustainability of local OPV interventions

**The degree of sustainability in the local OPV market has been more limited**. As noted, Élan had calculated a potential market for 5,000 tonnes of improved seeds in Katanga [per year], with the actual market for seeds at the outset estimated to be closer to 500 tonnes, with 250 tonnes of imported (mainly hybrid) seeds and 250 tonnes of locally produced OPV seeds.<sup>275</sup> It is not clear that the market for OPV seeds is significantly different from the start of Élan in 2014. This study estimates production in the south region in 2022 of 60 tonnes of OPV maize seed, from members of APSK, which is predominantly from the two firms Élan supported most: Mimosa and Bon Berger.<sup>276</sup> Other than SAGRICIM and Mbeko Shamba it is not clear there are any other significant producers in the region.<sup>277</sup> There is no sense of an exponential increase in the Katanga region, and it could be said that the OPV seed market is stagnating.

**The liberalisation of the market for foundation seed was a systemic step, and allowed Mimosa to expand but the scale of operation remains very small.** Mimosa have provided foundation seed to SAGRICIM in Lualaba, a once dormant company, although a parastatal. SAGRICIM have sold seed to the provincial government in Lualaba for the Village Agricole initiative.<sup>278</sup> In the sense that Élan's two main partners, The local OPV seed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.
<sup>276</sup> USAID estimated that 64.5 ha was used for maize seed in the 2017-2018 season, and 65.5 ha in the following 2018-2019 season in Haut-Katanga (and 20.5 ha and 37.3 ha for other seeds in those two seasons respectively). The production of maize seed was estimated at 158.6 tonnes in 2017-2018 season with Mimosa the largest producer with around one-third of production. This was down from the 2016-2017 season when 194.7 tonnes of maize seed was produced. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> According to USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report, "Mbeko Shamba stopped commercial seed production due to problems with the fraudulent use of its brand. The company now only produces seed for its own use and for affiliated farmers."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> According to USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report, "[SAGRICIM] runs the only surviving seed farm from the original World Bank program for seed farm privatization from 1989-1992... SAGRICIM restarted seed producing activities in 2016 following the election of the new provincial government and its request for maize and bean seed to support agricultural development activities under the new provincial development strategy. Although production was interrupted in 2017-2018 for political reasons, the 2018-2019 season has seen new orders for seed resulting in 60 hectares of Babungo maize seed production and 5 hectares of D6 Kenya bean seed. The provincial government delivered the seed to farmers for free in 2017."

producers, Mimosa and Bon Berger, are surviving in a very challenging environment, including for example suffering from non-payment for large provincial government contracts (in Mimosa's case), there is some practical sustainability of Élan's work in the sector. Mimosa credit Élan with increasing their capacity, formalising the business, and upgrading their warehouse, all still operational if not expanding much. Unfortunately, however, neither Bon Berger nor Mimosa continue with the access to finance that Élan facilitated (see Section 4.4 on A2F). As Bekkers and Zulfiqar (2020) note, programmes should "consciously try to avoid activities that merely create temporary shifts in incentives or behaviours." It is arguable whether Élan did so in the OPV market, particularly in the strategies around marketing and direct sales to SHFs. It appears the market remains dominated by government, NGO, and mining company purchases. SHFs may benefit from hand-outs resulting from these purchases, as Élan modelled (see Section 3.3.2), however this is not the ToC that Élan started with. If not harmful, it has not catalysed a sustainable local seed market beyond the very small scale operational today.

# Sustainability of international hybrid interventions

The degree of sustainability in the hybrid seed market has been much more successful in both the southern region with Seed Co and the eastern region with NASECO. In the southern Katanga region, Élan estimated a market size of 250 tonnes of imported (mainly hybrid) seeds in 2013,<sup>279</sup> and this has increased in size to around 1,000 tonnes, which is dominated by Seed Co.<sup>280</sup> Seed Co say they can reach 1,300 tonnes "in a good year". In the eastern region, NASECO have increased sales to 180 tonnes in 2022 from just 55 tonnes in 2017.<sup>281</sup> Unlike for other intervention partners of Élan, it is claimed that the vast majority of these sales go directly to the target group of SHFs. According to NASECO in interview, they hope to continue strong growth and have a sales target of 350 tonnes of maize hybrid seed sales for 2023.

NASECO has already invested in producing in the DRC, while Seed Co still intend to do so when conditions are right and they reach sufficient sales volume. NASECO's relative success may in part be to the relatively low price of the hybrid seeds they sell, as well as the relatively dense population in the Kivu provinces, meaning that higher volumes of SHFs can be reached in spite of the infrastructure challenges. Seed Co still mainly rely on government purchases and larger commercial farmers. There is some evidence of a market from more commercialised farmers for Seed Co seeds, and according to an agro-dealer we spoke to, the seeds are popular with more advanced farmers, however affordability is an issue particularly with the global situation and rising fertiliser prices and in the past year hybrid seed sales to SHFs were falling.<sup>282</sup> Seed Co say they still intend to produce in the DRC but require 1,000 tonnes in sales for three years running or to reach 2,000 tonnes of sales.<sup>283</sup>

# Sustainability of OGS and contract farming schemes

The sustainability of both the OGS and contract farming schemes Élan supported has been very weak. As of Élan's 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP the limitations of the OGS pilots had become clear: "the NAIC per SHF of OGS is high but there are clear limitations in

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.
 <sup>280</sup> Another importer, Pannar, is much smaller in the DRC market, but it has not been possible to get any exact estimate of their current sales.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Implying a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of sales was 27 percent from 2017 to 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> See Baffes and Koh (2022) "Fertilizer prices expected to remain higher for longer"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> These two figures were those given to us by two senior Seed Co staff members in separate interviews.

terms of OGS outreach. OGS is not a sustainable long-term strategy to provide inputs to smallholder farmers but it is currently very relevant to the DRC context."<sup>284</sup> This has been borne out in that none of the original OGS supported are operational, at least not on the scale that Élan had promoted via the interventions. Mulagricom did not continue its OGS after Élan's support; the SEK mine was sold and discontinued the contract farming model in 2018; the TFM mine link with Bon Berger was discontinued after a single season; and Mbeko Shamba work with a much smaller number of families than before.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Élan (2017a) 2017 Sector Strategy for AgNP

# 4 Access to Finance

# 4.1 Relevance of Élan's A2F work

# **Evaluation question:**

- A2: To what extent was Élan and the interventions it supported appropriately designed to meet the needs of stakeholders and target beneficiaries?
- A3: To what extent did the intervention logic and assumptions of the Élan project (and its interventions) hold during implementation?

# **Sub-questions**

- How important (market actors including target beneficiary) were the MSCs that Élan chose to address to stakeholders?
- How appropriate were the interventions to target the constraints?

# Key findings:

- Élan was correct that mobile money provided a major opportunity to increase financial inclusion in the DRC, and a very well-evidenced case on this was made.
- The initial growth stage of mobile money would likely affect urban and better-off people first, in part because of demand for transfer services, existing financial inclusion rates, mobile network coverage and liquidity of urban agent networks.
- Élan aimed to reach rural areas through tie-ups with a large and innovative MFI, which may have been a model with less chance of systemic change and replication.
- SME lending was developed in a less strategic and more ad hoc manner. It led to a good tie up with one bank but based on a high-rate of subsidy (credit guarantee) that may have provided short-term impact but limited systemic change potential.

As set out in Section 2.3, Élan had high expectations from the outset that addressing systemic constraints in financial market systems could benefit poor people in the DRC. This section describes the target beneficiary group who in the A2F sectors were principally poor consumers as well as micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMEs). As with the AgNP chapter this begins with the needs of beneficiaries (Section 4.1.1), needs of businesses (Section 4.1.2), the appropriateness of design to meeting the needs of these groups (Section 4.1.3), and then an assessment of how Élan's assumptions held over the course of implementation (Section 4.1.4).

# 4.1.1 Needs of target beneficiaries

Élan's work on branchless banking (BB) initially focussed on mobile money, and was primarily framed as targeting 'poor consumers', unlike in AgNP where they were also often 'poor producers'. It was clear at the outset that those who already were financially included were more likely to be urban and employed in the formal economy, and much more likely to come from the upper quintile of the income distribution. However, it was also recognised that the rate of financial inclusion was very low, with only 12 percent of adults in the DRC 'banked' according to the FinScope 2014 survey, and 21 percent using 'other formal services', primarily remittance services provided by money transfer operators (MTOs)
(see Section 2.3.1). As the 2014 survey had drawn on a sampling frame that was not representative of much of the DRC rural population, the rates of financial exclusion at the time were likely significantly higher than FinScope estimated. At that time, just 2.4 percent of the adult population was found to be using mobile money services with an active account,<sup>285</sup> therefore growth in mobile money usage would not necessarily translate into greater financial inclusion.286

Élan's analysis began from the diagnosis of low access to finance, and that access was concentrated in urban areas.<sup>287</sup> The geographical focus was therefore important, and this would particularly lead the A2F BB sector work around agent banking, including the FINCA interventions, as well as the A2F SME work with a rural / farming focus (see Section 4.1.2 below). According to the DRC's national poverty line, 60 percent of the urban population was estimated to be poor, compared to 65 percent of the rural population in 2012.<sup>288</sup> However, as noted, the rural-urban divide was much starker when using a multidimensional poverty index (MPI).289

A2F beneficiaries were found to be less likely to be in poverty than for other sectors of Élan's work. As set out in Section 3.1.1, in 2012, surveys estimated 77 percent of the DRC's population were living under the USD 1.90 per person per day purchasing power parity (PPP) poverty line.<sup>290</sup> Élan undertook its own poverty profiling study in 2018 to analyse beneficiaries, and based on this work A2F beneficiaries had the highest income among the sectors in which the project worked. A2F beneficiaries were estimated to have average income per person per day of USD 3.38 (compared to USD 0.59 in the AqNP sector).<sup>291</sup> placing them above the estimated national average income in 2018.<sup>292</sup> A2F interventions surveyed had between 52 and 71 percent of beneficiaries under the USD 1.90 poverty line.<sup>293</sup> This was based on just three interventions – FINCA, and the mobile money campaign, the latter being the stand-out A2F intervention that generated a large majority of beneficiaries (see Section 4.3.1).

### Mobile money, potential benefits

A range of potential benefits could come from mobile money access, mainly due to more efficient and less costly remittances. The rationale for benefits set out by Élan included that income benefits would accrue to the poor through two main channels: (1) direct cost-savings through reduced fees, travel costs, risks of theft and insecurity, and (2) growth and expansion of income generating activities by poor entrepreneurs (arising from timesavings and increased transactions through mobile money). Poor individuals and households were said to make "heavier use of remittances, alternative payment and transfer services to mobile money", which could be insecure or prohibitively expensive. Cheaper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016d) Making Access Possible, Diagnostic Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> As new mobile money users were more likely to come from the 33 percent already 'financially included'. <sup>287</sup> "Outreach is primarily urban focused, as bank branches and outlets are concentrated in urban centres (56 percent in Kinshasa, 13 percent in Katanga, 10 percent in Bas Congo). MFIs and [SACCOs] target the poor and currently serve 416,000 savers and 190,000 borrowers, the majority of whom are in Kinshasa or the Kivus". ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report <sup>288</sup> DRC Enquêtes 1-2-3 data collection 2012, as reported in Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> OPHI (2013) "DR Congo OPHI Country Briefing 2013". See Figure 46 in Annex G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Revised to 70 percent using the World Bank's new threshold of USD 2.15 PPP. World Bank (2022c) WDI data SI.POV.DDAY. See World Bank (2022a) for updated methodology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Using a PPP-weighted measure. Élan (2018g). See Figure 47 in Annex G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> USD 1,234 A2F beneficiary average annual income with a PPP measure, compared to a USD 1,073 national average. National average from World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD <sup>293</sup> Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling Report". See Table 40 in Annex G.

mobile money services would provide direct cost savings through cheaper transfer fees than other options such as via MTOs.<sup>294</sup> A range of other benefits from mobile money were hypothesised including improvements in savings, insurance and even intra-household dynamics (as set out in Box 8, and in more detail, see Potential benefits of mobile money in Annex F). Threats of loss, from rent-seeking, theft, and costs of storing or transferring physical cash would also be reduced when using mobile money. Reduced risks of money transfer were said to be most important for women, "allowing them to safeguard money from both thieves and their husbands".<sup>295</sup>

### Box 8: Benefits of mobile money

A range of studies were used by Élan to justify the potential benefits from mobile money use. Household and business outcomes can therefore be affected through several different channels, as categorised by Aron (2015):

- Reducing transactions costs and increasing remittances: Mobile money reduces the time and cost of sending and receiving money including over distances where there are poor and expensive transport links. Mobile money users have been found to have higher remittances, consumption, profits from production, and reduced rates of poverty (Kikulwe et al., 2014; Suri and Jack, 2016).
- Reducing asymmetric information and improved transparency: The record of financial transactions that mobile money provides creates greater transparency, and a 'financial history' for those previously unbanked. This provides a means to create credit scores for customers and potentially other services such as loans.
- Increasing saving and changing the nature of saving: Mobile money should offer safe storage than keeping money as cash. Even without payment of interest, the safety of mobile money has been found to increase savings rates (Mbiti and Weil, 2011).
- **Risk and insurance**: Informal networks can be expanded by access to mobile money transfers, particularly as they can cover larger distances between family members. As mobile money allows small and more frequent transfers of money this can lead to greater ability to manage negative shocks (Jack and Suri, 2014).
- **Changing family dynamics and changing social networks**: Mobile money can change relative family bargaining power. Aker et al. (2014) for example measured improved household bargaining power for women in Niger via mobile transfers, with resulting welfare improvements.
- **Improving efficiency**: Mobile money can facilitate trade by making it easier for people to make and receive payments for goods and services. This provides benefits to consumers and MSMEs, and could improve investment decisions.

Élan presented evidence in the DRC context that mobile money would compete well with existing transfer services. In the GSMA (2013) survey, 53 percent of households reported to have received a money transfer in the previous three months, and nearly two-thirds of those remitting sent money to another province in that period. As shown in Figure 15, the most common reason for sending was regular family support, followed by school fees. The survey also found, as with the FinScope 2014 survey, that MTOs were the most common means of sending, and that a competitive transfer market already in place (with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Although analysis on the gap in costs suggested direct fees might not be that large (see Table 12 in Section 2.3.1) with mobile money operators charging a range estimated at USD 1.2-USD 2.35 in total for a USD 100 transfer, compared to USD 1-USD 5 for the same transfer via the MTO networks. Source: CENFRI et al. (2016d) for MM providers; and GSMA (2013) for MTO and bank costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

Western Union and MoneyGram dominating international remittances but also offering domestic options). However, focus group participants in the GSMA research said they wasted lots of time at local transfer offices waiting to make a transfer, indicating a gap in the market for mobile money providers. Ease, speed and safety were named as the main priorities for selecting a transfer option, and found to be more important than the cost. This highlighted the need for trust in mobile money.



Figure 15: Reasons for sending money (for "most often" transfers)

Source: GSMA (2013) "Mobile Money in the DRC: Market insights".

**Knowledge of mobile money was found to be a critical constraint in terms of use its use.** Individuals reported paying their bills at the provider office, with further time and cost taken for these processes. The predominance of cash in such payments left rooms for scams and theft. Despite this, trust in the stability of mobile money services and of the financial system in general was found to be limited.<sup>296</sup> There was also low awareness of mobile money reported with 42 percent of respondents saying they did not know how they could access mobile money services. This evidence was used to justify the awareness campaign that would form the main intervention in the sector by Élan.

### 4.1.2 Needs of businesses

The other strands of the A2F sector work was focussed on SMEs. Élan's work on A2F for SMEs was explicitly aimed at increasing financing for businesses. The GSMA (2013) study had emphasised that MSMEs in the DRC, as with households, were heavily dependent on cash for transactions and payments. Salaries were largely paid in cash, and also many bill payments.

Élan also set out mobile money impacts on businesses particularly as MSMEs mainly dealt in cash.<sup>297</sup> For example, a study of mobile money usage on MSMEs in Tanzania found that business owners benefited from the timed saved from not having to go to the bank and also from the increased efficiency in transactions with suppliers and buyers, allowing them to increase the number of orders and sales.<sup>298</sup> However, in the DRC, the GSMA (2013) study found that small business owners reported paying suppliers almost exclusively in cash and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> GSMA (2013) "Mobile Money in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Market insights".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Bangens and Söderbergh (2011) "Mobile money transfers and usage"

in person, and acknowledged that the time required can be significant. Business owners had a number of concerns with mobile money as an alternative, which included issues such as the ease of deleting SMS messages (and therefore loss of a record for a financial transaction), difficulty of correcting errors without an agent present, and network failures. Network issues was a common response in the GSMA (2013) research, for example a question such as: "What happens with my money if I am in the middle of a transaction and the network goes down?" came up frequently with decision-makers and small business owners.

Mobile money agents employed by the MNOs were themselves MSMEs, and Élan viewed this as another potential beneficiary group, where "the number of poor who have the opportunity to become agents is projected to grow especially as services expand into rural areas". As the network was already estimated to involve 18,000 individuals in 2013, this represented a significant opportunity to expand and increase incomes.<sup>299</sup> Agents would receive a small commission on new registrations, and on both cash-in and cash-out transactions, on a monthly basis. However, the agent network itself could be a challenge for mobile money operators, in terms of the rate of expansion but also as a cause for mistrust. This could be via unreliability of service (due to poor screening or training) or fraud (for example, if they obtained the PINs of their users).<sup>300</sup>

### SME access to credit

**MSMEs have low access to credit in the DRC, with very low rates compared to international comparator countries.** As set out in Section 2.3.1, access to finance for MSMEs has been limited, with banks in the DRC often finding profitability to be higher on commissions for transactions, particularly larger foreign exchange trades centred on the mining sector. This has limited the growth of credit, and the DRC places in the lowest countries in the world in terms of credit as a proportion of GDP (see Section 2.3.1). Collateral values of 200 percent of the loan size make borrowing prohibitive for many MSMEs, particularly in agriculture. The cost of credit is also high. In the river sector, for example, estimated credit used for fuel would be received at interest rates varying between 18 and 50 percent.<sup>301</sup>

### 4.1.3 Appropriateness of interventions to meet needs

Élan's interventions aimed to address specific factors that they diagnosed as important to improve financial inclusion among both individuals and SMEs. Mobile banking would reach the poor as consumers, as well as potential workers including as mobile banking agents. MSMEs could benefit from mobile money use in trade, as well as through increased access to credit linked to SME finance interventions.

A strong case was made by Élan for the potential of pro-poor outreach in the mobile banking sector, especially given increasingly proportion of the poor with access to mobile phones. Élan began with less initial focus on the SME finance sector, which was more of an evolution over time, particularly coming out of the AgNP and Transport sector interventions (reflecting the need for better access to affordable credit by partners in these sectors). It can

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Mudiri (2012) "Fraud in Mobile Financial Services"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

be said that the SME finance sector was more opportunistic and not necessarily built on such a large body of evidence as Élan's mobile money work.

### Increasing access to and usage of mobile money

The case for mobile money to have a pro-poor focus was only limited by the reality that the market was at such a nascent stage, and the user base was still quite low. As such, Élan was clear that MNOs would be concentrating on marketing to likely early adopters of mobile money (more urban and affluent) in the short and medium term.<sup>302</sup> In addition, due to the need for network coverage, this was also integrated into the MNOs own geographical coverage strategies with associated infrastructure costs of extending into new areas.<sup>303</sup> Research funded by Élan later found significant differences in market shares for the MNO providers in different regions, which may have then had an impact in how roll-out could be expected to evolve (see Figure 16). In practice, the mobile money strategy was much more likely to impact on urban than rural areas.<sup>304</sup>

### Figure 16: Network coverage and dominance in different major cities (mobile phone)



Source: Altai Consulting (2016) "Opportunités Offertes Par Le Mobile Money"

According to Élan in 2013, MNOs projected that mobile service penetration rates could reach 12-15 percent of the population over the subsequent five years. This would equal around 10-13 million users or about one-third of the urban population.<sup>305</sup> The predominance of consumer information and awareness as a strategy was logical but did not perhaps make a convincing case that all trust issues would be allayed, particularly where they were based on consumers' experiences with agent networks. Furthermore, Élan's early analysis had emphasised that "marketing to the [bottom of pyramid, BoP segment] needs to be different", and instead take one village at a time and build on a word of mouth basis. "Above the line marketing", including billboards and TV/radio spots, would be less likely to generate new 'BoP consumers', and rather, 'below the line' "BoP marketing includes village-level tactics such as demonstrations in public places or among small groups, leveraging village politics and networks or encouraging positive word-of-mouth through adopters".<sup>306</sup>

The payment of civil servant salaries was often cited as a reason and opportunity for growth in the early stages of the project. As per Élan's early political economy analysis

© Oxford Policy Management

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Ibid. ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> For network coverage estimates see Figure 50 in Annex G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> "Current users of mobile money in the DRC are heavily skewed towards males and better-off market segments in urban centres such as Kinshasa, Lubumbashi and Goma". ASI (2013a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan". This was not set up as a rigorous counterfactual for Élan's work to promote consumer awareness and contribute to faster uptake. This also limits the ability to clearly estimate the impact of the mobile money campaign (see Section 4.3, also see Annex E.6 for more information).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

the use of mobile banking to pay salaries of civil servants and the military had had profound implications for state patronage networks. Prior to this, salaries had been paid in bulk to senior officials, who then distributed them. This system afforded these officials and commanders opportunities for embezzlement and patronage, and the loss of these opportunities met with stiff opposition.<sup>307</sup> The mention of salary payments reduced during Élan's implementation period, and it is not clear whether this was linked to the political economy issues highlighted.

Work on agent banking including that leading to FINCA interventions, was more targeted, with local specificity of agents supported, as opposed to the national coverage of the mobile money campaign intervention. By specifying for outreach in particular areas, there was more likelihood that Élan could influence rural financial inclusion. This was generally done alongside the geographical focus of the AgNP sector in particular (see Section 4.2.2), and meant that in effect, Élan was combining interventions. Such combinations of interventions may have increased the chances of short-term impact, but were then potentially less effective in piloting a strategy and demonstrating systemic impact.<sup>308</sup>

### Access to finance for SMEs

Access to finance for SMEs was created as an opportunistic portfolio of interventions, with ongoing learning leading to tailoring of the approach over time. The work that ultimately came to predominate in Élan's reporting on the SME finance sector was on Collateral Management Agreements (CMAs). The CMA model creates a system where agricultural stock can be placed under the control of a third-party holder, and the stock can be recognised as collateral and used to leverage loans, generally for working capital (see Box 10 in Section 4.2.2). Élan facilitated two CMA interventions, the first in Kivu with smallholders, which did not succeed, and a more successful pilot with in Haut Katanga with a large commercial maize farmer, GoCongo. The initial experiments CMAs were not successful or sustained, however the final CMA in Katanga with GoCongo and Equity BCDC, was a limited success, with some potential systemic impact (see Section 4.2.2 and Section 4.4). It could be argued that the opportunistic and adaptive approach led to the more successful intervention, and this might not have been possible by more detailed design upfront.

Élan's broader SME lending work, which included the loan guarantee provided to ProCredit Bank, was again the result of trials in the transport sector and then extension to AgNP intervention partners. The idea of linking SMEs to financial institutions and vice versa, providing capacity support, and then providing an effective subsidy to lending, was always likely to lead to short-term increases in access to credit. The systemic change case would then be that the banks in question would learn from the opportunity, better tailor their products, and grow confidence in the SME sector as a result. This case was optimistic but there may be some evidence that it was justified (see Section 4.4.2), particularly with Equity BCDC, both in product lines and a focus on the SME sector, as well as the agricultural sub-sector in particular. Despite this, there was a gap in strong analysis of constraints to lending to SMEs, including even on the definitions of SMEs,<sup>309</sup> which appears relatively absent in Élan's documentation. The strategy appears to have been led much

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> I.e. two interventions may have supported one another, but not been successful on their own. Such a scenario would limit potential of testing systemic impact and ensuring sustainability of market system changes.
 <sup>309</sup> As well as their respective needs based on turnover, formality, investment size, and sector of the economy

more by the interventions, and the articulation of the broader system was vague, which was not the case for mobile money in comparison.

### **Targeting poor female consumers**

Élan also set out an early case that mobile money had greater potential for poor female consumers, and women in general. Women in the DRC "have historically faced both legal and cultural barriers in accessing finance and controlling their own income". Mobile money could provide security and privacy and for women to gain more control over their earnings within the household. Women would have the potential opportunity to benefit by becoming agents.<sup>310</sup> Women agents were said to be underrepresented in mobile money agent networks and made up 5-10 percent of agents.<sup>311</sup> Despite this analysis, it is not clear that A2F interventions had a particular focus on women and the proportion of female beneficiaries was not especially high (see Section 4.3.1).

### 4.1.4 Extent to which assumptions held in A2F sector

Élan's assumptions underpinning work in the A2F sector varied in the degree to which they held true; the mobile money sector was dynamic and fast-growing, while barriers to A2F for the poor, for MSMEs and in agriculture were more pervasive than had been assumed. There were several key assumptions for how Élan could affect market systems and generate what they called Market System Changes (MSCs). Table 22 outlines brief findings on five assumptions for the A2F sector, following the MTE approach and includes a summary of the assessment in 2018 from the MTE as well as an assessment made for this study.<sup>312</sup> This largely draws on findings in subsequent sections on Results (Section 4.2), Impact (Section 4.3) and Sustainability (Section 4.4).

Assumptions	Assessment of MTE (2017)	Assessment now (2022)
1. The binding constraints to increasing economic activity that perpetuate poverty can be addressed by MSCs.	CMA has changed market system, however not working for SHFs. Unclear on river transport boat operators in terms of trickle down. Pro-poor benefits of BB, not clear how savings are spent	With focus on confidence in mobile money, more complex issues such as liquidity and a trustworthy agent network were missed. Innovations in finance positive but not targeting the poorest
2. Pro-poor MSCs can be brought about through partnership interventions with (private) partners.	CMA in Kivu failed; demand- side solution for supply-side problem. Trickle down from river boat operators unclear. BB pilots addressed binding constraints and benefits should be realised.	Mobile money roll-out was likely to reach relatively richer Congolese first, linked to network coverage and agent liquidity. However, case still valid for pro-poor changes. Valid case to work with banks and MFIs to promote MSME lending.

### Table 22: Assessment of assumptions underpinning Élan's A2F sector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> ASI (2013b) Market Systems Analysis Report

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"
 <sup>312</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) MTE and MTE Technical Annexes.

Assumptions	Assessment of MTE (2017)	Assessment now (2022)
3. There is a cascade of effects from MSCs that ultimately benefit poor and women producers and/or consumers.	CMA is costly, and need SHFs to deposit large amounts to work for them. Pro-poor benefits of transport work unclear. BB / mobile services reaching poor to some extent	Cascade for mobile money based on cost savings, which were not rigorously evidenced. CMA did not benefit SHFs as originally intended. Very little work to specifically target women.
4. The benefits of Élan pilot interventions will be sustainable.	CMA viable for commercial operators Clearly high demand for BB / mobile services. Extent of targeting of poor still unclear and access may still be a challenge	CMA model was a moderate success but not currently sustained, though could be reinvigorated. Mobile money growth continues with some innovation in digital finance market supported by Élan. Interoperability positive. MFIs still small. Rural and MSME finance still limited.
5. Adoption of new practices by pilot partners will sufficient to achieve expansion and response including beyond the period of project implementation.	CMA highly scalable if applied to commercial farmers. If boat operators can repay loans, could see value of loans increase. Should see growing demand for BB / mobile services.	Challenge of very few market players with interest in agricultural finance. However, Equity BCDC now have big ambitions to address this. Collective action challenges such as credit registries, and contextual challenge of dollarization not addressed, meaning deep causes of financial exclusion remain.

### 4.2 Effectiveness of Élan's A2F work

### **Evaluation question:**

- B2: To what extent has Élan led to improvements in market systems?
- B3: What factors have influenced the results achieved?

### Sub-questions:

- How, and how much, have targeted constraints and MSCs changed during the period of Élan's support?
- How, and how much, have Élan's interventions changed policies and practices, leading to benefits for market actors including poor and marginalised target groups?

### Key findings:

- The mobile money awareness campaign led to changes in the operators' approach to marketing according to Élan, although longer-term attribution here is unclear.
- Élan's collaboration with FINCA was at a time of extension of their agent network in line with a strategy to promote more digital services. FINCA has increased in size but it is unclear how much rural customers have been part of this growth.

- The second CMA intervention with GoCongo, COMEXAS and Equity Bank was successful and provided proof of the concept, however not in a way to impact poorer SHFs.
- Support to interoperability has contributed to significant progress in the digital payment system, both through convening players, bilateral interoperability for MNOs, and also innovative partnerships for 'aggregators' undertaken during the Covid period of Élan 1.2.
- The loans facilitated with ProCredit (then Equity Bank) were a limited success but could not overcome the causes of high costs of finance and collateral requirements.

This section presents findings on A2F sector effectiveness in policy (Section 4.2.1), and in practices (Section 4.2.2). Overall, this review agrees with the relative positioning of Élan's final self-assessments that there were some successes in the policy environment, particularly on interoperability; however, the sector saw little progress in promoting access to finance for the target beneficiary groups of the poor and MSMEs. Progress was slow in leasing and insurance sub-sectors, while access to credit schemes had limited success, although there is some more impressive potential system change in terms of the involvement of Equity BCDC in agricultural lending, with plausible contribution from Élan's work in A2F.

### Élan's self-assessment

Élan's self-assessment on effectiveness in the A2F sector in June 2021 scored its own contribution to system change as highest in the area of 'policies and formal rules' and in 'relationships and connections between market actors', both classified as making 'Progress'.<sup>313</sup> Policy progress was justified based on the national Switch progress, and work of the Cash Working Group; while progress on relationships was based on the DCSWG work (see Section 4.2.1). A score of 'Strengthening' was given to 'Practices of market actors and business models', and in 'norms and informal rules'.<sup>314</sup> Both highlighted FINCA's agent model, and greater collaborations in digital finance (see Section 4.2.2). A lower 'Beginning' score was given for 'investment of market actors', and for 'participation of poor and marginalised people in the market'.<sup>315</sup> Élan's claims to effectiveness were backed up by some commissioned evaluations by the M&E team, as well as final assessments of its work in the sector through the 'Sector Study',<sup>316</sup> 'Legacy Sessions',<sup>317</sup> and other learning briefs produced.<sup>318</sup>

### 4.2.1 Policy in Access to Finance

In the context of the A2F sector, policy-related systems change includes the government of the DRC's regulatory approach to digital finance and the innovations of mobile money; and also the overall regulatory approach to the financial sector as a whole. Unlike some other sectors this has a strong macroeconomic component and the state of the financial sector is tied to some particular characteristics of the DRC economy, such as its very high rate of dollarization. This section looks at this environment and the work that Élan undertook to try to improve it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Both scoring 7.5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021j)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Both scoring 5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021j)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Both scoring 2.5 out of 10 in their framework. Élan (2021j)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> Élan (2021j) "Élan Sector Studies – Access to Finance"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Élan (2021k) "Élan RDC Legacy Sessions, Access to Finance"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Including Élan (2021I) "Sector Overview – Access to Finance"; Élan (2021m) "Developing a Digital ecosystem in the DRC"

### **Overall financial sector regulatory environment**

The financial sector policy and regulatory environment was not a major focus of A2F sector work, particularly during Élan 1.0. At the beginning, sector analysis found there was a relatively conducive environment for digital finance, particularly with a 2011 Instruction on electronic money that had initially stimulated the opening of the market. Fast growth of mobile money was an indication that the regulatory environment must be conducive. In particular, 'Know your customer' (KYC) processes were not too stringent.

The Central Bank of Congo (BCC) has embarked on some initiatives to improve the national payments system infrastructure, although cash remains the dominant payment method. The DRC has a legal and regulatory framework governing banking, payment services and other financial services. The Instruction No. 24 of 2011 was central to liberalisation of the money market, while the law on the organisation and functioning of the Central Bank of Congo (law n° 18/027 of December 2018) empowers the BCC to promote a secure, solid and efficient national payments system, as well as to regulate all banking activities. As shown in Figure 17, there has been some strong progress, particularly with regulation of digital finance and electronic money.



### Figure 17: The evolution of the financial inclusion environment in the DRC

Source: Sackho-Patel et al. (2018) "Agent network Accelerator Research. DRC Regional Report."

### A review of the financial sector funded by Élan found a number of challenges remain.

This includes difficulties in accessing justice and dispute resolution mechanisms outside Kinshasa, the lack of a consumer protection framework, lack of a framework for deposit insurance, slow progress in liberalisation of the insurance market, and onerous tax requirements.<sup>319</sup> The IMF (2022c) FSSR noted a range of issues with the BCC's regulation of the financial sector including prudential standards on solvency, slow processes for bank liquidation, and classification of non-performing loans (NPLs). NPL definitions were eased during Covid, and may remain understated. Other issues include dollarization, where debt is often held in USD while households and SMEs receive much income in Congolese Francs (CDF) (see below).

### Dollarization as a constraint to progress on interoperability and lending

The DRC economy is highly dollarized, more than almost any other country, as set out in Box 3 in Section 2.3.1. In 2014, about 90 percent of banking sector deposits and lending were in USD. The rate of USD lending has increased over time, and as of 2021 constitutes 95 percent, with less than 5 percent of lending in CDF.<sup>320</sup> Banks are able to maintain investments in USD via two main relationships: (i) ordinary correspondent banks, mainly large banks in advanced countries; and (ii) parent companies that centralise the group's cash flow, including that of their DRC subsidiary. The latter entails the risk that parent companies may default while holding a large part of Congolese domestic savings; the former creates dependence on the foreign correspondent banks used for clearing transactions. This is a major systemic risk as it relies on the regulatory risk appetite of these banks.

Dollarization slowed progress on a National Switch, increasing the need for solutions among private sector players. With support of the World Bank, a national payment system with ability for local clearing of USD was created, however it was suspended due to concerns around Anti-money laundering / Combating the Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) by US authorities in late 2019.<sup>321</sup> The result is that large transactions in USD are made through correspondent banks abroad and not through the local system.<sup>322</sup> While dollarization was beyond the scope of Élan, it helps to explain risk aversion of banks and MFIs to lend to economic players outside of those dealing in large amounts of foreign currency (i.e. exporters, those operating in the mining sector etc.).<sup>323</sup> 'De-dollarization' has been strongly advocated by the IMF over the years including now via a "medium-term roadmap", 324 however this appears more of a long-term goal than ever, and dollarization appears to have increased in the past decade.325

### Interoperability between financial service providers

A systemic issue that was more central to the work of Élan was interoperability and one in which Elan had some of its largest achievements. Interoperability refers to the ability to make payments between different financial service payment providers. This could be between different banks, between banks and mobile money operators, or between mobile money operators themselves. The three models of interoperability as set out in Box 9, provide different approaches in terms of the degree of a mandatory approach by the Central Bank as opposed to a voluntary approach from the private sector. The DRC is at an early

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016b) Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2016 – 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> As set out in more detail in Dollarization in the DRC in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> World Bank (2020) DRC Digital Economy Assessment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> IMF (2022c) DRC FSSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> "Despite interest margins of over 10 percentage points, banks do not lend domestically and prefer low-yielding placements abroad with correspondents". IMF (2022c) FSSR <sup>324</sup> IMF (2014, 2022a, 2022c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> The issue is only growing, as from 2022 onward, reserve requirements on capital in USD will be constituted in USD, and banks will transfer greater currency risk to their customers, particularly households, by encouraging them to take on debt in foreign currency for loans of more than 12 months, while households' resources are mainly in CDF. Shorter-term credits to households are to be provided in CDF. Source: IMF (2022c) FSSR.

stage for payments interoperability, but is now seeing a mixture of approaches.<sup>326</sup> The BCC has been developing a National Switch ('Switch monetique') for many years with the support of the World Bank, and this became operational in 2020. However, with issues in the clearing of USD, the national scheme will only clear transactions made in CDF, and given this is a minority of financial transactions this means its coverage will be limited. Indeed, according to the BCC in interview for this study, transaction volumes have been small so far. One stakeholder noted it is also expensive with high per transaction costs of using the National Switch. The industry organisation, the Global System for Mobile Communications Association (GSMA), noted in interview for this study that maintenance of a national switch can be expensive.

**In mobile money the main form to date has been bilateral interoperability via voluntary agreements**, an area that Élan directly supported. Élan's support was primarily facilitative rather than technical; bringing different mobile network operators (MNOs) together,<sup>327</sup> as well as other sector stakeholders such as the GSMA. A series of bilateral agreements between the three main MNOs were signed late during the Élan 1.0 period, in November 2018 (Airtel, Orange and Vodacom – under intervention AF27). While these were effectively memoranda of understanding (MOU), they have led to a functioning bilateral interoperability agreement between Vodacom (M-Pesa/Vodacash) and Orange Money, a pilot bilateral interoperability agreement between Airtel and Orange, and an agreement soon to be launched between Vodacom and Airtel. In the interview with one of the MNOs, Vodacom, conducted for this study, they were clear that Élan had contributed a lot to this work, a major achievement for the project.<sup>328</sup>

### Box 9: Interoperability explained

Interoperability among mobile money operators can increase the customer benefits of mobile money and reach a greater proportion of the population. It has the potential of speeding up development of the mobile money market by avoiding each network needing to reach their own critical mass. Representing multiple networks, which interoperability can help, also can reduce cash-flow risk for agents (Bourreau and Hoernig, 2016).

The main variants of interoperability in practice have included: i) voluntary interoperability using bilateral agreements; ii) voluntary interoperability using a national switch; and iii) mandated interoperability using a national switch. Different countries have used different models, and best will depend on market structure and regulatory capacity. There is a risk that mandated interoperability can hamper market development by reducing incentives of market players to compete and innovate, particularly if the market is young. A regulator can also take an intermediary approach by regulating the fees and costs used for a voluntary model, however there are still costs to developing such a model, which may be passed on to consumers (Bourreau and Hoernig, 2016).

Where interoperability has been achieved in the SSA region, it has mainly been via voluntary means. In Kenya, the existence of a dominant telecom provider helped, although technological limitations reduced access for some and stifled competition (Singh, 2017). In Tanzania, a more even market between providers led to an interoperability agreement among several of them (Bourreau and Valletti, 2015). Chopra (2014) argued that if market players have relatively symmetric positions, interoperability can emerge as a market solution because players will see the benefits in the interconnection of their networks. But if an operator has achieved a large market share, they may see little benefit in interconnecting with their smaller rivals (Bourreau and Valletti,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Banks have worked on interoperability in the ATM space has operated for some years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> As per Q2 2018 report (Élan, 2018m), "the Mobile money operators met in three groups coordinated by ÉLAN in order to advance plans to launch wallet-to-wallet interoperability".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> In interview Vodacom stated: "Élan acted as a facilitator in the interactions between MNOs that led to the signing of contracts on bilateral interoperability between MNOs. This support was very valuable not only for Vodacom but also for others. The contract signed with Orange Money was very important because it allowed the interconnection between different mobile wallets."

2015). For Bianchi et al. (2021) there is a case to mandate interoperability at the platform level, which would raise welfare through reducing costs across the market.

Élan supported set-up of a digital finance working group (DCSWG),<sup>329</sup> aiming to embed the 'digital eco-system'. Élan also developed partnerships with two 'aggregators' of payments services. Two providers, Infoset and Maxicash, would provide interoperable payment services using their own bespoke platforms. This was viewed as another 'interim' solution in the absence of fuller systems of interoperability. Both partners required work on the regulator's approval, which Élan facilitated. This was framed as a Covid intervention, but was an example of good adaptive programming as it also had systemic importance. As reported in early 2021 by Élan, the "digital ecosystem secured a key win through the Central Bank transitional approval for aggregators to operate".<sup>330</sup> However, Élan were aware that both businesses were in competition with the bigger players including MNOs as mobile money operators.<sup>331</sup>

The work with the aggregators came alongside work for interoperable payment solutions using Unstructured Supplementary Service Data (USSD), including four workshops held in 2019 with market players and regulators (involving the BCC).<sup>332</sup> The workshops pushed forward interoperable payment solutions, and combined with the Covid context this led to greater willingness from the BCC to make regulation more flexible. According to Élan, this led to the BCC to "[encourage] aggregators to foster more interoperability while waiting for the National Switch to be live".<sup>333</sup> See Section 4.4.2 for more on the experience of interoperability and the aggregators Élan supported. Other important regulatory aspects that were not worked on closely by Élan include know your customer (KYC) processes, and credit and collateral registries.<sup>334</sup>

### Leasing and insurance

An area of long-standing work in the A2F sector but which ultimately gained little traction were the leasing and insurance sectors. This was a rare area of collaboration between the sister programmes within the PSD programme, Élan and Essor. While Essor commenced some work in insurance regulation, the slow liberalisation of the sector meant Élan did not have adequate time to establish partnership to pilot innovations. This potential was also interrupted by the pandemic from early 2020.

The work in leasing and insurance aimed to take advantage of new regulations. A Leasing Law had been passed in early 2015 and Élan pursued opportunities in leasing with banks such as RawBank, BOA and ProCredit but did not make progress. A new insurance code was passed in March 2015, a reform that would open opportunities for the development of the sector by introducing new international players who could develop the sector and lay the foundations for the future development of a capital market. Progress was very slow as up to April 2019, the only insurer, state-owned SONAS (Société nationale d'assurances), had a legal monopoly of insurance activities. In April 2019, four years after

<sup>333</sup> This included: "the need for more flexibility in regulatory acceptable ID documents for KYC and digital transaction limits". Source: Élan (2021i) "ÉLAN RDC Programme Closure Report"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> The Digital Credit and Savings Working Group – DCSWG.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Élan (2021o) "Elan RDC Quarterly Report Q1 2021"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> "Because they are able to aggregate payments across operators, our partners Infoset and Maxicash are perceived as potential threats to individual FSPs' market share. They have been faster than banks and MMOs on interoperability." Élan (2021n) 2020 Annual Report. 2021 Business Plan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Élan (2019f) "Discussion Platform on Digital Finance in the DRC: 2019 MRM Report".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> See Know your customer (KYC) processes and Credit and collateral registries in Annex F.

liberalisation, four private insurance companies were granted licenses to operate, however this may have been late for the Élan project to then fully capitalise on.<sup>335</sup> In its PCR, Élan concluded: "Leasing and insurance have faced significant delays. They are illustrations of how the market system development approach needs to include business environment to launch innovative products that would benefit low income population poor and SMEs. External legal and regulatory reforms are highly needed." <sup>336</sup>

Élan and Essor aimed to collaborate on leasing and insurance but could not influence the sector nor the timing of government reforms. In 2019, Élan convened a workshop together with the IFC, where the main outcome was "a draft amendment to the leasing law which includes revised provisions on fiscal topics such as deduction of depreciation from corporate tax, treatment of VAT, lease equipment registration fee, import tariffs, etc." This draft amendment was shared with the Governor of the Central Bank to "kick-start the official process of revising the leasing law".<sup>337</sup> As of January 2023, it is unclear if any more progress has been made.

### 4.2.2 Practices

A2F sector interventions were split between the two sub-sectors: branchless banking (BB) and SME finance. The majority of BB interventions were put under MSC 3.1 on consumer confidence.<sup>338</sup> The entry point was the marketing campaign intervention, and the work with FINCA on expanding its agent network. Some work was done on new products, including supporting FINCA with its digital strategies, and tie-ups with MNOs such as Vodacom (MSC 3.3). The SME finance work mainly focussed on MSC 4.1 and the CMA model in particular.<sup>339</sup> Partners in Table 23 are listed with the level of AAER (Adopt-Adapt-Expand-Respond) Élan claimed in the 2018 PCR; this also includes players that were not direct partners (ADVANS Banque, RawBank, EcoBank, Mashamba, Canal+) but for whom Élan claimed some replication in the models used.

Intervention partner	Adopt	Adapt	Expand	Respond
Airtel; MSC 3.1	✓ Marketing campaign			
<b>Tigo</b> ; MSC 3.1	✓ Marketing campaign			
Vodacom; MSC 3.1, 3.3	<ul> <li>✓ Marketing campaign; loan product (FINCA)</li> </ul>	✓ Marketing		
FINCA; MSC 3.1, 3.2, 3.3	<ul> <li>✓ Loan product</li> <li>(Vodacom); rural agents; mobile banking</li> </ul>	✓ Marketing	✓ Mobile services	

Table 23:	Flan's assessment of s	vstemic change	using AAFR	framework
		yotonno onango		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> World Bank (2022b) "Country private sector diagnostic"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> Élan (2018d) "Programme Completion Report" (PCR)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Élan (2019j) "2019 Q1 report"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> MSC 3.1 - MNOs and Financial institutions develop financial education programs and other tools to increase confidence in mobile money and other digital financial services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> MSC 4.1 - Financial institutions market adapted and innovative financial products

Intervention partner	Adopt	Adapt	Expand	Respond
Equity Bank (previously ProCredit); MSC 3.2, 3.3, 4.1		<ul> <li>✓ Agri-loans;</li> <li>CMA</li> </ul>	✓ CMA; Agency banking	
ADVANS Banque; MSC 3.1, 3.2			<ul> <li>✓ Agent model; marketing</li> </ul>	
RawBank; MSC 3.1, 3.2			✓ Mobile services; marketing	
EcoBank; MSC 3.1, 3.2			✓ Mobile services; marketing	
<b>TMB</b> ; MSC 3.1			✓ Marketing; CMA	
Mashamba; MSC 4.1			✓ CMA	
Bank of Africa; MSC 4.1	✓ CMA			
COMEXAS; MSC 4.1	✓ CMA	✓ CMA	✓ CMA	
Maizeking; MSC 4.1	✓ CMA			
CMC; MSC 4.1	✓ CMA			
GoCongo; MSC 4.1		✓ CMA	✓ CMA	
Sycomore Venture (Ingenious City); MSC 4.2	✓	1		
Viamo (previously HNI); MSC 4.2				
Canal+; MSC 3.1				✓ Mobile payments

Source: Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

This section focusses on the main interventions within A2F, looking more closely at the mobile money campaign, the work on agent banking, lending to SMEs in new sectors, the new digital finance tie-ups and products that Élan promoted, and the CMA interventions. Additional detail is provided in Annex E.<sup>340</sup>

### Increasing consumer confidence and awareness of mobile money

**Mobile money was a central pillar of Élan's work in A2F from the start, having scored very highly in the initial scoping study for potential sectors.**<sup>341</sup> A study was commissioned early on that was seen to confirm the hypothesis that consumer awareness of how to use mobile money was a major constraint, in particular while there was awareness on the ability to send and receive money using mobile money (61 percent and 50 percent respectively), other functions had very low awareness (for example 'pay bills' – 2 percent). Among sub-groups, females, the poorer and more rural households had lower awareness. There were also trust issues found in the research, linked to some bad experiences around liquidity of agents and network outages.<sup>342</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> See Annexes E.5, E.6, and E.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> ASI (2013c) DRC Market Development Component: Scoping report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014) "Consumer Financial Needs & Behaviour Assessment in DRC".

Élan developed the mobile money information campaign with messages focused on mobile money being safe, fast and time-saving and focussed on the major cities of Kinshasa, Lubumbashi, Bukavu and Goma. The intervention was with the three main MNOs operating mobile money at the time: Airtel, Tigo (which was subsequently purchased by Orange) and Vodacom. The intervention involved the MNOs working together to develop a marketing strategy, under the umbrella of the Central Bank (BCC), to educate consumers on using services. Partnership Agreements were signed in June 2015, and campaigns launched in September 2015, running until December 2015.

An Élan evaluation completed in February 2018 claimed that MNOs had changed their communication strategy as a result of the intervention.<sup>343</sup> The focus had moved from just informing customers about the existence of mobile money products to coaching on how to use the services and why it was beneficial. Promotion used a mix of 'above the line' (radio, TV) and 'below the line' (direct promotion through billboards etc., at merchant or agent stores). The evaluation was unclear in terms of Élan's contribution, but noted that mobile money operators' reported that the campaign contributed about 11 percent to the increased number of accounts. Telecommunications company personnel recently interviewed were unable to recall Élan's role and contribution. Other factors influencing the increase in mobile money accounts included a joint campaign on the BCC revising thresholds for transactions from USD 500 to USD 1,000 per day.<sup>344</sup>

### Improving agent banking networks and new products and services

**Other work in BB included a very small intervention with Orange and Umoja, and more prominently a set of interventions with the largest MFI in the country, FINCA.** While the original market systems analysis had also highlighted mobile money agents and issues of liquidity in these networks, this did not become a major area of intervention.<sup>345</sup> Instead Élan worked with FINCA through two initial interventions from August 2016:

- The first intervention was to support their expansion in Katanga and assess the business case of a rural agent network. Élan connected FINCA with an Agro-dealer, Mulimaji Mwema, who had a network of 17 shops in Likasi who became FINCA agents.
- The second intervention was to develop a bank-to-mobile-wallet platform to link FINCA and Vodacom's M-Pesa services. This formed the basis of a third intervention that would go through to the Élan 1.2 period, a tie-up with Vodacom offering the Lona o Defa product. This was a small unsecured loan product to be available on M-Pesa's menu.

**The main thrust of the first intervention was about risk taking in terms of the geographical roll-out of the agent model**, rather than innovations in the model itself. FINCA was already an innovative MFI and had already developed their main agent banking model, 'FINCA Express', it which a terminal would be used by an Agent, who would receive commission from FINCA but not be a direct employee. The number of FINCA agents increased from 653 in 2015 to 1,400 in 2017, so this was a period of rapid expansion for the

<sup>344</sup> Ibid. Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> "Investing in a robust distribution network is essential to the success of any mobile money service, as it determines both the geographical reach of the customer base and the quality of user experience. Distribution networks for mobile money services are contracted out by MNOs to a system of agents, superagents, and partner financial institutions... There are at least 18,000 mobile money agents across the three services in the DRC, although MNOs report that perhaps just 40 percent of them are active (defined as having facilitated a transaction in the last 30 days)... Agents usually have primary businesses they run in addition to being mobile money agents, such as a shop, or being a money changer (cambiste) or an airtime dealer." Source: ASI (2013b) Market System Analysis Report.

model. The network had been largely urban so Élan aimed to promote the rural expansion. Apart from a general sense of improvement of FINCA's model, revenue and profitability, and increases in its savings and loan portfolios,<sup>346</sup> it has not been possible to clearly ascertain the success of the model or the sustainability of the network Élan supported.

**The second intervention that led to the Lona o Defa product was a potentially important and systemic tie-up**. This would allow consumers to access small loans via their M-Pesa account, from FINCA, which would be unsecured but based on an algorithm developed. There has been increase in the use of the product, with over USD 1 million disbursed, however it is still not profitable and according to both Vodacom and FINCA in interviews, there have been challenges, with the algorithm and tensions between the two in who should promote and fund the enterprise.<sup>347</sup>

### Lending to SMEs in new sectors, particularly agriculture and transport

Another important set of interventions for the A2F sector in the early years of Élan included SME lending within the transport and AgNP sectors, particularly the interventions involving ProCredit Bank (which in 2015 was acquired by Equity Bank).<sup>348</sup> Partnership Agreements between Élan and ProCredit put in place a guarantee fund mechanism that subsidised lending and allowed Élan to facilitate access to finance for some of its intervention partners, including seed producers, OGS, and in the river transport sector.<sup>349</sup> This collaboration was in recognition of the high costs and challenges in accessing finance for SMEs, particularly those operating in agriculture. Loans were provided at 14 or 15 percent interest rates, and no more than 125 percent of the loan value could be requested by the bank in collateral (lower than prevalent rates of 200 percent or more). Élan also provided technical assistance to the borrowing companies and this may have added a layer of assurance for Equity Bank.<sup>350</sup>

Lower interest rates were not maintained, and many partners who had accessed loans are no longer are able to do so,<sup>351</sup> Equity BCDC have a growing agricultural lending portfolio and associated team, with very large targets for coming years. It was outlined in interview that the group aim to reach 30 percent of their lending portfolio in agriculture in the DRC in coming years (from 3 percent).<sup>352</sup> Equity attribute some of this growth to the pilot work with Élan, in particular demonstrating the guarantee fund model that they went onto use with a larger number of development partners, and helped to expand the early agrilending team. If the new targets are met, this could be one of the most significant achievements in terms of systemic change that Élan contributed toward.

### Collateral management agreements (CMAs) to increase access to SME finance

The Collateral Management Agreements (CMAs) provide a model where agricultural stock can be placed under the control of a third-party holder, and the stock can be recognised as collateral and used to secure loans (see Box 10). Élan facilitated two CMA interventions, the first in Kivu with smallholders and two maize millers, and a second pilot in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> FINCA (2017a, 2018, 2019a, 2020, 2021, 2022). Annual Reports.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> See Annex E.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Subsequently in December 2020, Equity Bank Congo (EBC) and Banque Commerciale du Congo (BCDC) to form a new bank Equity Banque Commerciale du Congo (Equity BCDC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> In AgNP - Mimosa, Bon Berger, and Mulagricom, all benefited from the partnership with ProCredit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Élan (2016i) Partnership Agreement between Élan and ProCredit Bank, February 2016 – August 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> According to interviews including Mimosa and Bon Berger.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> A figure confirmed by the Equity Group CEO (see Mutinda, 2022).

Haut Katanga with a large commercial maize producer (A22). The CMA was Élan's effort to develop a financial product to overcome the absence of available collateral, a significant issue facing growth-oriented SMEs.<sup>353</sup> The first CMA was in partnership with Bank of Africa (BOA). BOA opened a line of credit for a total amount of USD 10,000 to the firms Ets Maizeking and CMC, aiming for 48 tonnes of clean and dried corn stored in warehouse operated by a large conglomerate, COMEXAS, in Goma. The intervention failed in part as Élan found it would require 500 tonnes per season to be financially viable, smallholders did not have sufficient maize to store making the transaction costs very high – it took 108 farmers to deposit just 26 tonnes of maize.<sup>354</sup>

### The more successful CMA was launched in Haut Katanga in the beginning of 2017.

ProCredit Bank (which is now Equity BCDC) approved a loan worth USD 350,000 for GoCongo, a large commercial farmer and processor of maize, storing around 800 tonnes in its warehouse, with monitoring and third party verification again provided by COMEXAS. Élan coordinated the relationships and trained COMEXAS and Equity Bank on legal procedures and tools. This allowed GoCongo to store the maize and receive working capital finance as a result. The model had limited focus on SHFs, although it initially tried to link to a smallholder cooperative. The CMA was successful for a number of seasons until recently being discontinued due in part to the high expense of the third-party role provided by COMEXAS. It was seen as a success by GoCongo and Equity BCDC and could potentially be re-started with relatively minimal facilitation. Equity BCDC in interview for this study also say they have developed a similar product aimed at smaller farmers, although the product is not yet on the market.

<sup>353</sup> Élan (2014b) Q2 2014 report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> Élan (2018a) ETS Maizeking, Partnership Closure Report. Picard Sebastien. September 2018.

### Box 10: What are Collateral management agreements (CMAs)?

A Collateral Management Agreement (CMA) is a form of warehouse receipting model, in which agricultural stock can be placed under the control of a third-party holder, and the stock can be recognised as collateral and used to leverage loans. Due to the relatively short time grain will be stored, this is generally for working capital loans, which may be useful for a farmer including to purchase inputs or make other investments for the next season. The model is also used by larger farmers, who have more grain to store, and therefore lower marginal transaction costs than for individual SHFs. For a processing company, grain may be purchased in order to smooth the price volatility caused by seasonal agriculture.

Figure 18 illustrates how the agreement works. If the company is a farmer, the credit line allows them to store grain to sell at a higher price in the off-season. If the company is a processor or trader, it can use the credit line to increase its grain purchase and volume of business. The third party gets a fee for their storage, assessment, and maintenance of the quality and quantity of grain.



### 4.3 Impact of Élan's A2F work

### **Evaluation question:**

- D1: What improvements in income delivered to target beneficiaries, contribution to poverty reduction, and any additional or unplanned impact can be attributed to Élan?
- D2: What factors influenced the impact?

### **Sub-questions:**

- To what extent did Élan's work result in material increased income for target beneficiaries?
- To what extent did Élan contribute to unplanned or additional impacts?

### Key findings:

• The vast majority of beneficiaries and income change impact that Élan estimated for the A2F sector came from the mobile money campaign, and most of this was in indirect impact some years later. The rigour of these estimates was limited.

- Élan estimated the agent banking and other interventions with FINCA had limited impact. The 'Lona o Defa' small loans product has increased in numbers of users but faces issues including high default rates, and is not yet profitable.
- The CMA model did not lead to SHFs benefiting as most of the maize stored came from abroad due to price and quality.
- Mobile money usage increased during Covid, and the pandemic also helped to open up regulatory space around digital finance.
- The financial sector faces major systemic constraints such as the high rate of dollarization, which limits lending and creates complexities for payment systems. These were not within the Élan project's remit, but hampered progress in A2F.

Élan's interventions were designed to generate direct impact for poor people in the DRC. In the A2F sector this was generally as consumers, although producers were also relevant due to the focus on SME finance. Unlike for the AgNP sector, a number of A2F interventions did not have estimates for the net attributable income change (NAIC) indicators, particularly for the Élan 1.2 period. Systems change was also central to the theory of change in part to generate longer-term 'indirect impact', i.e. indirect NAIC over and above the direct impacts of the interventions. The vast majority of NAIC estimated for A2F fell into this indirect category, all via the mobile money information campaign intervention. Within the project's market systems framework this indirect impact would come via the Expand strand, as MNOs continued the marketing approach promoted. The A2F sector also made claims around replication (see Section 4.2.2), particularly around the agent banking model, and also the CMA model. However, neither NAIC, nor beneficiaries, were estimated linked to these results.<sup>355</sup>

This section analyses impact in terms of progress against the two main logframe indicators: 1) the number of poor people "benefiting from" interventions (Section 4.3.1), and 2) the amount by which their income increased (Section 4.3.2). Overall, it is found that there were shortfalls in Élan's impact estimates, with a relative absence of rigorous and/or external evaluation used; a finding in line with previous DSU reports and the same finding as set out for the AgNP sector (see above in Section 3.3).<sup>356</sup>

### 4.3.1 Number of beneficiaries with income change from A2F

The A2F sector contributed 306,408 out of the 1 million beneficiaries Élan had estimated by the end of the project. Unlike with the AgNP sector, the majority of these were not direct beneficiaries, but instead were indirect beneficiaries from the mobile money education campaign intervention early during Élan 1.0. All beneficiaries were estimated to come from the first phase interventions, although some of the benefits were estimated to have accrued in the Élan 1.2 period (for Viamo).<sup>357</sup> Table 24 sets out the interventions in order of the number of beneficiaries. This shows starkly that the vast majority were estimated to come from the mobile money campaign, with just under 80 percent or 244,544 beneficiaries estimated in total. The second highest was Viamo with 16 percent of the

<sup>356</sup> The DSU undertook extensive verification of the NAIC indicator with a sample of interventions looked at in some depth for the first phase of Élan 1.0. DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> It is not entirely clear if this is because Élan did not believe quantitative impact linked to these results, or whether it was a limitation of M&E time, resource and capacity, to estimate them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Élan 1.0 figures from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 figures from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

beneficiaries estimated, based on the intervention that sought to provide messages around access to finance.<sup>358</sup>

Intervention	Туре	Number of beneficiaries (% women)	Share of A2F beneficiaries (%)	Total NAIC (£ millions)	Share of A2F NAIC (%)	NAIC per beneficiary (£)
AF04: Airtel, Tigo, Urban, Vodacom	Branchless banking	244,544 (33% women)	79.8%	8.30	92.7%	34
AF23: Viamo / HNI	Branchless banking	49,852 (17%)	16.3%	0.36	4.0%	64
AF08: FINCA 3	Branchless banking	7,178 (43%)	2.3%	0.11	1.3%	16
AF05: Orange Umoja	Branchless banking	3,322 (33%)	1.1%	0.004	0.04%	1
AF20: Baleinieres CEGs GIEs	River transport	524 (23%)	0.2%	0.04	0.5%	81
AF18: ProCredit Bank	River transport	396 (16%)	0.1%	0.03	0.3%	75
AF19: GEC	River transport	260 (52%)	0.1%	0.01	0.2%	55
AF07: FINCA 2	Branchless banking	223 (12%)	0.1%	0.09	0.1%	395
AF01: BOA, COMEXAS, Maizeking	СМА	108 (0%)	0.04%	0.004	0.04%	37
AF22: GoCongo	CMA	-	-	-	-	-
Totals		306,408		9.0		34

Table 24.	A2E interventions	with the largest	number of	honoficiarios	listod in c	rdor
i abie 24.	AZF Interventions	s with the largest		Demeniciaries	insteu in c	nuer

Source: Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

**Estimates of the just under 50,000 beneficiaries for Viamo made it the second highest number of beneficiaries.** Much of this came up via follow-up study with Viamo and an attempt to get the number of calls accessing the A2F voice messages.<sup>359</sup> Unlike for the AgNP intervention (see Section 3.3.2), Viamo impact estimates in A2F appear to be based on some survey data of beneficiaries including what they did after listening to the messages, however without a clear write-up on the methodology it is not clear how this led to the beneficiary and NAIC estimates.<sup>360</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> There was a related AgNP intervention (NP103) in Élan 1.2, also with Viamo.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Élan (2020m) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: AF23 Viamo"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Élan (2020e) "Analytical report on the dissemination of agriculture information"

### Mobile money

**Two evaluations were carried out to try to estimate the number of additional mobile subscribers that could be attributed to the Élan support.** Élan's initial analysis had stated, "it should be noted that even without [Élan] intervention, mobile money services are likely to expand to millions of additional users over the duration of the project."<sup>361</sup> The challenge in assessing the impact of Élan's support against a counterfactual of no support was a challenge. As outlined in Section 4.2.2, the case was not clearly made in terms of the credibility for the specific qualitative change Élan brought about, but also the quantitative estimates were based on non-rigorous methods.<sup>362</sup>

Élan claimed just under 25,000 direct beneficiaries from the MM intervention, followed by just under 220,000 indirect beneficiaries, the latter for the 2017-2018 period. The assumption was that the strategy from the consumer outreach campaign had continued and Élan had made a permanent change to MNOs' marketing strategies. This latter point was never very clearly evidenced, not least as marketing would have taken place regardless. The first evaluation from December 2015 found 19.6 percent of respondents registered with mobile money because they were convinced by the message of the campaign, representing "120,000 people aged 18 to 65 living in the four cities concerned".<sup>363</sup> As set out in Annex E.6, the evaluation was not clear as over half had registered prior to the launch of the education campaign, and the study also had a very low sample size.

The second evaluation had a larger sample, and estimated the beneficiary numbers based on "declarations from the [mobile money] operators" themselves.<sup>364</sup> It is unclear how the request to provide data was made to the MNOs, or the methodologies the operators used. The study estimated a "joint campaign effect" of 1.29 million extra clients, and 695,000 of these active.<sup>365</sup> The 'declaration by Mobile Money operators' claimed 10.9 percent of these increases were thanks to the joint campaign, attributable to the support of Élan (or 76,000 active clients). Élan's final indirect estimate was based on 'trend analysis' and the claim from operators that "10 percent of the increase in usage was due to the intervention",<sup>366</sup> looking at the overall increase in accounts from 2015 to 2018. The claim is questionable, particularly given the finding in interview for this study that Vodacom had no recollection of Élan's role in the campaign.

### Agent banking / FINCA interventions

**NAIC estimated from the FINCA interventions was relatively small.** Élan worked with FINCA to promote roll-out of its agent network of 'FINCA Express' in Kongo Central province and in Haut Katanga province, aiming to enable low-income people to access financial services. According to Élan, the intervention rolled out 47 agents in Kongo Central and 20 agents in Haut Katanga.<sup>367</sup> As shown in Annex E.5, this was a small proportion of the increase in FINCA agents in the 2015 to 2017 period (from 653 to 1,400, therefore 9 percent of the agents were supported by the Élan intervention). Data collection seemed to show a

<sup>367</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> ASI (2013b) Market System Analysis Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> This would always be very challenging given the difficulty of setting up a counterfactual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Élan (2015d) and Experts (2015)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> Total MM accounts would have been 10.7 million without the campaign but increased to 12 million with it. Active MM accounts of 1.95 million without the campaign, and 2.65 million with it. Source: Élan (2018k).
<sup>366</sup> It is not completely clear but the 10 percent referred to presumably comes from the 10.9 percent from mobile money operator "declarations" within the second evaluation (Élan, 2018k).
<sup>367</sup> Élan (2018c) BCR, Appex 7, Assessing Systemic Change

very small number of new accounts linked to the new agents. It was not possible to get more recent data from FINCA despite requests in interview and by email. Élan monitored the number of people using FINCA accounts in rural areas as well as the number of FINCA accounts connected to Vodafone's M-Pesa account (FINCA Mobile account holders) as outreach. Despite the high investment on FINCA interventions, Élan did not claim any benefits for some of them,<sup>368</sup> estimated 223 beneficiaries for the rural agent model, and 7,178 for the mobile banking model. Data from Élan suggested the main users were civil servants in Kongo Central.<sup>369</sup> It is questionable therefore whether these were the main target beneficiaries of the project.

### 4.3.2 Increased incomes as a result of A2F interventions

The A2F sector did not generate a high quantity of NAIC during the project period, particularly compared to the cost of interventions. As shown in Table 24, according to Élan 1.0 and Élan 1.2 documentation, the total NAIC claimed for the A2F sector was just under £9 million, around 19 percent of the Élan total (compared 20.5 estimated spend of the budget).<sup>370</sup> For Élan 1.2 interventions, no NAIC was claimed, so all the estimated income came from interventions in the first phase of Élan. Élan did not estimate benefits for interoperability or the 'aggegators' intervention, possibly due to the short time-line and Élan's close-down period, potentially leaving some proportion of NAIC under-estimated.

### **Mobile money**

Élan claimed £1.1 million of direct NAIC from the mobile money campaign intervention, followed by £7.2 million of indirect NAIC, the latter for the 2017-2018 period. The impact (NAIC) per beneficiary was USD 41.57 (£32). based on a figure of USD 2 cost saving per month based on one transaction per month.<sup>371</sup> An earlier DSU verification exercise had found Élan's earlier study to over-estimate the saving, for which USD 1 was the value at the time compared to the counterfactual use of money transfer operators (MTOs),<sup>372</sup> but the difference had come down to USD 0.4 per transfer. However, neither value is clear and no rigorous estimate of the cost saving appears to have been conducted (or at least was not documented).<sup>373</sup>

Élan never sought to make broader claims about mobile money use and incomes, and the main rationale for NAIC was simply a direct cost saving as a result of a mobile money transfer as opposed to using a MTO. This limits the nature of claim Élan made but also the generation of wider evidence that could have contributed to the broader mobile money literature discussed, a significant missed opportunity. As set out in Section 4.1.1, there is plausible and strong evidence internationally that incomes can increase as a result of mobile money, and evidence of cost savings. As an example, Seng (2021) in Cambodia finds that households taking up mobile money services are likely to enjoy higher household

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> As shown in Table 34 in Annex E.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Intervention Tracking Tool (ITT) for AF08 (Élan, 2018n);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> Élan 1.0 from Élan (2019d) PWIG; Élan 1.2 from Élan (2021g) Results Tracker

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> Élan (2018l) Intervention Tracking Tool for AF04 intervention (and an embedded Word document called 'Trends analysis')

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> The latter would require the individual to go the MTO office, hence incurring transport costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> The final USD 41.57 NAIC per beneficiary figure for the indirect NAIC estimate, came from 21 months in the Q1 2017 to Q3 2018 period, multiplied by USD 1.98 per month with one transaction per month. This USD 1.98 figure was calculated by the combined effect on senders and receivers when compared to using a MTO. The sources for this latter data are not stated in the documentation. Source: Élan (2018) Intervention Tracking Tool for AF04 intervention.

income per capita, with the complementary finding that households receive greater domestic remittances. There was also the flagship finding from Kenya by Suri and Jack (2016) that access to the Kenyan mobile money system M-Pesa increased per capita consumption levels and lifted 194,000 households, or 2 percent of Kenyan households, out of poverty.

### **SME** lending

The claims for NAIC relating to SME lending, and the ProCredit (Equity Bank) interventions in particular, were very limited. This includes the guarantee fund with just  $\pounds$ 30,000 of NAIC estimated and  $\pounds$ 75 per beneficiary for the river transport loans. However, for the AgNP interventions – loans to Mimosa, Bon Berger, and Mulagricom – could be seen as facilitating the agricultural impact claims (i.e. yield increases were made possible by the loans). These interventions are discussed in Section 3, and together generated over  $\pounds$ 2 million of NAIC.  $\pounds$ Ian separated NAIC by sector, however they could have potentially made a stronger case that these interventions had a significant A2F dimension, and at the least this was an A2F system-level achievement. As noted, the Equity BCDC planned expansion in agri-lending may be linked in part to these initiatives, and are an important potential achievement of  $\pounds$ Ian (see Section 4.4.2).

There is likely limited causality from Élan's interventions to broader changes and progress in SME lending. The proportion of outstanding loans in the economy is low compared to comparator countries although increased in the 2012-2021 period. As a percentage of GDP, commercial bank outstanding loans rose from 4.7 percent in 2012 to 7.5 percent in 2021. This compares to an average of 20 percent in comparator countries, for example at 13 percent in Uganda in 2021, 19.8 percent in Rwanda, and 26.9 percent in Kenya (see Figure 19). The picture is particularly poor in terms of SME loans. Outstanding loans to SMEs from commercial banks made up 0.6 percent of GDP in 2021, with only Zimbabwe having a lower rate. This compared to 3.3 percent in Rwanda and 5.7 percent in Zambia, as shown in Figure 20.





Source: IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey data





Source: IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey data. Botswana & Malawi 2016 used for 2015.

### Work in the MFI and digital finance space with FINCA

Élan claimed no NAIC for the A2F sector during the Élan 1.2 phase. It is not entirely clear why this was the case, as at least one intervention could be expected to have generated NAIC during that period. The Lona o Defa product required FINCA to develop an algorithm to offer small loans to people based on their mobile money savings and their airtime usage. Loans with a minimum of USD 5 and a maximum of USD 250, could be taken out for one, two or four weeks, and accrue a 4.5 percent interest rate (per week). According to FINCA, over USD 1 million has been lent to date. As of 2019, 47,000 people were said to have registered for the loan, and by the end of 2020 the number had reached 78,614.<sup>374</sup> In interview this has now apparently reached 135,000 registered customers (as of 2022). Some NAIC could be expected from this intervention.

**FINCA** made progress in the period although there was a slight relative decline for the MFI sector as a whole. IMF (2023) does not have the figures for MFI deposit accounts but it can be assumed to be a similar picture to commercial bank accounts.<sup>375</sup> However, there has been growth in MFI balance sheets in the past few years. According to data from the Fund for Inclusive Finance in DRC (FPM), deposits with MFIs increased from USD 136 million in 2016 to USD 234 million in 2021. As a proportion of commercial bank deposits in the same period this remained low at 5.5 percent.<sup>376</sup> Loans from MFIs increased from USD 167 million to USD 301 million in the same period. While this increased, the relative value of MFI loans to commercial bank loans decreased, from 5 percent in 2016 to just 2.7 percent in 2021.<sup>377</sup> This potentially signals diminishing relative importance of the MFI sector in the DRC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> FINCA (2020, 2021) DRC Annual reports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> As shown in Figure 21 the DRC had just 74 deposit accounts with commercial banks per 1,000 adults, a 7.4 percent penetration, for the last year available in 2018. This is very low compared to other regional countries, with Malawi and Cameroon at 16 percent, Zambia at 22 percent in 2021, Rwanda at 62 percent, and Ghana at 81 percent. Formal financial inclusion continues to be very low in the DRC against other regional countries. <sup>376</sup> FPM (2022) "Rapport Annuel 2021"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> Ibid. FPM (2022) "Rapport Annuel 2021"





Source: IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey data.

**Despite the changes to FINCA's business model, and continued innovation during the period with which it worked with Élan, the overall value of its portfolio has increased only gradually.** As of 2022, FINCA estimated their average loan size to be USD 1,300, with a USD 72 loan million portfolio, suggesting they have approximately 55,000 in receipt of loans at that time (the majority of their clients are instead savers) and a 26 percent market share for loans made by MFIs.<sup>378</sup> This is shown in Figure 26, which shows that savings have increased from just over USD 50 million in 2017 to USD 70 million in 2021, a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 8.4 percent per year; and the loan portfolio from USD 62 million in 2017 to USD 77 million in 2021, a CAGR of 5.6 percent per year. This suggests steady progress for the DRC's largest MFI, but not a radical increase in its balance sheet.





Source: FINCA (2017a, 2018, 2019a, 2020, 2021, 2022) DRC Annual reports.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> FINCA (2023) DRC website landing page

### 4.3.3 Factors influencing impact

The DRC is a challenging environment and there have only been marginal improvements as set out from Élan's implementation of interventions in the A2F sector despite the progress and growth in the usage of mobile money (see Section 4.4.2). Élan focused its attention to shift some key constraints but these were largely constraints that did not relate directly to policy, regulations and formal rules.

According to IMF's latest FSSR, difficulties in accessing finance remain very severe, and are especially borne by smaller firms in the DRC. Congolese firms report that approximately 92 percent of investment is financed internally compared to the average of 75 percent for SSA firms. Further, available data suggests that access to financing for SMEs in the DRC is inferior to that of households. SMEs accounted for approximately 8 percent of the credit base and 5 percent of the deposit base in 2021, the fourth largest sector behind private enterprises, households, and public enterprises.<sup>379</sup> This aligns with the very low lending to SMEs as shown above in Figure 20.

Many of the challenges in the sector have been discussed throughout this report, particularly those that Élan aimed to address. Some of these are repetitive to the Section 3.3.3, and therefore are kept short here, but factors affecting impact in A2F include:

- The vastness of the DRC, and poor quality of transport and power infrastructure, combined with ongoing security concerns in multiple regions make the DRC a uniquely challenging operating environment for private sector firms including in financial services to operate.
- Maintaining and expanding the agent network for mobile banking, especially into more rural areas, is therefore very challenging. An additional reason for this is that agents require cash and regular top-ups of cash, these will either need to come from 'super-agents', banks or ATMs. Transaction costs in time and effort in areas outside of major urban hubs may therefore be prohibitive, particularly as bank branch and ATM density in the DRC are so low.<sup>380</sup> It may also be difficult to find agents who have sufficient working capital to invest and leave their investment tied up in e-float for a mobile money business, especially in rural areas.<sup>381</sup>
- The Covid pandemic affected the A2F results more severely than other sectors. Key interventions including with FINCA and SMICO (another MFI) were cancelled, which could have had potential to embed impact further.<sup>382</sup> A loan guarantee model with Equity Bank and FINCA during the Covid period had very limited success.<sup>383</sup>
- Poverty in the DRC is a key driver for lack of financial inclusion. As the IMF FSSR found in a survey of potential users, the most frequently cited answer for not having a financial account (75 percent) was simply insufficient funds.<sup>384</sup> This means that while a 'bottom of pyramid' (BoP) strategy may have been logical for Élan, it can also be unrealistic for many, at least for formal accounts.
- According to the World Bank (2020), while regulators in DRC realise the important role of digital finance to promote financial inclusion, other issues have emerged in the enabling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> IMF (2022c) FSSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> A survey funded by Élan found an estimated 73 percent of people did not know where the closest ATM is and 65 percent did not know where the closest bank branch. Source: CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> As found in ASI (2013b) Market System Analysis Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> Although as noted, Covid was also an opportunity for A2F in the policy and payments space.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> See FCDO/DSU (2023) PSD Programme, Programme Completion Report (PCR)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> IMF (2022c) FSSR

environment. This includes that the telecom regulator has imposed taxes on e-money institutions, even against the advice of the BCC. This has led to an elevated cost of usage, which may have affected consumer demand. These were also issues that Élan originally identified but did not become a significant part of the A2F portfolio.

### 4.4 Sustainability of Élan's A2F work

### **Evaluation question:**

• E1: To what extent have the results of Élan in terms of market systems change been sustained?

### Sub-questions:

- Does there continue to be investment in project supported models and building internal operational capacity for the models?
- To what extent have changes in policies and practices and impact achieved by Élan continued without Élan support, and been resilient to changes in the market system?
- What are the key factors helping or hindering their sustainability and resilience?

### Key findings:

- Mobile money access has continued to expand and now reaches one-fifth of the adult population with an active account. This is a rapid rate of increase, although the contribution of Élan most likely is limited.
- Progress on interoperability continues to be made but issues remain including costs of transfer, 'know your customer' protocols, and costs of the National Switch including the role of the Central Bank (BCC).
- There is increasing innovation in the digital finance space including tie-ups with financial institutions and MNOs. Élan had credible attribution to contributing towards the growth of this space.
- The CMA was successful for a number of seasons until recently being discontinued due to high costs of verification. It could potentially be reinstated with minimal facilitation. Equity BCDC also say they have developed a similar product aimed at smaller firms, although the product is not yet on the market.
- Facilitation of the digital finance working group (DCSWG) was handed over to FPM, but has not convened since Élan ended.
- Expansion of Equity BCDC agricultural lending portfolio continues. It is now the second biggest bank in DRC and with a target of 30 percent of their lending portfolio to agriculture. They credit Élan with kick-starting the growth process.

At the outset of the PSD programme, with a market systems design the goal was for Élan to facilitate "large-scale and sustainable improvements in the market systems in which the poor participate".<sup>385</sup> This section sets out findings on the degree of sustainability of the Élan results in the A2F sector as set out in terms of changes in policies and practices (Section 4.2), and in terms of impact for the intended beneficiaries (Section 4.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case

**Overall, financial access and inclusion are increasing, and Élan claimed this was due to their activities**, with some plausible cases particularly around interoperability, the use of CMAs, and potentially future growth in lending to SMEs including in agriculture. This section will try to make a judgement on the plausibility of claims made in order to provide a stronger basis for conclusions on the systemic impact (if any) of Élan in increasing A2F. As with AgNP this is looked at via the 'policy level' (Section 4.4.1), and at the 'firm level' (Section 4.4.2).

### 4.4.1 Sustainability at policy level

As noted in Section 3.4.1, Davies (2017) outlined in the context of economic governance, sustainability can be split between 'reform-level sustainability', and 'system-level sustainability'. The former looks at the de facto reforms undertaken and whether they continue, while the latter looks at the mechanisms to support and sustain reform.

The progress on interoperability is the key achievement in sustainability in terms of financial sector policy and in spurring innovation of private sector actors. The bilateral agreements signed with the facilitation of Élan have led to interoperability between mobile money operators. Constraints eased for the 'aggregator' partners Infoset and MaxiCash have also been sustained, and both compete in the market for interoperable payments and to increase digital payments for merchants and for bill payments in particular. While these steps are nascent, there is some system-level sustainability in evidence.

The digital finance working group has not met since Élan closed (as of November 2022), although FPM claim to intend to continue the work. By handing the DCSWG over to FPM (in the presence of the BCC), Élan aimed to ensure "that the platform will remain prominent, as stakeholders could see the BCC's willingness to engage". On this level of 'system-level sustainability', there is a shortfall (and also a potential gap for future programming, as set out in Section 5).

### Aggregators and digital payments to improve the 'digital eco-system'

**The Aggregators intervention spurred some positive change in the payments system**. MaxiCash is a digital finance company that develops digital payment systems for entrepreneurs. In interview for this study, MaxiCash set out that are now beyond the pilot phase and are now a growing business, with significant help from Élan's support. They were very small when Élan set out with them, and they now have 200,000 users in total. Users can use mobile wallets and/or Maxicash Visa cards to pay in case sellers don't use mobile wallets. This includes providing payment systems for example for a local supermarket, which generates about USD 23,000 in transactions per month. As MaxiCash charge 2.5 percent of each transaction paid by the merchant/seller, this amounts to a good revenue stream for the company. MaxiCash note that the future could see much stronger growth if digital payments can be used for the payment of utility bills (water and electricity) by consumers and which could also save the state large amounts of money that it loses with manual cash payments.

The digital finance interventions mean a greater proportion of payments can be made by payment cards or by mobile phone applications. Infoset are a similar firm to MaxiCash, which began to try to enable parents to make school fees payments online, this had been an arrangement with the government but had been discontinued. Following the support from Élan, they have now grown to over 7,000 users and make around USD 2,000 of profit per month. Payments can be made by card or mobile. The main business model is to digitise payments and provide a platform for SMEs to be paid directly by their customers. Infoset have had issues with the BCC as regulator, and while allowed to maintain their product were asked not to undertake marketing according to Infoset in interview. They are therefore limited to word of mouth marketing, and have also received support from FSD Africa.

**Progress with the National Switch has been made but is limited to local currency.** As noted, the World Bank has financed the modernisation of payments system infrastructures, including a national switch but interoperability is yet to be operationalised in the DRC. While the National Switch is operating ('Switch monetique'), multiple stakeholders in interview noted that the costs have been set too high, which alienates the financial institutions concerned and also makes them prefer their own bilateral or alternative systems. The other limitation is the National Switch only operates in Congolese Francs (CDF), therefore is not yet relevant to the vast majority of financial transactions, which remain in USD.

### 4.4.2 Sustainability at practice level

The more frequent case made by Élan for the sustainability of its successes, was that it had contributed significantly to improvements in financial inclusion. The main claims made were around mobile money. The plausibility of these claims is hard to assess, in part because, as noted, the evaluations into the mobile money campaign were not robust,<sup>386</sup> and also that many factors are likely to have contributed to the growth of mobile money including the dynamism of the companies involved and their experiences from other countries.

### Sustainability of mobile money progress in DRC

**Mobile money was growing rapidly at the start of Élan, making it more difficult to assess the counterfactual that Élan helped to cause the rapid growth since.** Mobile money was launched in DRC in 2012, and according to GSMA data, by December of that year there were 2.8 million registered mobile money users, and 372,000 'active customers'.<sup>387</sup> According to the Central Bank (BCC), by the end of 2014 there were 10.1 million mobile money accounts, with 1.9 million active, and USD 34 million of transactions going through them.<sup>388</sup> This demonstrates the very fast growth rate that was already present at the start of Élan. It was also nearly in line with projections of the MNOs, who had expected 10 to 13 million users within five years (by 2018), or around one-third of the urban population (where presumably they expected users to be mainly living).<sup>389</sup>

Annual growth of active users of mobile money has remained very impressive and been in excess of 25 percent. According to FPM, by 2021, compared to 2.9 million MFI accounts, and 5.4 million bank accounts, there were 10.4 million active mobile money accounts. This represented one-third of the total 30.2 million mobile money accounts. This suggests one-fifth (20.4 percent) of Congolese adults had an active mobile money account in 2021. In comparison, according to the same FPM data source,<sup>390</sup> in 2014 there were 10.1 million mobile money accounts, of which only 1.9 million were active. This suggests a 17 percent compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in mobile money total accounts in the 2014-2021 period, while the CAGR for active mobile money accounts is 27 percent. FPM noted in interview that during Covid, 42 percent of mobile money accounts were active, up from 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> See Annex E.6.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> GSMA – Enabling Mobile Money Policies in the RDC – March 2014, reported in CENFRI et al. (2016c).
 <sup>388</sup> BCC (2014) "Rapport sur la Supervision des Intermédiaires Financiers 2013/2014".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> ASI (2013b) Market System Analysis Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> FPM (2022) "Rapport Annuel 2021"

percent in 2019, suggesting both there was greater need for digital finance during the pandemic, but also that some of the increased use has continued (as of 2021, 34 percent of mobile money accounts were active).



Figure 23: Growth in active mobile money accounts, per 1,000 adults. DRC and selected other regional countries: 2012-2021

Source: IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey data

**Despite the growth in mobile money accounts in DRC, it has not been as rapid as in some other comparator countries.** As shown in Figure 23, the DRC reached 180 active mobile money accounts in 2020 per 1,000 adults, or 18 percent of the adult population. This grew from less than 1 percent in 2013. Other countries that started from a similar point in 2012/2013 have seen faster growth, including upper-middle income Namibia, which has now saturated the market, but also Malawi and Cameroon, which have risen to 50 percent and 55 percent penetration rates respectively. However, the DRC started from a low base, and its CAGR in active mobile money users from 2014 to 2021 was 27 percent as noted. This was below Ghana, Namibia and Zambia, but over double the growth rate in Zimbabwe and Rwanda, and on a par with Cameroon.<sup>391</sup>

The value of financial transactions made via mobile money reached USD 10.2 billion in DRC in 2020, which would suggest around 21 percent of GDP in that year.<sup>392</sup> This again shows a very impressive rate of growth, although remains slightly below the SSA average for mobile money transactions as a share of GDP, which according to the IMF data was at 28 percent in 2020. This is more impressive given that mobile cellular subscriptions per 100 people amount to 49.5 in the DRC compared to an average of 69.9 in fragile state peer countries, and 75.5 in SSA.<sup>393</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> CAGRs for 2014-2020 of active MM users for Ghana, Namibia and Zambia were 34, 36, and 66 percent respectively; for Zimbabwe and Rwanda were 8 and 9 percent respectively; Cameroon was at 26 percent.
 <sup>392</sup> According to IMF (2022c) FSSR
 <sup>393</sup> IMF (2022c) FSSR

### Sustainability of market systems changes stimulated by Élan

Some of the claims for systemic change in its 'Expand' category (within AAER) that Élan made in its Élan 1.0 PCR (see Table 23 in Section 4.2.2) have not been able to be assessed. This included the claim that progress on an agent network had also been made with replication from EcoBank, RawBank and ADVANS Banque. Another important claim made was that TMB had replicated the CMA model in Katanga (see Annex E.7) involving a USD 3 million loan to a large farm, Mashamba. Again, it was not possible to find evidence for this claim, but the interview with TMB for this study would suggest such an intervention had been discontinued if it had occurred, and therefore been a short-term product without sustainability.

The partnership between FINCA and Vodacom for the Lona o Defa, continues and has increased its client base, with USD 1 million lent (see Section 4.3.2). The product provides an example to the market that small unsecured loans using an algorithm are technically possible, but importantly it is not yet profitable according to the interviews with both FINCA and Vodacom, particularly due to high default rates. In addition, there is a disagreement between the parties as FINCA would like 'auto-recovery' of repayments direct from the M-Pesa wallet, a move that Vodacom would not agree to. This means "100 percent of the risk is on the FINCA side" according to FINCA. Both the Vodacom interview for this study, and an evaluation commissioned by Élan found issues with the algorithm, so it appears the product is still a work in progress.<sup>394</sup>

While contribution of Élan may be limited there is some evidence that other MFI providers are innovating in a way to replicate some of FINCA's innovations. Élan claimed that EcoBank has launched a bank wallet service together with Airtel Money, which replicates the FINCA/Vodacom model.<sup>395</sup> The MFI, SMICO, has launched similar partnerships with Orange Money and Airtel, according to the interview for this study with the Microfinance Association.

As set out, while the second CMA intervention was a limited success for a number of seasons, it was discontinued due to the high expense of the third-party role. The CMA was seen as a success by GoCongo and Equity BCDC and could potentially be re-started with relatively minimal facilitation. Equity also say they have developed a similar product aimed at smaller farmers, although the product is not yet on the market.

**Finally, the most exciting development with some causation from Élan is the expressed goal of Equity BCDC to expand and target 30 percent of their lending portfolio to agriculture.** As the second biggest bank in the DRC (with intentions to be the largest), this could signify a major inflow of capital for SMEs and the agriculture in sector. The head of agri-finance credits Élan with kick-starting the growth process in this sector. If future targets were met this could be Élan's most sizeable achievement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Élan & PHB (2020) "Inception Report - «Lona O Defa» Diagnosis"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

## 5 Future programming

# 5.1 What are the implications for FCDO's future programming in Agriculture and A2F in the DRC?

### **Sub-questions**

- 1. What are the key constraints that currently hinder poor producers from improving their productivity, farmer yields and acces to improved inputs? To what extent are these the same or different from constraints that existed 5 10 years ago?
- 2. What are the key constraints that currently hinder poor consumers from increasing their access to finance? To what extent are these the same or different from constraints that existed 5 10 years ago?
- 3. Which constraints are most feasible for a donor-funded initiative to address in the short, medium and longer term? How would they best be addressed?

This final Chapter aims to synthesise the findings from this extensive study. It does so setting out learning key constraints and the progress made, firstly for the AgNP sector (Section 5.1.1), and then for the A2F sector (Section 5.1.2). Finally, some recommendations for future programming are provided, which can also be used as key discussion points from this report (Section 5.1.3).

### 5.1.1 Changes in key market constraints in AgNP

Just over half of the DRC population is estimated to be rural at 54 percent in 2021, implying there are 50 million people living rurally in the DRC.<sup>396</sup> The rural population depends heavily on the agricultural sector. At the outset of Élan it was clear that due to a lack of infrastructure, low levels of technology adoption, and lack of investment, productivity in the agriculture sector is low.<sup>397</sup> There is limited commercial farming, although this may be gradually changing. The millions of SHFs in the DRC face very high constraints including in access to inputs, which Élan attempted to address, but also very high rates of poverty, and as Élan estimated, the vast majority of this group are likely to live below the absolute poverty line (previously USD 1.90 PPP per day for the World Bank, now revised to USD 2.15 PPP).

As of 2019, the agricultural sector employs over 60 percent of Congolese and comprises 19.7 percent of GDP. With 80 million hectares of arable land, 4 million hectares of irrigated land, and many rivers with important fishery resources, the DRC will continue to have the potential to become a global agricultural power.<sup>398</sup> But only 10 million of the country's 80 million hectares of arable land are under cultivation. Commercialising agriculture, increasing yields and increasing the amount of land under cultivation have enormous potential to increase food security and sustainable, equitable economic development.<sup>399</sup>

Average yields and yield growth rates in tropical, rain-fed countries have varied significantly and grown over time, though SSA has lagged behind other regions. For example, from 2005-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> World Bank (2022c) WDI data indicator SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> https://www.trade.gov/country-commercial-guides/democratic-republic-congo-agriculture

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> https://www.usaid.gov/democratic-republic-congo/agriculture-and-food-security

2008, average maize yields were estimated at 3.8 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) in Brazil, 3.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Mexico, and 3.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Thailand, this compared to 1.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in the SSA region.<sup>400</sup> Yield estimates in the DRC are likely even lower, including the much cited figure from Élan of 0.77 t ha<sup>-1</sup> and also backed up by some of the studies Élan undertook. As academic studies have found, climate change is likely to further constrain SHF production.<sup>401</sup> Access to improved varieties including those being developed within SSA and for the SSA region, by the likes of CIMMYT, will be vital to ensure yields do not fall but rise in coming years. Given the growing population, demand for food will create a larger gap with production in coming years, putting a major strain on the economy through imports unless domestic agriculture takes off.<sup>402</sup> Commercialisation of agriculture in non-forested regions also has the potential to reduce pressure on deforestation to grow food, particularly in the northern half of the country where the rainforest is concentrated.

Élan's major focus on seeds for AgNP was logical as has been set out. However, the seed sector remains very small. The TASAI index allows benchmarking on the quantity of seed produced, showing the DRC produces just 0.02 kg of certified seed per person far lower than most regional country comparators, the highest being 2.92 kg/person in Zimbabwe.<sup>403</sup> Despite this low base, a number of the seed producers that Élan worked with are still operating and expanding gradually. The regional companies, NASECO from Uganda, and Seed Co from South Africa, are the two most positive case studies. NASECO has already invested in producing in the DRC, while Seed Co still intend to do so when conditions are right and they reach sufficient sales volume. This has likely led to a gradual increase in smallholder farmers using improved seeds. However, a bigger opportunity is in gradually commercialising DRC farming. This relies on hybrid seed rather than the local OPV seed produced, but also availability of other inputs such as fertiliser.

An important learning point from the project was the importance of the governance constraints. The DRC does not have a seed system that can produce modern hybrid seed, and barriers to trade mean the prices of hybrid seed on the market are higher than in regional countries. Élan only interacted with the major system issues on the margin. The national research institution (INERA) and the national seed certification body (SENASEM), remain chronically under-funded and lack sufficient capacity to develop new varieties, produce breeder and foundation seeds, or to certify seeds. This is also true of other institutions such as in agricultural statistics, a dormant national maize research centre (CRM), and in agriculture funding more broadly.<sup>404</sup> The result is that most seed that is identified as certified is actually not quality seed, or may not be,<sup>405</sup> and fake seeds, counterfeits and illegal imported seeds are ubiquitous in the market. It is then very challenging for professional seed companies to compete, and the poor quality of seed in the market further weakens farmer demand for improved seed, creating a vicious cycle of underinvestment in seed production and distribution.<sup>406</sup>

Élan gradually increased their focus on the regulatory side of the AgNP to attempt to deal with some of the chronic system issues. This included the work with TASAI and developing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> Smale et al. (2011) "Maize revolutions in sub-Saharan Africa"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> For example, Westengen et al. (2014), Setimela et al. (2018), and Chivasa et al. (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> ISS (2023) DRC Country page

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> TASAI (2018a) "TASAI Appendix 1", Sep 2018 version

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup> As relayed to us in interview with the Ministry of Agriculture provincial office in Lubumbashi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> We visited the SENASEM laboratory in Lubumbashi which clearly had not been fully operational for many years. There was only one sample on site for example.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> A situation akin to that set out in Akerlof (1970) "The Market for Lemons: Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism".

seed sector strategies with the seed councils (COPROSEM), revisions of the seed law, and towards the end of the project, meetings with the Ministry of Agriculture (MINAGRI) to try to push the seed law forward. However, these issues all remain live, and there are clear openings for any future programming to focus on.

### 5.1.2 Market changes with the greatest effect on financial inclusion

According to the IMF (2022c) in 2022, only 26 percent of the population have an account with a financial institution. According to FPM, by 2021, compared to 2.9 million MFI accounts, and 5.4 million bank accounts, there were 10.4 million active mobile money accounts.<sup>407</sup> Mobile money is therefore now the most common means of formal financial access for Congolese. However, as surveys commissioned by Élan generally found, the majority of mobile money usage was for payments, rather than for savings, loans or other services. As such the state of financial inclusion has only improved in some respects since the last major survey of FinScope in 2014.

Financial services more generally are also heavily constrained, including for SMEs (see Sections 4.3.2 and 4.3.3). Furthermore, access to credit is also geographically concentrated; with 87 percent of loans in just two of the 26 provinces.<sup>408</sup> Banks' profitability is declining and among the lowest in SSA, where despite interest margins of over 10 percentage points, banks do not lend domestically and prefer low-yielding placements abroad with correspondent banks.<sup>409</sup> Further, latest data reports non-performing loans (NPLs) at 8.5 percent of total loans, but according to IMF (2022c), NPLs are probably underestimated because of measures that provided regulatory forbearance during the pandemic.

The financial sector remains very fragile and is one of the shallowest in SSA and the world. As set out in this report, the very high rate of dollarization places many constraints on the system, many of which are probably not fully understood, in particular in terms of how banks themselves manage their balance sheet. While it may provide some stabilisation, it is known to reduce the risk taking of the financial sector, particularly in terms of lending to MSMEs. Another regulatory issue is KYC regulation, in terms of the ID required to gain access to a financial services account.<sup>410</sup> This is also important in the case of bilateral interoperability, as KYC is a minimum-criteria for using the bilateral arrangement between Orange and Vodacom discussed in the report and to which Élan contributed.<sup>411</sup>

In the A2F sector work of Élan, there are major successes to build on. The digital payments space has grown though massive opportunities remain, particularly if more types of payments can be paid with mobile technology (utility bills etc.). In addition, the expansion of Equity BCDC's agricultural lending portfolio and the target of 30 percent for lending to go to agriculture is potentially transformative for the sector. The Equity agri-lending team credited Élan with kick-starting the case for growth, and while this can only amount to partial contribution at best, it signifies the type of catalytic impact that pilot initiatives can have. Finally, mobile money continues to grow in user numbers and transaction volumes and values. Attribution is difficult but Élan claimed its own significant contribution to the sector's growth through the emphasis on consumer education.

<sup>407</sup> FPM (2022) "Rapport Annuel 2021"

<sup>408</sup> IMF (2022c) FSSR

<sup>409</sup> Ibid. IMF (2022c) FSSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> See Know your customer (KYC) processes in Annex F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> According to the interview for this study with Vodacom.

In A2F, the bilateral interoperability work came late in the first phase of Élan 1.0, while in the second phase the Digital Credit and Savings Working Group (DCSWG) was a forum to interface with the BCC and promote sector advocacy. Similar initiatives were promoted in the humanitarian contexts of eastern DRC for 'markets in crisis' and payments in particular during the Covid pandemic. These have slowed down since despite the DSCWG being handed over to FPM. There is clearly a need and a gap for reinvigoration into the sector for future programming, showing the value that Élan brought, particularly in its role as a facilitator in a low trust environment.

### 5.1.3 Recommendations for future FCDO support

The UK government made a substantive investment in seeking to catalyse the economy of the DRC through its £100 million Private Sector Development (PSD) programme. Over half of this was through the Élan DRC project, and the other project Essor had a £35 million flexible facility aiming to improve the DRC's business enabling environment.<sup>412</sup> As set out at the start of this report, complexity was at the heart of the design of the programme, and in this it was both ambitious and aiming to address perceived shortfall with linear thinking. The 'problematique' that was at the heart of the PSD programme design (see Figure 36 in Annex G) remains highly relevant. Notably the weak state of the public and private sectors, and the way in which these combine to create 'vicious traps' and multiple market failures.

Élan's sector work in AgNP and A2F provided some important successes. The most impressive being the continued presence and growth of regional hybrid seeds producers (NASECO and Seed Co), the successful implementation of the CMA model, and improvements to bilateral interoperability and support to innovative service providers in the digital finance market. The work provides a good legacy of the Élan project and the UK's investment in the two sectors and testament to hard work of the Élan team and partners, all operating in a very difficult context. It also provides a foundation that can be built upon, not least as the markets remain fragile and many of the systemic constraints in the DRC market remain, particularly the more binding constraints in infrastructure, logistics, and governance.

An important overall learning point on the project experience has been on the relative balance between private sector engagement and a focus on more governance, regulatory and policy issues. The combined PSD programme included Élan as the market systems project, and Essor as a business environment reform project, in theory providing a twin approach to dealing with private and public sector-driven constraints respectively. However, the two projects largely worked independently on separate parts of the system, with a few exceptions. In leasing and insurance, Élan highlighted the importance of these issues and close collaboration including with other development partners.<sup>413</sup>

The entry points for Élan were much more frequently private sector providers. A strong rationale for this was that policy reform was uncertain, government unpredictable, and reform may also take many years to achieve.<sup>414</sup> The private sector's capacity to innovate, achieve scale and change market systems was therefore more likely to lead to system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> The third project is the Decision Support Unit (DSU).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Élan (2018d) "Programme Completion Report" (PCR)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> The draft seed law, was initially written more than 15 years ago and although revised to align with the provisions of the COMESA and SADC harmonised seed trade regulations, was submitted to Parliament in 2018 and is still awaiting deliberation. It has not been passed for (apparently petty) political reasons rather than technical challenges or constraints. Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.
change, particularly for the period of time in which Élan had to achieve change. However, even this approach at times under-emphasised the role of government.

The findings and learning points specified provide a number of possible routes for future programming. Some ideas are provided in Table 25 below, and while these are provided as recommendations they are more importantly areas for discussion and further thought. The nine years of Élan provide a wide and rich set of learning and experiences, as discussions with ex-staff of the project strongly attest. The notes here try to distil the main messages that come from the detailed review on AgNP and A2F undertaken.

Recommendations are provided for each sector, for market systems and complexity programming, and for learning and monitoring and results measurement (MRM). Related learning points on each theme are also included to give a clearer sense of what from this sector study of Élan has underpinned the forward-looking recommendations:

#### Table 25: Study recommendations for FCDO

Recommendation	Related learning points
AgNP	
<ul> <li>R1: The DRC seed system remains nascent and progress that has been made is fragile. Where possible, the production and distribution of hybrid seed in the DRC should remain a central pillar for future programming as seed quality remains a binding constraint for farmers to improve yields.</li> <li>R2: The focus in agriculture should include larger farmers if transformation is the objective. Such farmers are already achieving high yields in the DRC and a greater area of land under their management is likely essential for transformation in the sector's productivity.</li> <li>R3: Constraints in the seed system are heavily related to under-funding of key institutions such as INERA and SENASEM. Programming should seek to address these constraints and the market failures they lead to (for example, information asymmetries on seed quality).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Interventions related to importing quality hybrid seed were more successful than those producing and selling locally grown OPV seed, principally because international companies had higher capabilities than local businesses.</li> <li>Provincial governments are major buyers of seed, something that may disincentivise SHFs from purchasing quality seed themselves.</li> <li>There are challenges to marketing of OPV seeds due to their intellectual property being limited. Hybrid seeds are easier to brand and package effectively while maintaining consistent products. However, both require good quality assurance.</li> </ul>
A2F	
<ul> <li>R4: Equity BCDC's ambitions presents a major opportunity to grow agricultural lending in the DRC with large lending targets in place for coming years. Future programming in A2F should consider how to support the Bank in achieving growth objectives while also seeking to ensure that smaller and poorer farmers and MSMEs can also benefit (including overcoming the collateral requirements they face), while the protection of the environment also remains strong.</li> <li>R5: The digital finance eco-system continues to provide the most dynamic growth sector in the finance industry that interfaces with ordinary and poorer consumers. Many opportunities remain and can be catalysed, particularly in digitising more of the everyday payments consumers make.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Élan's efforts to promote SME and agriculture lending had limited success but pilot interventions did stimulate some innovation in the sector (particularly the credit guarantee model, micro-loans via mobile phone, and the CMA model).</li> <li>Agricultural sector firms, farms and MSMEs continue to face high costs of capital and high collateral requirements, compared to their ability to pay and their stock of assets. Continued innovation in products and systems (to credit scoring, types of collateral etc.) are required to address these groups.</li> </ul>
<b>R6:</b> Innovation in financial services remains the most likely route to improve financial inclusion, including for	<ul> <li>Financial inclusion remains low in the DRC, particularly for savings, insurance</li> </ul>

Recommendation	Related learning points
relatively untapped sectors such as MSME lending and micro-insurance. Future focus on these areas will require strong expertise to support profitable and impactful opportunities.	and lending. Many everyday payments are still not possible to make by digital means.
Market systems and complexity	
<ul> <li>R7: There should be greater reflection on the PSD programme experience in terms of the balance between business environment reform and market development. The diagnosis that both are important still holds, but effective system change requires close and coordinated working to achieve across the public and private sectors.</li> <li>R8: There will be complex interplay between the Congolese agriculture sector and the threats from climate change over coming years. This provides a strong case for maintaining a focus on many of the Élan project's goals and the complexity-driven approach it used. Future programming should carefully seek to balance support for resilience to the changing climate (including improved and 'climate-resilient' seeds), and support to climate change mitigation (including avoidance/reduction of deforestation).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Élan focused mainly on working with businesses and avoided interactions with government and may have missed opportunities to address critical constraints required for market systems changes.</li> <li>A combined PSD approach of focussing on both government and the private sector remains highly relevant in the DRC, but requires closer coordination between the two for success.</li> <li>Agriculture is critical for climate change adaptation, but also poses threats in terms of emissions due to linkages with deforestation in the DRC.</li> </ul>
Learning and MRM	
<ul> <li>R9: Good quality and timely analysis related to market systems changes is imperative to help strategy development and adaptation. Donors should moderate their demands for beneficiary impact data to the context of the programme, its objectives and realistic timeframes so to create positive incentives for implementers.</li> <li>R10: Development projects operating in market systems should seek and maintain high standards in the quality of impact evaluation and learning. In agriculture, a strong understanding of measuring yields including via counterfactual studies is vital for effective learning and adaptive programming.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Élan's management systems and practices systematically over-estimated the number of beneficiaries and level of increased income, most likely because of incentives the logframe provided.</li> <li>Élan's evaluations, although many in number, were not high quality, and often did not use rigorous methods or external third-party providers to avoid over-optimism bias in estimates generated.</li> </ul>

# Annex A References

Shorthand	Full Reference
Abate et al. (2017)	Abate, T., Fisher, M., Abdoulaye, T., Kassie, G.T., Lunduka, R., Marenya, P., Asanke, W., 2017. "Characteristics of maize cultivars in Africa: how modern are they and how many do smallholder farmers grow?" Agric. Food Secur. 6, 30. Doi:10.1186/s40066-017-0108-6.
Abor et al. (2018)	Abor, Joshua Yindenaba, Mohammed Amidu, Issahaku Haruna (2018) "Mobile Telephony, Financial Inclusion and Inclusive Growth", Journal of African Business, January 2018, DOI:10.1080/15228916.2017.1419332.
Access to Seeds Foundation (2016)	Access to Seeds Foundation (2016) "Access to Seeds Index Report 2016", The Netherlands Ministry of Economic Affairs, The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. Ido Verhagen, Coosje Hoogendoorn, Sanne Helderman, Wouter Kleijn, Anke van Bruggen. February 2016.
AGRA et al. (2019)	AGRA, Rockefeller Centre, Seed Systems Group (2019) "Feasibility Study for the Development of Public-Private Seed Delivery Systems in DRC: Report on Democratic Republic of Congo Seed Systems", Professor ASANZI Christophe, October 2019
Aker et al. (2014)	Aker, Jenny, Rachid Boumnijel, Amanda McClelland, and Niall Tierney (2014) "Payment Mechanisms and Anti-Poverty Programs: Evidence from a Mobile Money Cash Transfer Experiment in Niger", Center for Global Development (CGD) Working Paper 268, Center for Global Development, August.
Akerlof (1970)	Akerlof, George A. (1970) "The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism", The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 84, No. 3 (Aug., 1970), pp. 488-500
Alampay et al. (2017)	Alampay, Erwin A., Goodiel Charles Moshi, Ishita Ghosh, Anna Lyn C. Peralta, Juliana Harshanti (2017) "The impact of mobile financial services in low- and lower-middle-income countries", International Development Research Centre, Ottawa, Canada, and the Department for International Development, UK.
Ali et al. (2020)	Ali, Akhter, AbduRahman Beshir Issa, Dil Bahadur Rahut (2020) "Adoption and Impact of the Maize Hybrid on the Livelihood of the Maize Growers: Some Policy Insights from Pakistan", Scientifica Volume 2020, Article ID 5959868, 8 pages doi:10.1155/2020/5959868
ALTAI Consulting (2016)	ALTAI Consulting (2016) "Opportunités Offertes Par Le Mobile Money Pour Les Institutions Financières en RDC. Synthèse publique". Supported by Élan, RawBank, Bank of Africa, ProCredit Bank, BCC, FINCA and iFinance. 9 September 2016.
APBREBES (2021)	APBREBES (2021) "Members of International Union for the Protection of New Varieties and Plants (UPOV)", November 2021 – from Wikimedia Commons – https://upload.wikimedia.org/119ikipedia/commons/2/22/Worldmap_UPOV_status _apbrebes_November_2021.pdf – accessed December 2022.
Aron (2015)	Aron, Janine (2015) "'Leapfrogging': a Survey of the Nature and Economic Implications of Mobile Money", Institute for New Economic Thinking at the Oxford Martin School, University of Oxford
ASI (2013a)	ASI (2013) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan", November 2013.
ASI (2013b)	ASI (2013) "DRC Market Development Component: Market Systems Analysis Report". August 2013

Shorthand	Full Reference
ASI (2013c)	ASI (2013) "DRC Market Development Component: Scoping Report". May 3 <sup>rd</sup> 2013
ASI (2013d)	ASI (2013) "ELAN RDC Monitoring & Results Measurement Manual Version 2.0".
ASI (2013e)	ASI (2013) "DRC Market Development Component: 5 Year Strategic Plan". July 2013.
Axmann et al. (2019)	Axmann, Nikolaus, Torben Fischer, Kevin Keller, Kevin Leiby, Daniel Stein, and Paul Wang (2019) "Access and Adoption of Hybrid Seeds: Evidence from Uganda", Journal of African Economies, 2019, 1–21 doi: 10.1093/jae/ejz019
Badu-Apraku et al. (2022)	Badu-Apraku B, Bankole FA, Abiodun OS, Titilayo DOF, Ranajit B, Alejandro OB (2022) "Identification of early and extra-early maturing tropical maize inbred lines with multiple disease resistance for enhanced maize production and productivity in sub-Saharan Africa". Plant Dis. P 32. DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-12-21-2788-RE
Baffes and Koh (2022)	Baffes, John and Wee Chian Koh (2022) "Fertilizer prices expected to remain higher for longer", World Bank Data blog – https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/fertilizer-prices-expected-remain-higher- longer – accessed December 2022.
Bangens and Söderbergh (2011)	Bangens, Lennart and Bjorn Söderbergh (2011) "Mobile money transfers and usage among micro- and small businesses in Tanzania: implications for policy and practice". From www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment.
Barriga and Fiala (2018)	Barriga, Alicia and Nathan Fiala (2018) "The Supply Chain for Seed in Uganda: Where Does It All Go Wrong?", Ruhr Economic Papers #754, RWI – Leibniz- Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung.
Batista and Vicente (2020)	Batista, Catia and Pedro C. Vicente (2020) "Improving access to savings through mobile money: Experimental evidence from African smallholder farmers", World Development 129 (2020) 104905.
BCC (2014)	BCC (2014) "Rapport sur la Supervision des Intermédiaires Financiers 2013/2014". Décembre 2014.
BCC (2019)	BCC (2019) "Rapport sur la Supervision des Intermédiaires Financiers 2017". Septembre 2019
BCC (2020)	BCC (2020) "Rapport sur la Supervision des Intermédiaires Financiers 2018". Novembre 2020
BCC (2021)	BCC (2021) "Rapport Annuel 2020", Kinshasa, le 27 Décembre 2021.
Bekkers and Zulfiqar (2020)	Bekkers, H. & Zulfiqar, M. (2020) "The story of MSD: achieving sustainable development at scale", BEAM Exchange, accessed from www.beamexchange.org in December 2022
Bentley et al. (2011)	Bentley J. W., Van Mele P., David Reece J. (2011). "How seed works". In Van Mele P., Bentley J. W., Guéi R. G. (Eds.), African seed enterprises: Sowing the seeds of food security (pp. 8-24). Cambridge, MA: CABI.
Bianchi et al. (2021)	Bianchi, Milo, Matthieu Bouvard, Renato Gomes, Andrew Rhodes, Vatsala Shreeti (2021) "Mobile Payments and Interoperability: Insights from the Academic Literature", Toulouse School of Economics + FIT IN Initiative, with the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.
Bourreau and Hoernig (2016)	Bourreau, Marc and Steffen Hoernig (2016) "Interoperability of mobile money: International experience and recommendations for Mozambique". S-36404-MOZ- 1. September 2016.
Bourreau and Valletti (2015)	Bourreau, M. and Valletti, T. (2015). "Enabling Digital Financial Inclusion through Improvements in Competition and Interoperability: What Works and What Doesn't?" Center for Global Development, Policy Paper 065.

Shorthand	Full Reference
Bulte et al. (2014)	Bulte, Erwin, Gonne Beekman, Salvatore Di Falco, Joseph Hella and Pan Lei (2014) "Behavioral Responses and the Impact of New Agricultural Technologies: Evidence from a Double-blind Field Experiment in Tanzania". American Journal of Agricultural Economics Vol. 96, No. 3 (April 2014), pp. 813-830. Oxford University Press
Cairns et al. (2013)	Cairns, J.E., Hellin, J., Sonder, K., Araus, J.L., MacRobert, J., Prasanna, B.M. (2013) "Adapting maize to climate change in sub-Saharan Africa". Food Security 5, 345–360.
CBT RD Congo (2010)	CBT RD Congo (2010) "Etude Preparatoire du PIC 2010-2013, Financement de la filiere semenciere des cultures vivrieres."
CENFRI et al. (2016a)	CENFRI, FINMARK TRUST, UNCDF (2016) "Democratic Republic of the Congo. Financial inclusion country report 2016". Mia Thom, Barry Cooper, Jaco Weideman, Wicus Coetzee, Jeremy Gray, Christine Hougaard, and Henri Plessers.
CENFRI et al. (2016b)	CENFRI, FINMARK TRUST, UNCDF (2016) "Pushing the Financial Services Access Frontier in the Democratic Republic of the Congo Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2016 – 2021". Mia Thom, Barry Cooper, Jaco Weideman, Wicus Coetzee, Jeremy Gray, Christine Hougaard, and Henri Plessers.
CENFRI et al. (2016c)	CENFRI, FINMARK TRUST, UNCDF (2016) "Making Access Possible: DRC. Presentation of Results", Kinshasa, 9 May 2016.
CENFRI et al. (2016d)	CENFRI, FINMARK TRUST, UNCDF (2016) "Making Access Possible: DRC. Financial Inclusion Diagnostic Report", Mia Thom, Barry Cooper, Jaco Weideman, Wicus Coetzee, Jeremy Gray, Christine Hougaard, and Henri Plessers.
CGAP and IFC (2013)	CGAP and IFC (2013) "Financial Access 2012. Getting to a More Comprehensive Picture", Oya Pinar Ardic, Kathryn Imboden, and Alexia Latortue. Access to Finance Forum Reports by CGAP and Its Partners No. 6, June 2013
Chivasa et al. (2022)	Chivasa, Walter, Mosisa Worku, Adefris Teklewold, Peter Setimela, James Gethi, Cosmos Magorokosho, Nicholas J. Davis, Boddupalli M. Prasanna (2022) "Maize varietal replacement in Eastern and Southern Africa: Bottlenecks, drivers and strategies for improvement". Global Food Security 32 (2022) 100589
Damania et al. (2016)	Damania, R., A. Alvaro, F. Barra, M. Burnouf, and D. Russ, D. 2016. "Transport, Economic Growth, and Deforestation in the Democratic Republic of Congo: A Spatial Analysis." Working Paper 103695, World Bank, Washington, DC.
Davies (2017)	Davies, Gareth (2017) "Is a genuinely sustainable, locally-led, politically-smart approach to economic governance and Business Environment Reform possible? Lessons from 10 years implementing ENABLE in Nigeria." Adam Smith International and Springfield Centre.
Demirgüç-Kunt et al. (2022)	Demirgüç-Kunt, Asli, Leora Klapper, Dorothe Singer, and Saniya Ansar (2022) "The Global Findex Database 2021: Financial Inclusion, Digital Payments, and Resilience in the Age of COVID-19". Washington, DC: World Bank. Doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-1897-4.
Devkota et al. (2016)	Devkota, K.P., McDonald, A.J., Khadka, L., Khadka, A., Paudel, G. and Devkota, M. (2016). "Fertilizers, hybrids, and the sustainable intensification of maize systems in the rainfed mid-hills of Nepal". European Journal of Agronomy 80, 154–167. Doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2016.08.003
DFID (2013)	DFID (2013) "Business Case: Private Sector Development in DRC"
DFID/DSU (2015)	DFID/DSU (2015) "Private Sector Development Programme: Market Development Subcomponent – ÉLAN RDC. 2015 Annual Review". Review Date: February 2015
DFID/DSU (2016)	DFID/DSU (2016) "Private Sector Development Programme: Market Development Subcomponent – ÉLAN RDC. 2016 Annual Review". Review Date: March 2016

Shorthand	Full Reference
DFID/DSU (2017)	DFID/DSU (2017) "Private Sector Development Programme: Market Development Subcomponent – ÉLAN RDC. 2017 Annual Review". Review Date: February 2017
DFID/DSU (2018a)	DFID/DSU (2018) "Private Sector Development Programme: Market Development Subcomponent – ÉLAN RDC. 2018 Annual Review". Review Date: February 2018
DFID/DSU (2018b)	DFID/DSU (2018) "Project Completion Review post April 2018", Review date: November 2018
Di Castri (2014)	Di Castri, Simone (2014) "Enabling Mobile Money policies in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Leadership, pragmatism, and participatory approach to creating a competitive market", GSMA, March 2014.
Djomo Sime et al. (2017)	Djomo Sime, Hervé, Grace Annih Mbong, Dorothy Kenyi Malla, Christopher Suh (2017) "Effect of different doses of NPK fertilizer on the growth and yield of rice in Ndop, North West of Cameroon", African Journal of Agricultural Research. Vol. 12(15), pp. 1244-1252, 13 April, 2017. DOI: 10.5897/AJAR2017.12127
DSU (2017)	DSU (2017) "Verification and Results Assessment: ÉLAN". Andrzej Dabkowski, Jesse McConnell, Jonathan Mitchell, Hamish Colquhoun, Tim Mitchell, Alistair Haynes, Esther Namuskasa and Sneha Menon. November 2017.
DSU (2018a)	DSU (2018) "Mid-term evaluation (MTE) of ÉLAN Final Report". 31st May 2018
DSU (2018b)	DSU (2018) "Mid-term evaluation (MTE) of ÉLAN Technical Annex: Sector Reviews and Case Studies", Andrzej Dabkowski, Paul Zille, Stephen Jones, Terence Beney, Hamish Colquhoun, Pierre Grega, Jonathan Mitchell, Tim Mitchell, Arlette Nyembo, and Johan Verhaghe. May 2018
DSU (2018c)	DSU (2018) "Verification and Results Assessment: ELAN Final Consolidated Report". Sadia Ahmed, Jonathan Mitchell, Andrzej Dabkowski, Arlette Nyembo, Olivier Mumbere. December 2018.
DSU (2019)	DSU (2019) "ÉLAN Agricultural Perennial Sector Study", Sadia Ahmed, Hamish Colquhoun, Alistair Grattidge, Adam Kessler, Jonathan Mitchell, Stephen Jones. September 2019.
DSU (2020a)	DSU (2020) "Elan NAIC Reliability Assessment", December 2020
DSU (2020b)	DSU (2020) "Elan NAIC Reliability Assessment" supporting document – DSU OPM ELAN Results Reliability Matrix v3 Working Version3 16DEC2020_SA updated.xlsx
DSU (2020c)	DSU (2020) "FCDO's Private Sector Development Programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Final Evaluation Design Paper. Revisions to 2019 Design". 22 September 2020.
DSU (2021)	DSU (2021) "Renewable Energy Sector Study", August 2021. Donna Loveridge, Arlette Nyembo.
Élan (2014a)	Élan (2014) "Quarterly report: July – September 2014", Q3 2014 report.
Élan (2014b)	Élan (2014) "Quarterly report: April – June 2014", Q2 2014 report, 29 July 2014.
Élan (2014c)	Élan (2014) "Access to Finance Strategy", October 2014
Élan (2014d)	Élan (2014) "Mapping the Financial Sector in DRC and Identifying Opportunities for the Access to Finance Sub Component ", Xavier Desmoulin, February 2014
Élan (2015a)	Élan (2015) "2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan", January 19 <sup>th</sup> 2015
Élan (2015b)	Élan (2015) "Quarterly Report Q1 2015 Annexes – Annex 6 dated February 2014 – Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment in the DRC"
Élan (2015c)	Élan (2015) "Final monitoring and measurement report for the 2015 partnership between Mbeko Shamba farm and Élan RDC". By Alain Musangu Mulumba, Monitoring and Result Management Unit. December 2015.

Shorthand	Full Reference
Élan (2015d)	Élan (2015) "Campagne Mobile Money. Rapport d'évaluation » Leon Kadiobo. November 2015.
Élan (2015e)	Élan (2015) "Evaluation du projet pilote CMA maïs au Nord Kivu: développement du produit financier d'accès au credit bancaire contre stocks avec tierces detentions". Rodrigue Bahati. November 2015.
Élan (2015f)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC Quarterly Report Q1 2015 (January – March)", April 2015
Élan (2015g)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC Quarterly Report Q3 2015 (July – September)", October 2015
Élan (2016a)	Élan (2016) "Projet d'appui aux petits producteurs de riz de Kashobwe par RTMK: Rapport d'évaluation finale du projet de contractualisation de la production et la commercialisation de riz à Kashobwe, province du Katanga." By Laurent Bujiriri, MRM Analyst and Jean-Charles Rouge, MRM Manager. November 2016.
Élan (2016b)	Élan (2016) "Lecon Apprise – Partage Rapide Hebdomadaire. (Rapid Monitoring Report) Regina Mundi." By: Laurent Bujiriri et Francis Kabwe, Date: 17-23 Septembre 2016
Élan (2016c)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC Quarterly Report Q1 2016 (January – March)", April 2016
Élan (2016d)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC 2016 Annual Report and 2017 Business Plan"
Élan (2016e)	Élan (2016) "Développement de partenariats privés pour Ceprosem", June 2016
Élan (2016f)	Élan (2016) "Projet pour l'amélioration des moyens de 123frica123on123e et de la sécurité alimentaire des petits exploitants par le biais de l'agriculture avec SEK et Seed Co. Rapport d'évaluation finale du projet d'appui à l'accès aux intrants agricoles, province du Katanga". By Laurent Bujiriri, MRM Analyst and Jean-Charles Rouge, MRM Manager. December 2016.
Élan (2016g)	Élan (2016) "Pilot monitoring report: Project to set up a system allowing access to agricultural inputs, agronomic and management advice, agricultural mechanization, and markets by small producers of Bunkeya." Laurent Bujiriri, August 2016.
Élan (2016h)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC Quarterly Report Q2 2016 (April-June)", July 2016
Élan (2016i)	Élan (2016) "Contrat de Partenariat, Adam Smith International représentant ÉLAN RDC, et ProCredit Bank Congo S.A. du 26 Février 2016 au 26 Août 2017", file – PA_ProCredit Bank_Guarantee_Feb 2016.PDF
Élan (2016j)	Élan (2016) "Élan RDC Quarterly Report Q3 2016 (July-September)", October 2016
Élan (2017a)	Élan (2017) "Sector Strategy for AgNP"
Élan (2017b)	Élan (2017) "Accès indirect à la variété améliorée de la semence Locale BABUNGO: Suivi de Changement de pratique et performance d'entreprise. Lualaba – Haut Katanga", Décembre 2017, par Laurent Bujiriri.
Élan (2017c)	Élan (2017) "Standardisation des unités de mesure: Impact sur le revenue de producteurs dans le territoire de Moba et analyse comparative de prix de maïs dans le territoire de Pweto: Rapport d'évaluation finale", Laurent Bujiriri and Jean-Charles Rouge, January 2017.
Élan (2017d)	Élan (2017) "Élan RDC 2017 Annual Report and 2018 Business Plan"
Élan (2017e)	Élan (2017) "Ceprosem Inputs Provision Mid-Term Evaluation Report", June 2017.
Élan (2017f)	Élan (2017) Ceprosem evaluation comparison group data-sheet – Base producteurs_legumes Kinshasa_plateau bat'k' alxlsx

Shorthand	Full Reference
Élan (2017g)	Élan (2017) Ceprosem evaluation treatment group data-sheet – CEPROSEM_Survey_20170530 edited income REMOVED OUTL LIG32 and JOURELLE.xlsx
Élan (2017h)	Élan (2017) "Bon Berger One Acre Fund, Performance et impact sur le revenue", Laurent Bujiriri and Alain Musangu, October 2017.
Élan (2017i)	Élan (2017) "Distribution de la semence Seedco: Extension du réseau, niveau de vente et changement de pratiques des petits producteurs et du partenaire Seedco." Laurent Bujiriri and Jean Charles Rouge, May 2017.
Élan (2017j)	Élan (2017) "Accès à la semence de qualité– SEEDCO– Katanga: Haut Katanga, Lualaba et Haut Lomami. Performance et impact sur le 124frica124 des utilisateurs de la semence Seedco". Laurent Bujiriri and Alain Musangu, November 2017.
Élan (2017k)	Élan (2017) "Mid-term evaluation of NASECO (NP32)", October 2017. File – Rapport_Midterm evaluation_NASECO_ NP32 Q3_Octobre 2017.pptx
Élan (2017l)	Élan (2017) "Rapport de suivi du pilote ELAN RDC avec Ets MUNGA. Projet d'appui à la production et commercialisation des semences 124frica124on du riz de variété TOXI 3154 dans la plaine de la Ruzizi." Rodrigue Bahati and Jean Charles Rouge. June 2017.
Élan (2017m)	Élan (2017) "Quarterly Report on the partnership between ADAM SMITH INTERNAL ONG (ASI) and FINCA. July 2017"
Élan (2018a)	Élan (2018) "ETS Maizeking, Partnership Closure Report". Picard Sebastien. September 2018.
Élan (2018b)	Élan (2018) "Programme Completion Report. Annex 6 Value for money (VfM) report". Adam Smith International (ASI), December 2018
Élan (2018c)	Élan (2018) "Programme Completion Report. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change". Adam Smith International (ASI), December 2018
Élan (2018d)	Élan (2018) "Programme Completion Report". Adam Smith International (ASI), December 2018
Élan (2018e)	Élan (2018) "Accès à la semence de qualité– BABUNGO– Katanga. Changement des pratiques par l'utilisation de la semence BABUNGO". Laurent Bujiriri et Alain Musangu. Avril 2018
Élan (2018f)	Élan (2018) "Bon Berger 2017-2018 sales report" (signed and dated by Bon Berger on 12/03/2018)
Élan (2018g)	Élan (2018) "Poverty Profiling among ELAN beneficiaries", Marco Fayet and Alain Musangu.
Élan (2018h)	Élan (2018) "Interview with a key informant, Nino Mwanza, Ceprosem", 24 <sup>th</sup> October 2018.
Élan (2018i)	Élan (2018) "Rapport d'évaluation finale du projet pilote NP24 Ets Munga: Appui à la production et commercialisation des semences certifiees du riz de variété TOX 3154 dans la plaine de la Ruzizi." Rodrigue Bahati, February 2018.
Élan (2018j)	Élan (2018) "Quarterly Report on the partnership between Adam Smith International ONG (ASI) and FINCA. Q4 2018"
Élan (2018k)	Élan (2018) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe entre BCC, Elan, Tigo Cash, Airtel Money, Mpesa", Papy Kasongo, April 2018.
Élan (2018l)	Élan (2018) Intervention Tracking Tool (ITT) for AF04 mobile money campaign intervention – AF04-IRG-BB-AirtelTigoVodacom-Kinshasa.xlsx – excel file
Élan (2018m)	Élan (2018) "2018 Q2 report"

Shorthand	Full Reference
Élan (2018n)	Élan (2018) Intervention Tracking Tool (ITT) for AF08 branchless banking FINCA Kongo Central intervention – AF08_ITT_BB_FINCA_Kongo Central.xlsx – excel file
Élan (2019a)	Élan (2019) "Enhanced Collaboration in the Agricultural Sector", Diane Bommart, Sylvie Boldrini, Ngamayamu Munduku, July 2019
Élan (2019b)	Élan (2019) "One Acre Fund Model: pilot with Ferme Agropastorale Bon Berger and Tenke Fungurme Mining (TFM) – Repayments progress report", 12 <sup>th</sup> July 2019. Boldrini S. & Munduku N.
Élan (2019c)	Élan (2019) "Outgrower Scheme (OGS) and input credit: alternatives to mines' traditional model of agriculture support (Operational guide for market-oriented agriculture)." Boldrini S., Poisson G., Munduku N., Le Moal L., Bommart D., Hulley N.
Élan (2019d)	Élan (2019) Project Wide Implementation Guide – PWIG – 26 <sup>th</sup> June 2019
Élan (2019e)	Élan (2019) "Bon Berger OAF Model: Report 01/03/2019"
Élan (2019f)	Élan (2019) "Discussion Platform on Digital Finance in the DRC: 2019 MRM Report". Arnaud Galinié, Adrian Pfaff-Seiler. December 2019.
Élan (2019g)	Élan (2019) "Building Trust within the Mobile Money Industry – Interoperability of Mobile Money in the DRC". Souraya Sbeih and Estimé Kasakula. July 2019.
Élan (2019h)	Élan (2019) "FINCA Rural Agent Network Assessment Survey Report", F. Ludju, L. Bujiri, and E. Kasakula. July 2019.
Élan (2019i)	Élan (2019) "Note méthodologique pour Suivi de Business. Intervention: AF22. Crédit contre stock de produits agricoles avec tierce 125frica125on (CMA)". Period: Q1 2019, Partners: COMEXAS – Go Congo – Equity Bank. Laurent B. Bujiriri, February 2019.
Élan (2019j)	Élan (2019) "2019 Q1 report"
Élan (2020a)	Élan (2020) "Quarterly Report Q4 2020, October – December 2020"
Élan (2020b)	Élan (2020) "Rapport résumé de la basline NASECO et Ets MUNGA sur la distribution des semences améliorées de maïs et de riz dans le territoire d'Uvira et Fizi /province du Sud-kivu." Christian Bibentyo, Léandre Mweze, Rodrigue Bahati, Arnaud Galinié (2020)
Élan (2020c)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: NP30 Bon Berger. Production of Babungo's commercial seed in a contractualization model 'one acre fund''." MRM Analyst in charge of the follow-up: Rodrigue Bahati; Name of respondent: Mankesi Ngoma Macky
Élan (2020d)	Elan 1.2 – Portfolio Tracker – December2020 (excel file)
Élan (2020e)	Élan (2020) "Analytical report on the dissemination of agriculture information: a new communication system supported by VIAMO and VODACOM". Rodrigue Bahati, Arnaud Galinié, January 2020.
Élan (2020f)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: Ceprosem (NP28) Local Market Seed production". Christian Kalolo.
Élan (2020g)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: Ceprosem (NP28)", supporting file – 'Comparaison ventes 2018 2019 2020.xlsx'
Élan (2020h)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: NASECO (NP32) Distribution of improved seed of maize in the Ruzizi plain, Uvira territory / South Kivu". Rodrigue Bahati.
Élan (2020i)	Élan (2020) NASECO phase 2 technical report – <i>Technical Report ELAN D2</i> <i>Phase v.8-4-20.pptx – powerpoint file</i>

Shorthand	Full Reference
Élan (2020j)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: Seed Co (NP01, NP13) Inputs distribution (maize seed)". Rodrigue Bahati.
Élan (2020k)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: NP24 Production and sale of improved rice seeds". Rodrigue Bahati.
Élan (2020l)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: AF22 Comexas. Establishment of a CMA with Go-Congo – corn producers". Christian Kalolo
Élan (2020m)	Élan (2020) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: AF23 Viamo. Broadcasting of A2F and Ag messages by mobile phone". Christian Kalolo. Supplementary information includes the file: "155 Results Fin Ed Survey.xlsx" – excel file, providing some survey data
Élan (2021a)	Élan (2021) "A Quarter-Billion Dollar Industry? The DRC Seed Sector", Bastiaan Huesken & Ngama Munduku, May 2021
Élan (2021b)	Élan (2021) "A,B, Seeds: The Fundamentals Of Seed Sector Development in the DRC", Bastiaan Huesken & Ngama Munduku, May 2021
Élan (2021c)	Élan (2021) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial", Wafa Hafiz and Ngama Munduku, June 2021
Élan (2021d)	Élan (2021) "Seed Legislation in the DRC: Why it is Needed Now"
Élan (2021e)	Élan (2021) "Seed investment in the DRC"
Élan (2021f)	Élan (2021) "Sector Overview – Grain and Horticulture"
Élan (2021g)	Élan (2021) 210712 ELAN 1.2 – Aggregate results.xlsx – excel file
Élan (2021h)	Élan (2021) "Élan RDC Legacy Sessions, Agriculture", Adam Smith International (ASI), July 2021. Gregoire Poisson (Élan RDC). Laura Norris (FCDO – UKAID)
Élan (2021i)	Élan (2021) "ÉLAN RDC Programme Closure Report", July 2021, Adam Smith International.
Élan (2021j)	Élan (2021) "Élan Sector Studies – Access to Finance". Christian Kalolo, Edwige Takassi, Arnaud Galinié, Bas Zuidberg and Estimé Kasakula, June 2021
Élan (2021k)	Élan (2021) "Élan RDC Legacy Sessions, Access to Finance", Adam Smith International (ASI), July 2021. Gregoire Poisson (Élan RDC). Aditi Rajyalaxmi (FCDO – UKAID)
Élan (2021I)	Élan (2021) "Sector Overview – Access to Finance"
Élan (2021m)	Élan (2021) "Developing a Digital ecosystem in the DRC", July 2021
Élan (2021n)	Élan (2021) "2020 Annual Report. 2021 Business Plan", January 2021
Élan (2021o)	Élan (2021) "Elan RDC Quarterly Report Q1 2021"
Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014)	Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014) "Consumer Financial Needs & Behaviour Assessment in DRC", May 2014.
Élan & IES (2021)	Élan & Innovations & Entrepreneuriat Social (IES) (2021) "Impacts of improved rice and corn seeds adoption on smallholder households in Fizi and Uvira, South Kivu, DRC". Justin Buhendwa Nyenyezi, Emmanuel Muzigirwa Muke and Lebon Masheka. June 2021.
Élan & PHB (2020)	Élan & PHB (2020) "Inception Report - «Lona O Defa» Diagnosis: institutional assessment, customer experience and performance review". Emmanuel Mudahemuka, Alexandra Sanchez, Lisa Chassin. 17 <sup>th</sup> September 2020.
Erenstein et al. (2022)	Erenstein, Olaf, Moti Jaleta, Kai Sonder, Khondoker Mottaleb, B.M. Prasanna (2022) "Global maize production, consumption and trade: trends and R&D implications", Food Security (2022) 14:1295–1319

Shorthand	Full Reference
Experts (2015)	Experts (2015) "Quelles Epargnes sur une Année pour les utilisateurs Mobile Money inscrits à l'issue de la campagne conjointe BCC –MNOs de 2015? Rapport de Suivi."
Experts (2018)	Experts (2018) "Quels bénéfices pour les utilisateurs du FINCA-Mobile ? Estimation des effets économiques de l'intégration des comptes FINCA mobile et FINCA Express. Principaux résultats de l'étude." June 2018.
FCDO/DSU (2020a)	FCDO/DSU (2020) "Private Sector Development Programme: Market Development Subcomponent – ÉLAN RDC. 2020 Annual Review."
FCDO/DSU (2020b)	FCDO/DSU (2020) "Private Sector Development in DRC. Annual Review 2020." Programme Code: 203161. Review Date: March 2020
FCDO/DSU (2022)	FCDO/DSU (2022) "Private Sector Development in DRC Programme. Annual Review 2022". Review Date: March 2022.
FINCA (2017a)	FINCA (2017) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2016"
FINCA (2017b)	FINCA (2017) "FINCA DRC Agency Banking: Client Impact and Product Use. Qualitative Study"
FINCA (2018)	FINCA (2018) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2017"
FINCA (2019a)	FINCA (2019) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2018"
FINCA (2019b)	FINCA (2019) "Digital Transformation & Financial Inclusion in the DRC. A Case Study", Kathryn Grace (Digital Transformation, DX), Mamie Kalonda (FINCA). Inclusive Digital Future: A Summit on Responsible Finance in Action, 25-27 June 2019, Nairobi, Kenya.
FINCA (2020)	FINCA (2020) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2019"
FINCA (2021)	FINCA (2021) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2020"
FINCA (2022)	FINCA (2022) "FINCA RDC, Rapport Annuel 2021"
FINCA (2023)	FINCA (2023) DRC website landing page, https://finca.org/locations/127frica/dr- congo, accessed January 2023
FPM (2022)	FPM (2022) "Rapport Annuel 2021"
Gharib et al. (2021)	Gharib, Mariam H., Leah H. Palm-Forster, Travis J. Lybbert, Kent D. Messer (2021) "Fear of fraud and willingness to pay for hybrid maize seed in Kenya". Food Policy. Volume 102, July 2021, 102040. Ttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2021.102040
GSMA (2013)	GSMA (2013) "Mobile Money in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Market insights on consumer needs and opportunities in payments and financial services". Lara Gilman, Aneta Genova, Michelle Kaffenberger. July 2013.
GSMA (2019)	GSMA (2019) "Understanding Capture and Validate KYC Processes: Global Experiences, Challenges and Learnings", Matt Wilson, Senior Insights Manager, GSMA; and Rob Waddington, Futuresight. May 2019.
GSMA (2020)	GSMA (2020) "The many paths to mobile money interoperability: Selecting the right technical model for your market". Anant Nautiyal, Bart-Jan Pors, Antoine Navarro, Sylvain Morlière, Ronan Paillon, Latifa Nanadoum.
GSMA (2022)	GSMA (2022) "State of the Industry Report on Mobile Money 2022". Global System for Mobile Communications Association (GSMA). Aramé Awanis, Christopher Lowe, Simon K. Andersson-Manjang, Dominica Lindsey
GSMA & Deloitte (2015)	GSMA & Deloitte (2015) "Digital inclusion and mobile sector taxation in the DRC", November 2015.
IMF (2014)	IMF (2014) "Democratic Republic of the Congo: Financial Sector Stability Assessment". IMF Country Report No. 14/315. October 2014.

Shorthand	Full Reference
IMF (2015)	IMF (2015) "Dollarization in Sub-Saharan Africa: Experience and lessons", IMF staff team led by Mauro Mecagni and Rodolfo Maino, May 2015.
IMF (2022a)	IMF (2022) "Staff Report for the 2022 Article iv Consultation, Second Review under the Extended Credit Facility Arrangement, Request for Modification of Performance Criteria, and Financing Assurances Review". IMF Country Report No. 22/210. June 13, 2022
IMF (2022b)	IMF (2022) "Democratic Republic of the Congo: Selected Issues". IMF Country Report No. 22/211, June 13, 2022
IMF (2022c)	IMF (2022) "Democratic Republic of the Congo: Financial Sector Stability Review" (FSSR). August 2022. David Blache (Mission Chief) and Ivan Guerra (MCM); Amel Ben Rahal, Olivier Frécaut, François Gomez, Jennifer Long, and Anatol Monid
IMF (2023)	IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey 2022 data (data points go back to 2004), accessed January 2023 – https://data.imf.org/?sk=E5DCAB7E-A5CA-4892-A6EA-598B5463A34C
International Trade Administration (2022)	International Trade Administration (2022) "Democratic Republic of the Congo – Country Commercial Guide", www.trade.gov/country-commercial- guides/democratic-republic-congo-agriculture – accessed December 2022.
ISS (2023)	Institute for Security Studies (ISS) (2023) DRC page - https://futures.issafrica.org/geographic/countries/dr-congo/ - accessed January 2023.
Jack and Suri (2011)	Jack, William, and Tavneet Suri (2011) "Mobile Money: The Economics of M- Pesa". National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 16721.
Jack et al. (2013)	Jack W, Ray A, Suri T (2013) "Transaction networks: evidence from mobile money in Kenya". American Economic Review 103, 3 (May): 356-361. American Economic Association.
Jack and Suri (2014)	Jack, William, and Tavneet Suri (2011) (2014). "Risk sharing and transactions costs: Evidence from Kenya's mobile money revolution". The American Economic Review, 104(1), 183–223. https:// doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.1.183.
Kassie et al. (2013)	Kassie, G. T., Erenstein, O., Mwangi, W., MacRobert, J., Setimela, P., & Shiferaw, B. (2013). "Political and economic features of the maize seed industry in southern Africa". Agrekon, 52(2), 104–127. Doi:10.1080/03031853.2013.798067
Khonje et al. (2015)	Khonje, M., Manda, J., Alene, A., & Kassie, M. (2015). "Analysis of adoption and impacts of improved maize varieties in eastern Zambia". World Development, 66, 695–706.
Kikulwe et al. (2014)	Kikulwe E, Fischer E, Qaim M (2014) "Mobile money, smallholder farmers and household welfare in Kenya". PloS ONE 9(10): e109804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109804
Kirui et al. (2013)	Kirui O, Okello J, Nyikal R, Nyiraini G (2013) "Impact of mobile phone-based money transfer services in Agriculture: evidence from Kenya". Quarterly Journal of International Agriculture 52, 2: 141-162
Komarek et al. (2018)	Komarek, Adam M., Jawoo Koo, Ulrike Wood-Sichra, Liangzhi You (2018) "Spatially-explicit effects of seed and fertilizer intensification for maize in Tanzania". Land Use Policy 78 (2018) 158–165
Langyintuo et al. (2010)	Langyintuo AS, Mwangi W, Diallo AO, et al. (2010) "Challenges of the maize seed industry in Eastern and Southern Africa: a compelling case for private–public intervention to promote growth". Food Policy 35(4): 323–331.

Shorthand	Full Reference
Letellier et al. (2020)	Letellier, Eric, Dieu-Donné Okalas Ossami, Ralf Kreher (2020) "Chapter 25. Addressing food insecurity in the Democratic Republic of the Congo". In Africa Positive Impact (2020), pages 276-281.
Loveridge (2022)	Loveridge, Donna (2022) "Systems change frameworks: Many individuals and organisations have developed conceptual frameworks to help us better understand and think about systems change. But which one is best?", Medium blog, November 2022 - https://medium.com/@donna_loveridge/systems-change-frameworks-5b4d8584c7ad – accessed December 2022.
Mahrt and Nanivazo (2016)	Mahrt, Kristi and Malokele Nanivazo (2016) "Growth and Poverty in the Democratic Republic of Congo: 2001 through 2013", in book – Growth and Poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa. Channing Arndt, Andy McKay, and Finn Tarp (eds.) Published: 1 April 2016. Pages 421–446.
MasterCard Foundation (2016)	MasterCard Foundation (2016) "Alternate Delivery Channels for Financial Inclusion: Opportunities and Challenges in African Banks and Microfinance Institutions 2016"
Masuka et al. (2017)	Masuka, Benhilda, Cosmos Magorokosho, Mike Olsen, Gary N. Atlin, Marianne Bänziger, Kevin V. Pixley, Bindiganavile S. Vivek, Maryke Labuschagne, Rumbidzai Matemba-Mutasa, Juan Burgueño, John Macrobert, B. M. Prasanna, Bish Das, Dan Makumbi, Amsal Tarekegne, Jose Crossa, Mainassara Zaman- Allah, Angeline van Biljon, and Jill E. Cairns (2016) "Gains in Maize Genetic Improvement in Eastern and Southern Africa: II. CIMMYT Open-Pollinated Variety Breeding Pipeline". Crop Sci. 57:180–191 (2017). Doi: 10.2135/cropsci2016.05.0408.
Mathenge et al. (2014)	Mathenge M.K., Smale M., Olwande J. (2014) "The impacts of hybrid maize seed on the welfare of farming households in Kenya". Food Policy. 2014;44:262–271.
Mbiti and Weil (2011)	Mbiti IM, and D. Weil (2011) "Mobile banking: the impact of M-Pesa in Kenya". NBER Working Paper No. W17129.
MINAGRI (2019)	MINAGRI (2019) "Catalogue National Variétal des Cultures Vivrières. Répertoire des variétés homologuees des cultures des céréales. Edition 2019." République Démocratique du Congo Ministère de l'Agriculture. Secrétariat Général à l'Agriculture Service National de Semences (SENASEM) – available – www,minagri.gouv.cd/wp- content/uploads/2020/11/Catalogue_National_Cultures_Cereal_RDC_2019.pdf
Misiko (2010)	Misiko, M. (2010) "Indigenous seed institutions in fragile communities". Second Africa Rice Congress, Bamako, Mali, 22–26 March 2010: Innovation and Partnerships to Realize Africa's Rice Potential. Africa Rice Centre.
Munyegera and Matsumoto (2016)	Munyegera, G. K., & Matsumoto, T. (2016). "Mobile money, remittances, and household welfare: Panel evidence from Rural Uganda". World Development, 79, 127–137. Doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.11.006.
Mutinda (2022	Mutinda, Jackson (2022) "MWANGI: Why I believe Congo will drive Equity group's growth", the East African article from February 14 2022 - https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/business/why-i-believe-congo-will-drive-equity-group-growth-3715978 - accessed January 2023 (interview with James Mwangi, the Equity Group CEO)
Muziri (2012)	Muziri, Joseck Luminzu (2012) "Fraud in Mobile Financial Services", Microsave.
Mwase and Kumah (2015)	Mwase, Nkunde and Francis Y. Kumah (2015) "Revisiting the Concept of Dollarization: The Global Financial Crisis and Dollarization in Low-Income Countries", International Monetary Fund (IMF) Working Paper WP/15/12, January 2015.

Shorthand	Full Reference
Naito et al. (2021)	Naito, Hisahiro, Askar Ismailov, Albert Benson Kimaro (2021) "The effect of mobile money on borrowing and saving: Evidence from Tanzania", World Development Perspectives 23 (2021) 100342
Ngigi (2016)	Ngigi, George (2016). "Equity says it paid Sh4.5 Billion for Congo bank acquisition". Business Daily Africa. Nairobi. Retrieved January 2023.
Nippard et al. (2014)	Nippard, D., Hitchins, R. & Elliott, D. (2014). "Adopt-Adapt-Expand-Respond: a framework for managing and measuring systemic change processes". Springfield Centre.
O'Donnell et al. (2015)	O'Donnell, Megan, Andrew Cook and John Magistro (2015) "Assessment of the DRC's agricultural market systems: Value chains in the North & South Kivu and Katanga provinces". For ACDI/VOCA with funding from USAID/E3's Leveraging Economic Opportunities (LEO) project. LEO Report #16, USAID, April 2015.
OPHI (2013)	Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (OPHI) (2013) "DR Congo OPHI Country Briefing 2013"
Parlasca et al. (2022)	Parlasca, Martin C., Constantin Johnen, Matin Qaim (2022) "Use of mobile financial services among farmers in Africa: Insights from Kenya", Global Food Security 32 (2022) 100590, DOI:10.1016/j.gfs.2021.100590
Pixley and Banziger (2001)	Pixley K, Banziger M (2001) "Open-pollinated maize varieties: A backward step or valuable option for farmers?" Seventh Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize Conference, 11–15 <sup>th</sup> February 2001, pp. 22–28
Prasanna et al. (2021)	Prasanna, B.M., Cairns, J.E., Zaidi, P.H., Beyene, Y., Makumbi, D., Gowda, M., Magorokosho, C., Zaman-Allah, M., Olsen, M., Das, A., Worku, M., Gethi, J., Vivek, B.S., Nair, S.K., Rashid, Z., Vinayan, M.T., Issa, A.B., Vicente, F.S., Dhliwayo, T., Zhang, X., (2021) "Beat the stress: breeding for climate resilience in maize for the tropical rainfed environments". Theor. Appl. Genet. 134, 1729–1752. Doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03773-7.
Rutsaert et al. (2021)	Rutsaert, Pieter, Jason Donovan, Simon Kimenju (2021) "Demand-side challenges to increase sales of new maize hybrids in Kenya" Technology in Society 66 (2021) 101630
Sackho-Patel et al. (2018)	Sackho-Patel, Djitaba, Jenny Frydrych, Nancy Kiarie (2018) "Agent network Accelerator Research. Democratic Republic of the Congo Regional Report." HELIX, FPM, ÉLAN RDC, ASI, Mastercard, MicroSave Consulting. December 2018
Seng (2021)	Seng, Kimty (2021) "The mobile money's poverty-reducing promise: Evidence from Cambodia", World Development Perspectives 22 (2021) 100310, DOI:10.1016/j.wdp.2021.100310
Setimela et al. (2017)	Setimela, P.S., Magorokosho, C., Lunduka, R., Gasura, E., Makumbi, D., Tarekegne, A., Cairns, J.E., Ndhela, T., Erenstein, O., Mwangi, W. (2017) "On- farm yield gains with stress tolerant maize in eastern and southern Africa". Agron. J. 109, 406–417. https:// doi.org/10.2134/agronj2015.0540
Setimela et al. (2018)	Setimela, P., Zaman-Allah, M., Gasura, E., Cairns, J.E., Thierfelder, C.L., Prasanna, B.M., 2018. "When the going gets tough: performance of stress tolerant maize during the 2015/16 (El Niño) and 2016/17 (La Niña) season in southern Africa". Agric. Ecosys. Environ. 268, 79–89. Doi:10.1016/j.agee.2018.09.006
Seyoum et al. (2011)	Seyoum, Mulugeta, Sentayehu Alamerew, and Kassahun Bantte (2011) "Evaluation of Upland NERICA Rice (Oryza sativa L.) Genotypes for Grain Yield and Yield Components along an Altitude Gradient in Southwest Ethiopia", Journal of Agronomy 10 (4): 105-111. DOI:103923/ja.2011.105.111

Shorthand	Full Reference
Shiferaw et al. (2008)	Shiferaw, B., Kebede, T.A., You, Z. 2008. "Technology adoption under seed access constraints and the economic impacts of improved pigeonpea varieties in Tanzania." Agricultural Economics 39: 1-15.
Shiferaw et al. (2014)	Shiferaw, Bekele, Kindie Tesfaye, Menale Kassie, Tsedeke Abate, B.M. Prasanna, Abebe Menkir (2014) "Managing vulnerability to drought and enhancing livelihood resilience in sub-Saharan Africa: Technological, institutional and policy options". Weather and Climate Extremes, 3: p. 67-79.
Singh (2017)	Singh, Nirvikar (2017) "Financial Inclusion: Concepts, Issues and Policies for India. Synthesis Paper". International Growth Centre (IGC), I-35406-INC-2
Smale and Mason (2014)	Smale, Melinda and Nicole Mason (2014) "Hybrid Seed and the Economic Well- Being of Smallholder Maize Farmers in Zambia", The Journal of Development Studies Volume 50, 2014 – Issue 5: Special Issue on Agricultural Development
Smale and Olwande (2014)	Smale, M., & Olwande, J. (2014). "Demand for maize hybrids and hybrid change on smallholder farms in Kenya". Agricultural Economics, 45(4), 409–420. doi:10.1111/agec.12095
Smale et al. (2011)	Smale, M., Byerlee, D. and Jayne, T. (2011) "Maize revolutions in sub-Saharan Africa". WPS5659. The World Bank, Washington DC.
Smale et al. (2015)	Smale, Melinda, Mourad Moursi, and Ekin Birol (2015) "How does adopting hybrid maize affect dietary diversity on family farms? Micro-evidence from Zambia", Food Policy 52 (2015) 44–53.
Sperling et al. (2008)	Sperling, Louise, H. David Cooper, Tom Remington (2008) "Moving Towards More Effective Seed Aid", Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 44, No. 4, 586– 612, April 2008
Suri and Jack (2016)	Suri, T. and Jack, W. (2016). "The long-run poverty and gender impacts of mobile money". Science. 354. 1288-1292.
TASAI (2017)	TASAI (2017) "The African Seed Access Index (TASAI) Country Report – Democratic Republic of the Congo (2017)", Edward Mabaya, Christophe Asanzi, Mainza Mugoya, Abdias Utono, November 2017
TASAI (2018a)	TASAI (2018) TASAI Appendix 1, Sep 2018 version
TASAI (2018b)	TASAI (2018) "Seed Sector Strategy for the Southern Region of the DRC – Haut- Katanga and Lualaba provinces", Christophe Asanzi, Luciens Nyembo Kimuni, Edward Mabaya, Mainza Mugoya, and Krisztina Tihanyi. Study produced with support of UK Aid and Elan RDC. June 2018.
TASAI (2018c)	TASAI (2018) "Seed Sector Strategy for the Eastern Region of the DRC – North and South Kivu provinces". Christophe Asanzi, Alfred Mutundi, Edward Mabaya, Mainza Mugoya, and Krisztina Tihanyi. Study produced with support of UK Aid and Élan RDC. June 2018.
Transparency International (2019)	Transparency International (2019) "Global Corruption Barometer Africa 2019: Citizens' Views And Experiences Of Corruption"
Ulloa et al. (2009)	Ulloa, A., F. Katz, and N. Kekeh (2009). 'Democratic Republic of the Congo: A Study of Binding Constraints'. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University.
USAID (2010)	USAID (2010) "Seed System Security Assessment: Northern Katanga (Kalemie and Nyunzu Territories), DRC."
USAID (2019)	USAID (2019) "SEEDCLIR DRC", September 2019. Prepared by Fintrac Inc.
USAID (2022)	USAID (2022) DRC country page – "Agriculture and Food Security" – www.usaid.gov/democratic-republic-congo/agriculture-and-food-security – accessed December 2022

Shorthand	Full Reference
USAID / FEWSNET (2022a)	USAID / FEWSNET (2022) "République Démocratique du Congo: Perspectives sur la sécurité alimentaire". Octobre 2022 à Mai 2023
USAID / FEWSNET (2022b)	USAID / FEWSNET (2022) "Democratic Republic of Congo Price Bulletin", November 2022
Vodacom (2021)	Vodacom (2021) "Vodacom Group Integrated report for the year ended 31 March 2021"
Vodafone (2022)	Vodafone (2022) "Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2022"
Westengen et al. (2014)	Westengen, O.T., Ring, K.H., Berg, P.R., Brysting, A.K. (2014) "Modern maize varieties going local in the semi-arid zone in Tanzania". BMC Evol. Biol. 1–14.
WFP (2023)	World Food Programme (WFP) in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), summary page – www.wfp.org/countries/democratic-republic-congo – accessed January 2023
Worku et al. (2020)	Worku, Mosisa, Hugo De Groote, Bernard Munyua, Dan Makumbi, Fidelis Owino, Jose Crossa, Yoseph Beyene, Stephen Mugo, McDonald Jumbo, Godfrey Asea, Charles Mutinda, Daniel Bomet Kwemoi, Vincent Woyengo, Michael Olsen, Boddupalli M. Prasanna (2020) "On-farm performance and farmers' participatory assessment of new stress- tolerant maize hybrids in Eastern Africa". Field Crops Research 246 (2020) 107693
World Bank (2018)	World Bank (2018) "Democratic Republic of Congo Urbanization Review: Productive and Inclusive Cities for an Emerging Congo." Directions in Development. Environment and Sustainable Development; Washington, DC: World Bank. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/28931 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.
World Bank (2019)	World Bank (2019). "Poverty and Equity Brief. Democratic Republic of the Congo". April 2019.
World Bank (2020)	World Bank (2020) "Democratic Republic of the Congo: Digital Economy Assessment". Digital Economy for Africa (DE4), the World Bank Group
World Bank (2022a)	World Bank (2022) "Fact Sheet: An Adjustment to Global Poverty Lines", Last updated: Sep 14, 2022. Accessed November 2022. – https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/factsheet/2022/05/02/fact-sheet-an- adjustment-to-global-poverty-lines
World Bank (2022b)	World Bank (2022) "Country private sector diagnostic. Creating markets in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Putting natural resources to Sustainable Productive Use." International Finance Corporation, the World Bank Group, March 2022.
World Bank (2022c)	World Bank (2022) World Development Indicators (WDI) database - https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators - accessed December 2022.
Yara (2022)	Yara (2022) "How to increase maize grain yield" Yara UK - https://www.yara.co.uk/crop-nutrition/forage-maize/increasing-maize-grain-yield/, accessed December 2022.

## **Annex B Interviewees**

The list in the tables below provides the main interviewees spoken to during the research. This was via a combination of in-country interviews in October and November 2022, in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces, and in Kinshasa. It also includes interviews conducted remotely in the period between October and December 2022. The tables are split by sector but some of interviewees were helpful interlocutors on both sectors, in particular Nathan Hulley and Gregoire Poisson, who led the project and had important insights on both the AgNP and A2F work that Élan undertook.

### B.1 AgNP secor interviewees

Institution	Name	Position				
	Nathan Hulley	Ex- Team Leader (now at USAID)				
Former Élan team members	Gregoire Poisson	Ex – Deputy Team Leader and Senior PSD Advisor				
	Ngama Munduku	Ex – Agricultural Sector Lead				
Bon Berger	Dr. Macky Mankesi	CEO				
Soud Co	Stanley Malekani	Country director, DRC & Angola				
Seeu CO	Aram Ng'ombe	Regional Sales Manager, DRC				
Kamano Seeds	Sylvia C. Horemans	Managing Director				
Katanga Mboleo	Sonya Masangu	General Manager				
INERA	Becker Katombe	Vice Coordinator				
Mimooo	Tshela Kabanishi	Managing Director				
WIIIIOSa	Ange Kanonga	Deputy Managing Director				
Maydiv	Helène Divova	CEO / Founder				
Mbeko Shamba	Walter Couttenier	Managing Director				
UNAPSCO	Yves Sikiala	Consultant				
Safari International	Gracia Kabanga	Deputy Managing Director				
Provincial inspection of	Dr. Baudouin Kakudji Kabemba	Inspector				
Agriculture	Jean Felix Ngandu	Deputy Division Chief				
National seeds service (Senasem)	Vincent Musati	Provincial Coordinator				
	Kim Muaga	Trade policy manager				
East Africa Grains Council	Jacinta Mwau	DRC country/programme manager				
(EAGC)	Gerald Makau Masila	Executive Director				
	Paul Ochuna	Finance Manager				
Haut-Katanga Provincial Ministry of Agriculture/Village Agricole	Professor Tshikung	Coordinator				
FAO	Innocent Ombeni	Chief of Office, Lubumbashi				
University of Lubumbashi (UNILU)	Lucien Nyembo	Professor at the Faculty of Agronomy				

Institution	Name	Position				
NASECO	Arnaud Ndayimirije	Export Manager and Regional Director				
The African Seed Access Index (TASAI)	Mainza Mugoya	Programme Coordinator				
Mulimaji Mwema	Bobo Kabamba-Lonji	CEO / Founder				
Mbego Africa	Nadine Nkulimba	CEO/Founder				
Mulagricom	Justin Mulenda	CEO / Founder				
Agro-dealer in Bunkeya	Victor Lupiri	Agro-dealer / Farmer				
Coopérative des pionniers de Kapulua	Gérard Kayez	Co-founder & Board Council President / Farmer				
Regina Mundi	Noëlla Kaidi Kapapa	CEO / Founder				
Regina munui	Pierre Sad	In Charge of Operations.				
Go Congo	Aziz Khabirpour	CEO				
Go Congo	Kersten Pucks	Founder, Executive Board Member				
Sagricim	Patrick Kahasha Mbasha	Managing Director				
	Conrad	Team Leader for market system development				
Mercy Corps	Marcel Nibasumba	Manager of the agriculture and market system development component of the Food Security Project				
ASI working on USAID programme (ex Mercy Corps)	Kevin Kiffer	Chief of Party - Garamba Alliance Activity				

## **B.2** Access to Finance (A2F) sector interviewees

Institution	Name	Position				
Former Élen teom membere	Estimé Kasakula	Ex – Branchless Banking Sector Lead				
Former Elan learn members	Edwige Takassi	Ex – Access to Finance Lead				
FSD Africa	Henri Plessers	DRC Country Representative				
GSMA	Kennedy Kipkemboi Sawe	Regulatory Specialist				
Infoant	Gabriel Zema	Director General				
moset	Muliri Mirindi	Technical Director				
FPM	Jean-Claude Thetika	Director General				
FINCA	Joseph Mulimbi Kaykay	Head of Mobile & Digital Business				
Equity Bank	Djedje Kungula Makoso	Head of Agribusiness Department				
Trust Merchant Bank (TMB)	Bruno Gustave	Mobile Banking Project Manager				
Banque Centrale Du Congo (BCC)	Willy Luboa Ngovo	Responsable de Direction				
Association of MFIs	André Mayala	Secretary General				
MaxiCash	Ruddy Mukwamu	CEO				
Umoja	Francine Mukweo	Project Manager				
Viamo	Whitney Hughes	Regional Director				

Institution	Name	Position
Vodacom	Taty Furume	Executive Head of Financial Planning & Analysis (formerly Senior Executive Head: M-Pesa)

# Annex C List of AgNP interventions

Research is required to see whether the removal of tariffs will be sufficient to significantly increase adoption rates of improved cookstoves, or whether a different product would be more effective. For this intervention, the aim would be primarily to reduce deforestation but with important secondary income effects for low-income households.

### C.1 List of AgNP interventions within Élan 1.0

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP01	Inputs distribution	Seed Co	08- 2015	07- 2016	Sud	Lualaba	2,509,353	148,137	-	2,657,490	117,092	59,209	176,300
NP02	Seed multiplication	APSK, Fadip, FINCA, FPM, Inera, Maydive, Mimosa	09- 2016	10- 2016	Sud	Haut Katanga	1,179,631	241,140	-	1,420,772	112,736	151,480	264,215
NP03	Outgrower scheme in maize	Mbeko Shamba	10- 2014	01- 2016	Sud	Lualaba	98,275	-	-	98,275	44,668	93,736	138,404
NP05	Standardisation des unites de mesure	CAPAM	04- 2016	09- 2016	Sud	Tanganyika	3,521,399	-	-	3,521,399	7,065	599	7,664
NP06	Outgrower scheme in maize	Regina Mundi	09- 2015	07- 2016	Sud	Tanganyika	26,356	-	-	26,356	14,769	318,822	333,590
NP07	Outgrower scheme in rice	RTMK	12- 2015	07- 2016	Sud	Haut Katanga	363,061	54,279	-	417,340	-	-	-
NP08	Outgrower scheme in rice	Mulagricom	05- 2016	12- 2016	Sud	Haut Katanga	71,725	-	-	71,725	24,474	92,052	116,526

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP09	Onion warehouse and storage - THECAPA model	AFRP	03- 2015	03- 2016	Est	Sud Kivu	79,216	-	-	79,216	1,540	-	1,540
NP10	Import of inputs and local demonstration plots	ADVS	03- 2016	03- 2016	Est	Sud Kivu	-	-	-	-	5,643	9,113	14,756
NP11	Non-perennial inputs	Agrisem	12- 2015	12- 2016	Nord	Sud Ubangi	20,626	-	-	20,626	3,659	1,836	6,935
NP12	Appui au crédit intrants agricoles et développement du réseau de distribution par AgriForce suivant le modèle "One Acre Fund" pour les petits producteurs des territoires de Walungu dans la province du Sud Kivu	AgriForce	10- 2016	07- 2017	Est	Sud Kivu	394,727	-	-	394,727	72,887	85,343	158,230
NP13	Contract Farming in Maize	SEK - Seed Co	08- 2015	07- 2016	Sud	Lualaba	662,863	-	-	662,863	21,483	438,222	467,520

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP14	Rice	JOB SEED CO JSC	08- 2017	12- 2017	Est	Nord Kivu	74,037	-	-	74,037	20,039	28,126	48,165
NP15	Multiplication et distribution de semences améliorées de mais dans le territoire de Basankusu	ACOBA			Nord	Equateur	5,590	-	-	5,590	-	-	-
NP16	Inputs for Maize	CTM 2	08- 2016	06- 2017	Nord	Equateur	4,451	-	-	4,451	7,646	2,179	9,825
NP17	Campagne BPA et Chenilles légionnaires- Kinshasa	Bmap				Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
NP19	Inputs - seed multiplication	ANP, GARGVU	07- 2016	06- 2017	Nord	Equateur	38,846	-	-	38,846	50,606	45,191	95,796
NP20	Distribution de semences a Gemena	AGROPY, COPAPI, PROSAVIDE	08- 2016	07- 2017	Nord	Mongala	324,705	-	-	324,705	34,472	18,227	52,469
NP23	BPA & Inputs - seed multiplication	Team Work			Nord	Mongala	119,706	-	-	119,706	-	-	-
NP24	Inputs - seed multiplication - rice	Ets Munga	09- 2016	09- 2017	Est	Sud Kivu	480,921	-	-	480,921	106,420	145,879	252,298
NP25	Inputs - seed multiplication - soya	Ets Buhendwa	08- 2016	02- 2017	Est	Nord Kivu	-	-	-	-	7,777	8,008	15,785

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP27	Horticulture seeds	Sotracen	07- 2016	03- 2017	Ouest	Kinshasa	385	-	-	385	2,566	17,248	19,814
NP28	Support to vegetable seed producer organization	Ceprosem	07- 2016	06- 2017	Ouest	Kongo Central	365,010	-	-	365,010	8,278	8,416	16,694
NP29	Maize	Bon Berger	11- 2016	12- 2018	Sud	Haut Katanga	13,126	-	-	13,126	84,893	200,008	284,900
NP30	Seed multiplication - maize	Bon Berger	11- 2014	11- 2015	Sud	Haut Katanga	379,369	14,527	177,000	570,895	28,072	12,010	40,083
NP31	Seed distribution	Zamseed	11- 2016	08- 2017	Sud	Haut Katanga	54,194	-	-	54,194	19,242	13,398	32,640
NP32	Seed distribution	NASECO SEEDS	02- 2017	08- 2017	Est	Nord Kivu	1,470,438	-	-	1,470,438	392,532	545,632	938,164
NP33	Inputs Distribution	KAMANO Seed	12- 2017	12- 2018	Sud	Haut Katanga	31,124	-	-	31,124	29,100	12,710	41,810
NP34	MSC2.1: Inputs suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to SHFs	Mulimayi Mwema (service agricole)					1,185	-	-	1,185	-	-	-
NP35	Commerce tranfrontalier et application du RECO	ACT	02- 2018	10- 2018	Est	0	129,971	-	-	129,971	-	-	-

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP36		ACT Kasumbalesa	08- 2017	12- 2017	Sud	Haut Katanga	-	-	-	-	7,065	3,080	10,145
NP40	Seed multiplication	Essou			Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
NP41	Support to use phytosanitary products	Bmap-Indigo			Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

## C.2 List of AgNP interventions within Élan 1.2

Code	Туре	Partner	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP101	Improved seeds distribution in new areas in the Kivus.	Ets Munga	3,833,280	44,011	39,591	83,603
NP102	Improved seeds distribution in new areas in the Kivus.	NASECO	250,622	87,536	106,435	193,971
NP103	GAP messages communication campaign through mobile network operators.	Viamo	633,243	26,950	117,040	143,990
NP105	Collaboration with TASAI to improve the operating environment through the engagement with different stakeholders, including the government of the DRC.	TASAI	-	38,227	6,311	44,538
NP106	Research activities and data collection on food product prices and food supply on various markets in Kinshasa	Covid-19 food security	-	-	-	-
NP108	Improved seeds distribution in new areas in the Kivus.	Agriforce	447,250	34,538	37,048	71,586
NP109		Ceprosem	-	-	-	-

Code	Туре	Partner	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
NP110	Support market-driven creation and dissemination of topical and actionable agricultural content through radio channels in Kasaï.	Radio Télévision Réveil (RTR) + Voix de Votre Communauté (VVC)	104,880	10,281	6,545	16,826

## **Annex D** List of A2F interventions

Research is required to see whether the removal of tariffs will be sufficient to significantly increase adoption rates of improved cookstoves, or whether a different product would be more effective. For this intervention, the aim would be primarily to reduce deforestation but with important secondary income effects for low-income households.

### D.1 List of A2F interventions within Élan 1.0

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
AF01	A2F: SMEs, Maize CMA	Bank of Africa (BOA), Comexas, Maizeking	07- 2015	10- 2015	Est	Nord Kivu	4,007	-	-	4,007	26,964	13,335	40,299
AF03	A2F: BB, Female agents for mobile money	Tigo			Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AF04	A2F: BB, mobile money education campaign	Airtel, Tigo, Urban, Vodacom	06- 2015	12- 2018	Ouest	Kinshasa	1,149,777	7,152,458	-	8,302,235	42,827	67,517	110,346
AF05	A2F: BB, Agents network	Orange Umoja	06- 2015	10- 2015	Ouest	Kinshasa	3,920	-	-	3,920	11,703	11,703	23,406
AF07	A2F: BB, mobile banking	FINCA	08- 2016	12- 2017	Sud	Haut Katanga	88,185	-	-	88,185	138,600	554,400	693,000

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
AF08	A2F: BB, rural agents network	FINCA	08- 2016	12- 2017	Ouest	Kongo Central	113,677	-	-	113,677	207,900	826,900	1,034,800
AF13	A2F: BB, mobile banking	Mulimayi Mwema			Sud	Haut Katanga	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AF17	A2F: BB, Agents network	Oxus	08- 2016	12- 2017	Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	46,970	132,440	179,410
AF18	A2F: SMEs, River Transport / agri-loans	ProCredit Bank (Equity Bank)	07- 2015	10- 2015	Nord	Equateur	29,550	-	-	29,550	-	-	-
AF19	A2F: SMEs, River Transport, boat operators	GEC			Nord	Equateur	14,338	-	-	14,338	-	-	-
AF20	A2F: SMEs, River Transport, Credit & Savings groups	Baleinieres CEGs GIEs			Nord	Equateur	42,239	-	-	42,239	-	-	-
AF22	A2F: SMEs, Maize, CMA	COMEXAS, GoCongo, Equity Bank	02- 2017	02- 2018	Sud	Haut Katanga	-	-	-	-	100,100	146,300	246,400
AF23	A2F: BB, diffusion of A2F and Agri	Viamo / HNI	08- 2016	06- 2018	Ouest	Kongo Central and Kinshasa	123,937	-	235,864	359,801	40,286	79,717	119,934

Code	Туре	Partner	Start	End	Region	province	Direct NAIC (£)	Indirect NAIC (£)	Élan 1.2 NAIC (£)	Total NAIC (£)	Budget Élan (£)	Budget partners (£)	Total Budget (£)
	messages by mobile phone												
AF27	A2F: BB, Interoperability	Airtel, Tigo, Urban, Vodacom			Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AF30	A2F: SMEs, Housing Finance	Habitat - Housing Finance			Ouest	Kinshasa	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

### D.2 List of A2F interventions within Élan 1.2

Code	Туре	Partner	Total NAIC	Budget Élan	Budget partners	Total Budget
AF101	Development and rebranding of the Lona o Defa digital finance product. (Diagnostic study ongoing - prior to implementation)	FINCA- Vodacom	-	50,000		
AF104	Advocacy/lobbying of mobile money operations.	Digital Working Group	-			
AF106	Investment technical assistance which would allow EPD to develop its business into Goma and enable MSMEs to benefit from its products (both consulting and loans).		-			
AF108	TBD	MIC Cash Working Group	-			
AF109	A communication campaign with radio, social media and mobile operators to advocate for mobile money use and its benefits, including sanitary ones.	Covid Digital Payment Awareness	-			
AF110	Setting an aggregation platform to enable interoperability and instant digital/USSD mobile payments.	MaxiCash and Infoset	-			

Code	Туре	Partner	Total NAIC	Budget Élan	Budget partners	Total Budget
AF111	The partner IPC will provide targeted MFIs in DRC with crisis management training.	Covid Crisis response	-			
AF112	Allowing some MSMEs to access loans despite the freeze in lending observed currently and allow those loans to be accessible quicker. Élan will support the process by providing a guarantee fund in case of challenges paying back the loans. Thus, lending will continue at least for priority sectors and MSMEs will show signs of resilience.	Covid cash guarantee	-			
AF113	Conduct 30 rounds of surveys with 1,000 households by telephone (total of 30,000 completed surveys in the end of the 6 months implementation). The results will inform private sectors and decision-makers on how to best respond to the crisis.	Covid household survey	-			
AF114	Conduct 10 rounds of surveys with 300 businesses by telephone (total of 3,000 completed surveys in the end of the 2 months implementation). The results will inform private sectors and decision-makers on how to best respond to the crisis.	Covid business survey	-			

## **Annex E Select intervention summaries**

### E.1 AgNP interventions with Seed Co. (NP01, NP13)

Seed Co is a long-established company, founded in Zimbabwe in 1940, and currently headquartered in South Africa. They produce and market elite hybrid seeds across west, central, eastern and southern Africa. Seed Co opened an office in DRC in 2012 to distribute and sell its hybrid seeds. Élan partnered with Seed Co in 2015 for two interventions. These were:

- (NP01): Signed in August 2015, the objective of this partnership was to support Seed Co in establishing a seed distribution network to sell seeds to smallholder farmers (SHFs) with a focus on Lubumbashi and surroundings.
- (NP13): A tripartite agreement, signed in August 2015, between Élan, Seed Co and Société d'Exploitation de Kipoi (SEK) a copper and cobalt mining company. As part of its CSR, SEK wanted to set up a contract farming model where it would pre-finance inputs for farmers. The farmers could repay the financing after harvest. Seed Co would supply inputs, agronomic advice and monitor farmers to encourage repayment.

The NP01 intervention went through two iterations (2015-2016 and 2017-2018). The first partnership hired Field Technicians to train farmers and promote seeds while local retailers distributed seeds. While this was found to increase sales, the distribution model was found to be expensive and unprofitable. The second partnership converted the Field Technicians to Field Agents to promote and sell seeds. While Field Technicians were recruited, trained and equipped with motorbikes by Seed Co, Field Agents would be independent and paid by commission. Seed Co streamlined its marketing team to just one marketing manager and one agronomist. Marketing activities were conducted with radio advertising campaigns in targeted zones, a learning centre established, 200 demonstration plots, and field days used. Smaller, more affordable pack sizes (250g, 500g) were also introduced.

The SEK mining intervention (NP13) went through three iterations over the 2015-2018 period. Each time the role of the Field Technician was revised and the process of managing the contract farming system was streamlined. The range of services offered to farmers was expanded (to include phytosanitary products and agro-machinery).

#### E.1.1 Expected Market System Changes

Élan saw the interventions as contributing to two MSCs. Firstly, MSC 2.1: "Input suppliers provide quality inputs and value-adding services to smallholder farmers", as Seed Co would set up a viable distribution network to sell seeds to SHFs. In addition, MSC 2.2: "Agribusinesses and mines provide access to pre-financed inputs and services to SHFs", as Seed Co's monitoring and advisory support would help farmers make good use of the financing provided by mining companies. The farmers would sell their produce and earn income while the mines would sustainably continue to support farmers. While the core Seed Co business has expanded but the mining scheme has ended, it can be said that there was more success on MSC 2.1 than on MSC 2.2. However, the market for SHFs has still not seen any major transformation and remains small, although provincial government shows good and growing demand for hybrid seeds produced by Seed Co.

#### E.1.2 What results were claimed?

As shown in Table 26, Seed Co's sales have increased steadily over time from approximately 260 tonnes prior to collaboration with Élan to around 620 tonnes in 2019 just after this collaboration had ended, and up to around 1,000 tonnes as of 2022. Sales are made up of government (60 percent approximately as of 2022), mines (10 percent) and a mix of commercial farmers and SHFs (30 percent). SHFs were the target beneficiary group for Élan's intervention, and while reaching 147 tonnes of sales for this group in 2016/2017, sales to SHFs have fallen back since then and are unlikely to exceed 100 tonnes in 2022. However, sales to provincial government may end up being used by SHFs as they are distributed with the Village Agricole programmes in Haut Katanga and Lualaba provinces (although the latter has alternated hybrid seed purchases with OPV seed purchases from local providers).

Sales	2013/14	2014/15	2015/16	2016/17	2017/18	2019	2020	2022
Maize hybrid – sales	260	260	195-260	423-450	422-460	620	1,010	800- 1000
SHF segment – sales	80	60	115	147	325			100 (approx.)

#### Table 26: Seed sales (in tonnes) by Seed Co

Source: Élan (2017i, 2020j); DSU interviews for MTE and for this study.

Élan's estimated impact for the interventions came from SHFs using improved seed and increasing yield and income as a result. Élan carried out impact assessments for both NP01 and NP13. The final assessment for the first intervention (NP01) found the hybrid seeds had increased yields for SHFs purchasing them. While the target maize yield for Élan was 4.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, achieved yield was 2.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> on average, which compared to around 1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> beforehand. This was estimated to be worth USD 232 per SHF using the hybrid seeds based on the additional maize produced less associated costs.<sup>415</sup> For the SEK intervention (NP13), yields were found to be higher at 4.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, increasing from 1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> prior to the campaign. Higher yields were linked to the 'full package' of support provided to SHFs. NAIC was found to be USD 677 per beneficiary involved for the 2016 season.<sup>416</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Élan (2017j) "Accès à la semence de qualité- SEEDCO"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> Élan (2016f) "Projet pour l'amélioration des moyens de subsistance"

Intervention	Élan investment (£)	Partner investment (£)	Number benefitted	Aggregate NAIC (£)	DSU reliability assessment	Adjusted NAIC (£) recommended
NP01: Seed distribution	117,092 (66%)	59,209 (34%)	10,206 (36% women)	2,657,490	Issues found during MTE.	1,954,036
NP13: Contract farming, SEK	21,483 (5%)	438,222 (95%)	704 (25% women)	662,863	Issues found during MTE.	662,863

Table 27:	Seed Co reported impact and DSU reliability	y assessment
-----------	---	--------------

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG; DSU (2018b, 2020b)

Table 27 summarises estimated benefits of both interventions and DSU's reliability assessment of the results. The two interventions formed a large proportion of total NAIC for the AgNP sector at around 20 percent in total, with £3.3 million estimated by Élan. During the MTE work, these were found to be over-optimistic, with NP01 NAIC impact recommended to be adjusted by £0.7 million downwards.<sup>417</sup>

Élan estimated that 10,206 SHFs benefited from the NP01 intervention and that 325 tonnes went to SHFs in the 2017/18 season.<sup>418</sup> This would imply 32 kg of seeds per farmer at that stage, enough to farm over 1 ha of land (the maize seed rate being 25 kg per ha). It is estimated that USD 1,000 of inputs (including seeds and NPK) are required to fully develop a single ha of land. In comparison, maize meal retailed in 2022 for between 800 and 1,000 CDF per kg in Lubumbashi, which is roughly USD 400 to USD 500 per tonne.<sup>419</sup> Farmers therefore require yield increases upwards of 2 tonnes per ha (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) to break-even on additional investments in their land. According to Seed Co (in interviews for this study), it is only likely that larger farms, of 5 ha or more, are capable of making investments required to achieve the greater yields and then make a profit. As the DSU MTE also found, this is potentially a fundamental limitation on the intervention logic for hybrid seed sales from a company such as Seed Co to benefit the target beneficiary group of SHFs.<sup>420</sup>

The SEK contract farming intervention was estimated to have reached 704 beneficiaries, and was the highest AgNP intervention in terms of the NAIC per beneficiary at £942 (benefits were estimated to cover multiple seasons). This amounts to a large return in the context. The MTE looked in detail at the SEK intervention, and though while viewed by Seed Co and Élan as a success, the DSU found challenges, including a "toxic relationship" between the mine and local community and a breakdown in trust linked to corruption in SEK's community liaison staff.<sup>421</sup> It found low reimbursement rates, and that yields were lower than Élan had estimated, according to DSU interviews yields post-intervention were reported at just 3 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, which would imply lower gains in terms of NAIC. Despite this it is not possible to say definitively if the yields were overestimated. The scheme has ended in early 2018 as SEK no longer owns the mine and it was sold to a Chinese company. It is unclear if any OGS still exists at the location.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> DSU (2018b) "Mid-term evaluation (MTE) of ÉLAN Technical Annex"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> USAID / FEWSNET (2022b) Democratic Republic of Congo Price Bulletin November 2022

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> Based on interviews undertaken in October 2017. DSU (2018a, 2018b) Élan Mid-term evaluation (MTE) and annexes.

#### E.1.3 Will Seed Co ever start production of hybrid seeds in the DRC?

A long-running goal of Seed Co has been to establish production of hybrid seeds in the DRC, and this was an explicit goal at the outset of interventions with Élan.<sup>422</sup> According to Seed Co in MTE interviews, 1,000 tonne of seed sales were needed to break-even on operations and consider production in the DRC. According to interviews for this study (in November 2022), either 1,000 tonnes of maize seeds over three consecutive years would be needed, or according to another senior member of the Seed Co team, 2,000 tonnes of hybrid maize seed sales would be needed to start a processing plant.

The firm continue to face issues of competing with fraudulent seeds as well as illegal imports, and the lack of a Seed Law and IP protection make it difficult for them to operate and remain profitable. Despite this, there is some optimism that expansion and ultimately production in the DRC is possible. As above the trajectory of sales has been in an upward direction, and a Seed Co team member also noted that 1,300 tonnes of maize seed sales were possible in a good year, although this was reliant on the provincial government purchases which could be unpredictable. It remains possible that Seed Co will set up production in the DRC of hybrid seeds in coming years.

### E.2 AgNP interventions with NASECO (NP32, NP102)

Nalwayo Seed Company (NASECO) is a Uganda-based seed producer originally selling hybrid and OPV seeds but now just marketing and selling its hybrid seed in the DRC, particularly its flagship seed 'Bazooka'.<sup>423</sup> The company developed the Bazooka hybrid maize variety at its research facility in Uganda in collaboration with CIMMYT to better serve smallholder farmers. The variety was selected for its ability to produce in a low-nitrogen environment and deliver a robust yield in different ecologies; suitability up to 1,900 meters; and tolerance to lethal maize necrosis and fall armyworm.<sup>424</sup> The Bazooka variety is apparently valued by farmers for its 'double cob'. According to NASECO, yields even without fertiliser can be 4-5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, while with fertiliser can be 7-8 t ha<sup>-1</sup>.

NASECO came into DRC in 2015, and according to USAID (2019) has since become the "most important hybrid maize seed company in eastern DRC, and it accounts for at least 75 percent of all hybrid seed sales in eastern DRC".<sup>425</sup> Élan had two interventions with NASECO. The first under Élan 1.0 (NP32) in 2017-2018, and the second under Élan 1.2 (NP102) in 2020-2021. Both partnerships aimed to help NASECO promote its seeds and establish a distribution network.

NASECO has been an acclaimed regional seed producer, having ranked 5<sup>th</sup> in the first Access to Seeds Index (2016), a global overview of seed companies with a focus on how they reach SHFs in developing countries. NASECO was highlighted as providing 90 percent of its seed to a SHF customer base, the highest of any company surveyed.<sup>426</sup> At that time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> As of the start of the intervention, Seed Co already had their own extension service team, and they planned to expand to 5,000 tonne of seeds within four years. Source: Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> The company also sells seeds in Rwanda and Burundi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Ibid. USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> "Ninety-five percent of NASECO's customer base is made up of smallholder farmers, which the company defines as farmers with 5-10 acres of land, not necessarily their own. Most of these customers are located in Burundi and Uganda. Smallholder farmers are integrated into the company's strategy as demonstrated by its tailored packaging and R&D activities, with a focus on low-input management, late weeding, droughts and floods." Access to Seeds Foundation (2016).

the company was principally focussed on Uganda with some presence in Burundi as well. Élan sought to support replication of the SHF model for the market in the eastern DRC.

Demand creation was central to the Élan interventions. NASECO employed Product Placement Officers (PPOs) to establish demonstration plots, promote seeds and train SHFs on good agriculture practices. The PPOs would identify agro-dealers and supply them with seeds to distribute. Over 400 agro-dealers were trained in business and agriculture practices to sell seeds and advise farmers on agriculture practices ensuring farmers' supply of inputs and technical information, and the firm set up a close to 9,000 demonstration plots as part of the intervention. NASECO and Élan also used radio adverts to promote seeds and set up a dial-in service with Viamo to provide information on good agriculture practices (linked to intervention NP103).

NASECO agriculture agents are paid a basic salary, given a motorcycle after three years of service, and receive commissions based on sales and achieving the target of establishing 200 demonstration fields per agent.<sup>427</sup> The model has allowed them to build a dense network of distribution particularly in North Kivu, South Kivu and Ituri provinces in the eastern DRC, which continued to grow after Élan's support had ended.

#### E.2.1 Expected Market System Changes

As with the other seed interventions, the expected market system change (MSC) was specified as MSC 2.1 – "input suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to smallholder farmers." The NASECO intervention was found to be more tailored to the needs of SHFs than other companies, and this may have been a combination of this being the core strategy of the company including in Uganda, as well as the characteristics of eastern DRC. Interviewees highlighted in particular the relatively dense population in the Kivu provinces, meaning that higher volumes of SHFs could be reached in spite of the infrastructure challenges. The company has sustained the growth linked to the Élan intervention period, and it appears the intervention may provide the most likely to have achieved the systems change that Élan set out to achieve.

#### E.2.2 What results were claimed?

Table 28 below shows how NASECO's operations and sales have grown over time. Growth has been relatively steady, and the company faced particular challenges in the first Covid year of 2020. The compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in terms of sales volumes can be measured at 10 percent from 2018 to 2022, or 27 percent from 2017 to 2022. Unlike other intervention partners of Élan, it is claimed that the vast majority of these sales reach the target group of SHFs. According to NASECO, they hope to continue strong growth and have a sales target of 350 tonnes of maize hybrid seed sales for 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report.

Year	2017	2018	2019	2020	2022
Maize hybrid – sales	55.5	124.8	157.7	142.7	180
Revenue (USD thousands)		90	121.2	210.5	

## Table 28: NASECO maize seed production estimates, production (tonnes), and revenue (USD thousands)

Source: Élan (2017k, 2020h, 2020i) + DSU interviews.

Élan conducted two impact assessment studies to assess the benefits of NASECO's hybrid maize seeds on farmers' earnings. The first study for Élan 1.0 compared yields of farmers using NASECO seeds against their former yields (hence a pre/post method). The study found yield impact in both South Kivu and North Kivu. Effective yield increases were 1.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 3.3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in North Kivu, slightly less in South Kivu. However, farmers on average planted on 0.13 ha of land, so the impact in effective yield achieved was 115 kg in South Kivu valued at USD 50, and 205 kg in North Kivu valued at USD 76; the mean NAIC increase was estimated to be USD 63. Approximately 55 tonnes had been sold in the period assessed, and between 1.5 kg and 2.5 kg seeds were purchased.<sup>428</sup>

For the Élan 1.2 phase intervention (NP102), a more ambitious evaluation approach was taken with a treatment group of 'adopters' and a comparison group of 'non-adopters', perhaps the most ambitious evaluation Élan undertook in its full period of operation, with an external partner leading.<sup>429</sup> The study found yields of 4.0 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for users of NASECO's Bazooka seed, and 3.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for those using local seed, the latter figure seeming perhaps surprisingly high.<sup>430</sup> Farmers were assumed to plant 0.25 ha of land with Bazooka, and after accounting for expenses adopters of improved seeds had NAIC of USD 28.60 above non-adopters. It was found the vast majority of farmers (97-98 percent) across the treatment and comparison groups did not use chemical fertiliser. There was a difference in agronomist support - with 70 percent of treatment group receiving compared to 5 percent of the comparison. However, it is not clear whether the treatment effect was mediated by this support, or just the impact of the improved seeds.

Table 29 shows how this translated in terms of NAIC, with £1.2 million across the two interventions. DSU's reliability assessment concluded that the number of farmers benefitting from the intervention was likely to be slightly overestimated (by 3-4 percent, because this share said they had not benefited), and the NAIC was also likely slightly overestimated due to accurate costs of seeds not being taken into account.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> Élan (2017k) "Mid-term evaluation of NASECO (NP32)"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> Élan & IES (2021) "Impacts of improved rice and corn seeds adoption on smallholder households"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> This may suggest methodological issues. The report acknowledges challenges in sampling. Adopters were selected from agro-dealers, while agronomists were used to find non-adopters. There were 314 maize farmers in the total sample (219 for the treatment group, and 95 comparison group), and no matching method was used, the authors noting that the comparison group sample was too small for propensity score matching. The report has insufficient detail to fully assess the quality of the evaluation. Élan & IES (2021).

Intervention	Élan investment (£)	Partner investment (£)	Number benefitted	Aggregate NAIC (£)	DSU reliability assessment
NP32 Élan 1.0	392,532 (42%)	545,632 (58%)	25,272 (43% women)	1,470,438	Aggregate NAIC slightly overestimated
NP102 Élan 1.2	87,536 (45%)	106,435 (55%)	9,954 (50% women)	250,622	N/A

Table 29:	NASECO re	ported imp	act and DSU	reliability	assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG; DSU (2018c, 2020a, 2020b)

The relatively large reach of NASECO is a function of farmers buying small quantities of seed. Most farmers according to NASECO buy 1-2 kg, enough to cover no more than one-tenth of a hectare of land, which aligns with the finding from the 2017 evaluation.<sup>431</sup> A key factor in the competitiveness of NASECO in reaching SHFs is that the prices of their hybrid seed are cheaper than those sold by others, including Seed Co (for example). Hybrid bazooka seed sells to farmers for USD 2.20 / kg according to NASECO, which compares to USD 5 / kg for Seed Co hybrids in the south. This is likely to give NASECO a competitive edge, but also offset some of the additional perceived risks of SHFs using hybrids (as opposed to OPV alternatives). According to NASECO, farmers were finding it profitable to rent a small plot of land to try to turn a profit on the hybrid seeds. Through the distribution network, the firm also provide extension services, including for example advice on how to intercrop maize and beans successfully.

#### E.2.3 Production in the DRC

During the 2020 Annual Review interviews, NASECO mentioned that working with Élan helped them extend their reach into new and further away areas. NASECO has been interested in growing seeds in the DRC but could not do so as seed testing facilities did not exist. The company set up a production facility in Ituri province with the support of Élan<sup>432</sup>, and also registered their flagship 'Bazooka' hybrid maize seed in the national seed catalogue, <sup>433</sup> which may be important to facilitate their growth.

It is not clear how operational NASECO's production site is in the DRC, and what proportion of NASECO sales come from the production there, however it is still a mark of their commitment to the DRC that they continue to pursue this in spite of the challenges faced, particularly with years of conflict in the eastern DRC. NASECO credit Élan with pushing them to expand in the DRC at a faster rate and over a larger geographical area, and as they now put it "we are here to stay".

### E.3 AgNP interventions with Mimosa (NP02)

Growing commercial seeds involves cultivating at least three generations or classes of seeds as shown in Figure 24. Élan's NP02 intervention aimed to give small local producers the capacity to grow foundation seeds and use them to grow and distribute commercial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> During the Élan period they sold seeds down to 500 gram packs, though now the smallest they sell is 1 kg according to NASECO in interview for this study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Bazooka seed can be seen in the Seed Catalogue available online: MINAGRI (2019).
certified seeds (to be certified by the national regulatory institution, SENASEM). The focus was on open pollinated variety (OPV) rather than hybrid seeds.

### Figure 24: Phases of seed growing



Source: Authors

The intervention worked with the national research institute (Institut National d'Etudes et de Recherches Agronomiques - INERA), which had a monopoly or producing breeder seeds and foundation seeds in the DRC. INERA would support six providers with one hectare (ha) each financed by Élan, and the producers would finance another ha. The largest focus was production of 'Babungo', an OPV maize seed, and four other seed crops.<sup>434</sup> Élan also worked with INERA to liberalise the production of foundation seeds, which would allow the local seed multipliers to expand and allow them to decouple from the need to source from INERA, who were under-funded and under-capacitated.

The intervention began with a long list of existing multipliers of seed, the 20 small producers that formed the Association of seed producers in Katanga (APSK) and narrowed them down to those with most potential, which became the six - Bon Berger, FADIP, Maydive, Mimosa, Safari International and Nsenga Lutanga.<sup>435</sup> This was for the first phase of the NP02 intervention (2014-15).

In the second phase of intervention (2015-16), seed producers used base seeds to produce certified seeds and began setting up distribution networks to sell certified seeds, with Élan's focus on smallholder farmer (SHFs) as target beneficiaries. Élan undertook a second partnership with Mimosa for the November 2015 planting season. The second phase concentrated on marketing of the seed they were now producing. Élan supported a programme of adverts and other marketing communications, 15 demonstration plots were planted and managed to host field visits to showcase the performance of the maize seed, 30 points of sale were also opened. Mimosa negotiated agreements with four agro-dealers along the main Lubumbashi–Kolwezi axis to stock its products.

The support provided led to Mimosa achieving sales of more than 80 tonnes in 2018. Élan estimated they had increased from 10 tonnes of seed before the intervention to 60 tonnes for the 2015/2016 season.<sup>436</sup> Data from USAID (2019) suggests there was unsold seed,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> The other crops involved were beans D6K, groundnut MGV4 (Maydive took the lead on groundnut), rice NERICA7 (FADIP took lead), and soybean TGX6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> Nsenga Lutanga did not reach the quality targets set and therefore Élan exited the partnership. FADIP had produced good quality rice seed but the organisation collapsed after the death of the owner. Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

potentially as much as half as was produced in the 2016/2017 season.<sup>437</sup> Sales included purchases from the provincial Ministry of Agriculture as part of the Village Agricole initiative. The provincial government of Haut Katanga initially purchased 26 tonnes of Babungo maize seed from Mimosa during the planting season of 2017, and increased the order for 2018 to 60 tonnes. According to Élan, this generated more than USD 100,000 of revenue to Mimosa.<sup>438</sup> However, in interview for this study, Mimosa claimed to have still not been paid USD 30,000.<sup>439</sup> The trajectory of sales is in Table 30.

Table 30:	Mimosa seed production data in land use (hectares) and production
	(tonnes)

Crop	2014	2015/2016	2016/2017	2017/2018	2018/2019	2021/2022
Maize OPV – land used (ha)			33	20.5	20	
Maize OPV – production (t)	10	No data	60-89.3	56.3-70	80	
Unsold maize (t)			46.5			

Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report; Élan (2018d) PCR; DSU interviews for 2021/2022

Élan had supported Mimosa to obtain a loan from ProCredit Bank (which became Equity Bank and then Equity BCDC Bank) to support expansion, for a warehouse facility to store seed for which Élan guaranteed the loan for and co-financed (part of their ProCredit agreement, within Élan's AF18 intervention).<sup>440</sup> Mimosa repaid the full amount and in interview for this study were very positive on the work of Élan, including training / business development support (BDS) provided (short courses on management, accounting, production planning and commercialisation) and allowing them to formalise their business. However, they were unable to maintain a credit facility with Equity Bank.

SENASEM would monitor the production of base seeds and then the production of certified seeds. SENASEM still certify the seeds produced by Mimosa, for which they charge a fee based on the volume of seed. As set out elsewhere (see Section 3.2.1), the testing from SENASEM is not scientifically robust, and it is therefore not necessarily a signifier that good quality seed is being produced by Mimosa.

### E.3.1 Expected Market System Changes

The expected market system change was MSC 2.1 "input suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to smallholder farmers." The intervention transferred the responsibility and capacity to produce foundation seeds to local seed producers, allowing growing production of certified seeds without relying on INERA. Mimosa provision of foundation seed to other producers, including SAGRICIM in Lualaba province and others, has shown that this market system change did occur, although the scale remains small. However, it is also not clear that SHFs are purchasing large volumes of seed, as government and NGOs remain the main purchasers of seed from Mimosa.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> This was classified as an 'Unassisted response' in the AAER framework final Élan1.0 reporting. Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> I.e. It is possible the USD 100,000 order was overestimated by Élan and it was in fact USD 30,000 of which none was paid by the Ministry.

<sup>440</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

## E.3.2 What results were claimed?

The overall results reported for Mimosa did not specify which NP02 seed producer had achieved which impact. The main evaluation for the local seeds interventions in Lualaba and Haut Katanga provinces (covering both NP02 for Mimosa and NP30 for Bon Berger) was based on surveys carried out in 2017. The study aimed to look at those using the 'Babungo' OPV seed even if they had received it from a source that did not originate from an Élan partner. The study found maize yields of 1.43 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, which compared to 0.96 t ha<sup>-1</sup> before using the Babungo seed. As farmers were planting on average of 0.7 ha, this implied 0.34 t of additional maize per beneficiary, valued at USD 116.<sup>441</sup>

The survey also found that 93 percent of farmers who adopted the Babungo seed used fertiliser, including 98 percent in Haut Katanga and 56 percent in the Lualaba. An important part of the study was that Élan would measure SHFs use of Babungo regardless of the source. Babungo seed users received seed through the government (48 percent) as part of its agricultural village programme 'Village agricole'; through other sources/associations (5 percent); resellers (24 percent); and at the local market (12 percent). The survey also found that 55 percent of SHF had access to agronomic advice, mostly from village agronomists or local agro-dealers), with 5 percent saying they received agronomic advice from agronomists of Mimosa and/or Bon Berger.<sup>442</sup>

Table 31 shows how these results translated into beneficiary numbers for the NP02 intervention. In total, £1.2 million of direct NAIC was estimated for just under 4,000 beneficiaries (around £300 each), and £0.24 million of indirect NAIC for just under 2,800 beneficiaries (£86 each). The DSU considered the impact estimates to be overestimates because and could not validate the indirect impact. Élan's NAIC estimates from the impact assessment did not consider the costs of production incurred by farmers, and assumed farmer's net income was equal to their revenue from the crop. The impact figures were reestimated by DSU to be £852,000.

Élan investment (£)	Partner investment (£)	Direct beneficiaries	Indirect beneficiaries	Aggregate NAIC (£)	DSU reliability assessment	Adjusted NAIC (by DSU) (£)
102,988 (49%)	105,336 (51%)	3,956 (22% women)	2,793 (41% women)	1,420,772	NAIC not deduced costs. NAIC estimated to be 60% less than reported value. NAIC of indirect outreach not validated.	852,463

### Table 31: Mimosa reported impact and DSU reliability assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG; DSU (2020b). Costs estimated from all five Mimosa PAs. Beneficiaries for NP02 intervention in the PWIG are assumed to come from Mimosa.

The indirect beneficiary claim was based on generating replication from other sellers of Babungo seed, including from sales by SACRICIM who had sourced seed from Mimosa.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Élan (2017b) "Accès indirect à la variété améliorée de la semence Locale BABUNGO"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Élan (2018e) "Accès à la semence de qualité- BABUNGO"

This was estimated at 2,793 beneficiaries for the NP02 intervention, around half of the indirect beneficiaries estimated for the whole AgNP sector.<sup>443</sup>

## E.4 AgNP interventions with Bon Berger (NP02, NP29, NP30)

Élan's NP02 intervention aimed to give small local producers the capacity to grow foundation seeds and use that to grow and distribute certified seeds. Bon Berger were one of the six firms from the original intervention and went on to be one of the most frequent partners of the Élan project. The 2014-2015 intervention (NP02) saw Bon Berger's farm focus on foundation seed for beans. They subsequently took the opportunity created by the opening up of INERA to avail parent seeds and technical backup, and shifted focus to maize seed.

As with Mimosa, Élan continued to work with Bon Berger for additional interventions. Élan entered into a partnership to help establish and develop a structured sales and distribution network in several production zones. Élan supported Bon Berger to develop its brand and a marketing strategy, in which flyers, posters and promotional items were complemented with a radio campaign. Ten demonstration plots were planted, and at the end of the growing season they were used to host visits to show the performance of the maize seed. Bon Berger identified and negotiated with four agro-dealers in target production zones within a 50km radius of Lubumbashi and established seven new points of sale for its products. Bon Berger credited Élan with improving the offices, the building of a warehouse, and investment in other areas of their business, such as a piggery. The collaboration between Bon Berger and Élan ran from 2014 to 2018.

Another intervention (NP29) involving an outgrower scheme (OGS) was started and run in parallel to the work on Bon Berger's marketing strategy (NP30). The OGS used was an adaptation of the One Acre Fund (OAF) input Ioan model. Facilitation was conducted to link Bon Berger to Equity Bank (formerly ProCredit Bank). An annual budget of USD 130,000 would be financed by Bon Berger itself (including a 20 percent deposit paid by farmers per hectare of inputs ordered); Élan with a total of USD 109,000 over three years; and Equity Bank, which provided a Ioan of USD 55,000 to Bon Berger. The Ioan was repayable within 12 months, and the head of the company had to provide their own house as collateral (valued at USD 130,000 by Equity Bank). Through the OAF OGS model, farming households were supported in the production of maize seed and fertilisers such as NPK, urea and other phytosanitary products. In 2018/2019, the OAF model was extended to work with the mining company TFM. TFM awarded Bon Berger a contract to supply SHFs and linked to its OGS scheme.

### E.4.1 Expected Market System Changes

The Bon Berger interventions were classified as contributing to three of the AgNP sector's market system changes (MSCs). This began with MSC 2.1 "input suppliers provide quality inputs and advisory services to smallholder farmers." The intervention transferred the responsibility and capacity to produce foundation seeds to local seed producers and then supported growth of the capability to produce local seeds. Because of the additional OGS elements with the OAF model, the Bon Berger interventions also were classified by Élan as contributing to MSC 2.2 "Agribusinesses and mines provide access to pre-financed inputs and services to SHFs", and MSC 2.4 "Agribusinesses access finance". The first system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> SAGRICIM seed was "bought by the government of the province of Lualaba, the seed was distributed to 250 associations and groups of producers whose composition is estimated at an average of 18 people per group or association, for an estimated total of 4,500 small producers". Élan (2017b).

change was more successful than the latter two, as both the OGS model, the contract with TFM, and credit facility with Equity Bank have now been discontinued.

### E.4.2 What results were claimed?

Through the various initiatives, Bon Berger sold a total of 35 tonnes of seed annually, including sales to 245 SHFs affiliated to the OAF adaptation model. As shown in Table 32, as of 2017/2018, Bon Berger produced up to 45 tonnes, with 6 tonnes from the OAF model; however, 10 tonnes out of 45 were unsold.<sup>444</sup> Today, production has been scaled down, and is estimated at between 9 and 20 tonnes.

Crop	2014/15	2016/17	2017/18	2018/19	2019/20	2020/21	2021/22
Maize OPV – land used (ha)					25	25	
Maize OPV – production (t)	8-10 ("before Élan")		22.5 <mark>-25</mark>	40	18-45	25*	9-20*
Unsold maize (t)					10		
Bean foundation seed – production (t)	0.9					0.9	
Been commercial seed – production (t)						4.5	12

Table 32: Bon Berger seed production in land use (hectares) and production (tonnes)

Source: USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report; Élan (2018d) PCR + Élan (2020c) "Light monitoring"; DSU interviews.

Bon Berger's two interventions (NP29 and NP30) both contributed beneficiaries and NAIC. According to Bon Berger, the plan for the OAF model (NP29) was to support 1 ha per beneficiary under the project. In the first year they supported 105, in the second year 300, and the third year up to 500 SHFs. An evaluation report in October 2017 estimated maize yield of 3.25 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to a counterfactual maize yield of 0.67 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for farmers in the OAF model with a USD 98 net gain following farmers' reimbursement (70 percent of yield was reimbursed according to an evaluation).<sup>445</sup> For the seed distribution intervention (NP30) estimates were appear to be based on the same impact evaluation as for Mimosa, although for some reason a higher NAIC per beneficiary estimate was used. This had found maize yields of 1.43 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, compared to 0.96 t ha<sup>-1</sup> with 0.34 t of additional maize per beneficiary, valued at USD 116.<sup>446</sup>

In total the Bon Berger interventions were estimated to generate just under £571,000 of NAIC linked to NP30, and just over £13,000 linked to NP29. The estimates for the NP30 intervention was made up of £379,400 direct NAIC cumulatively to 2018 within Élan 1.0, £14,500 indirect NAIC in the same period, and then a further £177,000 estimated up to 2021 within the Élan 1.2 period. The estimates imply a high yield gain for farmers over several seasons, with £368 average NAIC per beneficiary. As the DSU did not look at the intervention closely in the NAIC verification exercises it is not possible to say how reliable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> Élan (2018f) Bon Berger 2017-2018 sales report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup> Élan (2017h) "Bon Berger One Acre Fund, Performance et impact"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> Élan (2017b) "Accès indirect à la variété améliorée de la semence Locale BABUNGO"

this is, although it seems the estimate appears on the high side, as it is significantly higher than the NAIC per beneficiary for all other seeds interventions, including those for which hybrid seed was the route to NAIC as opposed to OPV seed.

	investment (£)		Beneficiaries		NAIC (£)			
Intervention	Élan	Partner	Direct	Indirect	Direct during Élan 1.0 (£)	Indirect during Élan 1.0 (£)	Estimate during Élan 1.2 (£)	Total (£)
NP29 – OAF model as an OGS for SHFs	84,893 (30%)	200,008 (70%)	173 (50% female)	N/A	13,126	-	-	13,126
NP30 – marketing support	28,072 (70%)	12,010 (30%)	1,285 (41% female)	265 (49% female)	379,369	14,527	177,000	570,895

Table 33: Bon Berger reported impact and DSU reliability assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG. Élan (2021g) for Élan 1.2 results.

Following the end of support from Élan, Bon Berger continued to support its network of beneficiaries. However, they experienced a fall in sales in 2020 explained by the fall in purchasing power of small producers following the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>447</sup> In interview for this study, they say that as of today (the 2021/2022 season) they have 45 people they support. They also attribute the fall-back to the extension of the Village Agricole model, saying "in 2019, the Ministry of Agriculture in Haut Katanga copied the model and replicated it in some areas. The government killed the business because they had a lower repayment rate and their project is subsidised by the state." Bon Berger have not been able to access loans since the interventions stopped, as Equity Bank thought it too risky not to have the guarantee provided by Élan.

The TFM intervention in 2018 was an extension of the OAF model, and was part of the mining company's CSR (and the obligation to develop 500 ha in accordance with the Mining for Agriculture initiative). The goal was to commercialise farmers who were already part of TFM's existing OGS, and "wean" them off traditional input handouts from TFM. TFM helped to formulate the project, chose the input supplier based on a call for tenders and connected the supplier with SHFs. Beyond this point, TFM no longer wanted to interact with the 'weaned SHFs', except to resolve any communication problems encountered in the first year. Only two input suppliers responded to the call for tenders.<sup>448</sup> Bon Berger were the chosen supplier and would sell quality inputs on credit and provide TA to the SHFs. The input supplier had the guarantee of being reimbursed by the SHFs grouped into village community savings associations with an NGO, Alternative for Action (AFA), involved. As of 2019, Bon Berger had just over 400 SHFs on the OAF model, with the majority, 250, linked to the TFM intervention (270 ha in total).<sup>449</sup> However, the scheme was not successful for Bon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Élan (2020c) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: NP30 Bon Berger".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Élan (2019c) Outgrower Scheme (OGS) and input credit: alternatives to mines' traditional model of agriculture support.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Élan (2019e) Bon Berger OAF Model: Report 01/03/2019

Berger who found it costly to collect repayment. TFM was willing to continue the model but not necessarily with Bon Berger.<sup>450</sup>

# E.5 A2F interventions with FINCA (AF07, AF08, TR06, AF101, AF112)

FINCA is a well-reputed Microfinance institution (MFI) with offices in 40 countries worldwide. FINCA started operations in DRC in 2003, providing banking services within Kinshasa, and began to offer loans from 2006. FINCA DRC launched 'FINCA Express' in 2011 as a thirdparty service delivery model that enables clients to access financial services without traveling long distances to the nearest brick-and-mortar branch. FINCA Express agents are trained to provide financial literacy training as well as delivering core services. The institution now provides a large range of loan products in addition to savings accounts, debit card services, bill payments and money transfer services.

## Figure 25: Long-term growth of FINCA's operation – clients (thousands), agents and branches



Source: FINCA (2019b) up to 2016; after which, FINCA (2017a, 2018, 2019a, 2020, 2021, 2022).

In 2016, when they first partnered with Élan, they had about 270,000 clients, a loan portfolio of USD 65 million and 700 agents offering the FINCA Express model. As shown in Figure 25, in the period since FINCA has seen the number of clients grow as well as the number of agents, while the number of physical branches has remained relatively stable, rising from 20 in 2016 to 23 by 2021.<sup>451</sup>

FINCA and Élan worked together on five interventions:

- AF07: This partnership was signed in August 2016 to support FINCA's expansion in Katanga and assess the business case of a rural agent network. Élan also connected FINCA with an Agro-dealer, Mulimaji Mwema, who had a network of 17 shops in Likasi who became FINCA agents.
- AF08: A parallel partnership to AF07, signed in August 2016 to develop a bank-tomobile-wallet platform to link FINCA and Vodacom's M-Pesa services. The platform

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> Élan (2019b) "One Acre Fund Model: pilot with Ferme Agropastorale Bon Berger and Tenke Fungurme Mining (TFM) – Repayments progress report", 12th July 2019, by: Boldrini S. & Munduku N.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> A period in which they have also cut their overall headcount (excluding the agents), reducing from 842 in 2016 to 557 in 2021, and part of a deliberate corporate strategy. FINCA (2017a, 2020, 2022).

would use data from both to create a credit score of users and offer micro-loans to clients of FINCA / M-Pesa (and lead to the AF101 intervention).

- TR06: An intervention in the transport sector was signed in August 2018. FINCA developed a loan product for buying three-wheeled scooters (tricycles). The tricycles would increase transportation options available for the poor in Kinshasa and lead to an easier way to transport goods to the market.
- AF101: A tie-up with Vodacom offering the Lona o Defa product. This was a small unsecured loan product to be available on M-Pesa's menu.
- AF112: An intervention designed to address the lending freeze during the Covid-19 pandemic. FINCA continued to provide loans to MSMEs in priority sectors (food, face masks, hygiene products), relying on the guarantee fund set up by Élan to cover any lapses in repayment.

FINCA has built a reputation for being the most innovative MFI in the DRC, and have steadily embraced digital financial services. This includes via the FINCA Express model, but also now includes CLICK, the institution's mobile banking channel, launched in 2018 to increase access to branchless banking. Clients are able to use CLICK to manage their FINCA DRC accounts, transfer funds to other account holders and make payments.

FINCA's innovations have been supported by a range of development partners and international financial institutions. This includes IFC, FPM, KfW, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and as with Élan, specific initiatives have been supported, for example, the MasterCard Foundation had also supported FINCA's agent model.<sup>452</sup>

### E.5.1 Expected Market System Changes

The expected market system changes were principally MSC 3.2: "MNOs and financial institutions offer appropriate products/services to poor consumers and entrepreneurs" and MSC 3.3: "MNOs and financial institutions improve agents' quality of service and expand agents' network to serve poor consumers and ensure supply chain digitalization." Further:

- AF07 helped assess effective demand for FINCA agents in rural areas and assess their financial viability. Élan's assessment of agent banking found it was profitable for agents when clients were salaried workers with larger transactions or if the agents had other businesses which benefitted from a steady flow of clients. Élan 1.2 planned to expand FINCA's rural agent networks to new areas and support SMICO, another MFI, to build such networks. However, the intervention was dropped due to Covid-19 restrictions.
- AF08, AF101 and TR06 helped FINCA pilot new financial products. The TR06 loan
  product would increase low cost transport services for the poor. In interviews, during the
  2020 Annual review FINCA mentioned that the tricycle loan had not been continued.
  AF08 would help to link FINCA accounts to mobile money accounts allowing transfer
  between the two and provide the information to design and pilot a micro-loan product
  (Lona o Defa) for poor clients, which continued as the AF101 intervention under Élan
  1.2. This product has seen difficulties, in part to misalignment in priorities between
  FINCA and Vodacom.
- AF112 responded to the Covid-19 pandemic and was not expected to have systemic effects. Élan took the opportunity to develop a paper on 'how to establish guarantee funds' to share with the broader development community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> MasterCard Foundation (2016) "Alternate Delivery Channels for Financial Inclusion"

### E.5.2 What results were claimed?

Despite the changes to FINCA's business model, and continued innovation during the period with which it worked with Élan, the overall value of its portfolio has increased only gradually. This is shown in Figure 26, which shows that savings have increased from just over USD 50 million in 2017 to USD 70 million in 2021, a CAGR of 8.4 percent per year; and the loan portfolio from USD 62 million in 2017 to USD 77 million in 2021, a CAGR of 5.6 percent per year. Operating revenue has fallen in the period, although net income has increased (USD 13 million of net income in 2019-2021, compared to under USD 3 million in 2016-2018). Overall this suggests steady progress for the DRC's largest MFI, but not a radical increase in its balance sheet.



Figure 26: FINCA revenue, net income, loan and savings portfolios (USD million): 2015-2021

Source: FINCA (2017a, 2018, 2019a, 2020, 2021, 2022) DRC Annual reports.

As of 2022, FINCA estimated their average loan size to be USD 1,300, with a USD 72 loan million portfolio, suggesting they have approximately 55,000 in receipt of loans at that time (the majority of their clients are instead savers).<sup>453</sup> However for the AF07 and AF08 interventions, Élan initial studies found that customers could save money on transfer charges and transport costs to reach a transfer agent. After implementation, a survey of users in June 2018 found that only 2–3 percent of users had saved money on transfer costs, although most said they had to travel less to make payments and transfers. This may be why outreach numbers were low for AF07 and AF08, despite many clients signing up.

Élan monitored the number of people using FINCA accounts in rural areas (via FINCA Express) and the number of people who connect their FINCA accounts to Vodafone's M-Pesa account (FINCA Mobile account holders) as outreach. The intervention required FINCA to establish a viable agent network in rural areas. Interviews by the DSU showed that as of September 2018 the FINCA agent network was still thin in rural/remote areas.<sup>454</sup> Unfortunately, for this study, it was not possible to get a clear indication of how much of the agent expansion funded by Élan was maintained despite several requests.

The Lona o Defa product required FINCA to develop an algorithm to offer small loans to people based on their mobile money savings and their airtime usage. Loans with a minimum of USD 5 and a maximum of USD 250, could be taken out for one, two or four weeks, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> FINCA (2023) DRC website landing page

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> DFID/DSU (2018a) Élan Annual Review 2018

accrue a 4.5 percent interest rate (per week), with over USD 1 million lent to date. In interview for this study, FINCA noted issues with the Lona o Defa product.<sup>455</sup> As of 2019, 47,000 were said to have registered for the loan, and by the end of 2020 the number had reached 78,614.<sup>456</sup> In interview this has now apparently reached 135,000 registered customers (as of 2022). However, according to the interviews with both FINCA and Vodacom the product has not yet been profitable, particularly due to high default rates. In addition, there is a disagreement between the parties as FINCA would like 'auto-recovery' of repayments direct from the M-Pesa wallet, a move that Vodacom would not agree to. This means "100 percent of the risk is on the FINCA side" according to FINCA. Both the Vodacom interview for this study, and an evaluation commissioned by Élan found issues with the algorithm, so it appears the product is still a work in progress.<sup>457</sup>

Despite the high investment on FINCA interventions, Élan made quite low claims in terms of NAIC. The DSU's reliability reports did not look in depth at the interventions as a result.<sup>458</sup> Élan did not claim any benefits for TR06 or AF112 as shown in Table 34.

Intervention	Investment (£)		Ponoficiarico	Aggregate
Intervention Élan Partner		Denenciaries	NAIC (£)	
TR06 (29 Tricycle drivers)	-	-	6,989 tricycle users	No NAIC claimed
AF07 (55 New rural agents) Mobile banking	138,600 (20%)	554,400 (80%)	223 (Rural agents signed new clients for FINCA. Clients save on money transfer charges if they use FINCA agents.) (12% women)	88,185
AF08 Rural agents	207,900 (20%)	826,900 (80%)	7,178 registered customers Beneficiaries are users of M- Pesa and FINCA accounts. Élan assumed that users would save on transport or money transfer costs, but no documentation was found verifying this. (43% women)	113,677
AF101 Lona o Defa with Vodacom	-	-	No impact claimed	
AF112	-	-	No impact claimed	

### Table 34: FINCA intervention reported impact and DSU reliability assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG.

## E.6 A2F intervention on mobile money campaign (AF04)

One of the first partnerships to be developed in the original mobile banking sector, which would become A2F branchless banking, was a customer education campaign to promote the

<sup>457</sup> Élan & PHB (2020) "Inception Report - «Lona O Defa» Diagnosis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> It is perhaps telling that despite being in the 2019 and 2020 FINCA DRC Annual Reports, there was no longer a mention in the 2021 Annual Report. FINCA (2020, 2021, 2022) DRC Annual reports <sup>456</sup> FINCA (2020, 2021) DRC Annual reports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b)

use of mobile money. As set out in the initial Strategic Plan: "Facilitating consumer financial education to increase the awareness and level of understanding of the benefits of mobile banking (e.g. via mass media and demonstrations)".<sup>459</sup> This built on analysis from a GSMA study and its finding that "even when individuals have heard of mobile money, there is still a widespread lack of knowledge on exactly what mobile money can be used for (e.g., storing money, paying bills, commercial transactions, etc.), how to access mobile money services, or where agents are located. This points to the need for more intensive consumer education efforts".<sup>460</sup>

A study was commissioned early during Élan that confirmed some of the GSMA findings, in particular while there was higher awareness of the ability to send and receive money (61 percent and 50 percent respectively), other functions of mobile money had very low awareness (for example 'pay bills' – 2 percent). Among sub-groups, females, the poorer and more rural households had lower awareness. There were also trust issues, linked to some bad experiences around liquidity of agents and network outages.<sup>461</sup>

The intervention partners were: Airtel, Tigo (which was subsequently purchased by Orange) and Vodacom. The three mobile network operators (MNO) launched mobile money (MM) services in 2012 and saw quite quick growth in consumers of the service. Élan worked with all three MNOs to develop a marketing strategy to educate consumers on using MM services. Partnerships were signed in June 2015, and campaigns launched in September 2015. The media campaign ran for three months, until December 2015. Campaign messages focused on MM being safe, fast and time-saving and showed how to use MM. The campaign also informed consumers that MM services were guaranteed by the Congolese Central Bank (BCC). The education campaign on mobile money would be organised in four major cities of the DRC, namely in Kinshasa, Lubumbashi, Bukavu and Goma.

## E.6.1 Expected Market System Changes

The expected change was structured initially (up to 2016) as MSC 3.1: Increased confidence in mobile money. This was subsequently revised to: "MNOs and Financial institutions develop financial education programs and other tools to increase confidence in mobile money and other digital financial services". As the intervention was designed at the very outset of Élan, in a sense the MSC was designed for the intervention rather than the other way around. There was no clear benchmark or baseline on the concept of confidence despite the extensive studies that Élan had undertaken.

An Élan study completed in February 2018 showed that MNOs had changed their communication strategy.<sup>462</sup> The focus had moved from just informing customers about the existence of MM products to coaching on how to use MM and why it was beneficial. Promotion methods used a mix of 'above the line' (radio, TV) and 'below the line' (direct promotion through billboards etc., at merchant or agent stores). The MNOs carried out additional promotion offers, such as cash for re-activation of MM accounts, or highlighted their connection with banks, merchants, billers etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> ASI (2013e) "DRC Market Development Component: 5 Year Strategic Plan".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> GSMA (2013) "Mobile Money in the Democratic Republic of Congo." Market insights". In ASI (2013e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014) "Consumer Financial Needs & Behaviour Assessment in DRC".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

## E.6.2 What results were claimed?

Élan claimed £1.1 million of direct NAIC from the intervention, followed by £7.2 million of indirect NAIC, the latter for the 2017-2018 period. The assumption was that the strategy from the consumer outreach campaign had continued and Élan had made a permanent change to MNOs' marketing strategies. This latter point was never very clearly evidenced, not least as marketing would have taken place regardless. Two main evaluations were carried out. A first from December 2015, straight after the intervention, found 19.6 percent of respondents registered with mobile money because convinced by the message of the campaign, representing "120,000 people aged 18 to 65 living in the four cities concerned".<sup>463</sup> The evaluation was not clear in particular as over half had registered prior to the launch of the education campaign, and was also based on a very low sample size (n=189). Élan used 25,000 direct beneficiaries over the two years to 2017 but it is not clear how the figure was estimated or if it linked to the initial evaluation.

A second evaluation had a larger sample, with 1,300 people sampled.<sup>464</sup> The study included findings such as that "63 percent believe they understood and 17 percent were able to retain the message of the customer campaign". The study also presented a range of findings to deduce an impact from the campaign, mainly based on "declarations from the MM operators" themselves. This estimated a "joint campaign effect" of 1.29 million extra clients, and for active accounts, 695,000 clients.<sup>465</sup> Then 'declaration by Mobile Money operators' claimed 10.9 percent of these increases were thanks to the joint campaign, and attributable to the support of Élan (or 76,000 active clients).

Intervention	Investment (£)		Beneficiaries		Aggregate	DSU reliability
Intervention	Élan	Partner	Direct	Indirect	NAIC (£)	assessment
AF04 Mobile money campaign – Vodacom, Airtel, Tigo	42,827 (39%)	67,517 (61%)	24,848 (women = 34%)	219,696 (women = 33%)	8,302,235	Direct results judged reliable in 2018. Unable to assess the reliability of indirect outreach or NAIC

## Table 35: Mobile money campaign intervention impact and DSU reliability assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG; DSU (2017, 2018c, 2020a, 2020b)

Élan's final indirect estimate was based on 'trend analysis' and the claim from operators that 10 percent of the increase in usage was due to the intervention, looking at the overall increase in accounts from 2015 to 2018. The impact (NAIC) per beneficiary was USD 41.57 (£32) based on a figure of USD 2 cost saving per month based on one transaction per month.<sup>466</sup> An earlier DSU verification exercise had found Élan's earlier study to over-estimate the saving, for which USD 1 was the value at the time compared to the use of money transfer operators (MTOs),<sup>467</sup> but the difference had come down to USD 0.4 per transfer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> Élan (2015d) and Experts (2015)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> Total MM accounts would have been 10.7 million without the campaign but increased to 12 million with it.
 Active MM accounts of 1.95 million without the campaign, and 2.65 million with it. Source: Élan (2018k).
 <sup>466</sup> Élan (2018l) Intervention Tracking Tool for AF04 intervention (and an embedded Word document called 'Trends analysis')

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> The latter would require the individual to go the MTO office, hence incurring transport costs.

However, neither value is clear and no rigorous estimate of the cost saving appears to have been conducted (at least it was not documented).<sup>468</sup>

### E.6.3 Other effects

According to the second evaluation,<sup>469</sup> the direct effects of the joint campaign on the communication of MM operators, the BCC revised significantly upwards thresholds (ceilings) of transactions. The BCC permitted the MNOs to raise the threshold for MM transfers from USD 500 to USD 1,000. It has not been possible to test the robustness of this claim.

The evaluation made further claims on volumes of transactions, and that the campaign "generated" an additional USD 1.75 million in transaction value. These figures appear not to have been used in any of the NAIC estimates of the project.<sup>470</sup>

## E.7 A2F interventions on CMAs (AF01, AF22)

A Collateral Management Agreement (CMA) is a form of warehouse receipting model, in which agricultural stock can be placed under the control of a third-party holder, and the stock can be recognised as collateral and used to leverage loans. Due to the relatively short time grain will be stored, this is generally for working capital loans, which may be useful for a farmer including to purchase inputs or make other investments for the next season. The model is also used by larger farmers, who have more grain to store, and therefore lower marginal transaction costs than for individual SHFs for example.

The CMA was Élan's effort to develop a financial product to overcome the absence of available collateral and to extend the type of collateral that could be utilised for access to finance, a significant issue facing growth-oriented SMEs.<sup>471</sup> Figure 27 illustrates how the agreement works. If the company is a farmer, the credit line allows them to store grain to sell at a higher price in the off-season. If the company is a processor or trader, it can use the credit line to increase its grain purchase and volume of business. The third party gets a fee for their storage, assessment, and maintenance of the quality and quantity of grain. The CMA model was facilitated by Élan for two interventions. The first, in North Kivu with smallholder farmers, which was not successful (AF01); then a more successful pilot with in Haut Katanga with a large commercial maize farmer launched with learning from the first CMA, and which proved more successful (AF22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> The final USD 41.57 NAIC per beneficiary figure for the indirect NAIC estimate, came from 21 months in the Q1 2017 to Q3 2018 period, multiplied by USD 1.98 per month with one transaction per month. This USD 1.98 figure was calculated by the combined effect on senders and receivers when compared to using a MTO. The sources for this latter data are not stated in the documentation. Source: Élan (2018) Intervention Tracking Tool for AF04 intervention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> Ibid. Élan (2018k) "Etude sur les effets de la Campagne Conjointe"

<sup>471</sup> Élan (2014b) Q2 2014 report



5. Gives permission to release grain after repayment

The two CMA interventions were as follows:

- AF01: Élan's first CMA intervention in 2015 included: maize processors Maizeking and CMC, Bank of Africa (BOA), and logistics company COMEXAS as the third party. The intervention was in the Kivus and focused on maize.
- AF22: Élan's second intervention from late 2016 was in Katanga. The parties included a large maize farmer GoCongo as the company, ProCredit bank (later to be Equity Bank and then Equity BCDC) and COMEXAS as the third party. Although initial plans were to work with maize, solar lamps and coffee, the intervention finally worked with just maize.

### E.7.1 Expected Market System Changes

The intervention was placed under MSC 4.1: "Financial institutions market adapted and innovative financial products." The intervention would increase trade volumes within the sectors, benefiting poor producers or consumers. Élan initially trained four banks (TMB, RawBank, BOA, and ProCredit Bank), COMEXAS and companies interested in taking CMA loans. Élan also created the guidelines for each party on their roles and responsibilities and reporting formats for the parties to share information.

The business model was deemed successful and sustainable in Katanga (AF22), where Equity Bank maintained a relation with GoCongo for several seasons beyond the intervention timeline. According to Élan, Trust Merchant Bank (TMB), with some advisory support from Élan, replicated the model, giving a CMA loan to the maize farmer Mashamba SARL. It has not been possible to confirm whether this CMA had gone ahead for this study,<sup>472</sup> however Élan claimed it generated a short-term loan of USD 3 million.<sup>473</sup>

The CMA was an innovative product for ProCredit and while the GoCongo intervention lasted for several interventions, interviews for this study have found it has been discontinued. The main reason was the high cost of the COMEXAS role. Unlike for AF01, for AF22 it was the farm GoCongo that provided the warehouse, so the role of COMEXAS was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> There was suggestive evidence they do not still have the CMA product. GoCongo stated that TMB "do not get" the CMA model. TMB themselves in interview for this study say agriculture lending is too risky in the DRC.
<sup>473</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change, stated that: "In September 2017, Élan received an email confirming that a short term loan of USD 3 million at 10 percent interest had been granted to Mashamba against collateral of 15,000 t of maize under a CMA-type agreement.... TMB confirmed that this loan was an addition to their loan portfolio, and that TMB had never previously granted a loan against agricultural stock in DRC... This replication has not benefited any smallholder farmers in the province because the loan recipient is a large commercial farm that used its own stock and did not buy any additional produce from surrounding SHFs."

simply to verify the storage. It was felt that for this relatively small input the cost charged was high, and COMEXAS also wanted to increase this 'Management fee'. This made the effective cost higher than the interest rate would suggest. In the absence of this issue, GoCongo would find the product extremely useful, and they could have taken on a much larger facility (USD 1.5 million or more). For Equity BCDC the view of the product is still positive, although GoCongo suggested they might not understand the product very well. Equity now say they have developed a similar product for smaller entities than GoCongo, although it has not yet been used. It was acknowledged that the model so far has not worked for the SHF beneficiary group, which was the original intention of Élan.

## E.7.2 What results were claimed?

The first intervention, AF01, increased grain purchases by the two maize processors. In total, the line of credit set up by the BOA enabled processors to buy an additional 26 tonnes of maize from 108 small farmers, who increased their income level by USD 53 at the end of the season. The low amount of credit granted to processors, the high costs of stock storage and the delay by the bank in signing stock release orders were the main challenges mentioned by processors during an appraisal.<sup>474</sup> The DSU's MTE found that with average deposits of 240 kg of maize a low amount of working capital was released, that might not cover total costs from interest or warehousing charges, with returns likely to be insufficient to even buy one bag of fertiliser.<sup>475</sup> None of the three parties involved in the pilot continued the CMA model in Goma.

For the second intervention, AF22, ProCredit Bank (to become Equity Bank and then Equity BCDC) USD 500,000 was disbursed at 10 percent interest (increased to 12 percent according to interviews for this study) to the larger maize farmer and processor, GoCongo, which it used to buy maize from the local market and Zambia without Élan's support. The intervention was viewed as successful in terms of the parties' views of the product, but the loan was used mainly for buying maize from Zambia and did not therefore benefit any smallholder farmers.<sup>476</sup>

In terms of NAIC impact, while AF01 in Kivu generated a small return, despite the systemic importance for Élan of AF22 in Katanga, it never generated NAIC for the beneficiary group. For AF22, the large maize farmers bought imported maize from Zambia and South Africa using the credit received, and claimed they could not get quality maize locally, while imported maize was cheaper. As a result, no SHFs benefited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup> Élan (2015e) "Evaluation du projet pilote CMA maïs au Nord Kivu"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> DSU (2018b) "Mid-term evaluation (MTE) of ÉLAN Technical Annex"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change. "GoCongo deposited two lots of 402 t and 1,962 t in December 2016 and December 2017 respectively. Pro-Credit disbursed loans of USD 160,000 and USD 500,000 against the collateral deposited with COMEXAS. These loans provided additional working capital, which GoCongo used to buy additional stock from South Africa, Zambia and the local market. Before working with Élan, GoCongo had a purchasing capacity of 750 t only. Now it is able to buy 2,000 t thanks to the CMA model. COMEXAS monthly charge was USD 1,500." By the time of interviews for this study the monthly charge for COMEXAS had gone up to USD 3,000-USD 4,000 and they (COMEXAS) wanted to double this again.

Intervention	Investm	ent (£)	Popoficiarias	Aggregate NAIC (£)	
Intervention	Élan	Partner	Beneficiaries		
AF01: Kivu CMA	26,954 (67%)	13,335 (33%)	108	4,007	
AF22: Katanga CMA	100,100 (41%)	146,300 (59%)	0	0	

### Table 36: CMA interventions impact and DSU reliability assessment

Source: Élan (2019d) PWIG.

The intervention had initially tried to extend the model to SHFs, working with the Fungurume Cooperative (FEDAAP) with 2017/2018 as a pilot year. This element of the model appears to not have never been successful or continued.<sup>477</sup> The DSU's MTE noted that this suggested insufficient learning from the first AF01 intervention, in particular the reason for the failure in Kivu, that SHFs had insufficient volumes of stock to deposit, particularly when taking transaction costs (transport etc.) into account.<sup>478</sup>

GoCongo in contrast is a very large farmer of 3,000 ha, who yield 7.5 tonnes per hectare (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) of maize from a growing farm. The pilot therefore demonstrated that the CMA as a financial mechanism can work well for a large commercial farmer who can build his own warehouse on-site (i.e. on the farm and next to the mill). GoCongo have a 10,000 tonne capacity in the warehouse for storage, and the maize they bought is used for milling (making maize flour and also biscuits).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> At the time of the MTE, Go Congo described visiting Kamina (600 km distant and the focus of an agricultural area) and struggling to find any farmers with a marketable surplus. Source: DSU (2018b)
 <sup>478</sup> DSU (2018b) "Mid-term evaluation (MTE) of ÉLAN Technical Annex"

## Annex F Additional analysis

This annex provides some additional analysis that is referred to in the main report but deemed to detailed for the main text, though might be useful for the interested reader.

## F.1 Evolution of the AgNP sector portfolio

Élan's initial analysis treated Agriculture as a 'broad sector', and within that 16 'sub-sectors' were considered with potential for future interventions. Of these, six were staple crops (beans, cassava, groundnut, maize, sorghum, rice); while the others were either perennial crops, animal products and/or commodities with export potential (cocoa, coffee, horticulture, aquaculture, dairy, non-timber forest species and botanicals, oil palm, poultry and eggs, sunflower, and rubber).<sup>479</sup> Sub-sectors were ultimately consolidated under the AgNP and AgP sector headings, and some sectors that were identified initially as having high potential were not worked on, including cassava, sunflower, rubber, poultry and oil palm.<sup>480</sup>



Figure 28: ASI's overall ranking of sectors during inception phase market scoping

Source: ASI (2013c) DRC Market Development Component: Scoping report

After evolution in the portfolio, it was in early 2016 that seeds, other inputs, rice, and maize, were all integrated into one sector to be called AgNP.<sup>481</sup> In the early stages of the project, only rice and beans were in the sectors scoring high enough on Élan's methodology to be classified as "proceed" (highlighted in the red box). Maize was further down the ranking, mainly because it scored lower on 'pro-poor income potential', competitiveness, and growth rates compared to the other sectors analysed such as rice. The lack of seed producers was noted as a constraint in the maize sector, even though agro-climatic conditions were favourable to maize in the DRC. By August 2013, rice and beans were sectors of focus within the Market System Analysis report, and rice in particular was said to have good

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> ASI (2013c) DRC Market Development Component: Scoping report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> More detail on the AgP sector can be found in the sector study undertaken – DSU (2019).

<sup>481</sup> Élan (2016c) Q1 2016 report

potential in the South Kivu region, although issues with seeds were again identified.<sup>482</sup> By November 2013, a seeds sector was added for the 2014 Business Plan and the beans subsector was removed.<sup>483</sup> By January 2015 and the Year 2 Business Plan, the seed sector had become 'agricultural inputs and services', and Maize was also added as a sector.<sup>484</sup>

The seed sector was later extended to include other inputs and extension services. Extension services were explored further via the other pillar of what would become the AgNP sector, the Rice sector. This would be via outgrower schemes (OGS), a key entry point for interventions in rice, as well as for the multiplication of rice seeds. OGS would aim to provide a broader range of support to SHFs, with extension services and other inputs such as fertiliser, pesticide, or mechanised services. As shown in Figure 29, the rice sector ToC also included work on a 'conducive legislative and/or regulatory framework' and 'tax reform advocacy and dialogue', with a view to achieving more holistic market system change.



Figure 29: Initial theory of change (ToC) for rice sector, from 2013

Source: ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> "In terms of improved seed varieties, these seeds can theoretically yield between 6-8 [t ha<sup>-1</sup>] - a three to fourfold increase in productivity. The Institut National pour l'Etude et la Recherche Agronomique (INERA) is currently testing 20 new varieties of rice seeds, but it claims to have insufficient funds for a breeding programme. Furthermore, rice sector stakeholders claim that INERA's presence and activities on the Plain is minimal to nonexistent." – ASI (2013b) Market System Analysis Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> ASI (2013a) "DFID DRC Market Development Component 2014 Business Plan"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> Élan (2015a) 2015 Annual Report Year 2 Report Year 3 Business Plan.

## F.2 Food security in the DRC

As of 2019, the agricultural sector was estimated to employ over 60 percent of Congolese and comprise 19.7 percent of GDP.<sup>485</sup> With 80 million hectares of arable land, 4 million hectares of irrigated land, and many rivers with important fishery resources, the DRC has the potential to become a global agricultural power. As Letellier et al. (2020) note, the DRC has more available agricultural land than any other country in Africa, with more land than Kenya, Malawi, Tanzania, and Zambia combined. However, commercial agricultural production remains limited, with most producers engaged in subsistence food agriculture, and only about 10 million of the country's 80 million hectares of arable land are under cultivation. Commercialising agriculture, increasing yields and increasing the amount of land under cultivation have enormous potential to increase food security and sustainable, equitable economic development.<sup>486</sup>



#### Figure 30: Food security in the DRC, October 2022

Source: USAID / FEWSNET (2022a) "RDC Perspectives sur la sécurité alimentaire"

Despite this potential, around 26.4 million people are projected to be acutely food insecure as of early 2023 with 3.4 million children estimated to be acutely malnourished.<sup>487</sup> FEWSNET's latest assessment finds that large parts of the south of DRC face 'stress' in food security as of October 2022, while the eastern region and provinces of South Kivu, North Kivu and Ituri face 'Crisis' (see Figure 30).<sup>488</sup> At present this is linked to below average rainfall, insecurity in the eastern region and internal displacement of people, however, it is underpinned by low productivity in agriculture.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> International Trade Administration (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> USAID (2022) DRC country page – "Agriculture and Food Security"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> WFP (2023) DRC summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> USAID / FEWSNET (2022a) "RDC Perspectives sur la sécurité alimentaire"

In DRC's southern region, the need for maize for human consumption is estimated at 700,000 tonnes per year, with local production estimated to provide less than one-fifth of this, at 120,000 tonnes per year.<sup>489</sup> This means the province has to import food from neighbouring countries, which is a huge burden on the region's economy.<sup>490</sup> Élan had identified that agriculture could benefit the country's macroeconomic stability, since DRC at that time (2014) spent about USD 1.3 billion annually to import food.<sup>491</sup>

The main route to address food security for the AgNP sector of Élan was to increase farmer productivity. Increased yields would lead to a higher value of crop either for consumption by the household or sale on the market. For example, Élan's final AgNP documents frequently cite the estimate of maize yields in the DRC at 0.77 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, comparing to 2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in Kenya. Erenstein et al. (2022) find West and Central Africa maize yields to be 1.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, the lowest in comparable data of global regions.<sup>492</sup> The World Bank (2022b) also finds yields are low and stagnating in the DRC, placing DRC cereal yields the lowest against a range of comparator countries (see Figure 31). However, this is all based on a now decade-old data point, highlighting the data gap in the DRC.

Figure 31: Agriculture value added per worker (2005 USD) and cereal yield (kg per ha), 2000 and 2013: DRC and comparator countries



Source: World Bank (2022b) Country Private Sector Diagnostic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> Nationally, Élan estimated maize grain production is estimated at 600,000 tonnes, against a consumption of 2 million tonnes - Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> Letellier et al. (2020) "Addressing food insecurity in the DRC"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014. As of 2021, food imports were USD 1.6 billion according to data from UN Comtrade.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> Compared for example to yields of 2.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup>in Eastern and Southern Africa, 3.3 t ha<sup>-1</sup>in South Asia, 7.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup>in Europe, 7.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>in West and Central Asia, and 10.8 t ha<sup>-1</sup>in North America.

## **F.3** Enforcement of the quality of seed in DRC

Production of certified seed in the DRC is regulated and must be accredited by National Seed Service (Service National des Semences – SENASEM). SENASEM's mandate includes the inspection production sites prior to planting and conduct three additional inspections throughout the growing cycle; conducting further tests on harvest and produce a report that certifies the quality of the seed. Inspection costs total approximately USD 160 per visit and certification costs total approximately USD 13 per metric tonne. While the majority of foundation seed in the DRC comes from either INERA or UNILU, it is possible to import foundation seed from private and public suppliers outside the DRC; permitted sources, for example including CIMMYT.<sup>493</sup> In the absence of the law, SENASEM lacks the necessary powers and resources to properly regulate the seed sector. The resulting informality of the sector is one of the primary underlying causes of many of the challenges experienced such as the presence of fake seed, unfair competition, and the corruption that is apparently endemic in emergency seed supply.<sup>494</sup>

SENASEM employs 105 seed inspectors, which is high compared to other countries according to the TASAI index. However, countries with more advanced seed industries have accredited private seed inspection services, often in addition to government inspectors.<sup>495</sup> The SENASEM seed inspectors are not sufficiently resourced to perform their functions.<sup>496</sup> Fake seed has therefore become a significant problem affecting the seed industry in the DRC, and was mentioned in several interviews undertaken for this study. According to TASAI (2018a), in 2016, seed producers in DRC reported a total of 185 cases of fake seed. This is higher than the number of cases reported in other African countries, such as Ethiopia (11 cases), Malawi (20 cases), Tanzania (18 cases), Zambia (22 cases), or Zimbabwe (52 cases). The number of reported cases in all countries, including the DRC, is likely to be understated, as most cases often go unreported. Respondents rated the government's efforts to address the challenge of fake seed in the DRC as "poor" (22 percent). By comparison, in other countries government efforts to stamp out fake seeds are rated as "fair" (e.g., Ethiopia, Tanzania, and Zambia - all 57 percent, and Zimbabwe - 56 percent).<sup>497</sup>

TASAI (2017) found that fake seed in the DRC thrives because the government does not monitor the activities in the seed sector effectively: seed is not inspected adequately at the different stages, and seed sales to the relief market are not tracked carefully enough. According to sector stakeholders, SENASEM simply take a fee for certification, and the requisite monitoring processes and scientific testing are not undertaken.<sup>498</sup> Fake seed is a direct barrier to investment and a major challenge for seed producers. In most cases, SENASEM staff have no means of transportation to access seed fields and many fields are not inspected or certified, with the result that most seed that is identified as certified is actually not quality seed.<sup>499</sup>

- <sup>496</sup> TASAI (2017) "TASAI Country Report Democratic Republic of the Congo"
- <sup>497</sup> Ibid. TASAI (2017) "TASAI Country Report Democratic Republic of the Congo"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> Élan (2021e) "Seed investment in the DRC"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> TASAI research found that when seed inspection services are mostly or wholly in private hands, they receive higher ratings from the seed industry. TASAI (2017, 2018a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> According to USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report - Tests are not fixed in advance but rather agreed on with the seed grower/company and this structure creates an incentive for favourable inspection findings. Varietal purity, the main component of seed quality, is not properly evaluated.
<sup>499</sup> USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

USAID (2019) SEEDCLIR report

## F.4 Seed variety release in the DRC

In terms of the release of varieties in the last three years (as of 2016), TASAI estimated that six varieties of maize had been released in DRC, which compared to 61 varieties in Kenya, 37 in Zambia, 44 in Tanzania, and 236 in South Africa.<sup>500</sup> It was noted that the releases in the DRC were also more likely to be OPV and more likely to be obsolete varieties. The new releases were also less likely to be commercialised in volumes that would replace the older varieties in the market, which would not be sufficient to develop farmer confidence in improved seeds.<sup>501</sup>

Article 29 of the 2011 Agriculture law stipulates that there is a national catalogue of seed varieties, which is a dynamic document that needs to be updated regularly. However, the last available version of the national catalogue was not up-to-date, produced in circa 2012.<sup>502</sup> TASAI (2017) found that the variety release process took 26 months and on average, the cost of variety release in the DRC was USD 4,700. This is significantly higher than in other African countries according to TASAI (2018a): four times the cost in Zambia (USD 1,070), eight times the cost in Tanzania (USD 504) and more than 14 times the cost in Zimbabwe (USD 350).

Perhaps in light of these lengthy time periods and high costs, although technically all varieties on the market should go through a release process overseen by SENASEM, in practice, a large number of the varieties on the market have not gone through – or have not completed – the registration process. Out of 89 varieties sold to farmers between 2014 and 2016, 69 varieties were not in the variety catalogue according to TASAI research. These comprised 39 maize, 7 rice, 15 bean, and 8 soya bean varieties. Some had been accepted for registration and release by SENASEM but had not yet been recorded in the catalogue due to a lack of funds.<sup>503</sup>

This was an area that Élan worked on and Élan noted an updated catalogue was developed with the help of TASAI. The update saw 30 new varieties added while 20 others were removed.<sup>504</sup> Stakeholders in Lubumbashi spoken to for this study were not aware of a catalogue update. However, NASECO added their flagship Bazooka maize seed to the catalogue, which may be important to facilitate their growth in the eastern DRC.

## F.5 Climate change and yields

Climate projections suggest that elevated temperatures, especially in the drought-prone areas of SSA, are highly likely to result in significant yield losses in tropical/subtropical maize.<sup>505</sup> Prasanna et al. (2021) note that maize yields in the tropical rain-fed environments are now increasingly vulnerable to various climate-induced stresses, especially drought, heat, waterlogging, salinity, cold, diseases, and insect pests, which often come in combinations to severely impact maize crops. The major effect of heat stress on maize is reduced grain yield due to the impairment of photosynthesis and reproduction, in addition to leaf scorching, and reduced flowering time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> TASAI (2018a) "TASAI Appendix 1", Sep 2018 version

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> Élan (2021d) "Seed legislation in the DRC", July 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> Élan (2015b) Seed Legislation and Regulatory Environment Annex to Q1 2015 report, dated Feb 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> TASAI (2017) "TASAI Country Report – Democratic Republic of the Congo"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> Élan (2021c) "Élan Sector Studies – Agriculture Non-Perennial". Catalogue available: MINAGRI (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Cairns et al. (2013) "Adapting maize to climate change in sub-Saharan Africa"

With four different climate zones (see Figure 32), the majority of Zone D being tropical rainforest, Zone C including the capital Kinshasa, Zone A including the densely populated Kivus, and Zone B, the main centre of non-perennial agriculture; regional specific climate affects will be different. The climatic zones also align to the country's economic regions, which means region-specific risks may exacerbate climate impacts.



#### Figure 32: Climate zones in the DRC

Source: Élan (2021a) "A Quarter-Billion Dollar Industry? The DRC Seed Sector".

For Prasanna et al. (2021), effective integration of new tools and technologies into national agricultural research system (NARS) breeding programs will be essential for long-term sustainability in maize breeding and the capacity to develop climate-resilient cultivars. This includes breeding for the climate-smart features of seeds including drought tolerance, early maturity or extra-early maturity.<sup>506</sup> Institutes such as CIMMYT and the International Institute for Tropical Agriculture (IITA) have taken the lead in this regard in the SSA region. Under the Stress Tolerant Maize for Africa project, during 2016–2019, a total of 218 new stress-tolerant and productive improved maize varieties derived from germplasm from the CIMMYT and the IITA, were officially released to enter commercialisation, promotion and wide-scale dissemination in 13 target countries across SSA. However, this has not included the DRC.<sup>507</sup>

Setimela et al. (2017) note that drought stress and low Nitrogen will remain major challenges in the region where most farmers have limited capacity to invest in inputs. Varieties from CIMMYT's stress breeding programme have shown yield advantage over commercial checks in the range of 4 to 19 percent.<sup>508</sup> They find the relative yield gap between controlled conditions on experimental stations and farmers' fields is probably higher in SSA than anywhere else. For example, yields in managed and random stress trials in experimental stations in Zimbabwe ranged from 1.0 to 2.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, while the national average yield in 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> Early maturing are seeds that take 90–95 days to physiological maturity. Extra-early maturing are seeds that take 80–85 days to physiological maturity. Both are types of maize hybrid seeds. Source: Badu-Apraku et al. (2022).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> Setimela et al. (2017) "On-farm yield gains with stress tolerant maize in eastern and southern Africa".
 <sup>508</sup> Ibid. Setimela et al. (2017)

was 0.88 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. The yield gap can be attributed to the multiple stresses that crops face throughout the season in smallholder farmers' fields. Against control hybrids, all improved hybrids show a 10–30 percent relative gain under mild stress, with larger gains in the high-yielding environments.<sup>509</sup>

## F.6 Varietal turnover of seed

Despite the need for varietal turnover of seed, this has been found to be slow in SSA. Smale and Olwande (2014) in Kenya find that despite a good breadth of seed supply and numbers of hybrid sold, older hybrid still dominated national demand. Chivasa et al. (2022) in a review of maize seed systems in eastern and southern Africa (ESA) find that despite the importance and benefits of accelerated varietal turnover to climate change adaptation and food security, the rate of maize varietal replacement is slow. Although there is an upsurge of new seed companies in the ESA region and introduction of new varieties with better genetics in the market, some established seed companies continue to sell old (over 15-year-old) varieties. Several recently developed maize hybrids in ESA have shown significant genetic gains under farmers' conditions. Table 37 summarises the demand and supply-side factors found to be important in the Chivasa et al. (2022) study.

Prasanna et al. (2021) note, since 2015 there have been several success stories in SSA of the replacement of old and climate-vulnerable maize varieties with newer stress-tolerant varieties. Proactive management of product life cycles by seed companies can benefit farmers and businesses, contribute to improved food security and adaptation to the changing climate.

A study by Langyintuo et al. (2010), involving over 92 percent of all seed providers in ESA in 2007 showed that a number bottlenecks affect the entire maize seed value chain. The lack of access to credit constitutes a significant barrier to entry. In addition, the transfer of genetic materials between public and private sectors should be improved to allow easy access by seed companies to suitable and adapted varieties. To allow for rapid regional spillovers of varieties released in one country to similar agro-ecologies in different countries, the implementation of the harmonised regional seed laws and regulations should be expedited.

Khonje et al. (2015) show that adoption of improved maize leads to significant gains in crop incomes, consumption expenditure, and food security, demonstrating significant poverty-reducing impacts in eastern Zambia. They find that adoption of improved maize varieties can be enhanced through increased access to information, markets, and productive assets. Easy access to market and availability of markets and information play a major role in reducing high transaction costs to farmers. However, access to reliable and competitive markets and information remains a challenge, possibly due to poor infrastructure and support services. They note that farmer cooperatives can overcome some of these challenges via collective marketing that reduce transaction costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> Setimela et al. (2017, 2018). Low-yielding trials were taken to be representative of smallholder farmers who apply little or no N fertiliser.

### Table 37: Factors that drive maize varietal replacement in east and southern Africa

Source: Chivasa et al. (2022)

Studies have also looked at the barriers to hybrid seed demand, and how that might be improved. For example, Axmann et al. (2019) conducted a field-experiment designed to measure the effect of offering hybrid maize seeds for purchase during a time when potential customers have high liquidity. Working with a large buyer of agricultural commodities in Northern Uganda, they randomly offered smallholder farmers the opportunity to purchase certified hybrid maize seeds at the same time as they visit the buyers' stores to sell crops from a previous harvest. They found that 16 percent of those offered purchase hybrid seeds, and average adoption of hybrid maize among those offered increases by 8 percentage points compared to a control group who did not receive the offer. Among those who accept the offer, they saw an increase in the propensity to plant hybrid maize of 50 percentage points.

## F.7 Anomalies in NAIC calculations, example of Ceprosem (NP28)

Ceprosem (NP28) was a seed company intervention in the Western region, on the outskirts of Kinshasa, focussed on horticulture seeds. Élan supported the producer by connecting them to more agro-dealers and helping to improve their commercial strategy and packaging of products. The first intervention cost USD 11,000 for Élan with the same being contributed by the partner. By the end of Élan, the intervention would contribute the 11th highest number of beneficiaries for the AgNP sector, and the highest for AgNP in the Western region, with £164 NAIC per beneficiary for 2,221 SHF beneficiaries.

The intervention was not looked at in previous DSU verification exercises on NAIC (DSU, 2017, 2018c, 2020). However, documentation of Élan provides some anomalies in the logic to generate impact estimates. In 2017, an evaluation was carried out with support of a firm called Experts.<sup>510</sup> The evaluation involved a treatment and comparison group, with a one-off survey. The treatment net income from horticulture sales was found to be USD 107 per farmer, compared to USD 69 for the comparison. Thus, farmers buying Ceprosem seeds were said to have additional income of USD 39 'per cycle', with four cycles (vegetable harvests) per year. Élan estimated benefits over 2017 and 2018, which led to the £164 NAIC per beneficiary figure.

Issues with the estimates include a lack of consistency and comparability of treatment and comparison groups. The comparison group had a larger sample with 486 respondents, against just 36 for the treatment group. It appears different surveys were used for the two groups, for example the treatment group were asked their income in USD, and the comparison group in CDF. There were differences in how key figures were calculated, for example, treatment production costs were the total of responses on individual expenses, while for the comparison group it was simply assumed production costs were a fixed share of revenues. No matching of respondents between the two groups was carried out nor was any technique such as propensity score matching attempted. This is problematic as big differences can be seen between the groups. For example, chemical fertiliser use in the comparison group was 57 percent, compared to 89 percent for the treatment group. For the treatment group, 61 percent planted at least three vegetable crops, compared to 31 percent for the comparison group.

Beneficiary estimates may have needed a reality check. In 2015, Ceprosem already sold to 3,500 market gardeners, and sold 54 percent of their seed to donors / NGOs,<sup>511</sup> although at the time Ceprosem was "not viable" and losing money. While there was no clear baseline, one interview put 2016 sales at 600 kg.<sup>512</sup> Élan claimed 820 kg of seed was sold to SHFs with the project's support.<sup>513</sup> This was from estimated 1,050 kg of total sales in 2017. However, in follow-up surveys, Ceprosem recorded USD 46,000 of sales in 2018 for 776 kg of seeds (and by 2020, USD 65,000 sales of 875 kg). Seed sales had risen just 176 kg from 2016 to 2018, and sales to NGOs were not disaggregated. <sup>514</sup>

In summary, Élan's NAIC estimates for the intervention appear problematic and biased in an upward direction. The evaluation was not carried out rigorously despite the attempt to set up a counterfactual. As with many other NAIC estimates, the process was not clearly documented, it was not clear how external the process of evaluation was, and the methodology appears to be biased to produce high estimates of NAIC and beneficiaries.

## F.8 Potential benefits of mobile money

A range of studies were used by Élan to justify the potential benefits from mobile money use. These can be from its core functions as a storage and payments system, its links to interestpaying accounts, or via the ability it gives to collate information and generate algorithmic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> Élan (2017e, 2017f, 2017g)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> Élan (2016e) "Développement de partenariats privés pour Ceprosem"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> Élan (2018h) "Interview with a key informant, Nino Mwanza, Ceprosem"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Élan (2018c) PCR. Annex 7 Assessing Systemic Change

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> Élan (2020f, 2020g) "Light monitoring of the selected portfolio from Elan 1.0: Ceprosem (NP28)"

credit scores. Household and business outcomes can therefore be affected through several different channels, as categorised by Aron (2015):<sup>515</sup>

- Reducing transactions costs: The primary benefit of mobile money is to reduce transactions costs (in cash and time) of sending and receiving money including over distances where there are poor and expensive transport links. However, the mobile money "infrastructure" has to be in place and working well for this to be the case. For example, a poorly-monitored agent network may be subject to "leakages". Aker et al. (2014) find that a dearth of agents, through a limited network in Niger, made it difficult to access cash from agents, raising transactions costs. But loss of money and of time have an opportunity cost: reduced funds that could have been invested, spent or saved; and reduced time that could have been spent in productive activities. Mobile payments are dominated by person-to-person transfers, but have also diversified to cover retail payments, utility bills and rent by individuals; payments to suppliers by firms; and payments of salary, pensions and cash transfers to individuals from government or donors. All of these can also benefit from reduced transaction costs from speedier and safer money transfer.
- Reducing asymmetric information and improved transparency: Asymmetric information is a constraint to financial access as the borrower knows more than the lender on their ability or willingness to repay a loan. The record of financial transactions that mobile money provides creates greater transparency, and can reduce asymmetric information. Every deposit or withdrawal, transfer or payment transaction is recorded in the MNO's telecoms log for that customer, creating a 'financial history'. This provides a means to create credit scores even for unbanked customers, via application of algorithms based on types, timing, frequency and size of mobile payments. This provides an opportunity to provide greater access to credit. Where there is appropriate ID documentation ("know your customer") over time, international remittance transfers can also be facilitated, reducing parallel financial histories from unregulated transfers that are not captured for credit scoring.
- Increasing saving and changing the nature of saving: Saving helps individuals and households to allocate consumption over time, and reduce some risks including for unforeseen shocks to household income (such as a death or health emergency). For the unbanked poor, there are risks to saving in cash, including theft or "liquidation". This may lead to loss of savings as well as providing a disincentive to save. Mobile money should offer safe storage of cash, although usually without payment of interest, and the value of cash saved can erode through inflation. However, the safety of mobile money has been found to increase savings rates.<sup>516</sup>
- **Risk and insurance**: The poor are at risk of household or communal shocks from illness in the family, to flooding or drought. While informal insurance networks often exist, households may be inadequately covered by these means. Informal networks could though be expanded by access to mobile money transfers, particularly as they can cover larger distances between family members. Jack and Suri (2011) note that timely transfers of sometimes very small amounts of money can arrest serious declines that may be irreversible or hard to reverse.<sup>517</sup> As mobile money allows small and more

<sup>517</sup> Jack and Suri (2011) "Mobile Money: The Economics of M-Pesa".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup> Alampay et al. (2017) also provide a useful review of the evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Mbiti and Weil (2011) in Kenya found a positive association between M-Pesa adoption, bank use and savings and employment. Mobile money usage was also found to reduce informal savings, hiding money for saving, and also positively impacted the use of other formal savings channels.

frequent transfers of money this can lead to greater ability to manage negative shocks.<sup>518</sup> Over time, mobile money innovation can lead to new insurance or micro-insurance products, an additional potential buffer against negative shocks.

- Changing family dynamics and changing social networks: Mobile money could change relative family bargaining power. This could be via the greater privacy offered by mobile money transfers (particularly if adults in the household have their own accounts) and may influence both inter-household and intra-household allocations. If the nature of expenditure by gender differs there could be welfare changes in the household. Aker et al. (2014) for example measured improved household bargaining power for women in Niger via mobile transfers, with resulting welfare improvements.
- **Improving efficiency**: Mobile money can facilitate trade as an effective payments method, making it easier for people to pay for, and to receive payment for, goods and services. The effects of mobile money on savings and in terms of labour allocation (including via time availability) may be positive for businesses, particularly MSMEs. This could in turn lead to more efficient investment decisions.

In addition to these effects, there are hypothesised linkages to improved agricultural performance in terms of input purchases, commercialisation, and income change. This includes from Kikulwe et al. (2014) in Kenya, who found that smallholder farmer households using mobile money spent more on hired labour, organic fertiliser and chemical pesticides, due to the higher remittances they received. For remittances, there was an estimated treatment effect of USD 154 per year or an increase of 66 percent compared to mean remittances received by non-users of mobile money.<sup>519</sup> This led to higher profits from agriculture production.<sup>520</sup>

A combination of the effects has led to some very high impact claims in the case of Kenya. Suri and Jack (2016) estimate that access to the Kenyan mobile money system M-Pesa increased per capita consumption levels and lifted 194,000 households, or 2 percent of Kenyan households, out of poverty. The impacts appeared to be driven by increased financial resilience and saving, as well as by occupational choice, especially for women, who moved out of agriculture and into business.<sup>521</sup>

## F.9 Dollarization in the DRC

As set out in Box 3 in Section 2.3.1, the DRC economy is highly dollarized, more than almost any other country. In 2014, about 90 percent of banking sector deposits and lending were in USD. As shown in Figure 33, the DRC became more dollarized between 2001 and 2012 and is among the most dollarized countries in the SSA region (and the world).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> Jack and Suri (2014) found evidence on the impact of mobile money on smoothing of consumption patterns, even in times of shock. They found per capita consumption fell for non-users when experiencing a negative income shock, as well as for those without good access to the agent network. They did not find such a drop-off for M-Pesa user households.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> Findings from Kenya and Uganda also suggest that M-Pesa users participate in more remittance activity than non-users (Munyegera and Matsumoto,2016; Jack et al., 2013; Mbiti and Weil, 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> Kirui et al. (2012) found an even larger income increase, led by higher purchases of seed, fertiliser farm equipment, and farm labour used.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> They measured access to the service by the geographic proximity of households to M-Pesa agents. Causal effects were then estimated by changes in access rather than adoption.





Source: IMF (2015) "Dollarization in Sub-Saharan Africa"

As shown in Figure 34, the rate of USD lending has increased over time, and as of 2021 constitutes 95 percent, with less than 5 percent of lending in Congolese Francs (CDF). Banks are able to maintain investments in USD via two main relationships: (i) ordinary correspondent banks, mainly large banks in advanced countries; and (ii) parent companies that centralise the group's cash flow, including that of their DRC subsidiary. The latter entails the risk that parent companies may default while holding a large part of Congolese domestic savings; the former creates dependence on the foreign correspondent banks used for clearing transactions. This is a major systemic risk as it relies on the regulatory risk appetite of these banks. With weaknesses in the DRC's anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism (AML / CFT) framework, this could be suspended at any time causing a banking and currency crisis in the DRC.<sup>522</sup>



### Figure 34: DRC, loans by currency (USD billions)

The high rate of dollarization also contributes to a weak monetary policy transmission mechanism and increases systemic exposure to liquidity shocks, given that banks' minimum regulatory requirements are defined in domestic currency and the BCC has only a limited capacity to provide liquidity in USD. If the BCC cannot act as lender of last resort in the event of a systemic crisis,<sup>523</sup> it needs strong oversight of risks as they arise. With support of the World Bank, a national payment system with the ability for local clearing of USD was created, however it was soon suspended due to concerns around AML / CFT by US authorities in late 2019.<sup>524</sup> The result is that large transactions in USD are made through correspondent banks abroad and not through the local system.<sup>525</sup>

The size of the issue of dollarization meant that Élan never decided to grapple with it, and it was likely to be felt to be far beyond the project scope.<sup>526</sup> However, dollarization is not just a macroprudential / systemic issue. It creates major barriers to financial inclusion in the DRC. This is because households and SMEs also borrow and invest in USD, but do much of their own business in CDF. This magnifies the effect of exchange rate risk. It also partially explains the risk aversion of banks and MFIs to lend to economic players outside of those already dealing in large amounts of foreign currency (i.e. exporters, those operating in the mining sector etc.).<sup>527</sup> The issue is only growing, as from 2022 onward, reserve requirements on capital in USD will be constituted in USD, and banks will transfer greater currency risk to their customers, particularly households, by encouraging them to take on debt in foreign currency for loans of more than 12 months, while households' resources are mainly in CDF.<sup>528</sup> 'De-dollarization' has been strongly advocated by the IMF over the years including now via a "medium-term roadmap",<sup>529</sup> however this appears more of a long-term goal than ever, and dollarization appears to have increased in the past decade.

## F.10 Know your customer (KYC) processes

An important part of regulation in the financial sector and particularly in mobile money is on 'know your customer' (KYC) processes. While a relatively simple step in more developed country markets, KYC refers to the identification needed to set up and maintain an account. It is dependent on the availability and standards for verifiable identity schemes. This could be a digital government registry holding the identity data of citizens, as well as the ability of individuals to access the government-recognised identity documents that meet registration requirements.<sup>530</sup> At the outset of Élan, 'Know your customer' (KYC) processes were not viewed as stringent, and it was possible to open an account without formal identification (for transfers up to USD 100 per day), a 'Tier one' account. However, for higher value accounts (up to USD 500 per day transactions) there was a 'Tier two' for account holders. This required a Customer ID, such as a passport, electoral card, or driving licence, to be physically verified, and customers were required to complete an application form and attach a copy of their photo ID.<sup>531</sup>

529 IMF (2014, 2022a, 2022c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> As in the event of a liquidity shortage, banks would require dollars that the BCC cannot create and would have to take from its reserves.

<sup>524</sup> World Bank (2020) DRC Digital Economy Assessment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> IMF (2022c) DRC FSSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> Indeed, it is only mentioned three times across hundreds of Élan documents reviewed (Annex A provides just a sub-sample of the Élan documents reviewed for this study).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> "Despite interest margins of over 10 percentage points, banks do not lend domestically and prefer low-yielding placements abroad with correspondents". IMF (2022c) FSSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> Shorter-term credits to households are to be provided in CDF. Source: IMF (2022c) FSSR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> GSMA (2019) ""Understanding Capture and Validate KYC Processes"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup> Di Castri (2014) "Enabling Mobile Money policies in the Democratic Republic of Congo"

A major challenge of KYC is that in the DRC many may not have access to sufficient ID. An electoral card is the only official documentation that the majority of Congolese have (an estimated 77 percent of adults have this).<sup>532</sup> This is a particular challenge for internally displaced people (IDPs) who may not have access to any ID. The ability to transact is therefore dependent on a degree of relaxation in the regulation. KYC was an area for one of the DCSWG meetings held during 2019. At that time, the BCC intended to ask FSPs to identify clients themselves through biometric data and a questionnaire, in order to generate a unique nine-character sequential identifier. During the workshop, FSPs questioned this approach in view of the risk of duplication and the restrictions on the sharing of personal data imposed by law.<sup>533</sup> The development of KYC processes would ultimately require a national database to be in place but this was some way off. The issue of KYC is now important in the case of bilateral interoperability, as KYC is a minimum-criteria for using the bilateral arrangement between Orange and Vodacom;<sup>534</sup> thus the option is not available for the lower tier account holders (though data is not available it is likely this constitutes the majority of those with a mobile money account).

## F.11 Credit and collateral registries

An ongoing challenge in the DRC financial services industry is the absence of adequate credit or collateral registries.<sup>535</sup> A credit reference agency can provide a means for FSPs to centralise and share information about credit-worthiness of clients, history of default and repayments.<sup>536</sup> This can provide a strong basis for risk management, and ultimately allow more lending and at more competitive rates, by overcoming some of the information asymmetry inherent in any financial transaction. According to the World Bank (2022b), the DRC still has no full credit bureau coverage (see Figure 35).<sup>537</sup> As a member country of the Organisation for the Harmonisation of Business Law in Africa (OHADA) treaty, the DRC would need to develop a movable collateral registry and credit information system, however progress on this was slow. This is a severe limitation in lending to MSMEs in the country due to information asymmetry restriction risk-taking and provision of loans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> CENFRI et al. (2016c) Making Access Possible, Presentation of results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> Élan (2019f) "Discussion Platform on Digital Finance in the DRC: 2019 MRM Report".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> According to the interview for this study with Vodacom.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> This was also a strand of work in the Essor project, though this is not covered here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> "A private credit bureau would provide lenders with products and services, such as credit reports, fraud alerts and credit scoring, which will support better credit management practices and will also allow lenders to share credit information, increase financial inclusion and facilitate mobility." Source: World Bank (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Although according to World Bank (2020), there is a "centrale des risques" but that only provides "negative" information on borrowers who default on their loans. Unlike a credit bureau, it does not provide information from non-financial sector institutions, such as utilities and other billing companies, and merchants who sell on credit.



Figure 35: Private Credit Bureau coverage in DRC and selected other country groups<sup>538</sup>

Source: World Bank (2022b) "Country private sector diagnostic"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> World Bank (2022b) using WDI data. Structural peers in their analysis were Ethiopia, Madagascar, Mozambique, Niger, and Uganda. Aspirational peers were Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Tanzania Uganda, and Zambia. Regional peers were all the other countries in the SSA region.

## **Annex G Other useful figures**

This annex provides some other figures that are referenced in the main body of the report.



Figure 36: The 'problematique': Constraints to private sector development in DRC

Access to finance
 Market development
 Business environment
 Corruption
 Source: DFID (2013) PSD Programme Business Case

		,	,		
Table 201	Overall estimates	of NAIC in Elan /	1 0 and Elan 1	2 by anotor /	C milliono\539
I able so:	Overall estimates	OF NAIL IN EIGHT	I.U ANU EIAN T	.Z DV Sector 0	L IIIIIIONS)
	••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			

Sector	Élan 1.0	Élan 1.2	Total	Share of NAIC
Access to Finance	8.90	-	8.90	18.9%
Agri-Perennials	6.06	-	6.06	12.9%
Transport	2.81	-	2.81	6.0%
Agri Non-perennials	12.88	5.45	18.32	38.9%
Renewable Energy	9.17	1.52	10.69	22.7%
Cross-border trade	-	0.34	0.34	0.7%
Totals	41.33	6.19	47.12	

Source: Élan (2019d) and Élan (2021g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> Élan 1.0 estimates from Élan (2019d) PWIG – dated 26<sup>th</sup> June 2019 (the last available PWIG we have from Élan 1.0). For Élan 1.2, cumulative results used for 2021 from Élan (2021g). The latter sheet included some additional NAIC for some Élan 1.0 interventions, which are added to the Élan 1.0 totals in the table.





Source: Élan (2021n) 2020 Annual Report. 2021 Business Plan



#### Figure 38: A2F Results Chain for Élan 1.2, revised version in November 2020

Source: Élan (2021n) 2020 Annual Report. 2021 Business Plan



### Figure 39: Market overview of DRC banking market in 2012 (top 11 banks by assets)

Source: Élan & ALTAI Consulting (2014), drawing on Ecobank Research from 2012.


### Figure 40: New and old provinces in the DRC (pre-2005, post-2005)

Source: ResearchGate and Wikipedia



Figure 41: The five economic poles of the DRC

Source: World Bank (2018) "Democratic Republic of Congo Urbanization Review"

Figure 42: Population density in the DRC



Source: ISS (2023) DRC country page





Source: Damania et al. (2016) "Transport, Economic Growth, and Deforestation in the DRC"

Table 39:	Proportion of crop area for maize covered under different seed classes,
	across 13 sampled countries during the 2013/14 main season

Region/country	Modern cultiv	vars		Local cultivars				
	Hybrids	OPVs	Total	Named	Unidentified	Total		
EA avg.	52.2	29.4	81.6	10.1	8.3	18.4		
Ethiopia	66.0	11.3	77.3	11.1	11.7	22.7		
Kenya	65.0	17.1	82.1	17.5	0.5	17.9		
Tanzania	40.2	31.7	31.7 71.8 9.4 18.7		28.2			
Uganda	37.6	57.6	95.2	2.4	2.4 2.5			
SA avg.	50.3	4.7	55.0	38.6	6.4	45.0		
Angola	4.1	1.5	5.6	89.5	4.8	94.4		
Malawi	65.7	12.8	78.5	14.6	6.9	21.5		
Mozambique	24.9	5.1	30.0	70.0	0.0	70.0		
Zambia	61.5	2.3	63.8	18.5	17.7	36.2		
Zimbabwe	95.4	2.0	97.5	0.2	2.4	2.5		
WA avg.	3.7	32.3	36.0	20.6	43.5	64.1		
Benin	0.0	12.8	12.8	28.6	58.7	87.2		
Ghana	3.1	50.3	53.4	25.5	21.1	46.6		
Mali	0.0	51.2	51.2	13.1	35.7	48.8		
Nigeria	11.6	14.7	26.3	15.4	15.4 58.4			
SSA avg.	36.5	20.8	57.3	24.3	18.4	42.7		

Source: Abate et al. (2017)



Figure 44: Risk of seasons of drought in SSA (probability of failed season, %)

Source: Shiferaw et al. (2014) "Managing vulnerability to drought and enhancing livelihood resilience in SSA"





Source: IMF (2022b) "Democratic Republic of the Congo: Selected Issues"





Source: OPHI (2013) "DR Congo OPHI Country Briefing 2013"





Source: Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling among ELAN beneficiaries".

Note 1: estimated income methodology in outlined bars and the declared one in full. Note 2: NP is the acronym for the Agriculture non-Perennials (AgNP) sector, AP is the acronym for the Agriculture Perennials (AgP) sector, TR for the river transport sector (RT), and AF for the access to finance (A2F) sector.

			POVERTY HEADCOUNT						
			est. daily income declared daily					come	
	<1.9 (ppp)		<1.9 (ppp)	<3.2 (ppp)	<1.9 (nom)	<1.9 (ppp)	<3.2 (ppp)	<2 (nom)	
	0	AF04	52%	74%	74%		NA		
	S	AF07	54%	78%	79%	34%	59%	62%	
	0	AF08	71%	93%	93%				
	E	AP06	87%	100%	100%	NA			
	Е	AP07	96%	100%	100%		NA		
	Е	AP11	95%	100%	100%	78%	95%	96%	
	Е	AP14	82%	93%	93%	75%	88%	89%	
	Е	AP16	100%	100%	100%	93%	97%	98%	
	S	NP01	94%	100%	100%	89%	98%	99%	
	S	NP02	100%	100%	100%	92%	100%	100%	
	S	NP05	99%	100%	100%	98%	99%	99%	
	S	NP08	94%	100%	100%	62%	86%	91%	
ons	S	NP13	97%	100%	100%	80%	93%	94%	
nti	N	NP23	97%	99%	99%	NA			
Ne	Е	NP24	100%	100%	100%	81%	95%	97%	
inte	0	NP28	72%	100%	100%		NA		
	S	NP29	91%	98%	99%	72%	91%	92%	
	Ε	NP32	97%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	
	N	RE02	90%	100%	100%		NA		
	Ν	RE03	83%	97%	98%	68%	80%	83%	
	S	RE06	70%	93%	93%	73%	89%	89%	
	S	RE07	56%	89%	89%	42%	74%	77%	
	0	RE09	19%	49%	50%		NA		
	0	RE10	57%	79%	83%	38%	67%	68%	
	0	RE13	21%	54%	54%		NA		
	0	RE14	16%	51%	51%		NA		
	N	TR01	97%	100%	100%		NA		
	N	TR03	99%	100%	100%		NA		
			<1.9 (ppp)	<3.2 (ppp)	<1.9 (nom)	<1.9 (ppp)	<3.2 (ppp)	<2 (nom)	
		AF	52%	75%	75%	34%	59%	62%	
	IS	AP	90%	97%	97%	78%	91%	93%	
	cto	NP	98%	100%	100%	96%	99%	99%	
	Se	RE	46%	75%	76%	46%	74%	76%	
		TR	98%	100%	100%	98%	99%	99%	
		total	74%	88%	88%	66%	81%	83%	

## Table 40: Estimated poverty headcounts by intervention in Élan's 2018 survey

Source: Élan (2018g) "Poverty Profiling among ELAN beneficiaries".

Country	2012	2012	2014	2015	2016	2017	2019	2010	2020	2024
Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2010	2017	2010	2019	2020	2021
Botswana	269	435	609	781	918	1,113	1,347	1,683	1,745	2,045
Cameroon	53	157	288	294	287	462	432	671	1,022	
DRC		354	247	287	327	504	465	452	428	
Congo, Rep. of	28	127	193	268	516	789	820	926	1,075	1,020
Ghana	230	261	415	739	1,083	1,281	1,703	1,654	1,910	2,335
Kenya	847	985	951	1,157	1,242	1,287	1,592	1,922	2,071	2,069
Malawi	22	85			375	465	587	582	692	
Mozambique		187	226	274	383	420	489	533	621	635
Namibia	16	17	135	605	729	999	1,373	1,366	1,340	2,123
Rwanda	230	393	974	1,118	1,378	1,247	1,479	2,056	1,970	1,875
Uganda	507	779	991	1,068	1,049	1,064	1,097	1,166	1,268	1,301
Zambia	177	303	562	554	692	1,223	1,400	1,369	1,805	1,739
Zimbabwe	109	315	761	1,034	1,069	1,261	1,562	1,736	1,498	1,367
Average	226	338	529	681	773	932	1,104	1,240	1,342	1,651

# Table 41: Number of registered mobile money accounts per 1,000 adults, DRC and selected countries: 2012-2021

Source: IMF (2023) Financial Access Survey data

### Figure 48: Adults with a mobile money account (percentage): 2014-2021



Source: Demirgüç-Kunt et al. (2022) The Global Findex Database 2021





Source: CENFRI et al. (2016a), reporting FinScope 2014 data



Figure 50: Mobile network coverage estimates in the DRC (2016)

Source: Altai Consulting (2016) "Opportunités Offertes par le Mobile Money". Réseau mobile = network coverage.

### Figure 51: Density of financial services by province, compared to population (2014)



Source: Altai Consulting (2016) "Opportunités Offertes par le Mobile Money", based on BCC data for 2014.